
Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where
individuals, communities and businesses flourish

Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

The meeting will be held at 7.00 pm on 10 November 2016

Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL

Membership:

Councillors Victoria Holloway (Chair), Graham Snell (Vice-Chair), Gary Collins, 
Tony Fish, Angela Sheridan and Aaron Watkins

Ian Evans (Thurrock Coalition Representative) and Kim James (Healthwatch 
Thurrock Representative)

Substitutes:

Councillors Tim Aker, Jan Baker, Terry Piccolo and Joycelyn Redsell

Agenda

Open to Public and Press

Page

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Minutes 5 - 16

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Health and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 15 
September 2016.

3.  Urgent Items

To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972.



4.  Declarations of Interests 

5.  Items Raised by Healthwatch 

6.  Update on Mid and South Essex Success Regime 17 - 24

7.  Council Spending Review Update 25 - 40

8.  Cancer Deep Dive (Health Needs Assessment) in Thurrock 41 - 50

9.  Domiciliary Care - New Service Model and Proposed 
Procurement 

51 - 58

10.  Annual Report of The Director of Public Health 2016 59 - 300

11.  Work Programme 301 – 304

Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies:

Please contact Jenny Shade, Senior Democratic Services Officer by sending an 
email to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Agenda published on: 2 November 2016



Information for members of the public and councillors

Access to Information and Meetings

Members of the public can attend all meetings of the council and its committees and 
have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no later than 5 working days 
before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.

Recording of meetings

This meeting may be recorded for transmission and publication on the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
to be recorded.
Members of the public not wishing any speech or address to be recorded for 
publication to the Internet should contact Democratic Services to discuss any 
concerns.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities.
If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have any special 
requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact the 
Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made.
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee.
The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has 
been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not 
disrupt proceedings.
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting.

Page 1

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


Thurrock Council Wi-Fi

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet.

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network.

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept.

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only.

Evacuation Procedures

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk.

How to view this agenda on a tablet device

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app.

Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services.

To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should:

 Access the modern.gov app
 Enter your username and password

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence

Helpful Reminders for Members

 Is your register of interests up to date? 
 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests? 
 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly? 

When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
 relate to; or 
 likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

 your spouse or civil partner’s
 a person you are living with as husband/ wife
 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of 
the Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a 
pending notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer 
of the interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



Vision: Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where individuals, 
communities and businesses flourish.

To achieve our vision, we have identified five strategic priorities:

1. Create a great place for learning and opportunity

 Ensure that every place of learning is rated “Good” or better

 Raise levels of aspiration and attainment so that residents can take advantage of 
local job opportunities

 Support families to give children the best possible start in life

2. Encourage and promote job creation and economic prosperity

 Promote Thurrock and encourage inward investment to enable and sustain growth

 Support business and develop the local skilled workforce they require

 Work with partners to secure improved infrastructure and built environment

3. Build pride, responsibility and respect 

 Create welcoming, safe, and resilient communities which value fairness

 Work in partnership with communities to help them take responsibility for shaping 
their quality of life 

 Empower residents through choice and independence to improve their health and 
well-being

4. Improve health and well-being

 Ensure people stay healthy longer, adding years to life and life to years 

 Reduce inequalities in health and well-being and safeguard the most vulnerable 
people with timely intervention and care accessed closer to home

 Enhance quality of life through improved housing, employment and opportunity

5. Promote and protect our clean and green environment 

 Enhance access to Thurrock's river frontage, cultural assets and leisure 
opportunities

 Promote Thurrock's natural environment and biodiversity 

 Inspire high quality design and standards in our buildings and public space

Page 4



Minutes of the Meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 15 September 2016 at 7.00 pm

Present: Councillors Victoria Holloway (Chair), Graham Snell (Vice-
Chair), Gary Collins, Tony Fish, Angela Sheridan and 
Aaron Watkins

Kim James, Healthwatch Thurrock Representative

Apologies: Ian Evans, Thurrock Coalition representative

In attendance: Councillor Halden, Portfolio Holder for Health and Education
Ruth Ashmore, Assistant Director of Specialised 
Commissioning, NHS England
Jessamy Kinghorn, NHS England Specialised Services 
(Midlands and East of England)
Catherine O’Connell, Regional Director for Specialised 
Commissioning in the Midlands and East
Andy Brogan, Executive Director of Mental Health - SEPT
Nigel Leonard, Executive Director of Corporate Governance - 
SEPT
Roger Harris, Corporate Director of Adults, Housing and Health
Ian Wake, Director of Public Health
Mandy Ansell, (Acting) Interim Accountable Officer, Thurrock 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Jane Itangata, Head of Mental Health Commissioning, Thurrock 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
Anas Matin, Statutory Complaints & Engagement Manager
Catherine Wilson, Strategic Lead Commissioning and 
Procurement
Jenny Shade, Senior Democratic Services Officer

Before the start of the Meeting, all present were advised that the meeting may be 
filmed and was being recorded, with the audio recording to be made available on 
the Council’s website.

11. Minutes 

The Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
held on the 9 June 2016, were approved as a correct record following the two 
changes requested by Councillor Collins.

In Item 5, paragraph 4, the word sufficient be changed to the word significant.

In Item 5, paragraph 6, a sentence to be added regarding the poor patient 
outcomes of the gender reassignment services.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



12. Urgent Items 

There were no items of urgent business.

13. Declarations of Interests 

No interests were declared.

14. Items Raised by HealthWatch 

No items were raised by the HealthWatch representative.

15. Positron Emission Tomography-Computed Tomography (PET CT) in 
South Essex 

The Positron Emission Tomography – Computer Tomography (PET-CT) item 
had previously been presented to this committee as an item of urgent 
business on 13 October 2015 and referenced in the Specialised 
Commissioning East of England Overview Report presented to Members on 
the 9 June 2016.

Ruth Ashmore presented the report to Members with a background overview 
of the reports already presented, the reactions received and a summary of 
issue which included:

 PET(CT) was a diagnosed scan used mainly to support the diagnosis and 
staging of cancer.

 Approximately 0.17 per cent of the population in South Essex use this 
service.

 Provided by an independent provider 2 to 3 days per week and had asked 
NHS England for permission to move the service to Southend from 
Basildon.

 An increase in demand to meet service and move it to a purpose built fixed 
facility.

 There would be no financial difference to NHS England of either Basildon 
or Southend option.

Jessamy Kinghorn updated members on the patient, public and clinical 
engagement work that had been carried out and provided the results of the 
bus travelling times analysis which had been undertaken.

Ruth Ashmore provided members with information on the mitigating actions 
that would have an impact if the service were to be moved.

NHS concluded that following a lengthy process of additional analysis and 
engagement, Southend remained the preferred option for the long term 
PET(CT) service for South Essex.

Councillor Snell thanked NHS England for a more comprehensive report but 
asked who had commissioned this service. Ruth Ashmore stated that the 

Page 6



service had never been commissioned by NHS England and had an 
agreement with Southend that the scanner may be required in the near future 
and that costs were being incurred whilst the decision was being made.

Councillor Fish stated that the focus should be on the proposal and not the 
service.

Councillor Collins asked for clarity on the different provider times as quoted in 
the summary of issue as 2 to 3 days whilst Claire Panniker quoted 7 days a 
week in the Analysis of PET CT Engagement Activity report. Ruth Ashmore 
stated that there would be an increase over the next 6 months in the 
downtime of patients as the mobile site was less reliable, more preparation 
time was required and clinicians were constantly trying to catch up with 
cancelled appointments. Catherine O’Donnell stated that the concrete pad 
that the scanner sat on was available 7 days a week 

Councillor Watkins asked NHS England if the consultation was fair as the 
report appeared very Southend heavy and suggested that further consultation 
should have been undertaken within Thurrock and also in Basildon and 
Brentwood.

Jessamy Kinghorn stated that additional events had been undertaken with 
patient focus groups rather than individuals but recognised that more work 
could be done to re-engage with those harder to reach patients.

Councillor Watkins asked that these consultations take place now. Catherine 
O’Donnell stated that far more consultations had taken place than would 
normally have been done and that the decision was not clear cut but based on 
own intelligence and views for the future.

Councillor Snell commented that Basildon clinicians would not agree that the 
service should be relocated and that statistics showed that far more patients 
came from South Essex which would entail further travel times if the service 
were to be relocated. 

Councillor Snell asked NHS England if it is possible to have a PET(CT) scan 
in the morning and then receive treatment on the same day. Ruth Ashmore 
commented that this could be a real possibility for the future.

Councillor Ojetola, a member of the Basildon & Thurrock University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust  governors was invited by the Chair to speak. 
Councillor Ojetola stated his surprise that this report had come back to the 
Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee again after the same 
report had been rejected. Councillor Ojetola stated that when the decision 
was made a balanced view from all would be required.

Catherine O’Donnell stated that NHS England were confident that the right 
decision had been made and assured Members that they had listen to 
everyone, justified all the challenges and that the decision remained the 
same.

Page 7



Ian Wake commented that cancer pathways were already fragmented and 
relocating the service to Southend would fragment this even more and that 
this would be bad news for Thurrock patients.

Kim James agreed with the comments made by Officer and Members and 
stated that better consideration should have been given to the location of the 
consultations and that communication with HealthWatch could have assisted 
the process.

The Chair thanked members from NHS England for attending but stated that 
the committee would not be agreeing to the recommendation of moving the 
PET(CT) Scanner from Basildon Hospital to Southend and proposed the 
following recommendation:

That the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee did not 
support the decision made by NHS England to move the PET(CT) scanner 
away from Basildon Hospital and would be referring the matter to full council 
with a view to referring the decision to the Secretary of State.

All members agreed.

RESOLVED

That the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee did not 
support the decision made by NHS England to move the PET(CT) 
scanner away from Basildon Hospital and would be referring the matter 
to full council with a view to referring the decision to the Secretary of 
State.

Jessamy Kinghorn, Ruth Ashmore and Catherine O’Connell left the committee 
room at 8.00pm.

16. Proposed Merger between NEP and SEPT 

Nigel Leonard presented the briefing paper that provided Members with an 
update on the progress of the proposed future merger between the South 
Essex Partnership NHSFT (SEPT) and North Essex Partnership University 
NHSFT (NEP). 

It was confirmed that the proposed merger timetable for the Full Business 
Case was to be presented to the Trust Boards for approval in November 2016 
and then to be reviewed by NHS Improvement by February 2017 which would 
enable the proposed new Trust to be authorised and operational from 1 April 
2017.

Nigel Leonard detailed the three largest risks identified from this process, 
these were:

Page 8



1. Ensure that the proposed merger progresses to support the safe 
delivery of services.

2. The risk of a deteriorating financial position in either or both Trusts.
3. The third risk would be with the difference in the Information 

Management and Technology support.

Councillor Collins asked if there would be any overlap in the delivery of the 
services. Andy Brogan stated that both mental health services were broadly 
similar.

Roger Harris asked for reassurances that the new expanded Trust would 
retain a local identity especially in its relationship with the local Counciland 
expressed his nervousness on how the social care voice would be 
represented in a larger trust.

The Chair thanked Nigel Leonard and Andy Brogan for attending the 
committee and asked that they keep the committee updated and if required 
present a further report.

RESOLVED

That the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee noted 
the proposals of the merger between the NEP and SEPT Trusts.

Nigel Leonard and Andy Brogan left the committee room at 8.10pm.

17. Learning Disabilities Health Checks 

This item had previously been presented to this committee on 1 December 
2015 and 16 February 2016 by NHS Public Health England and had provided 
members with background information on the Learning Disability Health 
Checks Enhanced Service (DES) agreement, performance and actions within 
Thurrock.

Jane Itangata, Head of Mental Health Commissioning, Thurrock NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group presented the report and stated that NHS England 
were responsible for commissioning the directed enhanced services that are 
linked to national priorities and agreements. The opportunity to provide 
Learning Disability Health Checks under the directed enhanced service was 
offered to all general practitioners contract holders across the Midlands and 
the East.

Following a recent consultation with stakeholders in Thurrock it had been 
identified that there were significant concerns about the completeness and 
quality of health checks to improve the quality and coverage of health checks 
in Thurrock. 

On this basis, Members were informed that from 1 April 2016, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group had entered into co-commissioning arrangements with 
NHS Public Health England to deliver the Learning Disability Health Checks. 

Page 9



This meant that an alternative service would be in place to undertake health 
checks for people who cannot access these from their general practitioner 
surgeries. 

Jane Itangata stated that work with Thurrock Lifestyle Solutions was being 
undertaken to identify the quality of the checks and to date the number of 
learning disability health checks collated so far was 58.

The Chair stated her disappointment that no updated figures were available 
for Members and that evidence gathering was not getting any better.

Mandy Ansell stated that not having access to the data collections her team 
had to manually collate the information and that in the first year there had 
been an increase in the volume of health checks undertaken. Patients should 
now be given the choice of offering to either attend their general practitioners 
or an alternative location, for example hubs, which were available week days 
and weekends and HealthWatch would be spreading the word.

The Chair stated that if NHS England would not allow the data to be seen, 
could this be obtained via requests under the Freedom of Information Act to 
extract the information required.

Councillor Snell asked if there had been any improved willingness to 
undertake the learning disability checks. Mandy Ansell stated that a couple of 
practices had positively shown to undertaking more checks and that the 
Aveley practice was a good example of that.

Councillor Watkins asked for evidence that the KPIs were being carried out to 
standard. Jane Itangata stated that they worked on a defined service 
specification to which the primary care development team used as a guide. 
Health Action Plans had now been implemented which would identify what 
checks had been done.

Kim James stated her concern that the needs of all should be met including 
those that live in communities that did not receive the service and for those 
that required further referrals or blood test results to ensure that they were all 
picked up.

Mandy Ansell stated that this was a valid point and would take this action 
back to her team.

Ian Wake stated that Jane Itangata had done an excellent job but was still 
angry on the poor performance over the last 6 months and that the team were 
still having to manually collate the data which should be available 
automatically was unacceptable.

The Chair asked Jane Itangata and Mandy Ansell if sending a letter to NHS 
England from the Chair and Members of the Committee would help to support 
the work undertaken and the frustrations of not being able to retrieve the 
required data. Both agreed that a letter would be most welcome.

Page 10



RESOLVED

1. The Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
noted the progress made on the work plan to improve the quality 
and uptake of health checks by people with Learning Disabilities 
in Thurrock.

2. That the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would write to NHS England to express 
disappointment on the availability of the Learning Disability Check 
data.

18. 2015/16 Annual Complaints and Representations Report 

The Officer presented the annual report for Thurrock Council on the operation 
of the Adult Social Care Complaints Procedure covering the period 1 April 
2015 to 31 March 2016. The Officer stated that it was a statutory requirement 
to produce an annual complaints report on adult social care complaints.

The report set out the 324 representations received in the year which included 
the number of complaints, the key issues arisen from complaints and the 
learning and improvement activity for the department in 2015-16.

The Officer stated that work had started on looking at case studies as a 
means of learning and to improve the service.

RESOLVED

The Health and Wellbeing Overview & Scrutiny Committee considered 
and noted the report.

19. Improving Standards in Primary Care 

The Officer presented the report that described some of the challenges 
relating to the provision of general practitioner services in Thurrock and 
proposed two initiatives. The Officer stated these were the Strengthening of 
the Role of Patient Participation Groups and for a Long Term Condition 
General Practitioner Balanced Scorecard. The aim of the two initiatives was to 
improve the standards of clinical care provided by general practitioners 
locally.

The Officer stated that Thurrock had currently undeveloped Patient 
Participation Groups with even some general practitioners having yet to set up 
an effective patient participation group and others having got a poor level of 
engagement from their practice populations.

Public Health proposed to work with NHS Thurrock Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCG) and Thurrock HealthWatch to deliver a new programme 
Patient Participation at General Practitioner practice level.

Page 11



The Officer stated that it was the intention that the Thurrock Healthcare Public 
Health Team would work with NHS Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group’s 
Primary Care Development Team and the Clinical Commissioning Clinical 
Executive Group to create and agree a Long Term Conditions Management 
Balanced Score Card and individual tailored general practitioner practice 
reports. This would embed an effective tertiary prevention within Primary Care 
to ensure the maintenance of public health and reducing the growth in 
demand through emergency hospital admissions and adult social care 
packages. This would also ensure that local Health and Social Care remains 
financially and operationally sustainable.

Both of the initiatives would impact positively on local patients by ensuring 
that their voice was strengthened at general practitioner level and that their 
care would improve.

Councillor Halden stated that his Portfolio Holder report for full council had 
stated that general practitioners should be held to account and to raise 
expectation on what patients should expect from their general practitioners. 
He thanked Ian Wake for the complex work undertaken in the report.

Councillor Watkins thanked Ian Wake for the fantastic report that showed 
residents what services were provided and asked if the data would be 
regularly updated. Ian Wake stated that data would be extracted quarterly but 
asked Members to note that some general practitioners undertook clinical 
care, for example the flu jabs once a year which would influence the data 
results.

Councillor Watkins stated that the Head of the CCG, Dr Deshpande practice 
ratings were inadequate and asked Officers what action would be taken.

Mandy Ansell stated that there was no link between the primary care ratings 
and that of the role of the Chair of the CCG Board and could not comment 
further.

Ian Wake stated that the Public Health Grant had been used to boost the 
primary care development team to provide additional resource to embed best 
practice and his team were working closely with general practitioners.

Councillor Fish updated Members on those general practitioners who had 
retired and could now be removed from the appendix.

Mandy Ansell stated the proportion of Thurrock surgeries investigated by 
CQC was high and that Thurrock had been specifically focused upon.

Kim James stated that HealthWatch worked very closely with the CQC by 
reporting all incidents which were added to the database and had played a big 
part in the higher number of CQC visits. The Chair stated that residents 
should be encouraged to register all primary care incidents to HealthWatch.

Page 12



Councillor Snell thanked Ian Wake for the good report and stated that a tool 
had never been available before to enable comparisons to be made. 
Councillor Snell stated his concern that the CQC ratings of general 
practitioners in Thurrock should not be used as a league table system.

Councillor Halden concluded by stating that it was not the aim of naming and 
shaming those general practitioners but to ensure that standards of all 
practices in Thurrock were improved.

RESOLVED

The Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee commented 
on the proposed two initiatives.

20. Carers Support, Information and Advice Service 

The Officer presented the report that detailed the preferred option for the 
procurement of a Carers Support, Information and Advice Service for carers 
aged 18 and over. The proposed changes to the current service would ensure 
that the Council would be fully complaint with the responsibilities under the 
Care Act 2014 and in line with best practice. The report had been brought to 
the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee for approval for 
developments to the service in line with legislation and local development.

The Officer stated that the current provision was due to expire in January 
2017 and as part of the review to increase the capacity for the same contract 
price was the preferred option of the Departmental Management Team. 

Councillor Fish stated that those that are registered as carers should have the 
opportunity to work with the Council to ensure that a wider range of views are 
obtained.
 
Councillor Collins asked how the unknown carers would be located and 
contacted. The Officer stated that this would be done by advertising the 
services, working with the voluntary services and the engagement of general 
practitioner would play a crucial part.

The Chair stated that these services were undervalued and that it was 
important that they were supported.

RESOLVED

The Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee approved 
the future design of the Support, Information and Advice Service for 
Carers.

21. Procurement of Healthy Lifestyles Service 

Page 13



The Officer presented the report that outlined the proposals for the 
procurement of a new Healthy Lifestyles Service Contract to commence on 
the 1 April 2017.

The Officer stated that the current services delivered a range of providers 
delivering different elements of the service, with limited across referral ability 
and it was proposed that the service was tendered as a Lead Provider Model 
with a single point of access and referral. The Model would provide:

 A database of service users
 Assess needs
 Allocate individuals to specific programmes of service
 Some services may be provided by sub-contacted partners within the 

community
 More flexibility
 Meet target needs
 £200k per annum savings could be delivered from procurement of this re-

modelled service

The Office confirmed that this report would be presented to Cabinet to request 
permission to proceed to tender in October 2016.

Councillor Collins stated that as a tax payer of the borough he supported the 
report and the savings to be made to the health provision.

RESOLVED

That the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commented on the proposed process to commence procurement of the 
Healthy Lifestyles Service Contract prior to its submission to Cabinet.

22. Re-Procurement of the Integrated Adults Substance Misuse Treatment 
Service 

The Officer presented the report which outlined the proposals for the re-
procurement of the Integrated Adults Substance Misuse Treatment Service 
Contract which provided a recovery-focussed adult drug and alcohol 
treatment system within Thurrock. The existing contract with Kent Council for 
Addiction (KCA) would expire on the 31 March 2017 with a new contract to be 
put in place for 1 April 2017.

The Officer stated that issues had arisen with the quality and safely of the 
service provided by KCA and that they had not been successful in the winning 
of the new contract. Officers had decided not to exercise the optional two year 
extension and instead would take the contract to the market. It would be 
envisaged that a competitive procurement exercise would secure an overall 
savings of £90-£100K.

Kim James welcomed the report and stated that the inadequate service 
currently provided had been a major concern with an increased amount of 

Page 14



residents who now used the service and the lack of support currently 
available.

The Chair stated that residents were entitled to the most up to date services 
available.

Councillor Collins requested some clarity on the safety of the services that 
were currently being addressed. Ian Wake stated that there had been client 
deaths over the last six months but stated there had been no evidence that 
this service provided by KCA had contributed to these deaths. Vulnerable 
clients were at a greater risk of health problems and stated that the Care 
Quality Commission had inspected the service provided by KCA and a report 
was still awaited but reassured members that this matter had been taken 
seriously.
 
RESOLVED

That the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
commented on the re-procurement of the Integrated Adults Substance 
Misuse Treatment Service.

23. Work Programme 

There were no changes to the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee work programme.

The meeting finished at 9.23 pm

Approved as a true and correct record

CHAIR

DATE

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact
Democratic Services at Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Page 15

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



10 November 2016 ITEM: 6

Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Update on Mid and South Essex Success Regime

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
For information and discussion

Report of: Andy Vowles, Programme Director, Mid and South Essex Success 
Regime

Accountable Head of Service: Not applicable

Executive Summary

This paper provides an update on the progress of the Mid and South Essex Success 
Regime (SR) and Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP). 

The STP covers all aspects of health and care, including coordination with other pre-
existing strategies that are Essex-wide, such as mental health and learning 
disabilities. The SR concentrates on some specific priorities for transformation as 
recommended by a diagnostic review that reported in December 2015. 

While the STP is still in draft and subject to further discussions with NHS England 
and other arms-length bodies, the SR is currently in a period of wider engagement 
prior to public consultation in 2017. 

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 The Committee is asked to note the update and to give views on: i. the 
emerging thinking in terms of potential hospital reconfiguration; and ii. 
future plans for public consultation.

2. Introduction and background

2.1 The Success Regime and the STP cover the same geographical area, the 
same five-year planning period and have the same strategic objectives.  The 
STP includes strategic change programmes for all aspects of health and care 
from prevention to specialist services, including plans for mental health and 
learning disabilities.

2.2 The Success Regime (SR) is an intensive programme designed to tackle the 
most significant challenges. The current focus of the work is on:

- the potential to develop localities where GP services, community, mental 
health, social care and other public services could work closer together (as in 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



the local strategy For Thurrock in Thurrock)
- the development of care to help people stay well for longer, including a new 
model of care for older and frail people (which is being led by Thurrock CCG)
- the potential to improve hospital care by the three main hospitals in mid and 
south Essex working together as a group.

2.3 Since the last update for the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, there have been a number of developments, including the 
following:

 Further work on the draft STP
NHS England and all national arm’s length bodies have commended a 
high level draft STP submitted for mid and south Essex on 30 June. A 
second draft was submitted on 21 October for further discussions at 
national level. Subject to these further discussions, we will publish a 
summary for local people later in the year.

 Engagement
There have been 27 discussion workshops with staff and local people 
across mid and south Essex.  We are now collating substantial evidence 
from service user experience and local views to inform the development of 
the SR/STP and, in particular, to inform potential options for hospital 
reconfiguration. See further details later in this report.

 The overall SR/STP plan and an update on current thinking was discussed 
at the recent Thurrock CVS and Healthwatch Thurrock conference on 14 
September. Healthwatch Thurrock has also led on a number of exercises 
to gather the views of service users and we look forward to receiving the 
outcome report, which will be included in our overall report on local views.

 Work in progress
Four main hospital working groups of clinicians are developing 
recommendations supported by national and local clinical evidence. These 
are due to be considered in a detailed review at the end of November, 
together with the input from service users and local people and other 
evidence. The working groups cover: emergency care and acute medicine, 
surgery, women’s and maternity services and children’s services.

 The medical directors for the mid and south Essex Success Regime have 
consulted the regional Clinical Senate on the developing 
recommendations. The Clinical Senate provides independent clinical 
scrutiny and advice. Following a rigorous panel session, the Senate was 
supportive of the overall transformation plans; however we are anticipating 
a detailed written report with a view from the Clinical Senate and this will 
also provide evidence for consideration at the November review.

 The outcome of the review at the end of November will inform the content 
of a pre-consultation business case for regional assurance prior to 
consideration by the national arms-length bodies.

Page 18



 Timescales

o Submission of next draft STP to the national bodies – 21 October
o STP publication later in the year, subject to national discussions
o Draft pre-consultation business case to be reviewed in December
o Public consultation subject to approval of the pre-consultation 

business case in 2017.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 In this section, we provide a summary update on current thinking in terms of 
potential hospital reconfiguration and redesign.

 
3.2 Reiteration of key points in case for change 

 An aging population is placing pressure on the health and care system. 
Health outcomes are notably worse for those on lower incomes and those 
living with higher deprivation. The SR/STP must review capacity and 
capability to meet the needs of a future population.

 Services in the community are in some instances fragmented. Some parts 
of primary care have numerous independent practices with limited 
integration. Primary care and end of life care are two examples of where 
access in mid and south Essex is below national levels.

 In acute hospitals, key services are falling short of some clinical quality 
and safety standards. For example, only 81% of A&E patients are seen 
within 4 hours, where the national standard is 95%.

 Emergency attendances in A&E are growing at double the national growth 
rate (8% versus 4% in 2014/15, for example). Emergency admissions are 
also higher than the national average. With development in community and 
primary care, there is great potential to reduce these pressures and 
improve the quality of care for people. 

 Neither acute care nor primary care services are currently configured to 
meet rising demand.

 There are clinical workforce gaps in primary, community and acute care 
due to recruitment challenges, which also leads to a higher than average 
spend on locum care and agency staff. Hiring more staff is not a 
sustainable option given national and local workforce shortages. There are 
similar recruitment challenges for social care. The potential for 
improvement lies with new ways of working across the spectrum of 
professional roles.

Page 19



 The annual financial challenge for the NHS in mid and south Essex 
reached £101 million in 2015/16. A “do nothing” scenario would increase 
the deficit to some £430 million by 2020.

3.3 Overall strategic direction for SR/STP

The SR/STP has refined its priorities for action, with the aim of improving 
health, quality and financial balance, achieving long term sustainability and 
reducing health inequalities. The current thinking is to:

 Build stronger health and care localities, including a focus on prevention, 
self-care and mental health

 Develop urgent and emergency care pathways to provide care closer to 
home, earlier interventions and avoid the need for a hospital admission

 Reconfigure services in the three acute hospitals to improve patient 
outcomes and develop a sustainable clinical workforce

 Redesign clinical pathways

3.4 Update on “In Hospital” workstream

 The main changes for consultation in 2017 lie within the “In hospital” 
workstream of the Success Regime/STP. Developments in primary and 
community services will continue to build on health and wellbeing 
strategies that were already in progress.

 The following summarises the main points of potential change in hospital 
care:

 One designated specialist emergency hospital
Guided by national evidence, emergency care should be improved by 
developing a network of urgent and emergency care services, with as 
much as possible in the community. For hospital emergencies, there 
should be one designated specialist emergency hospital, as 
recommended by national clinical evidence for a population of our size 
(1.2 million)

 Centre(s) of excellence for planned surgery
Planned care should be separate from emergency care. Planned 
operations should be protected from the effects of sudden surges in 
emergency demands, which often lead to cancellations.

 Single teams of specialists across the hospital group
Specialist services should be consolidated in one or more centres, 
where the clinical evidence suggests that this would improve patient 
care and outcomes.

 Within the emerging models of clinical services the following centres of 
excellence should remain as is:

Page 20



o Cardiothoracic centre at Basildon
o Plastics and Burns at Chelmsford
o Cancer and Radiotherapy services at Southend

 For the majority of hospital care the aim is to provide as much as possible close 
to where patients live, balanced against potential benefits of consolidating some 
specialist services. This includes identifying where there is potential to transfer 
some services to GP surgeries or local health centres, and opportunities to use 
telemedicine and other technologies to run virtual clinics.

 Across the range of hospital services, the majority of what people might need 
from their local hospital would continue at each hospital site, such as day 
surgery, outpatient clinics and beds for a short stay for observation and recovery.

 All three hospitals would continue to provide an A&E for walk-in patients and for 
ambulances carrying patients who have been referred by their GP. 

 There would be assessment units for children, older and frail people and for 
people who may need emergency surgery. These assessment units would 
ensure quick access to tests and scans and prompt treatment, including an 
overnight stay if necessary, so that most people needing urgent treatment could 
receive it at their local hospital. 

 The local hospital would also be able to look after people who need a few days 
for recovery and rehabilitation following specialist surgery or other treatment, 
which they may have had in a specialist centre elsewhere.

 Further work is ongoing to develop and appraise the potential models and 
possible combinations across the hospital group. The November review will 
consider in detail the benefits and disadvantages of the models, informed by all of 
the evidence gathered from clinicians, service users and local people.

3.5 Service user engagement in this work

 We are currently collating and analysing the feedback from 27 workshops 
with staff and local people. We will provide a further update on this at the 
meeting on 10 November.

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 The Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee is a key 
stakeholder with a statutory duty to scrutinise health services and public 
engagement in potential service change. We very much value members’ 
views and advice to ensure meaningful consultation.

5. Consultation (including Overview & Scrutiny, if applicable)

None

Page 21



6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 The Essex Success Regime will contribute to the delivery of the community 
priority ‘Improve Health and Wellbeing’.

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

One of the objectives of the Essex Success Regime is to respond to the 
current NHS funding gap across the Mid and South Essex geographical 
‘footprint’.  A number of work streams have been established as part of the 
Success Regime to drive forward necessary savings and to improve quality of 
care provided to users of services.  As a system-wide issue, partners from 
across the health and care system are involved in the work of the Success 
Regime.  This will help to ensure that any unintended financial 
consequences on any partners of what is planned as part of the Success 
Regime are identified at the earliest opportunity and mitigated.  Further 
implications will be identified as the work of the Success Regime continues. 

Thurrock Council has a finance representative involved in the Success 
Regime and any financial implications, when known, will be reflected in the 
MTFS.

7.2 Legal

Legal implications associated with the work of the Success Regime will be 
identified as individual work streams progress. The Success Regime process 
itself will meet the requirements of NHS statutory duties, including the Duty to 
Involve and Public Sector Equality Duty.

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Within the SR programme, we will undertake actions that take full 
consideration of equality issues as guided by the Equality Act 2010. 

We will make use of the Essex Equality Delivery System that was first 
established in 2011/12. This includes details and guidelines for involving 
minority and protected groups, based on inputs from and agreements with 
local advocates.

We will incorporate discussions with seldom-heard groups to test equality 
issues and use the feedback to inform an equality impact assessment to be 
included in the pre-consultation business case and decision-making business 
case.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

Page 22



None identified

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

None.

9. Appendices to the report

None.

Report Author:

Wendy Smith
Interim Communications Lead
Mid and South Essex Success Regime

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



10 November 2016 ITEM: 7

Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Council Spending Review Update 

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Accountable Head of Service: Sean Clark, Director of Finance and IT

Accountable Directors: 
 Sean Clark, Director of Finance and IT

 Roger Harris, Corporate Director of Adults, Housing & Health

This report is public

Executive Summary

This report summarises the main changes to the MTFS for the period 2017/18 
through to 2019/20 and the governance structure for the Council Spending Review 
and Transformation Programme, including the budget planning table enabling 
agreement of the budget in February 2017.  

This report specifically updates the committee on the proposals currently being 
considered that will affect Children’s Services budgets.

1 Recommendations

1.1 That Health & Well Being Overview and Scrutiny Committee note the 
revised MTFS position and the Council Spending Review approach and 
timetable.

1.2 That Health & Well Being Overview and Scrutiny Committee comment on 
the proposals currently being considered within the remit of this 
committee.

2 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

2.1 The MTFS presented to Council in February 2016 shows the budget gap over 
the 3 years 2017/18 to 2019/20 as £18.443m. This already assumes delivery 
of £2.484m savings previously agreed for 2017/18 (see Appendix 1) and 
assumes a Council Tax increase of 3.99% in each year.

2.2 As part of the ongoing budget planning process, the MTFS has been updated 
to reflect latest assumptions. The table below sets out the movements from 
the previous position and revised budget gap. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total
February 2016 7.378 6.098 4.967 18.443
Business Rates 0.399 0.663 (0.463) 0.599
Inflation (0.285) (0.071) (0.071) (0.427)
Capital Financing - (0.042) 0.591 0.549
Government Grant - - 1.785 1.785
Revised Budget Gap 7.492 6.648 6.809 20.949

2.3 The key movements include:

 The position for 2017/18 and 2018/19 reflects a reduction in the provision 
for inflation but, adversely, also the possible impact of a significant 
category of business rate appeals that have been lodged;

 The majority of the increase is expected in 2019/20 and is largely as a 
result of further analysis on the four year funding settlement.  It is prudent, 
at this stage, to reduce down the level of grant and business rate support 
in light of discussions on the removal or reduction of New Homes Bonus 
and further comments on grant levels;  and

 The increase in Capital Financing reflects the likely interest rate increases 
towards the end of the MTFS period.  This increased cost has been offset 
with significant savings in 2016/17 and smaller reductions over the 
following two years as a result of pushing back the impact in light of 
current economic forecasts.

2.4 One off funding has been identified to meet the costs of a Clean It, Cut It, Fill 
It pilot.  The results of this pilot will be used to determine whether growth is 
required in the budget for a permanent increase to the Environment and Place 
budgets and this will be reported once known.

2.5 The position above includes the assumption of a 3.99% increase in council tax 
each year – 1.99% general increase and 2% adult social care precept. The 
table below sets out how any reductions to this assumption will increase the 
deficits set out in paragraph 2.2:

An increase of: Increases the budget gap by (£m)
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 Total

3.99% 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
3.00% 0.570 0.585 0.605 1.760
2.00% 1.140 1.170 1.210 3.520
1.00% 1.710 1.755 1.815 5.280
0.00% 2.280 2.340 2.420 7.040

3 Council Spending Review Process and Timetable

3.1 Given the level of saving previously delivered across the council, the 
pressures identified in 2016/17 and that there are minimal reserves to call 

Page 26



upon, it is essential that there is a clear strategy to close the budget gap set 
out in the MTFS. As a result, the focus will be on 3 key areas: 

 Income generation – including increasing the Council’s commercial trading 
base. Council Tax increases also fall under this category;

 Achieving more / same for less – including further transformational 
projects, contract reviews, spend to save initiatives and alternative delivery 
models; and

 Demand management / early intervention.  Examples include the Local 
Area Co-ordinators and Community Hubs.

3.2 However, where the budget gap cannot be fully closed through the above, the 
likely solution will be reductions to, or full cessation of, service provision.

3.3 Crossing through all of these areas is the need to adapt our workforce and 
change our culture to be an organisation which is more entrepreneurial, 
digitally-minded and commercially-aware. 

3.4 The Council Spending Review will be underpinned by the following principles.

 Becoming financially self-sustainable;
 A target of 15-20% efficiencies in each service;
 A review of all services by March 2019 using common design principles 

(customer / demand management, commercial, ICT / digital, people, 
procurement, property and process);

 Non-statutory income generating services should be cost neutral; and
 Outcome focused including consideration of prevention and early 

intervention.

3.5 There has been some discussion that the Service Review is a top slice 
approach.  It is important to note that the intention of these reviews is more a 
focus on making the use of financial, physical and people assets more 
efficient through challenging service delivery on the principles set out above.

3.6 The transformation framework for achieving this is set out in the governance 
structure in Appendix 2. The officer Transformation Board will oversee a 
number of Strategic Boards each with a specific focus and cross cutting 
membership. Each Strategic Board will be sponsored by a member of 
Directors Board and guided by the principles outlined above and strategic 
policy direction set by Members.  The governance structure also includes the 
cross-party Council Spending Review Panel.

3.7 The timing of these reviews is set out at Appendix 3.

Page 27



STRATEGIC BOARDS
Growth Performance

Customer & Demand Management Commercial
ICT / Digital People
Procurement Property

Service Review

3.8 The Council Spending Review timetable has been prepared to achieve 
agreement of the budget by Cabinet and Council in February 2017. The main 
milestones are summarised below: 

 July/August 2016 – Officer boards identify proposals and estimated 
savings for consultation with Cabinet Members;

 7th September 2016 – Cabinet consider Q1 budget update including 
budget planning timetable and governance;

 September 2016 – Council Spending Review Panel (cross-party with 
Group Leaders and Deputies) consider savings options ahead of 
consultation;

 October/November 2016 – O&Ss consider proposals and public 
consultation where required;

 January 2017 – Cabinet agree proposals for implementation informed by 
O&S recommendations and draft budget referred to Corporate O&S; and

 February 2017 – Cabinet and Council budget setting.

3.9 At this stage, the £7.492m budget gap for 2017/18, set out in paragraph 2.2, 
has been reduced to circa £0.9m though this rises to £1.3m when the 
contribution to increase the general fund balance is added.  This assumes:

3.9.1 A 3.99% council tax increase; and

3.9.2 No further investment in other services, including investment in 
Environmental Services.

3.10 Officers continue to work towards closing the remaining balance and 
identifying additional funds for further investment in services.

4 Savings Proposals 

4.1 Management Actions Savings Proposals

4.2 The majority of the savings proposals are categorised as being “management 
actions” i.e. are operational matters under the responsibility of officers to 
implement without the requirement for member approval. Those which fall 
under the remit of each Overview & Scrutiny Committee have been presented 
to them for information. There are no new management actions savings 
proposals at this time relating to this committee.  

Page 28



4.3 Savings Proposals requiring Cabinet approval

4.3.1 The Corporate Boards have also identified some areas of potential savings 
which require Cabinet approval before being taken forward and on which 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee are asked to comment. Currently there is one 
new such proposal relating to this Committee as shown below: 

 Proposal Category/ 
Type

2017/18
£K

2018/19
£K

2019/20
£K

Adult Care Placements (18-65 age group) – Review of 
placement costs against care plans. 

(This is in addition to the existing savings target underway 
– £ 500k see below)

Cost 
reduction 100 100 100

4.4 Other considerations

4.4.1 The Care Quality Commission has released a report (The State of Health and 
Care and Adult Social Care in England 2015/16 – October 2016) that 
describes Adult Social Care as reaching a tipping point.  This is a situation 
that has become recognisable in Thurrock.

4.4.2 Between 2010/11 and 2015/16 the Directorate has made £13.601m savings.  
This reduction has been compounded by additional pressures faced by the 
service over the same period of time.  

4.4.3 There are a number of reasons for the increased pressure on Adult Social 
Care.  These include:

 Increased complexity of need – both in terms of older people and working-
age adults;

 Impact of the National Living Wage;

 Increased demand for services;

 Difficulty recruiting social care staff – particularly carers;

 Cost of ensuring external providers are sustainable – e.g. additional 
sustainability payments;

 Demographic pressures – increasing numbers of people who live longer 
but with a greater number of years in poor health; and

 High cost placements for disabled adults.

4.4.4 We have worked extremely hard to control our costs and manage demand.  
This includes:

 Reviewing and re-procuring contracts;

 Service re-design;

Page 29



 Introduction of panels to ensure tight control of and consistency of 
decisions concerning care packages;

 Staff reductions;

 Control of agency spend;

 Introduction of services designed to prevent, reduce and delay the need 
for care and support – e.g. Local Area Coordination (LAC) and the Rapid 
Response and Assessment Service (RRAS);

 Reviewing and negotiation of placement costs; and

 Identification and utilisation of alternative funding sources – e.g. grants, 
pooled Better Care Fund etc.

4.4.5 Whilst we have managed to deliver a balanced budget to date, our ability to 
make additional savings and control service demand will prove extremely 
difficult and be delivered at a potential risk to those requiring services.  It is 
very likely that additional resources will need to be provided for care providers 
– with a recent report from the UK Homecare Association stating that in their 
view, the minimum price necessary to deliver sustainable homecare is £16.70 
per hour.  We currently pay below this rate.   We also need to be careful that 
by delivering additional savings we do not destabilise an already fragile 
market place.

4.4.6 The signs of an extremely strained health and care system are showing and 
have become increasingly apparent during 2016-17.  This includes the 
department taking over 1600 hours per week of domiciliary care back in-
house as a result of two failing providers.  This has led to an extremely 
stretched in-house service – reflected by a recent CQC report that rated the 
service as ‘requiring improvement’.  For the first time ever, the service has 
had to provide domiciliary care on a priority basis.  As a result, a number of 
people at any one time are unable to vacate hospital beds (bed blocking).  
Combined with this, there are many occasions now when residential care 
providers are at full capacity.

4.4.7 We are focusing efforts on preventing, reducing and delaying the need for 
care services.  This includes a focus on early intervention – e.g. through our 
Rapid Response and Assessment Service (RRAS) and also through our Local 
Area Coordination Service.  We are also working with partners, including the 
voluntary service, to build resilience and capacity within Thurrock’s 
communities to enable individuals to get the support they need without 
necessarily requiring a service intervention – or to limit the amount of service 
intervention required.  This work continues as part of our Living Well in 
Thurrock transformation programme.  Whilst the Programme will not deliver 
quick savings, it will contribute towards managing and containing growing 
demand.

Page 30



4.4.8 Despite the challenging situation Adult Social Care faces, there are a number 
of measures we have both put in place and plan to or consider putting in place 
to contain and control demand as far as possible and also to manage costs.  
Some of decisions taken to date and that will be taken are very difficult and 
will have an impact on what we can provide.  Measures we are considering 
and advancing include both short and longer-term solutions:

Short Term

 Securing increased funding from the Better Care Fund;

 Reviewing further our charging policies; 

 Reviewing voluntary sector grants;

 Reviewing supporting people contracts;

 Tighter restrictions on access to funded packages of care – including the 
tightening of the application of eligibility; and

 The introduction of care ‘waiting lists’

Medium-Long Term

 Living Well in Thurrock Transformation Programme:

o Stronger Communities – consisting of Local Area Coordination, 
Social Prescribing, Time Banking, Micro Enterprises, Community 
Hubs and Shared Lives;

o Built Environment -  consisting of specialist housing options (e.g. 
Medina Road), housing options for people as they grow older (e.g. 
HAPPI housing, extra care facilities etc.), intermediate care 
capacity, ‘place’ shaping;

o Adult Social Care ‘offer’ – consisting of market development (e.g. 
shared lives, living well @ home), in-house provider and social care 
‘spin out’, Single Point of Access, integration opportunities across 
health and social care.

4.4.9 There are two savings built into the MTFS for 2016/17 relating to this 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee both of which are high risk:

4.4.10 External Placements  - £500K saving built into MTFS to be delivered in 
2016/17

Since this savings target was agreed in 2014/15 the local adult social care 
landscape has changed significantly and demand has increased substantially. 
This has meant that the approach to delivering the original £500K saving has 
yet to be fully identified. This, in effect, means the service needs to find £600K 
savings in the external placements budget. 

Page 31



4.4.11 Public Health – review of contracts - £250K saving built into MTFS to be 
delivered in 2016/17

Similar to the above, the context around Public Health funding has changed 
since these saving targets were agreed, and as such, original approach to 
delivering these savings has needed to change. The team are working hard to 
identify the remaining savings methods. 

4.4.12 Adult Social Care Precept

The MTFS assumes that Council will agree to an increase of the Council Tax 
each year including the 2% adult social care precept. Whilst this will be 
beneficial it will only go some way to cover additional National Living Wage 
increases within the sector, and not help to offset demand as a result of 
demographic growth. 

4.4.13 Additional cross-cutting savings targets

There are also a number of cross cutting savings targeted including the 
reduction of the council wide spend on agency staff, consultants and 
overtime.  The impact of these targeted reductions on services is currently 
being evaluated but is in addition to any other service-specific proposals.

5. Reasons for Recommendation

5.1 The Council has a statutory requirement to set a balanced budget annually 
and to review its adequacy of reserves.  The report outlines the budget gap 
over the next three years as per the MTFS and the approach and timetable to 
manage the position. 

6. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

6.1 The budget planning governance structure includes involvement and 
consultation with Officers, Portfolio Holders and Members. The timetable 
allocates October - December for Overview and Scrutiny committees to 
consider proposals and public consultation where required.  The process also 
includes the Council Spending Review Panel, made up of cross-party Group 
Leaders and Deputies who will meet regularly during the budget planning 
period and ahead of key decision points.  

7. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

7.1 The implementation of previous savings proposals has already reduced 
service delivery levels and our ability to meet statutory requirements, 
impacting on the community and staff. There is a risk that some agreed 
savings may result in increased demand for more costly interventions if needs 
escalate particularly in social care. The potential impact on the Council’s 
ability to safeguard children and adults will be kept carefully under review and 
mitigating actions taken where required. 

Page 32



7.2 The scale of future budget reductions as set out in this report are such that 
work is underway to follow a transformational approach to tackle the 
challenge.

8. Implications 

8.1 Financial 

Implications verified by: Carl Tomlinson  
Finance Manager 

The financial implications are set out in the body of this report.

Council officers have a legal responsibility to ensure that the Council can 
contain spend within its available resources. Regular budget monitoring 
reports will continue to come to Cabinet and be considered by the Directors 
Board and management teams in order to maintain effective controls on 
expenditure during this period of enhanced risk. Austerity measures in place 
are continually reinforced across the Council in order to reduce ancillary 
spend and to ensure that everyone is aware of the importance and value of 
every pound of the taxpayers money that is spent by the Council. 

8.2 Legal 

Implications verified by: David Lawson
 Deputy Head of Law & Governance

There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.

There are statutory requirements of the Council’s Section 151 Officer in 
relation to setting a balanced budget. The Local Government Finance Act 
1988 (Section 114) prescribes that the responsible financial officer “must 
make a report if he considers that a decision has been made or is about to be 
made involving expenditure which is unlawful or which, if pursued to its 
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency to the 
authority”. This includes an unbalanced budget.

8.3 Diversity and Equality 

Implications verified by: Natalie Warren 
Community Development and Equalities 
Manager

There are no specific diversity or equalities implications as part of this report. 

A comprehensive Community and Equality Impact Assessment (CEIA) will be 
completed for any specific savings proposals developed to address future 

Page 33



savings requirements and informed by consultation outcomes to feed into final 
decision making. The cumulative impact will also be monitored.

8.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

Any other significant implications will be identified in any individual savings 
proposal business case to inform the consultation process where applicable 
and final decision making.

9. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 None

10. Appendices to the report

 Appendix 1 – 2017/18 Previously Agreed Savings Tracker

 Appendix 2 – Council Spending Review Governance Structure

 Appendix 3 – Service Review Timetable 

Report Author:
Sean Clark, Director of Finance and IT
Roger Harris, Corporate Director of Adults, Housing and Health 
 

Page 34



Appendix 1

Previously Agreed Savings 2017/18

Adults, Housing and Health  
Responsible Officer Description  Target 
Roger Harris External Placements           500 

Roger Harris Public health – review of contracts           250 

Roger Harris Reduction in Voluntary Sector Core Grants             25 
Total            775 

  
Children’s Services   

Responsible Officer Description  Target 

Rory Patterson

Reduce and realign youth provision across 
Thurrock and related service through internal 
reorganisation and developing the services as a 
mutual/ outsourced service

          232 

Total            232 
   
Environment & Place  

Responsible Officer Description  Target 

Steve Cox Transportation restructure and highways 
efficiencies           250 

Steve Cox Invest in modern highway maintenance           260 

Steve Cox Planning - increased income and/or efficiencies             35 

Steve Cox CEDU Restructure - Regeneration           300 
Total            845 
   
Legal Services  
Responsible Officer Description  Target 
Fiona Taylor Legal traded service income             50 
Total              50 
   
Finance & IT   
Responsible Officer Description  Target 

Sean Clark Further changes to staffing levels and revisions of 
prudential charges           582 

Total            582 
   
   
Total         2,484 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance Structure for Council Spending Review 

and Transformation Programme

Strategic Policy 

Setting 

(Cabinet/DB 

Away Day and 

Portfolio Holder 

/ Director 

discussions)

Performance Board

Customer & Demand Mgt Board

Commercial Board

ICT / Digital Board

Growth Board

People Board

Procurement Board

Property Board

Service Review Board

Officers

(Responsible / operational)

Directors Board

Transformation 

Board

Council 

Spending 

Review 
(consult and 

challenge)

Overview & 

Scrutiny 

Committee 

(consult and 

challenge)

Members

Cabinet 

(decision 

making)

Council 
(decision 

making)

P
age 37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



The following is an indicative timetable for the Service Review Board:  

Appendix 3 

Service Review Board: Proposed Projects 

Directorate 2017/18  2018/19 2019/20 

Environment & 

Place 

 

Waste  

Street & grounds   

Specialist grounds 

Highway reactive maintenance 

Development management 

Building control 

Strategy & growth 

Highways infrastructure 

Special projects 

Heritage, arts & culture 

Libraries 

Land charges 

Business improvement 

Highways & transport 

Transport development 

Economic development 

Regeneration 

Housing development/ 

Gloriana 

Registrars 

Sport & leisure 

 

Corporate property 

Public protection 

 

 

Children’s 

Services 

 

 

Grants programme review 

Care & targeted outcomes 

(iMPOWER) 

Commissioning 

Business administration 

Children’s Centres 

Adults, 

Housing & 

Health 

 

 

Domiciliary care 

Collins House 

Fieldwork  services 

In-house provider services 

Careline 

Single point of access 

Public health 

Commissioning 

Integration with ASC & peer 

review 

Welfare reform 

Investment in HRA stock 

Homelessness 

Private rented sector 

Anti-social behaviour & 

enforcement 

Tenancy & 

neighbourhoods 

Finance & IT Fraud 

Debt collection 

Revenues 

ICT 

Benefits 

Corporate Finance 

Risk & insurance 

Internal Audit 

HR, OD & 

Transformation 

 

Executive support hub 

HR & Payroll 

People & OD 

Corporate Programme Team 

Customer Services 

Recruitment 

Improvement 

GIS 

Information Management 

Strategy & Communications 

Performance, Quality, 

Business Support 

Legal Democratic Services 

Member’s Services 

Electoral Services 

Legal Services 

Commercial 

Services 

Procurement 

Commercial 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



10 November 2016 ITEM: 8

Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Cancer Deep Dive (Health Needs Assessment) in Thurrock

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Non-key

Report of: Funmi Worrell, Public Health Registrar

Accountable Head of Service: Ian Wake, Director of Public Health

Accountable Director: Ian Wake, Director of Public Health

This report is Public

Executive Summary

A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment/Cancer Deep Dive report was produced as part 
of the core Public Health offer to NHS Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG).  

All elements of the cancer care pathway were considered; prevention, screening and 
referral through to diagnosis, treatment and survival.

A number of areas were identified where joint working between the CCG, council 
(public health) and other partners could lead to improved outcomes for the 
population.

A Thurrock Cancer Action Implementation Group was convened with membership 
including CCG colleagues, public health and third sector involvement.

Please refer to the Cancer Action Implementation Plan document (Appendix 1) for 
past and future action plans by the group.

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee comment on the 
contents of this report and action plans.

1.2 HOSC should support the work done by public health, CCG colleagues 
and other partners to improve cancer services and outcomes in 
Thurrock. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



2. Introduction and Background

2.1. Cancer is the single biggest cause of ill health and premature death in our 
population.

2.2 A Cancer Action Implementation Group was convened in June 2016 between 
the CCG and public health team at Thurrock Council.

2.3 An action log was created, with regular meetings to monitor key performance 
indicators (KPIs) to improve cancer care in Thurrock, including:

 Visiting GP practices that were identified as being likely to benefit from 
supportive visits 

 Communicating with GPs via the CCG bulletins and patients via the 
council communications team

 Training sessions with practice staff e.g. Making Every Contact Count 
(MECC) training

 Various other actions (see excel sheet)

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 Overview of issues – Cancer is the single biggest cause of premature 
mortality in Thurrock.   

There are various ways in which public health and the CCG can work together 
to improve outcomes in Thurrock residents.

3.2 Cancer Prevention: Smoking
Smoking is the single largest cause of ill health and death in the UK.
Actions to be taken:

 Targeted support at motivated quitters with Long Term Conditions (LTCs) 
e.g. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD).  Analysis of data 
shows a significant impact on hospital admissions and Adult Social Care 
demand for COPD related packages when this approach is adopted, in 
addition to producing significant health benefits for the patients involved in 
slowing progression of their condition.

 Shifting focus of historical work of stop smoking services on chasing 
meaningless four week smoking quit targets to one that discourages 
young people from starting to smoke.  We will achieve this through 
commissioning of the evidence based ASSIST Programme in schools 
through the proposed re-procurement of an integrated lifestyle modification 
programme, and through the new 21st Century Children and Young 
People’s Services.  Modelling working undertaken by the Public Health 
Team has clearly demonstrated that this approach has the potential to 
reduce smoking prevalence in Thurrock by 1% per annum, compared with 
historical focus on adult four week quitters, which is having no significant 
impact in reducing smoking prevalence within the population.  This shift in 

Page 42



emphasis is more cost effective, produces a greater population Public 
Health gain and has the best chance of breaking the inter-generational 
health inequalities within Thurrock where children of adult smokers are 
more likely to become smokers themselves.  We will however continue to 
commission a universal stop smoking service for any adult smoker who is 
motivated and wishes to access support to make a quit attempt.

3.3 GP practice administrative staff were given MECC training as a means of 
sign-posting patients motivated to quit smoking to smoking cessation 
services.

3.4 Cancer Screening

Early identification of many types of cancer results in better treatment 
outcomes for patients.  Cancer screening programmes aim to identify people 
likely to have cancer such that they can be referred for further diagnostic tests 
and if necessary for treatment.  

3.5 National cancer screening programmes are delivered by the NHS. 
Commissioning and monitoring of local programmes is the responsibility of a 
local team of Public Health England based within the NHS England East 
office.

3.6 There are three national cancer screening programmes:

 NHS Cervical Screening Programme
 NHS Breast Screening Programme
 NHS Bowel Cancer Screening Programme

3.7     Cervical Screening

 11 practices have screening coverage that is both below the 70% 
minimum standard and significantly below what would be expected for 
their level of practice population deprivation.  

 These practices have been contacted and CCG/public health joint practice 
visits have been arranged.  

3.8 Bowel Cancer Screening

 There is a strong negative association between bowel cancer screening 
coverage and deprivation. This is concerning as it is likely to be a driver of 
health inequalities related to cancer.

 A communication campaign to promote the importance of cancer 
screening programmes with particular targeting of areas with low 
screening coverage is being designed to be released in the autumn/winter.

Page 43



3.9 Breast Cancer Screening

 The mean screening coverage rate for breast screening of patients 
across Thurrock is 65.9% which is below the minimum standard of 
70%.   

 Only 11 out of the 32 practice populations (34.3%) achieve the 
minimum 70% coverage standard and none are screened to the target 
80%.

 A communication campaign to promote the importance of cancer 
screening programmes with particular targeting of areas with low 
screening coverage is being designed to be released in the 
autumn/winter.

3.10 Early Identification and Referral of People with Suspected Cancer

 Timely and appropriate referral of patients with symptoms is essential 
to improving cancer survival in our population.  

 One of the explanations in the published literature on the UK’s poor 
cancer survival rates compared to other countries is that patients are 
referred for cancer treatment too late.   

 Conversely, over-referral of patients who do not have cancer risks 
clogging up NHS care pathways with the “worried well” and diverting 
capacity away from treating promptly patients who do have cancer.

 The NHS has set a two week minimum waiting time (TWW) for patients 
with suspected cancer to see a cancer specialist from GP referral.  

 In terms of performance against the two-week waiting standard, 
Thurrock performs well with 95.6% of patients seeing a cancer 
specialist within two weeks of being referred into the pathway by their 
GP.  This is second best performance in Thurrock’s ONS comparator 
CCG group and statistically significantly better than the performance 
across England.

 There is ongoing work planned to keep early identification and referral 
rates of people with suspected cancer at a good comparable standard.  
All identified practices should be visited by the end of the financial year 
(March 2017).

3.11 Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment

 Prompt diagnosis and treatment is key both to the efficacy of treatment 
and to minimising the distress of people diagnosed with cancer.

 There is significant variation between different GP populations in terms 
of rate of emergency hospital admissions for cancer with 12 practices 
having rates significantly below the England mean and two practices 
significantly above and a 20 fold difference between the practice 
population with the highest and lowest rate. Public Health and working 
closely with the CCG’s Primary Care Development Team to drive up 
standards in Primary Care, as set out in the October Cabinet Report on 
this topic.

Page 44



 Practices that are outliers are being alerted and conversations initiated 
to determine the reasons behind these findings.  This includes visits to 
poorly performing practices to improve referral into pathways for early 
diagnosis and care.

 There are various boards and meetings that look at the cancer care 
pathways in Essex, the actions from these meetings are discussed at 
the cancer action group meetings and the lead doctor for cancer at the 
CCG, Dr Kishor Padki attends these meetings.

Cancer Survival

 Cancer one-year survival rates for both Thurrock and England have 
increased at largely the same yearly rate and by around 10% between 
1996 and 2011.

 One year survival rates will continue to be one of the KPIs that are 
monitored by the cancer action implementation group as well as the 
health and wellbeing board in Thurrock.

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 HOSC is asked to note the contents of this report.

4.2 HOSC is asked to support the work that public health, CCG and other 
partners are doing in order to improve outcomes for those affected by cancer 
in Thurrock. 

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 This report has been presented to Thurrock CCG colleagues, who supported 
the recommendations made.

5.2 A more detailed report was presented to HOSC in June 2016 and this report 
shows the actions that have taken place since the discussions that were had 
during the meeting and plans for the rest of the financial year.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 This report should be used by the Council and partners to influence new ways 
of working and supporting policies and actions that aim to improve outcomes 
by those affected by cancer.

Page 45



7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Jo Freeman
Management Accountant (Social Care & 
Commissioning)

There are no direct financial costs arising from this report. 

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Chris Pickering
Principal Solicitor
Employment & Litigation

There are no legal implications for the following reason:

Improving the identification, treatment and survival time from cancer forms 
part of the NHS constitution.

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Becky Price
Community Development Officer
Community Development and Equalities Team

Implementing the recommendations in this report will help to improve the 
health of some of the more vulnerable and disadvantaged members of the 
local community.  This will be done by addressing health inequalities where 
the more disadvantaged are less likely to be screened and treated for various 
cancers compared to more affluent residents of Thurrock.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

Implementing the recommendations of the report will help to improve the 
health of the population by diagnosing cancers earlier and treating them more 
quickly in order to improve cancer survival rates.

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

N/A

Page 46



9. Appendices to the report

Appendix 1 - Cancer Action Implementation Plan

Report Author

Funmi Worrell 
Public Health Registrar

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



R

Likeli-

hood
Impact Score

5 4 20

3 5 15

Tasks Owner End Date RAG

Roll out and promotion  of new NICE compliant 

2WW referral forms to all practices. Use of these 

forms through GP systems and email referrals . 

Kishor Padki - Cancer 

clinical lead TCCG

Ongoing 1. Early diagnosis of cancer 

communication to GPs in CCG bulletin - 

Completed

2. NICE guidance presented to CEG - 

Completed

Patient information leaflets sent to all Gps 

for use - Completed

Detailed practice visits planned with CRUK 

lead - Ongoing

Note: Plans are in place to send on-going 

Communication  to practices

G

GP communication through CCG bulletins 

Start of practice visits to iron out initial problems 

with the roll out.

Kishor Padki - Cancer 

clinical lead TCCG

Ongoing GP communication through CCG bulletins - 

Completed. Further communication 

planned.

Start of practice visits to iron out initial 

problems with the roll out - Ongoing

G

Promote e-referrals of the forms through practice 

visits and Comms messaging .

Kishor Padki - Cancer 

clinical lead TCCG

Alison Springett - 

Senior Primary Care 

Manger

Dec-16  1. Alison Springette to speak to Sharon 

Chapson and Link with Communications 

Team
A

Audit of emergency presenters with Cancer at 

BTUH

Kishor Padki - Cancer 

clinical lead TCCG

Data collection with BTUH cancer services 

clinical director lead - Completed A

Raising awareness of cancer screening in 

population

Funmi Worrell Press releases via comms teams
A

Public Health comprehensive review of current 

commissioning arrangements on tobacco control

 Kev Malone 1. Remodelled service specification 

agreed with provider.

2. Tobacco Control Strategy to be 

refreshed via a task and finish group 

within Thurrock’s Tobacco Control 

Alliance and presented to July’s HWB 

Board.

A

Thurrock Council should train its front line staff in 

‘Making Every Contact Count’ and include 

identification and referral of smokers into 

commissioned stop smoking services.

Kev Malone MECC training completed for GP admin 

staff
A

Public Health should commission its stop smoking 

provider to provide further support and training 

to front line practice staff for the provision of stop 

smoking information and on the day redirection to 

a practice staff member who can make an on-the-

day referral/email

 Kev Malone Already in place, completion for March 

2017

NHS Thurrock CCG in conjunction with Thurrock 

Council Public Health Team should develop and 

implement a communications campaign 

promoting the importance of cancer screening 

programmes, with particular targeting of areas 

with low screening coverage

Funmi Worrell ongoing

A

GP practices should be investigated if they have a 

referral ratio into the Two Week Wait (TWW) 

pathway below 80% and/or have conversion rates 

that are significantly greater than the England 

average

Kishor Padki - Cancer 

clinical lead TCCG
A

Thurrock CCG should amend current 

commissioning arrangements with NELFT, SEPT 

and BTUH, and Thurrock Council with its front line 

providers to include an obligation for them to 

routinely identify and refer patients who smoke 

into Public Health commissioned stop smoking 

services. (Minimum agreed numbers of referrals 

should be incorporated into all contracts and 

routinely performance managed)

TBC

A

The Public Health  team based in Thurrock Local 

Authority, should investigate and seek to reduce 

the level of variation in coverage between GP 

practice populations on all three cancer screening 

programmes.

Funmi Worrell Ongoing 

Cancer Action Plan Overall RAG

Key Deliverables to December 2016 Top Risks / Issues

• Robust Project management in place

• Develop and Agree Terms of Reference (ToR)

• Develop and agree Monthly Progress Plan

• Practice Visits on use of Referal Forms and Early Diagnosis

• Increased use of NICE compliant 2ww Referral forms and Patient information 

Leaflet

• Incresed awareness of Cancer Screening in the Community

Practices cannot send referral forms to Hospital via 

System one

Referral forms sent via fax not received by Hospital  

Start date Comments / Status

Apr-16

Apr-16

Oct-16

Page 49

jshade
Text Box
                    APPENDIX 1 



This page is intentionally left blank



10 November 2016 ITEM: 9

Health & Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Domiciliary Care -  New Service Model and Proposed 
Procurement 
Wards and communities affected: 
All 

Key Decision: 
Non – Key 

Report of: Michelle Taylor - Commissioning Officer 

Accountable Head of Service: Les Billingham, Head of Adult Social Care

Accountable Director: Roger Harris, Corporate Director of Adults, Housing and 
Health 

This report is Public 

Executive Summary

The purpose of this report is to update Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee members on the current local domiciliary care situation and the effects 
that our current difficulties are having on service delivery in Thurrock. 

The report also details the new direction of travel to support people at home and how 
the new approach is an integral part of the second phase of Building Positive 
Futures, Living Well in Thurrock. It provides an update on the progression of the 
Living well at Home project and how the current crisis has impacted the delivery and 
implementation of the pilot. 

1. Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to: 

1.1 Note the current situation as regards to domiciliary care in Thurrock and 
the measures being taken by the department to stabilise the situation 

1.2 Agree the future redesign of the service model to support people to live 
well at home

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 In June 2016, a report was presented to Health and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee updating members of the current Domiciliary Care Market 
in Thurrock. It reported the pressures locally and nationally that domiciliary 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



care faces. The termination of one contract and a failing Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection of a spot provider resulted in 1,620 hours 
being brought back in house and the creation of Thurrock Care at Home, 
Thurrock Council’s domiciliary care service.  

2.2      Thurrock Council’s declared basic rate is currently set at £13 per hour for 
domiciliary care. Compared to neighbouring Local Authorities and Eastern 
Region we are paying considerably less.  All Local Authorities are currently 
reviewing the rate for home care, but many are starting at a higher pay point

Local Authority Rate for Home Care 
Thurrock Council £13.00
Havering £14.94
Southend £ 13.60
Essex £14.80- £18.76
Bexley £14.20
Norfolk £15.13
Cambridgeshire £15.84
Suffolk £15.13
Hertfordshire £16.62

2.3      The UK Homecare Association (UKHCA) released a report in October 2016 
called ‘The Homecare Deficit 2016’. This is a follow up to their previous report. 
The 2016 report highlights the extent of under- funding for homecare services 
for older people across the United Kingdom, with 9 out of 10 Councils failing 
to pay a realistic price for homecare. The UKHCA calculated the minimum 
price councils should be paying was £16.70 per hour and that anything less 
than this can cause instability of local markets and low pay and working 
conditions for the homecare workforce. 

2.4      The Care Quality Commission (CQC) report: ‘The State of Care 2015/16’ has 
stated that Adult Social Care services across the country is approaching a 
tipping point which is impacting on quality and putting pressure on hospitals.  
This reflects what is happening here in Thurrock. As is evident, domiciliary 
care providers nationally are in a state of crisis and realise through both the 
outcomes of the UK Homecare Association Report: ‘The Homecare Deficit’ 
(March 2015) and the findings of the Burstow Commission Report: ‘Key to 
Care’ (December 2014), that change is required. However, fundamental 
change is difficult to achieve when providers are in a cycle of trying to provide 
a service with the challenges of capacity, ability to recruit and retain staff, 
concerns about funding levels and working to a contract that we recognise is 
not fit for purpose. As such, we want to work with providers to move to a 
better way of delivering care.

2.5      Thurrock Council currently commissions on average 4300 hours of care per 
week. With 1900 of this being provided in house and 2400 hours being 

Page 52



provided externally. Like our external providers Thurrock Council is struggling 
to recruit care staff within the area. 

2.6 In May 2016 CQC inspected the Joint Reablement Team issuing them with                 
a ‘Requires Improvement’ status and a warning notice to Thurrock Council.  
An action plan was created and overseen by senior management to ensure 
that the service was brought back up to standard. During the improvement 
plan it was apparent that inherent problems had been transferred to the 
Council by creating Thurrock Care at Home to deliver the hours bought back 
in-house (see 2.1). The concerns resulted in a self-embargo of Thurrock Care 
at Home in September 2016. 

2.7      The self-embargo and decreasing capacity within the system has resulted in a    
waiting list being created for service users to receive support. This list is risk 
assessed on a daily basis and care is allocated to those at highest risk. The 
waiting list has resulted in delayed transfer of care from hospital which is a 
significant concern rarely experienced in Thurrock until the last few months. 

2.8 The current domiciliary care contract was procured in April 2014 and awarded 
for three years plus the facility for a one extension.  Due to the lessons that 
learnt within the current contract, approaches taken by other local authorities 
and the anticipated increase in demand, the ‘Living Well at Home’ 
commissioning approach was created to support residents of Thurrock to feel 
empowered and live well at home.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 The ‘Living Well at Home’ vision followed much research into approaches by 
other local authorities; in particular Suffolk, Wiltshire, Torbay and Calderdale. 
It also incorporates the lessons that have been learnt from the successful 
Building Positive Futures transformation agenda in creating the communities 
that support health and wellbeing, creating homes and neighbourhoods that 
support independence and creating the social care and health infrastructure to 
manage demand.

3.2      Living Well at Home is incorporated within the vision of the next phase of                                                                      
Transforming Adult Social Care, Living Well in Thurrock.  Living Well In 
Thurrock compliments Thurrock’s CCG ‘For Thurrock in Thurrock’ approach 
and has four key principles:

 Reducing inequality in health and wellbeing
 Prevention is better than cure
 Empowering people and communities and 
 Connected services. 

Living Well in Thurrock is concerned with providing good quality services and 
providing Thurrock’s residents with the best opportunities to remain well and 
achieve a good life. The three key elements include:

Page 53



 Creating stronger communities 
 Building for health and Housing 
 Services that enable people to achieve a good life. 

Living Well at Home’s aim is to enable people to achieve a good life by  the 
development of a new approach to domiciliary care and creating 
neighbourhood based solutions which include a mixture of formal and informal 
responses to the outcomes an individual wishes to achieve.

3.3     More people than ever require care and yet there is difficulty both nationally 
and locally when recruiting and retaining staff.  There are also capacity issues 
which are worsened by staff having to travel to different parts of the borough 
to deliver support.  This means that they don’t get to know the people of the 
local area as well as they could.  As such, the Council wants to redesign how 
care and support is delivered, moving away from traditional services and 
anchoring it in the local community.

3.4 There will be a lead provider in each area that is expected to engage or 
collaborate with other organisations and support the development of local 
resources/solutions where there is a gap.  The provider is also expected to 
work with people in the area who don’t currently meet the Council’s eligibility 
criteria for domiciliary care (they may be in receipt of a lower level intervention 
e.g. equipment, assistive technology, meals on wheels etc) to prevent the 
need for formal services in the future 

3.5  By changing the way care is organised and looking for solutions for people in 
their local community, the Council hopes to improve the services people 
receive, ensuring that people feel part of their community and are as 
independent as possible.  The support should enable a range of outcomes 
that are important to the person to be met, this may include, leisure, meeting 
nutritional needs, social contact (including reducing social isolation and 
loneliness), enabling religious belief etc.

3.6  As part of this redesign, we hope to achieve:
 

 less reliance on formal services (thereby containing demand), 
 increased access to the local community for socially isolated people,
 reduced travel for staff (and thereby cost), 
 increased independence for service users
 Providers who are part of the community they work in, who are aware 

of the resources available locally
 Staff who are able to signpost and support service users to access a 

wide range of organisations and groups.  Also an increase in 
recruitment and retention of staff as providers and the caring role will 
take a more central role in the local community.

 An increase in the number of microenterprises.

3.7     To support the development of the redesign of the service, a pilot will be 
implemented in partnership with the community, the voluntary sector, housing 

Page 54



and health. The evaluation of this pilot will influence the commissioning 
intensions commencing in January 2017 and will be testing our initial ideas 
about the redesign of the service.

3.8      In June 2016, Health and Overview and Scrutiny Committee report it was 
noted that a pilot would commence within the South Ockendon area. A short 
procurement exercise was completed in early August 2016 and was evaluated 
by the voluntary sector which awarded the pilot to Thurrock Care at Home.  
Due to the self-embargo imposed on Thurrock Care at Home it was 
considered inappropriate for the pilot to be awarded to them. The decision 
was taken to award the pilot to the two other providers who put forward a bid. 
This has allowed close working between the voluntary sector and private 
providers.

3.9      Due to the time frame for procurement and existing provider and service user 
relationship, two areas have been identified to undertake the pilot. The areas 
are Stifford Clays and Corringham. The pilot is to commence in early 
November and will be evaluating the desired outcomes of meeting individual 
needs and connecting people with their local community. 

3.10    To ensure that the pilot informs the commissioning intentions, a small 
extension to the current contract is required so that a comprehensive 
evaluation can be reflected within the specification.  Additionally this will 
provide some stability to current internal services.  

3.11    The procurement timeline for Living Well at Home is as follows 

Cabinet 11 Jan 2017
PQQ Published 16 Jan 2017
PQQ Closing 17 Feb 2017
PQQ Evaluation To 13 Mar 2017
ITT Issued 13 Mar 2017
ITT Closing 21 Apr 2017
ITT Evaluation To 22 May 2017
Notification of result  24 May 2017
Final award 7 June 2017

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 To update Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee members 
on the current domiciliary care crisis locally and the measures being taken by 
the department to stabilise the situation 

4.2 To ensure Members are aware of the redesign of the future service delivery 
model and the progress made to support this approach in advance of 
procurement options being taken to Cabinet in January 2017.

Page 55



5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 Two successful soft market testing events have been held to stimulate the 
market.  Another soft market event is scheduled for 1st December 2016 in 
which potential providers can engage and consider collaborative working to 
achieve the living well at home vision

5.2 The Engagement group will support the design of further engagement with 
service users and the wider community to ensure that what is important for 
people who receive the care at home is included within the project.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 Although this could impact on all five strategic priorities, It mainly focuses 
upon priority four – Improve health and well – being 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Jo Freeman 
Management Accountant (Social Care & 
Commissioning)

There are significant pressures facing Adult’s Social Care. The 2016-17 
budgets already reflect the Thurrock Care @ Home function being carried out 
in-house and increase in the National Living Wage. Pressures in Adult Social 
Care have been included in budget monitoring reports presented to Directors 
Board on a monthly basis. More long-term financial implications of further 
transformation within the service will be provided within the update report in 
September.

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Paul O’ Reilly
Projects Lawyer 

The Legal Services Officer has discussed the issues and potential service 
model options as may arise from the pilot with the authors of the report and 
the Living Well team and can advise that all options are feasible and 
achievable under legal and procurement procedures and good practice. Legal 
Services will support the Living Well team throughout the pilot stage and the 
further procurement exercise as required to ensure the success of the project 
and reduction of risk to the Council.

Page 56



7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Natalie Warren 
Community Development and Equalities 
Manager

Community support provided through domiciliary care enables some of our 
borough’s most vulnerable residents to remain independent, including older 
people, and people with disabilities. As highlighted by the pilot planned for 
Living Well at Home, it is essential that the voice of the resident drives the 
principles for how we transform the service in the future. A review will aim to 
improve efficiency whilst ensuring that the new offer remains person centred.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

Not applicable 

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 Health & Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee Report: ‘Domiciliary 
Care Update’  9 June 2016

9. Appendices to the report

 None  

Report Author:

Michelle Taylor
Commissioning Officer
Adults, Housing and Health 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



10 November 2016 ITEM: 10

Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Annual Report of The Director of Public Health 2016

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Non-key

Report of: Ian Wake, Director of Public Health

Accountable Head of Service: Emma Sanford, Strategic Lead – Health and Social  
Care Public Health

Accountable Director: Ian Wake, Director of Public Health

This report is Public

Executive Summary

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places a statutory duty on the Director of 
Public Health to prepare an independent report on the health of the people in the 
area of their local authority each year. This year the focus of the Thurrock Annual 
Public Health Report is on the sustainability of Thurrock’s Health, Wellbeing and 
Social Care system with particular focus on Long Term Condition Management.

The report makes a series of recommendations in terms of improving the quality of 
Primary Care in Thurrock, improving the quality of long term condition management, 
and strengthening the local health and social care workforce

1. Recommendation

1.1 That the contents and recommendations of the report be noted by 
members.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 Annual Public Health Reports have played an important part in public health 
practice ever since the early days of Medical Officers of Health. They remain 
an important vehicle for informing local people about the health of their 
community as well as providing the necessary information for decision makers 
in local authorities and local health services on key priorities that need to be 
addressed to improve the health and wellbeing of the population.

2.2 70% of health and social care spend is on people with long term conditions1. 
This, along with a population living longer but not necessarily healthier lives 
creates some fundamental issues for the current system. As such, 

Page 59

Agenda Item 10



understanding the factors that impact on development of long term conditions 
and the most effective mechanisms for embedding effective prevention 
activity is absolutely essential in maintaining public health, reducing the 
growth in demand through emergency hospital admissions and Adult Social 
Care packages and ensuring that our local Health and Social Care remains 
financially and operationally sustainable.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options
The 2016 Thurrock Annual Public Health Report: Key Conclusions

3.1 These are set out in detail in the report itself

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires Directors of Public Health to 
prepare an annual report on the health of the local population.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 The contents of this report have been developed with input from a number of 
different stakeholders (listed in document appendix). No further consultation 
has taken place.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 The report highlights the key actions that should be taken in terms of shifting 
demand within the health and social care system, and encouraging 
prevention. This is in line with the work of the Customer and Demand 
Management Board, and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-21 which 
aims to “add years to life and life to years”. It will also support corporate 
priority four: “improve health and wellbeing”.   

6.2 If the report conclusions and recommendations are acted upon, it will impact 
positively on local patients as their care will be improved.

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Kay Goodacre
Finance Manager, Corporate Finance

The report details a series of financial opportunities for the local health and 
social care system arising from improving and embedding the prevention 
agenda in primary, community and social care and as a result reducing 
demand on secondary health care and adult social care services. Decisions 
arising from recommendations by the Director of Public Health that may have 
a future financial impact for the council would be subject to the full 

Page 60



consideration of the cabinet before implementation, and in the case of the 
NHS, by the relevant Boards of NHS Thurrock CCG and provider foundation 
trusts. 

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Chris Pickering
Principal Solicitor, Employment & Litigation 

There are no legal implications as the report is being compiled in accordance 
with our statutory duty under the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Becky Price 
Community Development and Equalities Team
Adults, Housing and Health Directorate

The initiatives outlined in this report will tackle the challenges of unequal 
access to good quality care and variation in activity by highlighting what is 
likely to work in preventing future health and social care demand. 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

Background papers are referenced in the annual public health report.

9. Appendices to the report

Appendix 1 - Annual Public Health Report 2016

Report Author:

Ian Wake
Director of Public Health

Maria Payne
Senior Programme Manager – Health Intelligence

REFERENCES

1 Department of Health, Improving quality of life for people with long-term conditions. 
London: DH. 2013.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

                              

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Social 
Care 

Self-Care 
Empowerment 

& control 

Primary Care 
 

Secondary Care 
Hospitals 

Annual Report of The Director of Public Health: 2016 

 

A Sustainable Health and Social 

Care System for Thurrock 
 

 

 
 

Community Care Social Care 

Page 63



2 

 

 

CONTENTS 

Foreword ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Acknowledgements ....................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Summary of Recommendations .............................................................................................................................................. 11 

FINANCIAL OPPORTUNITIES: ................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Links to Existing Related local Research ................................................................................................................................ 23 

Section 1 Primary and Community Care ........................................................................................................................ 24 

 GP shortages and availability of appointments ................................................................................................... 24 1.1

1.1.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................... 24 

1.1.2 Patients per FTE GP in Thurrock .......................................................................................................................... 24 

1.1.3 Availability of GP Practice appointments .......................................................................................................... 26 

1.1.4 Satisfaction with primary care .............................................................................................................................. 27 

 DIAGNOSIS OF PATIENTS WITH LONG TERM CONDITIONS ......................................................................... 28 1.2

1.2.1 Diagnosed prevalence of disease ....................................................................................................................... 28 

1.2.2 Prevalence of MSK conditions .............................................................................................................................. 34 

1.2.3 Undiagnosed prevalence of disease .................................................................................................................. 36 

1.2.4 Conclusions ................................................................................................................................................................ 42 

 Obesity ............................................................................................................................................................................. 43 1.3

 Management of Patients with Long Term Conditions ....................................................................................... 44 1.4

1.4.1 Clinical Management of Stroke and TIA ........................................................................................................... 47 

1.4.2 Clinical Management of Hypertension .............................................................................................................. 51 

1.4.3 Clinical management of CHD ............................................................................................................................... 54 

1.4.4 Clinical Management of Heart Failure (HF) and Atrial Fibrillation (AF) .................................................... 57 

1.4.5 Clinical Management of Respiratory Conditions ............................................................................................ 61 

Management of Respiratory Conditions by NHS Community Services .................................................................. 65 

1.4.6 Clinical Management of Diabetes ....................................................................................................................... 67 

1.4.6.1 Clinical Management of Diabetes by NHS Community Services..................................................... 71 

1.4.7 Clinical Management of MSK Conditions ......................................................................................................... 72 

 CONCLUSIONS: Overall Clinical Management of Long Term Conditions .................................................. 74 1.5

1.5.1 Review of management of respiratory and Diabetes care across Thurrock .......................................... 75 

1.5.2 Improve referrals to community teams ............................................................................................................. 75 

1.6 RECOMMENDATIONS: Improving the Overall Clinical Management of Long Term Conditions ................. 75 

Page 64



3 

 

Section 2 A&E Attendances ................................................................................................................................................ 79 

 Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................... 79 2.1

 Inappropriate A & E attendances ............................................................................................................................. 79 2.2

 A&E attendances due to falls .................................................................................................................................... 86 2.3

 KEY CONCLUSIONS ..................................................................................................................................................... 88 2.4

 Recommendations – A&E Attendances ................................................................................................................. 89 2.5

Section 3 Emergency Hospital Admissions .................................................................................................................... 90 

 Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................... 90 3.1

 Emergency admissions from Conditions Amenable to Healthcare ............................................................... 91 3.2

3.2.1 What is currently happening? .............................................................................................................................. 91 

 Preventing Respiratory Non-elective admissions ................................................................................................ 93 3.3

 Preventing Stroke Non-elective (emergency) Hospital admissions ............................................................... 95 3.4

 Preventing CHD / HF Non-elective (emergency) Hospital Admissions ........................................................ 98 3.5

 Preventing Diabetes Non-elective (emergency) hospital admissions ........................................................ 101 3.6

 Non-Elective Admissions due to falls ................................................................................................................... 102 3.7

3.7.1 Hip fractures due to falls ..................................................................................................................................... 102 

 SUMMARY: Preventing Emergency Hospital Admissions .............................................................................. 103 3.8

 RECOMMENDATIONS: REDUCING EMERGENCY HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS ............................................ 104 3.9

Section 4 Delayed Transfers of Care ............................................................................................................................. 107 

 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................. 107 4.1

 What is currently happening? ................................................................................................................................ 107 4.2

 SUMMARY: Delayed Transfers of Care ................................................................................................................ 110 4.3

 RECOMMENDATIONS: Delayed Transfers of Care .......................................................................................... 111 4.4

Section 5 Referral to Treatment (RTT) Care Pathways (RTT) .................................................................................. 112 

 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................. 112 5.1

 What is currently happening? ................................................................................................................................ 112 5.2

5.2.1 Waiting Times......................................................................................................................................................... 113 

 Diagnostic Tests .......................................................................................................................................................... 116 5.3

 What are the opportunities? ................................................................................................................................... 118 5.4

 What are the potential impacts to other parts of the health and social care system? ......................... 118 5.5

 SUMMARY – Referral to Treatment Care Pathways ........................................................................................ 119 5.6

 RECOMMENDATIONS – Referral to Treatment ................................................................................................ 120 5.7

Section 6 Adult Social Care .............................................................................................................................................. 121 

 Introduction ................................................................................................................................................................. 121 6.1

Page 65



4 

 

 Who is using Adult Social Care (ASC)? ................................................................................................................ 121 6.2

6.2.1 Age of Clients Accessing Adult Social Care .................................................................................................. 121 

6.2.2 Location of Clients Accessing Adult Social Care .......................................................................................... 122 

 Adult Social Care Need in Older People at GP Practice Population Level ............................................... 125 6.3

6.3.1 Association between Under Doctoring and ASC Spend on Community *1 Packages for those 

aged 75+ ................................................................................................................................................................................ 128 

 WHAT TYPE OF CARE IS BEING USED? .............................................................................................................. 130 6.4

 What Clinical Conditions are leading to Adult Social Care Need in Thurrock? ....................................... 131 6.5

 Client ‘Flow’ between years and across service packages.  Linking Activity to Cost. ............................. 134 6.6

 The Rapid Response Assessment Service ........................................................................................................... 137 6.7

6.7.1 Referrals ................................................................................................................................................................... 138 

6.7.2 Assessments ............................................................................................................................................................ 139 

6.7.3 What are the opportunities? .............................................................................................................................. 140 

6.7.4 What are the potential impacts? ...................................................................................................................... 140 

 SUMMARY: Adult Social Care ................................................................................................................................. 143 6.8

SUMMARY: Adult Social Care (continued) ......................................................................................................................... 144 

 RECOMMENDATIONS: Adult Social Care .......................................................................................................... 145 6.9

Section 7 How can we Mitigate these Impacts? ........................................................................................................ 146 

 Self-Care ....................................................................................................................................................................... 146 7.1

7.1.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................ 146 

Community-Centred Approaches ................................................................................................................................... 147 

7.1.2 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 147 

7.1.3 What is currently happening in Thurrock ...................................................................................................... 148 

Community Hubs ................................................................................................................................................................. 148 

Local Area Coordination .................................................................................................................................................... 148 

Micro Enterprises .................................................................................................................................................................. 154 

Links with health and social prescribing ........................................................................................................................ 154 

Third sector long term condition groups ...................................................................................................................... 155 

7.1.4 What could we improve? .................................................................................................................................... 155 

7.1.5 What impacts could that have on the Health and social care system? ................................................ 155 

Community Hubs ................................................................................................................................................................. 155 

Local Area Coordination .................................................................................................................................................... 156 

Social Prescribing ................................................................................................................................................................. 158 

 The role of pharmacists in promoting self-care................................................................................................ 158 7.2

Page 66



5 

 

7.2.1 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 158 

Medicines Use Reviews ....................................................................................................................................................... 159 

7.2.2 What is currently happening in Thurrock? .................................................................................................... 159 

Medicines Use Reviews ....................................................................................................................................................... 159 

What could we improve? ................................................................................................................................................... 160 

7.2.3 What impacts could that have on the Health and social care system? ................................................ 160 

Medicines Use Reviews ....................................................................................................................................................... 160 

 Primary Prevention of Long Term Conditions ................................................................................................... 160 7.3

7.3.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................ 160 

7.3.2 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 160 

7.3.3 What is currently happening in Thurrock ...................................................................................................... 161 

Well Homes Service Activity .............................................................................................................................................. 162 

7.3.4 What could we improve? .................................................................................................................................... 164 

7.3.5 What impacts could that have on the Health and social care system? ................................................ 164 

 Cancer Screening ....................................................................................................................................................... 164 7.4

7.4.1 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 164 

7.4.2 What is currently happening in Thurrock ...................................................................................................... 166 

Overall GP Performance..................................................................................................................................................... 166 

Cancer Deep Dive JSNA ..................................................................................................................................................... 167 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 .................................................................................................................. 168 

Commissioning for Value ................................................................................................................................................... 168 

7.4.3 What impacts could that have on the Health and social care system? ................................................ 168 

Social Care .............................................................................................................................................................................. 168 

Health Care ............................................................................................................................................................................ 170 

Breast Cancer ........................................................................................................................................................................ 171 

Cervical Cancer
1
 .................................................................................................................................................................... 171 

Bowel Cancer
1
 ....................................................................................................................................................................... 171 

Cancer Projections ............................................................................................................................................................... 172 

 Obesity Prevention .................................................................................................................................................... 172 7.5

7.5.1 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 172 

The built environment and the role of planning ......................................................................................................... 173 

What is currently happening in Thurrock? .................................................................................................................... 174 

Joint working with Planning and Health ........................................................................................................................ 174 

7.5.2 What could we improve? .................................................................................................................................... 175 

Page 67



6 

 

7.5.3 What impacts could that have on the Health and Social Care system? ............................................... 175 

Stroke .................................................................................................................................................................................. 175 

CHD ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 176 

Diabetes ............................................................................................................................................................................. 177 

Hypertension .................................................................................................................................................................... 177 

 Health Checks ............................................................................................................................................................. 179 7.6

7.6.1 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 179 

7.6.2 What is currently happening in Thurrock? .................................................................................................... 180 

7.6.3 What could we improve? .................................................................................................................................... 181 

7.6.4 What impacts could that have on the Health and social care system? ................................................ 181 

 National Diabetes Prevention Programme ........................................................................................................ 182 7.7

7.7.1 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 182 

7.7.2 What is currently happening in Thurrock? .................................................................................................... 182 

7.7.3 What impacts could that have on the Health and social care system? ................................................ 183 

 Falls prevention ........................................................................................................................................................... 184 7.8

7.8.1 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 184 

7.8.2 What impacts could that have on the Health and social care system? ................................................ 185 

7.8.3 What is currently happening in Thurrock ...................................................................................................... 186 

 Improving Access to Primary Care ....................................................................................................................... 187 7.9

7.9.1 What works? ........................................................................................................................................................... 187 

Physiotherapy ........................................................................................................................................................................ 189 

7.9.2 What is currently happening in Thurrock ...................................................................................................... 189 

Availability of appointments .............................................................................................................................................. 189 

Awareness of Out of Hours service ................................................................................................................................ 190 

7.9.3 What could we improve? .................................................................................................................................... 191 

Staffing alternatives ............................................................................................................................................................. 191 

7.9.4 What Impacts could we have ............................................................................................................................ 191 

A better skill mix in Primary Care .................................................................................................................................... 191 

More focused, pro-active Primary Care Staff .............................................................................................................. 195 

Expected reduction in Health and Social care activity .............................................................................................. 195 

Impact to GP time (including self-referrals to Physiotherapy) ................................................................................ 195 

The role of preventative physiotherapy in preventing falls ..................................................................................... 195 

Impact to A&E activity......................................................................................................................................................... 196 

 Improving Digital Services in Health and Social Care ..................................................................................... 196 7.10

Page 68



7 

 

7.10.1 What works? ...................................................................................................................................................... 196 

7.10.2 What is happening in Thurrock? ................................................................................................................. 197 

The Local Digital Roadmap ............................................................................................................................................... 198 

Quickheart Information portal .......................................................................................................................................... 199 

 Improving Quality of Primary Care ....................................................................................................................... 201 7.11

7.11.1 Improve Detection rates of diseases .......................................................................................................... 201 

7.11.2 Produce a Long Term Conditions /Management Scorecard ............................................................. 201 

7.11.3 Support for practices needing help as a result of the above ............................................................. 201 

7.11.4 Learn from best practice ................................................................................................................................ 201 

7.11.5 What works - Satisfaction with GP practices ............................................................................................ 202 

7.11.6 What works - Undiagnosed disease prevalence .................................................................................... 202 

7.11.7 What impacts could we have to increase detection of undiagnosed cases? ................................ 203 

Hypertension risk algorithm ......................................................................................................................................... 203 

Blood pressure control in people with hypertension ........................................................................................... 203 

Blood pressure control in people with cardiovascular disease.......................................................................... 204 

Cholesterol control in people with cardiovascular disease ................................................................................. 204 

 Social Care ................................................................................................................................................................... 205 7.12

7.12.1 Evidence Base – What works in reducing demand on Adult Social care? ...................................... 205 

7.12.2 Living Well .......................................................................................................................................................... 208 

7.12.3 Future Single Point of Access to services .................................................................................................. 209 

Section 8 Appendix 1: Demography of Thurrock ..................................................................................................... 210 

8.1.1 Population ............................................................................................................................................................... 210 

8.1.2 Ethnicity .................................................................................................................................................................... 211 

8.1.3 Population Growth................................................................................................................................................ 212 

ONS Population Projections ............................................................................................................................................. 212 

Factors underpinning population change .................................................................................................................... 213 

Regeneration Programmes ............................................................................................................................................... 213 

1. Staffing mix model .......................................................................................................................................................... 216 

2. Number of patients not receiving interventions by practice .............................................................................. 220 

Section 9 References .......................................................................................................................................................... 236 

 

 

Page 69



8 

 

 

FOREWORD 

This is my first Annual Report as Director of Public Health for Thurrock.  In it my team and I have tried to critically 

analyse the problem of financial and operational sustainability of our local health and care system from the bottom up.  

The report concentrates largely on the early diagnosis and management of long term conditions within the community 

and makes a series of recommendations about how we can improve the quality of such services.   

When the NHS was founded in 1948, 48% of the population died before the age of 65.  By 2011, that figure had fallen 

to 14% and continues to fall. In England, average life expectancy at aged 65 is now 21 years for women and 19 years for 

men.  However although we are living longer lives, we are not living healthier lives and as our population ages is does 

so with increasing likelihood of living with complex co-morbidities, disability and frailty.  70% of health and adult social 

care budgets are spent is on people with living long term health conditions and most people over 75 live with two or 

more long term conditions. 

The Health and Social Care system both nationally and locally is under increasing pressure.  Whilst spending on the NHS 

has been ring-fenced and increased in real-terms, local government including public health have faced significant 

reductions in our budgets.  Against this there is backdrop of an exponential increase in demand for services both from 

an ageing, chronically ill population, and through the increasing expectations of individuals. In order to prevent the 

system from becoming unsustainable, both health and social care will need to work in radically different ways than we 

have in the past. In 2003, the then Chancellor of the Exchequer commissioned Derek Wanless to investigate the long 

term financial sustainability of the NHS.  The ‘Wanless Report’ concluded that unless the health service and population 

that rely on it embrace the prevention agenda, the entire system would become financially unsustainable by 2025.  

Regrettably his recommendations were largely ignored and his predictions are beginning to come true.  Today the 

collective deficit of the three hospitals in our local Sustainability and Transformation (STP) local area amounts to 

approximately £110M  Thurrock Council has between an £18-22B deficit that we need to close within the next four 

years, a significant proportion of which is down to a year on year growth in demand on our social care services.  

In my view, our best hope of solving this issue is for health and local government, in partnership with the communities 

we serve to embrace and embed the prevention agenda. This requires a fundamental shift from reactive health and 

care services that wait for serious ill health events such as cancer, heart attacks, strokes and respiratory disease to occur 

and then provide the necessary treatment and care, to proactive services that seek opportunities to intervene at the 

earliest possible stage and in order to empower individuals and communities to stay healthier for longer.   It requires a 

shift in thinking from ‘doing to’ to ‘doing with’ and it involves holistic integration of what are often currently fragmented 

services around the individual.  Too many of our population end up in the most expensive part of the system – as 

hospital inpatients, suffering serious and preventable health events as a result of their long term conditions; conditions 

that if managed more effectively in the community could have allowed them to remain well and independent. 

It is my firm belief that it is only by significantly ramping up level and quality of the prevention agenda in Primary, 

Community and social care will we be able to secure the long term financial and operational future of our local NHS and 

Social Care services that so many of our population depend on. 

 

Ian Wake 

Director of Public Health  

Page 70



9 

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Report Authors: 

Ian Wake, Director of Public Health, Thurrock Council 

Emma Sanford, Strategic Lead – Health and Social Care Public Health, Thurrock Council 

Maria Payne, Senior Public Health Programme Manager – Health Intelligence, Thurrock Council 

Kelly Clarke, Public Health Informatics Support Officer, Thurrock Council 

 

I would also like to thank and acknowledge the following people and organisations who have assisted in the 

production of this report: 

Ann Laing, Contract Compliance Intelligence Officer, Thurrock Council 

Natalie Warren, Community Development and Equalities Manager, Thurrock Council 

Mandy Moore, Senior Performance and Information Officer, Thurrock Council 

Ceri Armstrong, Adults, Health and Housing Directorate Strategy Officer, Thurrock Council  

Brian Hughes, North East London Commissioning Support Unit 

NELFT Library and Knowledge Service  

Public Health England LKIS East  

Jennifer Butler – NELFT 

  

Page 71



10 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

As a population, we are living longer but 

not necessarily healthier lives. The rate of 

growth in the population aged 65+ locally 

is increasing at a rate that far exceeds that 

of the general population.   Whilst that 

fact that we are living longer is good 

news, we are not necessarily living 

healthier lives.  The second chart on the 

right shows that as we age more and 

more of us are living with increasing 

numbers of long term conditions. 

These two charts demonstrate clearly the 

single biggest challenge facing our local 

health and social care system.  Demand 

for health and social care services is 

predicted to rise significantly as we age, 

whilst at the same time there will be fewer 

working age people that can be taxed to 

pay for this increased demand.   

Currently approximately 70% of all health and social care funding is now spent on treating and caring for 

people with long term conditions. As such, understanding both the factors that impact on development 

of long term conditions and the most effective mechanisms for embedding their effective clinical 

management into our local health and social care system, is absolutely essential in maintaining public 

health, reducing the growth in demand through emergency hospital admissions and adult social care 

packages and ensuring that our local health and social care economy remains financially and 

operationally sustainable. 

The main causes of the life expectancy gap between Thurrock and England are cancer, circulatory and 

respiratory disease. A large proportion of these conditions are either preventable or capable of being 

managed with effective clinical intervention, if diagnosed early enough and treated well.  Long term 

condition diagnosis and management varies within Thurrock, leading to significant health inequalities 

between different populations.  

This report aims to demonstrate: 

- The current state of demand on the local health and care system 

- Practice-level variation in outcomes, and an indication of patterns 

- A revised Primary Care staffing model which could address demand 

- Key influences on non-elective admissions and inappropriate A&E attendances 

- Some estimates of future activity if no changes are made to provision  

- What is cost-effective in terms of prevention / shifting demand 

  

 

 

Page 72



11 

 

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

PRIMARY CARE 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

Improve the clinical 

management of patients 

with Stroke/TIA, in order to 

reduce their risk of them 

experiencing further strokes  

 

- Ensure that all patients on 

stroke TIA registers have their 

blood pressure measured in the 

previous 12 months and 

controlled to 150/90mmHg or 

less.  

 

In 2014/15 there were 337 

patients on GP practice 

stroke/TIA registers with 

uncontrolled blood pressure. 

The new Healthcare PH Programme Managers should work with 

GP practices to assist them to identify patients who have not 

received the three clinical interventions detailed in the previous 

column, by producing and publishing SystmOne reports if 

necessary. 

- Ensure that all patients with a 

previous non-haemorrhagic 

stroke or history of TIA, have 

been prescribed an anti-

coagulate or anti-platelet agent, 

unless there is a clinical contra-

indication  

 

In 2014/15 there were 106 

patients on stroke/TIA register 

that should have been offered 

anti-coagulant or anti-platelet 

medication and were not. 

Practices should call all identified patients in for urgent review 

and offer the intervention or exception report them 

 

Out of 2502 patients on GP practice stroke registers, a total of 

586 clinical interventions recommended as best practice by NICE 

in order to manage their condition were failed to be provided by 

the GP practice or NHS Community provider even after patients 

who had been ‘exception reported’ were discounted.  This is 

extremely concerning as it suggests that such patients are being 

put a unnecessary risks of further strokes, with potentially 

catastrophic effects for them personally, and unnecessary 

financial pressure through secondary health care and adult social 

care costs that could be avoided. 

 

This warrants further urgent investigation and action. 

- Ensure that all patients on the 

GP practice stroke/TIA register 

have been offered and are 

encouraged to have an 

influenza vaccination 

 

- In 2014/15 there were 106 

patients on stroke/TIA register 

that should have been offered 

anti-coagulant or anti-platelet 

medication and were not. 

The following GP practices perform worst in delivering Stroke LTC 

management compared to their peers in Thurrock and support 

towards them should be prioritised: 

 

- Dr. Mukhopadhay 

- Aveley MC 

- Pear Tree Surgery 

- Chadwell MC 

- Sai MC 

- Neera MC 

- Dr. Yassin 

- St. Clements HC 

- Acorns Surgery 

- Ash Tree Surgery 

- Dr. Masson 

-  

Improved clinical 

management of patients 

with Hypertension (high 

blood pressure) in order to 

prevent more serious 

Cardio-Vascular events. 

 

 

 

 

 

- Increase the percentage of 

patients diagnosed with 

hypertension that have their 

blood pressure controlled to 

150/90 mmHg. 

 

In 2014/15 there were 3899 

patients with Thurrock with a 

diagnosis of blood pressure 

above this level 

The new Healthcare PH Programme Managers should work with 

GP practices to assist them to identify patients with uncontrolled 

blood pressure by producing and publishing SystmOne  

 

 

Public Health should undertake a deep dive in the issue of 

Hypertension and assess clinical/ prescribing behaviour of GP 

practices against NICE Guidelines CG127, making 

recommendations to share best practice where appropriate. 

 

GP practices should urgently review all patients with uncontrolled 

hypertension. 

 

A metric on the management of hypertension should be included 

on the LTC GP practice scorecard to encourage sharing of best 

Page 73



12 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

practice between local GP practices and clinicians 

Improve the clinical 

management of patients 

diagnosed with CHD in 

order to prevent further 

serious Cardio-Vascular 

events. 

- Ensure the maximum possible 

number of patients diagnosed 

with CHD their blood pressure 

controlled to a level at 

150/90mmHG or less.  In 

2014/15, 423 patients with CHD 

had uncontrolled blood 

pressure, nor had been 

execption reported. 

Implement all previous recommendations on all clinical 

management of patients with hypertension 

- Ensure that all patients with 

CHD have been offered and 

encouraged to take an anti-

coagulant or anti-platelet 

therapy in the previous 12 

months,.  In 2014/15, this did 

not occur in 304 patients 

 

- Ensure that all patients a history 

of Myocardial Infarction are 

treated with an ACE-1, ARB (if 

ACEC-I intolerant), aspirin or an 

alternative anti-platelet therapy.    

In 2014/15, this did not occur in 

2-patients 

The new Healthcare PH Programme Managers should work with 

GP practices to assist them to identify these cohorts of patients, if 

necessary by creating and publishing SystmOne reports. 

 

GP practices should urgently invite these cohorts of patients in 

for clinical review 

 

The following GP practices perform the most poorly in terms of 

their long term clinical management of patients with CHD.  Public 

Health should prioritise support for them: 

- Dr. Suntharalingham 

- Dr. Mukhopadhay 

- Aveley MC 

- Chadwell MC 

- Medic House 

- Pear Tree Surgery 

- Balfour MC 

- Ash Tree Surgery 

 

Improve the Clinical 

Management of patients 

diagnosed with Atrial 

Fibrillation in order to 

prevent more serious 

Cardio-Vascular Events, 

particularly strokes. 

- Ensure that all patients 

diagnosed with AF are regularly 

assessed for stroke risk using a 

CHAD2 score assessment tool 

Ensure that all patients diagnosed with AF are regularly assessed 

for stroke risk using a CHAD2 score assessment tool 

- Ensure that all patients with a 

CHAD2 score of 1 are treated 

with an anti-platelet or anti-

coagulation therapy, and that 

those with a CHAD2 score 

greater than one are treated 

with an anti-coagulation 

therapy.   

GP practices to urgent identify and review all patients with AF 

who require anti-coagulation or anti-platelet medication and 

have not been prescribed it, nor exception reported.   In 2014/15, 

this 738 patients in 2014/15 putting them at unnecessarily very 

high risk of a stroke and is wholly unacceptable clinical practice. 

 

Treatment with appropriate anti-coagulation of AF patients with a 

CHAD2 score>1 to be added to the LTC Management Scorecard 

and monitored closely through by the Thurrock Health and 

Wellbeing Board and CCG Clinical Executive/Board. 

 

From 2014/15 QOF data, the following GP practices’ 

performance falls within the bottom quartile of performance in 

the clinical management of patients with AF across England, and 

may require immediate support to improve: 

 

- Dr. Mukhopadhay 

- Dr. Headon 

- Dr. Masson 

- Medic House 

- St. Clements Health Centre 

- Balfour MC 

- Aveley Medical Centre 

- Primecare MC 

- Hassengate MC 

- Acorns SURG 

 

Improved Clinical 

Management of Respiratory 

Conditions by Primary and 

- Improve the monitoring of 

disease progression of patients 

with COPD and asthma  such 

- GP practices to review all patients with COPD at least once per 

annum and record an FEV1 score 

 

Page 74



13 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

Community Healthcare 

Services in order to prevent 

or delay disease 

progression and  avoid 

acute exacerbations  

that appropriate clinical 

interventions can be provided 

when necessary 

- GP practices to review all patients with asthma annually, 

including an assessment of asthma control using the 3 RCP 

questions.   In 2014/15, this intervention was not carried out for 

2295 patients with asthma. 

 

- GP practices and/or NELFT Community Respiratory Team to 

measure and record oxygen saturation value annually for all 

patients with an MRC score of 3 or greater. 

- Reduce the risk of influenza in 

patients with COPD 

- Increase influenza vaccination coverage uptake in this cohort of 

patients through proactive invitation by GP practices and wider 

communications and media work by Public Health. 

- Improve clinical management 

of COPD within the 

community by ensuring 

appropriate referral and 

management of those 

patients with more serious 

COPD progression to the 

NELFT Community 

Respiratory Team 

- Fewer than 20% of patients with COPD and an MRC score of 3+ 

are referred to the NELFT Community Respiratory Team., nor 

receive a referral to Pulmonary Rehabilitation.  Both of these 

interventions have been shown to reduce exacerbations of 

COPD and improve patient outcomes.  From April to December 

2015 1,075 patients with COPD who were eligible for Pulmonary 

Rehabilitation were not referred. This requires urgent further 

investigation to ascertain reasons for low referral rates and 

increase these. 

-  

- Promote ‘self-care’ in patients 

with COPD 

There is a strong evidence base that patients with respiratory 

disease who undertake structured education programmes in 

terms of ‘self-care’ have significantly better outcomes.   Public 

Health should work with our local CVS, Healthwatch and PPGs or 

more widely with the third sector to integrate referral of patients 

to existing community support groups into care clinical care 

pathways, and to assist such groups to develop patient education 

programmes. 

Improved Clinical 

Management of Diabetes 

by Primary and Community 

Healthcare Services in order 

to prevent or delay disease 

progression and  avoid 

acute exacerbations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ensure that all patients diagnosed 

with diabetes that are not 

exception reported, receive the 10 

clinical interventions 

recommended by NICE within 

Primary and/or community care. 

(see table 16) 

12,563 NICE recommended clinical interventions that were failed 

to be carried out by GP practices in 2015/16 in relation to 

patients with diabetes registered to their practices. If patients that 

were excepted reported are excluded because (for example they 

failed to attend the practice or refused the intervention), then GP 

practice and community health care staff failed to deliver 23% of 

all clinical interventions recommended by NICE for patients with 

diabetes.   This is extremely concerning and requires urgent 

review to prevent both avoidable further ill-health and 

unnecessary cost caused by emergency hospital admissions. 

 

Healthcare Public Health Programme Managers should assist GP 

practices to identify and call for review, patients with diabetes 

who are not receiving all recommended interventions, by 

producing and publishing SystmOne reports. 

 

Variation between GP practices on the 10 clinical indicators 

relating to diabetes clinical management in Primary Care is so 

concerning that it is recommended at Public Health undertake a 

Diabetes ‘Deep Dive” to further investigate the reasons for the 

current situation and make more detailed recommendations for 

improvement. Deep Dive to be brought back to the Thurrock 

Health and Wellbeing Board and NHS CCG Clinical Executive 

Group/Board for further discussion once complete. 

Promote ‘self-care’ in patients 

with diabetes 

The NELFT structured education course offered to those newly 

diagnosed with type 2 diabetes is called SWEET (South West 

Essex Education and Training) Basics.  There is a strong evidence 

base in terms of better outcomes for patients with diabetes that 

undergo patient education and NELFT report, a larger HbA1c 

reduction in patients undergoing this course.  The Healthcare PH 

Programme Managers should work with NELFT, Healthwatch and 

GP practices to encourage further uptake of this course amongst 

patients. 

 

Page 75



14 

 

ACCIDENT AND EMERGENCY ATTENDANCE 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

Reduction of A&E 

attendances from patients 

that do not require 

emergency acute care 

Divert patients triaged as requiring 

no investigation or treatment or 

minor investigation and treatment 

into more appropriate community 

and Primary Care settings 

- Investigate commissioning/provider strategy at Mid Essex 

CCG to ascertain why rates of A&E usage from this 

population is so significantly lower than other areas in the 

STP foot print 

- Significantly increase Primary / Community Care Capacity 

in Thurrock including better skills mix of staff with GP 

surgeries, improved diagnostics as set out in section *** of 

this report 

- Expedite building of the four Integrated Healthy Living 

Centres for Purfleet, Tilbury, Grays and Corringham 

- Improve front door triage at A&E at Basildon Hospital to 

assess and deflect patients with minor conditions from 

being able to accessing A&E services 

- Undertake further analyses of the interface between A&E 

and the Essex Ambulance Service with a view to 

understanding and recommending appropriate actions to 

prevent inappropriate A&E conveyances by ambulance. 

 

EMERGENCY HOSPITIAL ADMISSIONS 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency 

admission for 

COPD 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Prevent 333 people 

from developing 

COPD 

 

- Reduce smoking prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Develop and implement a new Tobacco Control Strategy for 

Thurrock, as set out in Objective E1 of the Thurrock Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy, 2016-2021 

Prevent 33 people 

from developing 

asthma 

 

- As above 

- Improve Air Quality in Thurrock 

- As above 

- Develop and implement a new Air Quality Improvement 

Strategy for Thurrock as set out in Objective B4 of the 

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 

Improve availability 

of appointments by 

0.00014 

percentage points 

- Reduce levels of under-doctoring in 

Thurrock 

- Increase the skill mix of staff within 

GP practices in order to make them 

more efficient 

- Implement new models of GP practice workforce within 

Thurrock as set out in ***, and drawing on current local 

innovative approaches of best practice such as the current 

model of Primary Care adopted by College Health. 

- Build four new Integrated Healthy Living Centres, as set out in 

the JSNA Needs Assessment 

Reduce the 

prevalence of 

smoking in patients 

with COPD by 

0.009 percentage 

points 

- Targeted intensive stop smoking 

professional support at those 

patients with COPD who wish to quit 

- Embed smoking cessation training within NELFT community 

Respiratory Team and ensure that they are commissioned to 

deliver outcomes against prevalence 

- Implement procurement of the new Integrated Healthy 

Lifestyles Provider which will be targeted to focus stop 

smoking support including e-cigarettes at patients newly 

diagnosed with LTCs who are most motivated to quit smoking. 

 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency 

admission for 

stroke 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Prevent 20 people 

from becoming 

hypertensive 

 

- Reduce obesity prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Increase physical activity within the 

adult population 

- Reduce smoking prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Implement a whole systems approach to obesity prevention in 

Thurrock. 

- Re-procure an integrated healthy lifestyles service 

- Commission a programme of smoking prevention in schools 

- Re-commission an integrated drug and alcohol treatment 

programme and improve referral pathways into it from other 

Page 76



15 

 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency 

admission for 

stroke 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

- Reduce the levels of sodium in the 

diets of the adult population 

- Reduce the percentage of adults 

who drink alcohol at harmful levels 

and identify and treat those who are 

alcohol dependent 

- Reduce levels of stress within the 

adult population 

services 

- Commission an Alcohol Nurse Liaison Service at Basildon 

Hospital 

- Ensure strong referral pathways into the new IAPT ‘recovery 

college’ from a range of council front line staff 

- Strengthen programmes such as Local Area Coordination, 

Stronger Together and Living Well in Thurrock 

- Increase uptake of NHS Health Checks 

Prevent two people 

from developing 

AF 

As above As above 

Detect and treat an 

additional 0.015% 

of the expected 

hypertensive 

population 

- Embed the systematic checking of 

blood pressure into all front line 

services and the third sector 

- Increase knowledge of the dangers 

of high blood pressure within the 

population 

- Increase the uptake of NHS Health Checks 

- Commission an NHS Senior Health Checks Programme 

- Increase uptake of opportunistic blood pressure checks in 

Primary and Community Care  

- Embed blood pressure checking into the work of wider front 

line service staff e.g. housing, and within third sector 

community organisations 

Assess and treat an 

additional three 

patients with AF 

and a CHADS 

score of >1 

- Systematic CHAD2 scoring and 

prescription of anti-coagulation 

medication at GP practice level 

where necessary 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Scorecard 

- Develop SystmOne reports to assist GP practices to identify 

patients requiring review. 

- Systematically monitor GP practices on performance against 

this measure 

Support five 

patients with 

Hypertension to 

keep their Blood 

Pressure under 

150/90 

- Improve access to Primary Care, 

and clinical management of 

Hypertension within it.   

- Implement a Hypertension Deep Dive / Prescribing Review to 

check compliance of GP practice prescribing behaviour and 

management of Hypertension to NICE Hypertension Clinical 

Guidance CG127 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Score card 

- Produce SystmOne Reports that assist GP practices to identify 

patients who require review 

- Encourage sharing of best clinical practice between high and 

low performing GP practices. 

 

 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency CHD  

or Heart Failure 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Prevent one 

person from 

developing 

hypertension 

 

- Reduce obesity prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Increase physical activity within the 

adult population 

- Reduce smoking prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Reduce the levels of sodium in the 

diets of the adult population 

- Reduce the percentage of adults 

who drink alcohol at harmful levels 

and identify and treat those who are 

alcohol dependent 

- Reduce levels of stress within the 

adult population 

- Implement a whole systems approach to obesity prevention in 

Thurrock. 

- Re-procure an integrated healthy lifestyles service 

- Commission a programme of smoking prevention in schools 

- Re-commission an integrated drug and alcohol treatment 

programme and improve referral pathways into it from other 

services 

- Commission an Alcohol Nurse Liaison Service at Basildon 

Hospital 

- Ensure strong referral pathways into the new IAPT ‘recovery 

college’ from a range of council front line staff 

- Strengthen programmes such as Local Area Coordination, 

Stronger Together and Living Well in Thurrock 

- Increase uptake of NHS Health Checks 

Prevent two people 

from Heart Failure 

As above plus: 

- Reduce the prevalence of people 

with high cholesterol in the adult 

population 

As above 

- Implement Hypertension Casefinding and Clinical 

Management Recommendations as set out in table *** on 

page *** 

Page 77



16 

 

- Reduce the prevalence of high 

blood pressure within the 

population 

Improve availability 

of appointments so 

that 0.05% more 

people rate it as 

good or excellent 

- Reduce levels of under-doctoring in 

Thurrock 

- Increase the skill mix of staff within 

GP practices in order to make them 

more efficient 

- Implement new models of GP practice workforce within 

Thurrock as set out in ***, and drawing on current local 

innovative approaches of best practice such as the current 

model of Primary Care adopted by College Health. 

- Build four new Integrated Healthy Living Centres, as set out in 

the JSNA Needs Assment 

Treat 63 patients 

who have HF with 

LVD with ACE or 

ARB 

- Systematic review of all patients on 

GP Practice QOF Heart Failure 

Registers against current NICE 

Prescribing Guidelines for Heart 

Failure (CG108) 

- Undertake Deep Dive into Heart Failure Clinical Management 

and Prescribing practice within Primary Care and implement 

recommendations. 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Scorecard 

- Develop SystmOne reports to assist GP practices to identify 

patients requiring review. 

- Systematically monitor GP practices on performance against 

this measure 

-  

Support five 

patients with 

Hypertension to 

keep their Blood 

Pressure under 

150/90 

- Improve access to Primary Care, 

and clinical management of 

Hypertension within it.   

- Implement a Hypertension Deep Dive / Prescribing Review to 

check compliance of GP practice prescribing behaviour and 

management of Hypertension to NICE Hypertension Clinical 

Guidance CG127 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Score card 

- Produce SystmOne Reports that assist GP practices to identify 

patients who require review 

- Encourage sharing of best clinical practice between high and 

low performing GP practices. 

 

 

Outcome Required Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Further Reduce 

Unplanned 

(Emergency) 

Hospital 

Admissions for 

Ambulatory Care 

Sensitive (ACS) 

Conditions  

- Improve the quality of clinical 

management of ASC within GP 

practices and community health 

services 

- Urgent further investigation in (including clinical audit if 

necessary) is undertaken at the following GP practices 

locally, that have unplanned care admissions for ACSCs 

that are significantly greater than the Thurrock mean, to 

ascertain the causes and implement solutions to 

ameliorate these: 

- Purfleet Care Centre 

- Thurrock Health Centre 

- Chadwell Medical Centre 

- Dr. Devaraja 

 

- The new Public Healthcare Programme Managers work 

with local GP practices and the CCG’s Primary Care 

Development Team to undertake a deep dive at practice 

level, triangulating the ACSC admissions by group (Figure 

27), with the DSR admission rate for ACSCs. (Figure 26) to 

develop an action plan to address this at practice level.    

 

- The results of the above deep dive inform the Primary 

Care LTC Scorecard Indicators 

 

- The new Public Health Programme Managers work with 

local GP practices to encourage sharing of best practice 

with regard to the Clinical Management of ACSCs 

Page 78



17 

 

DELAYED TRANSFERS OF CARE 

Outcome Required Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Reduce / Eliminate 

Delayed Transfers 

of Care Locally  

- Improve access to non-acute NHS 

care 

- The reasons behind coding of this category remain unclear, as 

local evidence suggests that there is currently an over-capacity 

of intermediate care beds in Thurrock.  As such, delays in 

accessing Continuing Health Care (CHC) may account for coding 

of DToCs of this sort.  Public Health should undertake further 

work with NHS Thurrock CCG and Basildon Hospital  to ascertain 

and address the factors that are driving this issue 

- Complete assessments in a more 

timely fashion 

 

- The reasons behind the coding of this category also remain 

unclear and again may relate to delays in assessment for CHC.  

This warrants further investigation by Public Health in 

conjunction with NHS Thurrock CCG. 

 

- NHS Thurrock CCG should continue to implement its ‘Discharge 

to Assessment” programme 

- Improve capacity of residential and 

nursing home placements locally 

- Current capacity of residential and nursing home provision is 

currently inadequate and remains a challenge that requires a 

‘system wide’ solution including STP funding.  Feasibility of the 

following possible solutions are being investigated and should be 

piloted 

 

- A rapid discharge service that would place social care resource in 

the hospital to begin planning discharge almost from the point 

of admission  

 

- The development of a comprehensive step down facility 

probably at Collins House site in Corringham. This would deliver 

capacity for discharge to assess and intermediate/rehab to 

enable people who are doctor fit to be discharged for ongoing 

support pre return to home. Thurrock Council has the ability to 

fund capital costs to enable the council to build the facility on the 

proviso of commitment from the NHS of additional revenue 

funding to support the care costs. 

 

- The economics of providing nursing care mean that very large 

homes (at least 80 beds) are required for providers to make a 

profit, yet in quality of care terms this size of home is very 

problematic. It is vital that the local Health and Social Care 

system collectively seeks to fix home care in a sustainable way, 

and develop alternatives such as the Collins House project (as 

this will free up some beds that are being used for step down 

care).  Our local system also needs to incentivise the 

development of small, probably specialist (dementia, autism etc.) 

residential and nursing care homes. 

 

 

 - Reduce demand for residential and 

nursing care home placements 

- The local Health and Social System (and STP must) redirect 

resource towards prevention  through initiatives described within 

this report in order to keep older people as healthy and 

independent for as long as possible.  It is not financially or 

operationally sustainable simply continue to increase the supply 

of nursing and residential care. 

  

Page 79



18 

 

REFERRAL TO TREATMENT 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

Improvement in the 

efficiency of Referral to 

Treatment Elective Care 

Pathways to reduce 

unnecessary waiting times 

for patients 

- Increase understanding of 

patient flows from Primary Care 

referral, through diagnostics to 

treatment with priority given to 

the poorest performing care 

pathways as identified in tables 

31 and 33, and the highest 

volume diagnostic tests as 

identified in tables 34 and figure 

53 

- Public Health to work with NHS Thurrock CCG and 

Basildon Hospital to undertake a ‘Deep Dive’ on the 

efficiency and cost effectiveness of elective care and 

access to diagnostics. 

- Further analysis of BTUH workforce data to unpick 

whether that has an impact on the delayed transfers of 

care or the specific categories of diagnostic test/RTT 

pathways that have the longest waiting times 

-  

- Deeper triangulation of outpatient clinic data to 

primary care long term condition management data to 

understand if quality of primary care has any impact 

on outpatient activity through use of the Integrated 

Data Solution Software Package (as set out in the 

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021), 

once procured. 

 

- Investigate the feasibility and 

cost effectiveness of moving 

some diagnostic tests from 

secondary to 

community/primary care 

settings 

- Improve front door triage at A&E at Basildon Hospital to 

assess and deflect patients with minor conditions from 

being able to accessing A&E services 

- Undertake further analyses of the interface between A&E 

and the Essex Ambulance Service with a view to 

understanding and recommending appropriate actions to 

prevent inappropriate A&E conveyances by ambulance. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

 

Reduce demand for new 

Community ASC packages 

- Ensure that the Living Well In 

Thurrock programme of 

prevention and early 

intervention is targeted at the 

most effective populations 

- Direct prevention and early intervention programmes at 

the population aged 60 plus 

- Prioritise additional prevention and early intervention 

programme activity in Grays Thurrock, Stifford Clays, 

Standford East and Corringham and Chadwell St. Mary 

wards to maximise impact 

- Increase understanding of the 

fundamental local drivers of 

ASC need in Thurrock 

- Undertake further analyses to ascertain why the older 

population of Grays Thurrock, Stifford Clays and Grays 

Riverside have a significantly greater need for ASC 

compared to older people living in other parts of the 

borough. 

 

- Undertake further analyses to ascertain why older people 

registered to Santa Maria Medical Centre, Dr. Yasin’s 

Practice, Chadwell St. Mary MC and Primecare Medical 

Centre appear to have a significantly greater need for ASC 

community care packages when compared to older 

people registered at other GP practices across the 

borough 

 

- Review the effectiveness of local MSK commissioned 

health services 

 

- Improve recording practice by front line ASC staff  on the 

LAS system wrt underlying reasons why a care package is 

initiated, clinical conditions of the clients involved and the 

GP practice that the client is registered to 

- Address under doctoring in GP 

Practices in Thurrock 

- Implement the recommendations as set out in sections 3.9 

7.9 

Page 80



19 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

- Improve community capacity in 

order to assist older people to 

remain independent for longer 

- Implement (or continue to implement) the programmes 

set out in section 7.1, 7.3 and 7.8 

Reduce the demand for 

residential care 

- Increase the percentage of 

clients with Learning Disabilities 

supported within the 

Community 

- Implement the proposed programmes to support clients 

with LD within the community including Shared Lives; 

Medina Road Supported Living and Sheltered Housing 

Support 

- Consider further review of the current service model 

- Reduce the number of older 

people entering residential care 

- Implement the Depression Screening Programme as set 

out in the Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-

21 

 

- Target prevention and early intervention support at clients 

from their early 70s onwards 

 

- Implement the recommendations set out in sections 7.1, 

7.3 and 7.8 

 

  

Page 81



20 

 

FINANCIAL OPPORTUNITIES: 

 

Desired Outcome Interventions Investor of 

costs 

Recipient 

of savings 

Financial Opportunity 

Improve Detection of 

Hypertension. Detect 5,000 

patients over 3 years.  

 

Prevent 33 strokes per year. 

 

 

 

 

Hypertension 

detection 

programme funded 

under BCF  

 

Long Term Condition 

s Scorecard 

Better Care 

Funding 

NHS 

 

Social Care 

 

Savings of: £121K per year (NHS) 

 

£230K  for 3 years following avoided 

stroke(Social Care – over 3 years) [section 

3.3] 

Prevent patients from 

becoming Hypertensive.  

Mitigate against the 

additional 3,694 additional 

Hypertensive patients we are 

expected to have by 2021 

due to rising levels of 

Obesity.  

 

Prevent 61 strokes per year. 

 

Halt rise of obesity CCG / Public 

Health 

(prevention) 

/Council 

NHS 

 

Social Care 

Savings of: £222K per year (NHS) 

 

£424K  for 3 years following avoided 

stroke(Social Care – over 3 years) [section 

3.3] 

Improve assessment and 

treatment  with appropriate 

drug therapies  AF patients 

with a CHADS2 score of 1: 

 

7 patients not exception 

reported.  Prevent 0.86 

strokes per year 

 

19 patients who are 

exception reported. Prevent 

2.3 strokes per year. 

 

Long Term 

Conditions Scorecard 

 

Health care Public 

Health Improvement 

manager posts 

No costs NHS 

 

Social Care 

Savings of: £11.5K per year (NHS) 

 

£22K  for 3 years following avoided 

stroke(Social Care – over 3 years) [section 

3.3] 

Improve availability of  GP 

appointments so that 0.01% 

more people rate it as 

positive in all practices: 

 

Prevent 158 admissions for 

CHD and HF per year 

 

Prevent 58 admissions for 

respiratory conditions per 

year 

 

 

 

 

New mixed staffing 

model 

 

Digital services 

 

Increase means of 

self care (community 

Hubs, pharmacies 

 

 

CCG / Public 

Health 

(prevention) 

NHS 

 

Social Care 

CHD HF Savings of: £729K per year (to 

NHS - £4,614 per admission) 

 

 

Respiratory Savings of: £129,514 (to NHS - 

£2,233 per admission) 

 

£11K  for 3 years following avoided 

admission (Social Care – over 3 years) 

[section 3.3] 

 

Treat more patients who have 

HF with LVD with ACE or ARB 

 

9 patients not exception 

reported.  Prevent 0.63 

admissions for CHD and HF 

per year 

 

32 patients who are 

Long Term 

Conditions Scorecard 

 

Health care Public 

Health Improvement 

manager posts 

No Costs NHS 

 

Social Care 

Savings of: £2.9K per year (to NHS - £4,614 

per admission) 

 

Unable to quantify savings for Social Care. 

 

Page 82



21 

 

Desired Outcome Interventions Investor of 

costs 

Recipient 

of savings 

Financial Opportunity 

exception reported. Prevent 

2.24 strokes per year. 

 

 

 

Prevention of COPD cases.  

Prevent 100 cases of COPD 

and prevent 0.3 hospital 

admissions per year. 

Smoking Prevention 

Smoking Cessation 

Obesity Prevention 

Public Health 

(prevention) 

 Respiratory Savings of: £589 (to NHS - 

£1,960 per admission) 

 

To avoid 33 emergency 

admission for respiratory 

conditions per year 

 

Reduce the prevalence of 

smoking in patients with Long 

Term Condition patients by 9 

percentage points 

Smoking Cessation Public Health 

(prevention) 

NHS 

Social Care 

Savings of: £64K (NHS) 

 

£6.3K  for 3 years following avoided 

admission (Social Care – over 3 years) 

[section 3.3] 

 

Commission an Integrated 

Falls Prevention Programme 

for Older People 

Falls prevention Better Care 

Funding 

NHS 

Social Care 

Best case scenario: return on investment of 

£3.79 per £1 spent 

 

 

Reduce the number of A&E 

attendances requiring no 

investigation or treatment. 

Mitigate the impact 

of closeness and 

convenience by 

introducing local 

services  

 

Educate parents 

through health 

visitors when to use 

A&E  

 

Consider training 

parents in first 

aid/self care 

 

Consider an 

Ambulance Triage 

NHS NHS Reduce A&E attendances by 294 per year 

saving the NHS £19K per year 

Reduce inappropriate 

attendances to be in line with 

Mid Essex 

Review Mid Essex 

triage system and 

consider application 

in Thurrock 

 

Educate parents 

through health 

visitors when to use 

A&E 

 

Consider an 

Ambulance Triage 

 

NHS NHS Reduce A&E attendances by 8,000 per year 

saving the NHS £900K per year 

Increase patients with Long 

Term Conditions’ knowledge 

on how best to self care  

Self-care Public Health 

Existing 

Community 

Capacity 

NHS 

Social Care 

For a cost of £400 per patient, average net 

saving of £1,800 per patient per year 

Social Prescribing Community 

management of care 

Public Health 

CVS? 

CCG? 

NHS 

Social Care 

After five years, a return on investment of 

£3.38 per £1 spent. 

Well Homes Keeping people well 

at home 

Public Health 

Private 

Housing 

Service 

NHS 

Wider 

society 

Social Care 

Completing 400 assessments a year is 

calculated to result in £1,676,815 savings 

[£694,297.10 to NHS] 

 

 

Page 83



22 

 

Desired Outcome Interventions Investor of 

costs 

Recipient 

of savings 

Financial Opportunity 

 

Increase early diagnosis of 

breast cancer in line with the 

East of England average. 

Cancer screening NHS England 

/ Public 

Health 

NHS 

Social Care 

Improving early diagnosis by 6% could 

save £58,243 in cancer treatment costs, or 

a five year total of £314,293.98. 

Increase early diagnosis of 

cervical cancer in line with the 

East of England average. 

Cancer screening NHS England 

/ Public 

Health 

NHS 

Social Care 

Improving early diagnosis by 6% could 

save £3,775.20 in cancer treatment costs, 

or a five year total of £20,386.08. 

Increase early diagnosis of 

bowel cancer in line with the 

East of England average. 

Cancer screening NHS England 

/ Public 

Health 

NHS 

Social Care 

Improving early diagnosis by 6% is 

calculated to save £26,374 in cancer 

treatment costs, or a five year total of 

£135,717. 

Reduce the future number of 

long term conditions patients 

who are also obese. 

Obesity Prevention Public Health 

CCG 

NHS 

Social Care 

The additional projected costs of LTC + 

obese calculated to be: £1,678,680 for 

stroke acute & rehab care, £987,235.20 for 

coronary artery bypass grafts in CHD 

patients, £758,160-£1,053,000 per year in 

Diabetes inpatient costs and £88,947.90 

per year in hypertension management. 

These are all on top of their existing LTC 

management costs. 

Increase uptake of the 

programme from 56% to 

66%.  

NHS Health Checks Public Health NHS 

Social Care 

The increase in uptake by 10 percentage 

points would result in 57 additional Quality 

Adjusted Life Years over the course of a 

lifetime. 

Achieve the target of 500 

patients referred onto the 

service. 

National Diabetes 

Prevention Program 

CCG NHS 

Social Care 

In five years, expected savings are 

£124,879 per 1,000 patients 

Enabling a patient to self-

refer to a physiotherapist. 

Physiotherapy in 

Primary Care 

CCG NHS 

Social Care 

Estimated savings of up to £44,959.20 in 

hip and £76.705.20 in knee osteoarthritis 

patients. 

Maintaining effective 

cholesterol control in patients 

with Diabetes and CHD. 

Management of 

hypertensive patients 

CCG NHS 

Social Care 

One year savings from strokes and heart 

attacks avoided: £85,196 (NHS) 

One year savings from strokes avoided: 

£11,895 (Social Care) 

The above come from treating an 

additional 493 Diabetes and 241 CHD 

patients. 

Continued investment into 

the RRAS 

Rapid Response 

Assessment Service 

NHS 

Social Care 

NHS 

Social Care 

ASC Packages avoided: £524,081 per week 

(Social Care) 

Opportunities not calculated for NHS 

     

 

  

Page 84



23 

 

 

LINKS TO EXISTING RELATED LOCAL RESEARCH 

There are other documents that have been produced that provide richer sources of information on some of 

the contents of this report. These include: 

 Local Area Coordination 2014 Evaluation 

 LARC/Teenage Pregnancy Strategy 

 Tilbury and Purfleet Needs Assessments 2016 

 Annual Public Health Report 2014 – Older People 

 Cancer Deep Dive 2015 

 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2014 

Future documents will include: 

 Whole Systems Obesity Evidence Base and Needs Assessment 

 NHS Health Check Health Equity Audit 

 Mental Health JSNA  

Page 85



24 

 

Section 1 PRIMARY AND COMMUNITY CARE 

   GP SHORTAGES AND AVAILABILITY OF APPOINTMENTS 1.1 

1.1.1  INTRODUCTION 

In this section we look at the number of patients registered per FTE GP, availability of appointments and 

patient satisfaction scores.  We believe that these three measures are intertwined indicators which jointly 

describe the huge challenge we face in Thurrock if we truly want to make improvements in the 

management of any patient cohorts in order to mitigate impacts to other parts of the system. 

It is one thing to show a practice their shortfalls but at the same time we need to acknowledge the 

constraints under which they can operate and search for ever innovative ways of achieving improvements 

without increasing the strain on an already stretched primary care workforce.  This may include; using 

current resources very differently; adding additional capacity; relieving the pressure by using alternative 

resources. 

1.1.2  PATIENTS PER FTE GP IN THURROCK 

On average, nationally, there are 1321 registered patients per GP and 2509 per nurse .  Figure 1 shows ratio 

of patients per FTE GP for Thurrock GP practices, together with the England and CCG mean ratios.  We 

know that this number has been increasing over the last few years and that there is a national shortage of 

GPs.  The government have recently announced plans to attract more people into the profession. 

Thurrock is the fourth most un-doctored CCG area in England.   The mean ratio of patients to FTE GPs in 

Thurrock is 2110 compared to an England mean of 1321.  All but four GP practices have ratios of 

patients:FTE GPs that are greater than the England mean, with the most under-doctored GP practice having 

a ratio that is over five times the England mean ratio. 

This is one of the most significant challenges facing our local Health and Social Care system and the 

population it serves.  Approximately 70% of all patient interactions with doctors happen in GP surgeries.  

GPs also act as ‘gatekeepers’ to elective care and also are responsible providing clinical management of 

patients with long term conditions through the QOF (Quality Outcomes Framework).  If patients are 

receiving inadequate care because of levels of under-doctoring, it is highly likely that they will end up in 

more expensive parts of the H&SC system, particularly as A&E attendances or emergency hospital 

admissions. 

 

  

Page 86



25 

 

Figure 1: National Variation in workforce levels in General Practice, September 2015 

 

Source: HSCIC 

 

Figure 2: Ratio of Patients to FTE Practice Nurse 

 

Figure 2 shows the ratio of Patients:FTE Practice Nurses for surgeries in Thurrock (where data is available), 

together with the England and CCG mean ratios.  Like Figure 1, Figure 2shows significant levels of ‘under-

nursing’ within GP practices.  All but five GP practices have a ratio of patients: FTE Practice nurse that is 

greater than the England mean.  Practice nurses play a key role in long term condition management of 

patients, and levels of under-nursing seen locally will inevitably have a negative impact on the clinical 
Page 87



26 

 

management of patients with long term conditions, again putting them at risk of emergency hospital 

admissions. 

Figure 3 shows the association between levels of under-doctoring at GP practice level and levels of 

deprivation (as measured by the Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2015) for each GP practice population.. 

Figure 3: The association between levels of under-doctoring at GP practice level and levels of deprivation (as measured 

by the Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2015) for each GP practice population 

 

There is a strong positive association between levels of under-doctoring and levels of deprivation.  Almost 

30% of the variation between the ratio of Patients per FTE GP is associated with levels of deprivation within 

the GP practice population.   This is extremely concerning; as it suggests that the practice populations with 

the greatest levels of morbidity (strongly associated with deprivation) are registered to the most under-

doctored GP practices.   As such, Figure Y demonstrates The Inverse Care Law is a significant issue at GP 

practice level within Thurrock; namely that populations with the greatest health needs are more likely to get 

the poorest health care. 

 

1.1.3  AVAILABILITY OF GP PRACTICE APPOINTMENTS 

Lack of availability appointments in GP practices are a significant positive predictor of emergency hospital 

admissions for Coronary Heart Disease (CHD) and Heart Failure (HF), and for Respiratory conditions. (See 

Long Term Condition Models in this report (see sections 3.2 to 3.5).  For every one percentage point Page 88



27 

 

increase in the availability of GP appointments (as measured by the question “last time you wanted to 

see/speak to a GP were you able to?” in the GP patient survey) we estimate a reduction in the average GP 

practice of 118 emergency admissions for CHD/HF and 60 emergency admissions for respiratory conditions.  

Workforce capacity clearly has an impact on this. There is a weak association between patients per WTE GP 

and availability of appointments.  Patients per GP explains 5% of the variation in availability of appointments 

(R
2
=0.05, p=0.008). As such there are clearly variables other than the absolute number of patients per FTE 

GP that are impacting on a GP Practice’s ability to provide appointments to patients in a timely manner. 

Figure 4 Patients per WTE GP vs availability of appointments in South Essex (extremes removed) 

 

Source: HSCIC and National GP Practice Profiles 

1.1.4  SATISFACTION WITH PRIMARY CARE 

 

The GP Patient Survey assesses patients’ experience of healthcare including experience of access to 

surgeries, making appointments, the quality of care received from GP’s and practice nurses, satisfaction with 

opening hours and experience of out-of-hours NHS services, so the NHS can measure how they are doing, 

whether they are achieving the NHS vision and to continuously improving services for patients and their 

care. The most recent survey was completed for the time period January - March 2016, and found that 

79.8% of Thurrock residents reported a 'very good' or 'fairly good' experience of their GP service. Figure X 

shows the percentage of patients who responded to the patient survey who rated their Thurrock GP 

Practice as either ‘fairly good’ or ‘very good’, together with the mean ratings for all practices in Thurrock 

and in England.  Overall, patients in Thurrock are less satisfied with their GP practice than the average for  

England.  11 Thurrock Practices have ratings of fairly or very good that are statistically lower than the 

England mean, and three – Hassengate Medical Centre, Dr. Abeyewarden and Drs. Pattara & Raja have 

ratings of fairly or very good that are statistically significantly above the England mean. 

Page 89



28 

 

However, some care should be exercised in interpreting these figures.  Response rates as a percentage of 

total registered patients in the GP survey are notoriously low, levels of expectation may vary between 

different practice populations, and a low satisfaction rating should not automatically be interpreted as poor 

clinical care.  For example, a GP practice that strictly refuses to prescribe anti-biotics to patients demanding 

them when they are not required would be providing a high standard of clinical care on this issue, but may 

also end up with dissatisfied patients. 

Figure 5: Percentage of Patients who rated their experience of their GP practice as "Very Good" or “Goood”.  

 

Source: GP Patient Survey 

 

 

 DIAGNOSIS OF PATIENTS WITH LONG TERM CONDITIONS 1.2 

 

1.2.1  DIAGNOSED PREVALENCE OF DISEASE 

 
In 2014/15 there were 54,678 cases of key long term conditions recorded by GPs, of which there were 

23,727 hypertension cases, 9,441 asthma cases and 8,185 Diabetes cases [these were the three most 

common of those presented below]. This can be seen in Figure 6 

Figure 6: Number of observed cases for key LTCs in Thurrock, 2014/15 

Page 90



29 

 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

This equates to a hypertension prevalence of 14.1% (England = 13.8%), Asthma prevalence of 5.6% 

(England = 6.0%) and Diabetes prevalence of 6.3% (England = 6.4%). There is a large variation in the 

diagnosed prevalence of each LTC between different GP practices; the range for each can be seen in the 

table below and the eight figures underneath. Those practices that have prevelances of long term 

conditions ranked in the highest third are shown in red, those with prevalence in the middle third are shown 

in yellow and those in the lowest third are shown in green. This demonstrates that that practices such as 

Acorns, Dr Patel, Purfleet Care Centre, St Clements and Thurrock Health Centre consistently have 

prevalence rates in the lowest third of Thurrock practices, whereas Dr Jones and Dr Suntharalingham have 

prevalence rates for all conditions in the highest third of Thurrock practices.  

Table 1: Practice-level prevalence of key LTCs, 2014/15 

Recorded QOF prevalence at GP practice level is a product of two key variables; the underlying prevalence 

of each long term condition within the GP practice population, and the GP practice’s success at identifying 

and diagnosing the specific disease.  As such it can be considered a measure of how much demand for long 

term condition management is faced by the practice, as opposed to absolute levels of clinical need within 

the practice population.  

Page 91



30 

 

Table 2: Practice-level Diganmosed prevalence of key LTCs, 2014/15 

 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

Figures 7 through 14 show the diagnosed prevalence of the most common Long Term Conditions in 

Thurrock at GP practice level.  There are particularly high levels of variation between diagnosed rates of 

Atrial Fibrillation, COPD, CHD and Heart Failure.  Again this could be due to genunine differences in 

underlying prevalence of this conditions between different practice populations, are differences been GP 

practices’ ability to identify and diagnose these conditions in their patients. 

 

Practice F 

code
Surgery Name Asthma COPD Diabetes CHD

Heart 

Failure
Hypertension

Stroke / 

TIA

F81110 SUNTHARALINGAM R 7.39% 3.20% 9.69% 5.25% 1.32% 18.79% 1.84%

F81082 DRS JONES & BYRNE 6.62% 2.18% 7.81% 3.99% 0.70% 16.89% 2.42%

F81084 CHADWELL MEDICAL CENTRE 5.76% 2.16% 8.78% 4.76% 1.03% 15.64% 2.44%

F81192 STIFFORD CLAYS SURGERY 6.39% 2.81% 6.00% 3.70% 0.82% 14.81% 1.99%

F81697 DEVARAJA V C & PARTNER 5.78% 2.07% 6.79% 3.43% 0.71% 21.92% 1.95%

F81719 MUKHOPADHYAY SURGERY 5.64% 2.41% 7.40% 2.66% 0.64% 18.85% 1.88%

F81134 PEARTREE W HORNDON SURGERIES 5.62% 3.27% 6.78% 3.12% 0.87% 17.45% 1.61%

F81177 DESHPANDE A M & PARTNER 4.97% 1.69% 7.52% 2.85% 0.79% 21.19% 1.98%

F81206 SHEHADEH MEDICAL CENTRE 6.04% 2.55% 6.91% 2.81% 1.09% 15.44% 1.60%

F81641 KK MASSON AND DR H MASSON 5.02% 1.76% 7.08% 4.33% 0.84% 17.40% 1.58%

F81088 DR M ROY & PARTNERS 6.16% 1.56% 7.25% 4.11% 0.74% 25.51% 1.31%

F81219 DELL MEDICAL CENTRE 6.09% 1.76% 5.95% 3.69% 0.67% 13.29% 2.40%

F81644 CHEUNG K K 5.78% 1.89% 5.54% 3.73% 0.61% 19.17% 2.25%

F81155 BALFOUR MEDICAL CENTRE 4.45% 1.90% 7.29% 2.99% 0.66% 19.92% 2.08%

F81010 AVELEY MEDICAL CENTRE 5.53% 2.45% 6.88% 3.28% 0.70% 14.12% 1.80%

F81652 APPLEDORE AND MEDIC HOUSE 5.59% 1.87% 7.02% 3.00% 0.75% 14.14% 1.39%

F81198 HORNDON-ON-THE-HILL SURGERY 5.58% 1.86% 5.29% 3.06% 1.74% 16.65% 1.94%

F81153 HASSENGATE MEDICAL CENTRE 7.40% 1.68% 6.26% 2.87% 0.59% 13.89% 1.82%

F81632 HEALTH CENTRE DARENTH LANE 5.80% 3.31% 6.56% 2.68% 0.47% 13.83% 1.30%

F81137 ORSETT SURGERY 5.83% 1.32% 5.43% 2.70% 0.67% 13.80% 1.56%

F81691 ETC MEDICAL SERVICES 6.15% 1.11% 6.25% 2.15% 0.58% 14.93% 1.52%

F81669 OKOI H & PARTNER 6.69% 2.33% 5.07% 2.02% 0.82% 10.62% 1.27%

F81698 DILIP SABNIS MEDICAL CENTRE 5.10% 2.06% 6.15% 2.88% 0.50% 14.98% 1.62%

F81623 KADIM PRIMECARE MEDICAL CENTRE 5.67% 1.32% 6.73% 2.81% 0.26% 18.67% 1.19%

F81197 BELLWORTHY S V 4.19% 1.84% 6.98% 1.72% 0.35% 16.77% 0.67%

F81218 JOSEPH L & PARTNER 4.14% 1.48% 6.04% 2.48% 0.57% 13.19% 1.38%

F81211 EAST THURROCK MEDICAL 4.90% 1.66% 6.04% 2.51% 0.58% 12.94% 1.15%

F81113 ABELA T & PARTNERS 5.60% 0.72% 4.58% 1.33% 0.41% 9.89% 0.69%

F81708 DR PATEL PJ PRACTICE 2.37% 1.10% 5.47% 1.55% 0.17% 7.74% 0.72%

Y02807 THURROCK HEALTH CENTRE 4.45% 0.78% 4.08% 0.84% 0.24% 6.37% 0.68%

Y00033 PURFLEET CARE CENTRE 4.09% 1.07% 4.87% 1.16% 0.25% 9.68% 0.49%

Y00999 ST CLEMENTS HEALTH CENTRE 4.56% 0.89% 5.03% 1.24% 0.30% 8.99% 0.49%

F81742 ACORNS MEDICAL CENTRE 3.54% 0.70% 3.23% 0.61% 0.06% 5.63% 0.42%

Page 92



31 

 

Figure 7: Diagnosed prevalence of Asthma, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

 

Figure 8: Diagnosed prevalence of COPD, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

Page 93



32 

 

Figure 9: Diagnosed prevalence of Diabetes, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

Figure 10: Diagnosed prevalence of Atrial Fibrillation, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

Page 94



33 

 

Figure 11: Diagnosed prevalence of CHD, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

Figure 12: Diagnosed prevalence of Heart Failure, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

Page 95



34 

 

Figure 13: Diagnosed prevalence of Hypertension, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

Figure 14: Diagnosed prevalence of Stroke and TIA, 2014/15 

 

Source: QOF 2014/15 

1.2.2  PREVALENCE OF MSK CONDITIONS 

 

According to Arthritis UK’s MSK calculator
i
 , there are 6,812 people aged 45+ in Thurrock with hip 

osteoarthritis, and 11,622 with knee osteoarthritis. These equate to prevalences of 11.41% and 19.47% 

respectively, which are higher than the national averages (10.92% and 18.20%). Thurrock also has higher 

proportions of people with severe osteoarthritis in both the hip and knee than the national averages. These 

can be seen below.  These figures are important in terms of future system sustainability, as MSK disorders 

Page 96



35 

 

such as arthritis and osteoporosis have been identified within this report as the most common clinical 

diagnoses that precede entry of older people into the local Adult Social Care System (see section ***) 

Figure 15: Prevalence of osteoarthritis, 2015 

 

Source: Arthritis UK 

Prevalence differs by gender (8.45% of male and 14.21% of females in Thurrock have hip osteoarthritis for 

example) and by lifestyle factors – low levels of physical activity and high levels of obesity are risk factors for 

osteoarthritis. The figure below shows prevalence of hip and knee osteoarthritis in Thurrock for those who 

are sedentary and obese, compared to those who are physically active and a healthy weight. It can be seen 

that the prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in those leading an active lifestyle and who are a healthy weight is 

a quarter of the prevalence of those who are sedentary and obese; for hip osteoarthritis, sedentary and 

obese have a prevalence three times larger than that for high physical activity and healthy weight. 

Figure 16: Osteoarthritis in high and low risk groups, 2015 

 

Source: Arthritis UK 

The prevalence rates above generate the absolute numbers below: 

Table 3: Number of patients with hip and knee osteoarthritis in Thurrock, and proportion with high risk factors 

Page 97



36 

 

 Hip 

(total) 

Hip 

(severe) 

Knee 

(total) 

Knee 

(severe) 

Number who are sedentary and obese who have 

osteoarthritis 

1,068 514 2,007 1,095 

All with osteoarthritis 6,812 4,470 11,622 3,926 

% of those with osteoarthritis with high risk factors 15.66% 11.5% 17.3% 27.89% 

Source: Arthritis UK 

This shows that over a quarter of those with severe knee osteoarthritis also exhibit high lifestyle risk factors. 

 

1.2.3  UNDIAGNOSED PREVALENCE OF DISEASE 

 
It is known that there are a large number of people with long term conditions in Thurrock who have not yet 

been diagnosed.  Identifying patients with long term health conditions who are unaware that they have 

them is an absolutely key Public Health priority, if we are going to intervene early with excellent clinical 

management to prevent chronic diseases progressing and patients’ health deteriorating. Public Health 

England has commissioned Imperial College to develop some estimates of expected prevalence of disease 

at practice level. Statistical models have been developed using relevant factors to determine estimates of 

the prevalence expected diseases for a number of long term conditions based on specific population  

demongraphic and other characteristics of different GP practice populations.  These ‘expected prevalence’ 

figures include patients that are both diagnosed and known to the practice and undiagnosed and not 

known nor receiving treatment for their long term condition. Estimates were released in 2011, and revised 

estimates have been produced for 2016 for Stroke, CHD, Peripheral Artery Disease (PAD), Depression, 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and Hypertension (high blood pressure). Estimates for 

Diabetes were released at CCG level by the National Cardiovascular Intelligence Network. 

The table below shows the observed and expected prevalence for each condition except for PAD, and an 

estimate of the additional number of patients that are likely to have a condition that is undiagnosed by 

applying the estimated figure to the Thurrock population. The table does not display the difference for 

Depression, as this will be presented in a separate Mental Health JSNA document. 

Table 4: Observed and Expected Prevalence of key LTCs in Thurrock 

Condition Observed Prevalence Estimated Prevalence Additional Number of 

Undiagnosed Patients 

based on the estimated 

prevalence 

Stroke (2016) 1.51% 3.70% 3,540* 

Hypertension (2016) 14.08% 20.95% 10,983 

CHD (2016) 2.78% 7.58% 7,521* 

COPD (2016) 1.8% 2.22% 642* 

Diabetes (2016) 6.3% (17+) 7.9% (16+) 2,109** 

Source: PHE modelled estimates 2016, NCVIN 2016, and QOF 2014/15 [*one practice was missing data so 

true number will be higher / ** applying the QOF prevalence for 17+ to the 16+ population]  

The Diabetes estimated prevalence estimates were published up to 2035, and it can be seen from the below 

that the estimated prevalence in both Thurrock and England is set to increase in future years. This shows 

similar results to the modelled projection of Diabetes cases shown in the Obesity prevention section, which 

estimate that there could be 11,408 total Diabetes cases (including those undiagnosed) by 2026. 

Page 98



37 

 

Figure 17: Modelled total Diabetes prevalence to 2035 

 

Source: National Cardiovascular Intelligence Network 

Analysis of practice-level estimates for stroke, hypertension, CHD, and COPD is presented below; however 

these are still part way through the quality assurance process, and therefore should not be taken as definite 

until formal publication by PHE in December 2016. 

Figures 18 through 25 show the absolute numbers at GP practice level of diagnosed and un-diagnosed 

patients with serous long term conditions, and the ratio between those who are have been diagnosed and 

are receiving clinical management and treatment for their Long Term Condition, and those who have not 

been diagnosed and will therefore not be receiving treatment.  This ratio is also known as the 

“Completeness of the Disease Register”.  The first figure shows Stroke patients by GP practice, and it can be 

seen that, unsurprisingly, the practices with the largest estimated numbers of stroke patients also have large 

practice populations (Dr Abela, Hassengate and Dr Leighton). However, when looking at the ratio between 

observed and expected numbers of patients (the second figure below), it is practices such as Acorns 

(13.05%), St Clements (14.75%) and Purfleet Care Centre (15.06%) which have observed/diagnosed the 

lowest proportions of patients who are expected to have had a stroke.  Their stroke registers can therefore 

be said to be highly incomplete. The Thurrock ratio of observed: expected patients is 40.37% - meaning that 

there is a large gap between the diagnosed and likely undiagnosed stroke patients of the borough. It should 

be noted that the value for Thurrock Health Centre was missing from the original dataset and work is 

underway to obtain this. 

  

Page 99



38 

 

Figure 18: Diagnosed + Undiagnosed estimates of stroke per practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 

 

Figure 19: Ratio of observed: expected cases of stroke by practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 

Page 100



39 

 

The next figure shows CHD patients by GP, and it can be seen that, as above, the practices with the largest 

estimated numbers of CHD patients also have large practice populations (Dr Abela, Hassengate and Dr 

Leighton). However, when looking at the ratio between observed and expected numbers of patients 

(second figure below), it is practices such as Acorns (9.3%), St Clements (17.86%) and Purfleet Care Centre 

(17.04%) which have observed/diagnosed the lowest proportions of expected patients. The Thurrock ratio 

of observed: expected patients is 36.89% - meaning that there is a large gap between the diagnosed and 

likely undiagnosed CHD patients of the borough. It should be noted that the value for Thurrock Health 

Centre was missing from the original dataset and work is underway to obtain this. 

Figure 20: Diagnosed + Undiagnosed estimates of CHD per practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 

Figure 21: Ratio of observed: expected cases of CHD by practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 

Page 101



40 

 

The next figure shows hypertension patients by GP, and it can be seen that, as above, the practices with the 

largest estimated numbers of hypertension patients also have large practice populations (Dr Abela, 

Hassengate and Dr Leighton). However, when looking at the ratio between observed and expected 

numbers of patients (the second figure below), it is practices such as Acorns (42.03%), Thurrock Health 

Centre (45.94%) and Dr Abeyewardene (56.22%) which have observed/diagnosed the lowest proportions of 

expected patients. The Thurrock ratio of observed: expected patients is 68.34% - meaning that there is a 

large gap between the diagnosed and likely undiagnosed hypertensive patients of the borough. 

Figure 22: Diagnosed + Undiagnosed estimates of hypertension per practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 

Figure 23: Ratio of observed: expected cases of hypertension by practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 

The next figure shows COPD patients by GP, and it can be seen that, as above, the practices with the largest 

estimated numbers of hypertension patients also have large practice populations (Dr Headon, Hassengate 

Page 102



41 

 

and Dr Leighton). However, when looking at the ratio between observed and expected numbers of patients 

(the second figure below), it is practices such as Dr Roy (49%), Sai Medical Centre (51%) and Dr D’Mello 

(52%) which have observed/diagnosed the lowest proportions of expected patients. The Thurrock ratio of 

observed: expected patients is 82.2% - meaning that there is a gap between the diagnosed and likely 

undiagnosed hypertensive patients of the borough. It is also notable that there are five practices with more 

diagnosed patients than they are estimated to have – these are Derry Court, Shehadeh Medical Centre, Dr 

Yasin, Dr Suntharalingham and Dr Davies (Pear Tree). 

Figure 24: Diagnosed + Undiagnosed estimates of COPD per practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 

Figure 25: Ratio of observed: expected cases of COPD by practice 

 

Sources = QOF register 2014/15 and PHE estimates 2016 
Page 103



42 

 

1.2.4  CONCLUSIONS 

 

Both the sheer number of undiagnosed patients with Long Term Conditions in Thurrock, and the variation 

between different GP practice’s ability to identify, diagnose and treat patients with potentially life- 

threatening long term conditions is extremely concerning. 

We estimate that there are 24,750 patients in Thurrock with either high blood pressure, Atrial Fibrillation, 

Diabetes, Coronary Heart Disease, Stroke or / TIA, COPD or a combination of two or more of these serous 

health conditions.   Early identification of patients with these conditions combined with excellent clinical 

management in Primary and Community Care can in the majority of cases allow them to remain well and 

slow or halt disease progression. Conversely, failing to intervene places them at significant and avoidable 

risk of serious adverse health events such as stroke, heart attacks and progression to end stage COPD.  It 

also puts them at much greater risk of entering both hospital and an emergency admission, and our Adult 

Social Care System or requiring Continuing Health Care.   Such outcomes are terrible for patients/clients 

and are placing unsustainable financial demand on our local system.  It is absolutely vital that we focus 

resource on ‘casefinding’ patients with Long Term Conditions and improving the completeness of our 

disease registers in Primary Care. 

Page 104



43 

 

 

 OBESITY 1.3 

 
Thurrock has a significantly higher prevalence of obesity and excess weight in adults than the national 

average. Data from the Active People’s Survey 2012-14 indicates that 29.7% of adults are obese in 

Thurrock, compared to 24.0% nationally. Approximately 70.4% of adults are overweight or obese, which is 

also significantly above the national average of 64.6%. 

QOF data from 2014/15 shows the variation in recorded obesity prevalence by practice – it can be seen that 

prevalence ranges from 3.49% (Dr Joseph) to 21.95% (Dr Bellworthy). The Thurrock mean is 10.9%, which is 

substantially lower than the value of 29.7% estimated from the APS data. This may be due to a number of 

factors including recording practices within GPs or sample size in the survey. 

Figure 26: Practice-level obesity prevalence, 2014-15 

 

Source: QOF (2014/15) 

Reviews of QOF trend data indicate that recorded prevalence of obesity has actually reduced both locally 

and nationally, with Thurrock seeing a reduction from 13.9% in 2009/10 to 10.9% in 2014/15 in line with the 

national reduction from 10.5% - 9.0% in the same time period. However reduction in obesity and excess 

weight are still viewed to be amongst the top priorities for Thurrock due to their wider consequences and 

impacts. 

Childhood obesity is also a priority for Thurrock – the latest draft data for 2015/16 indicates that obesity in 

both reception and Year 6-aged children will have increased from previous years. Reception obesity is 

estimated to be 10.5%, whilst Year 6 obesity is estimated to be 23.9%. [Note: This data is experimental data 

extracted directly from the Thurrock NCMP system and is subject to review by NHS Digital at this stage] 

Modelling work undertaken with the support of Norfolk County Council Public Health team estimates that 

the future number of obese adults in Thurrock could number 49,850 in the next ten years, which is an 

increase of 32.96% between 2016 and 2026. This is estimated based on no major changes to service 

provision and factors in population growth. 

Page 105



44 

 

 

Figure 27: Estimated Number of Obese patients in Thurrock, 2014-2026 

 

Source: ONS 2014 Population Projections, Foresight Report 2007 and Norfolk County Council 

 

 MANAGEMENT OF PATIENTS WITH LONG TERM CONDITIONS 1.4 

As noted in the Introduction of this report, spend on patients with long-term conditions accounts for over 

70% of the entire NHS budget.  Effective management of long term conditions is absolutely vital in order to 

prevent patients’ health, wellbeing and independence from deteriorating and to prevent them being 

admitted to hospital or requiring social care packages.   

The management of Long Term Conditions should be done by patients with support from primary and 

community care services.  Good management of patients’ conditions by these three entities will be reflected 

in the Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) – especially those which are clinical markers. 

QOF records contain quality of care information on how patients who are diagnosed with diseases are 

treated in primary care.  It was set up as an incentive system and GP practices get paid for the percentage 

of their “diseased population” that they offer certain tests, medication reviews and treatments for.  The 

indicators are based on evidence of good quality care for the conditions. 

QOF indicators are evidence and outcome based.  The models that we have built predicting non-elective 

activity based on primary care did not feature many of the QOF indicators.  This may be due to three 

reasons: 

1. Generally, across the South of Essex, there is no longer a huge amount of variation in these 

indicators  

2. Although the measures offer better outcomes, these are not necessarily in terms of Hospital 

admissions 

3. The variation is captured by some of the other variables that were included such as availability of 

appointments (causal pathway) or which CCG a practice belongs to (representing different 

community services commissioned and so different QOF outcomes at a CCG level). 

Page 106



45 

 

 

Analyses have shown (not described here) that availability of appointments is positively correlated with 

many of the QOF Long Term Condition Indicators indicators in addition to the Non-elective admission 

outcomes however these associations are not as strong as that between the availability of appointments 

and the non-elective admission outcomes.  We, therefore feel that this is the reason that more of the QOF 

indicators did not fit into the final models (i.e. in three above variation is captured by other variables that are 

included). 

There has been much debate over recent years whether QOF actually achieves good outcomes for patients 

in terms of reducing the risk of major events requiring hospitalisation.  However a study published in the 

BMJ this year showed that nationally the introduction of QOF was in fact associated with a decrease in 

emergency admissions for these incentivised conditions.  They also state that: 

“ Contemporaneous health service changes seem unlikely to have caused the sharp change in the trajectory 

of incentivised Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions (ACSC) admissions immediately after the introduction 

of the Quality and Outcomes Framework. The decrease seems larger than would be expected from the 

changes in the process measures that were incentivised, suggesting that the pay for performance scheme 

may have had impacts on quality of care beyond the directly incentivised activities.”
ii
 

Figure 28 shows the findings from their research. 

Figure 28 Effect of a national primary care pay for performance scheme on emergency hospital admissions for 

ambulatory care sensitive conditions 

 

 

Page 107



46 

 

 

We can therefore use QOF scores as a proxy for measurement for how well patients with Long Term 

Conditions are being managed overall. 

Management of COPD and Diabetes in the community is delivered by NELFT. Patients referred to the COPD 

service get referred once, and remain on the caseload. Diabetes patients would be referred once but then 

have a new active referral opened for any episode of care.

A note about interpreting QOF Indicator scores 

The authors are aware that many people confuse QOF with the quality of care that practices are offering their patients.  

While this is an important part of the framework it is not the sole contributor to the over-all score. 

The scores represent the management of patients overall, this includes the effectiveness of our community teams (if 

used), patient compliance and anybody else involved in a patients management. 

GP’s are able to exception report patients from indicators on clinical grounds or if patients have been invited or offered 

an intervention and they have declined (3 times for a review or 1 time for a referral or other intervention). 

Patients who are neither offered treatment/intervention or exception reported are being failed by our primary and/or 

community care teams, as such this is a measure of performance. 

In this report we are interested in both aspects: 

1) Levels of population receiving an intervention or treatment regardless of exception reporting.  This is the 

measure that tells us the possible risks of  a clinical event and how these differ across the area. 

2) The number of patients who are neither receiving a treatment/ intervention or exception reported.  This 

measure tells us the number of patients who are at risk of a clinical event, due to a failure, by primary care, to 

offer appropriate care to them. 

That is not to say that if practices have low scores due to exception reporting there is nothing that they can do to 

improve.  They can look at different ways of communicating with their patients for example. 

 

 

 

A note on interpreting a box and whisker chart 

The upper and lower extremities of the chart, known as the whiskers, represent the total range of values.  In this case they 

would be the practice with the lowest and highest percentage of patients receiving an intervention or treatment.. 

The middle grey box represents the Inter Quartile Range (IQR).  The bottom of the grey box is the 25
th
 percentile value 

and the top of the grey box is the 75
th
 percentile value.   In other words, the middle half of all the indicators will fall within 

this range.  

The line across the middle of the box is the median value.  In this case it would be the practice that has the median 

percentage of patients receiving a treatment or intervention. 

In this case we can conclude that practices on the lower whiskers are outliers in the sense that they are below the 25
th
 

percentile (their performance rates amongst the worst 25% of practices nationally).  In some instances we may use the 

median as a cut off where this is particularly low and we would expect the percentage of patients to be close to 100% 

across practices. 

We have added a marker of the national median onto our charts in order to make comparisons between Thurrock 

generally and the national picture. 

Page 108



47 

 

 

1.4.1  CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF STROKE AND TIA 

We estimate that there are 5,981 patients with Stroke or TIA in Thurrock, including 3,540 who are not yet 

diagnosed. 

Of those who are diagnosed the QOF tells us about the quality of their care and how well managed their 

condition is in general.  Specifically, for Stroke and TIA it looks at the control of patients’ Blood Pressure 

levels, and treatment with anti-platelet agents or anti-coagulation drugs, reviews for investigation and 

vaccination from flu.  The indicators are aimed at reducing the risk of patients suffering from a CVD event in 

the future. 

Variation across Thurrock is large for all six of the indicators (Figure 29).  It is concerning that in half of our 

practices low numbers of patients who are recently diagnosed are not being referred for further 

investigation.  We would expect this to be close to 100% across all practices.   

More than 50% of practices in Thurrock are achieving lower results than the England average for; new 

patients being referred for further investigation, stroke patients being vaccinated for flu, and anti-platelet or 

anti- coagulation therapies being given. 

The below lists practices for whom the percentage of patients with Stroke or TIA receiving the intervention is 

in the bottom quartile by the number of indicators for which this is the case.  Dr Mukhopadhyay’s practice 

scores in the bottom quartile for all six of the indicators, Aveley Medical Centre for five indicators, Pear Tree 

Surgery, Chadwell Medical Centre and Sai Medical Centre for four indicators and the others for three, two, 

or one.   

The England average is within the grey boxes for all of the indicators, so practices that we have named as 

outliers compared to Thurrock are also outliers compared to England averages. 

The practices in these lists need to urgently review their management of patients with Stroke or TIA.  They 

need to make an assessment of whether their scores are low due to exception reporting or lack of offers.  

For example Appendix X shows that of the ten stroke patients in Dr Mukhopadhyay’s practice who did not 

have an influenza vaccination, only 1 was exception reported.  (A practice can ‘exception report’ a patient 

against the QOF clinical intervention if it is contraindicated (i.e. may cause harm to the patient because of 

another health condition they have, or because the patient fails to attend at least three requests by the 

practice for a clinical review). Therefore 90% of those not receiving the intervention were as a result of poor 

quality rather than patients declining or compliance.  For the other indicators, mostly patients were 

exception reported.  For the indicators for which Aveley practice has a low score there is a higher 

percentage of exception reporting.  This suggests that interventions are being offered, but, perhaps not 

taken up.  This could be for a variety of reasons including consent, beliefs, or availability and convenience of 

appointments offered. 

Table 6 below shows the number of people across Thurrock who are not receiving each of the interventions 

or exception reported.  This information is broken down by practice in Appendix X. These patients 

(especially those from the practices mentioned above) should be identified and reviewed urgently to 

prevent avoidable further ill health. 

Page 109



48 

 

 

Table 5: Practices in the bottom quartile for Stroke indicators, 2014/15 

 

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for all 6 

Stroke/TIA indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 5 of the 6 

Stroke/TIA indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 4 of the 6 

Stroke/TIA indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 3 of the 6 

Stroke/TIA indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 2 of the 6 

Stroke/TIA indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 1 of the 6 

Stroke/TIA indicators

Dr Mukhopadhay PK PRACTAveley MC Pear Tree SURG Dr Suntharalingam R PRACTDr Yasin SA PRACT Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG

Chadwell MC  Neera MC St Clements HC The Grays SURG

Sai MC Acorns SURG Purfleet Care Centre 

Ash Tree SURG  Thurrock HC

Dr Masson KK SURG Medic House

Balfour MC

Dr Colburn SURG

P
age 110



49 

 

 

Table 6: Stroke patients not receiving interventions, 2014/15 

 

 

  

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

58 337 59 106 21 17 568 126 

STIA007: The percentage of 

patients with a stroke shown to be 

non-haemorrhagic, or a history of 

TIA, who have a record in the 

preceding 12 months that an anti-

platelet agent, or an anti-coagulant 

is being taken

STIA008: The percentage of 

patients with a stroke or TIA 

(diagnosed on or after 1 April 

2014) who have a record of a 

referral for further 

investigation between 3 

months before or 1 month 

after the date of the latest 

recorded stroke or the first 

TIA

STIA009: The percentage of 

patients with stroke or TIA 

who have had influenza 

immunisation in the 

preceding 1 August to 31 

March

STIA003: The percentage of 

patients with a history of stroke 

or TIA in whom the last blood 

pressure reading (measured in 

the preceding 12 months) is 

150/90 mmHg or less

P
age 111



50 

 

 

Figure 29: Clinical Management of Stroke and TIA at practice level, 2014/15 

P
age 112



51 

 

 

1.4.2  CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF HYPERTENSION 

We estimate that there are 33,493 patients with Hypertension in Thurrock, including 10,983 who are not yet 

diagnosed. 

Of those who are diagnosed the QOF tells us about the quality of their care and how well managed their 

condition is in general.  Specifically, for Hypertension it looks at the control of patients’ Blood Pressure 

levels, and treatment with statins for patients with a CVD risk score of 20% or higher.  The indicators are 

aimed at reducing the risk of patients suffering from a CVD event in the future. 

The Thurrock Median is in line with the National average score for both of these indicators, meaning that 

50% of practices are performing at a lower level than the England average. 

Figure 30 shows that the percentage of patients diagnosed with hypertension whose blood pressure is less 

than 150/90 mmHg varies between practices from 57% in Dr Mukhopadhyay’s practice to 90% in East 

Thurrock Road Medical Centre.  The median is a little higher than 80%.  All bar one of the eight practices in 

the lower quartile are named in the list requiring support for stroke and TIA management support.  This is 

particularly concerning as this indicator features in our stroke prevention model.  This suggests that patients 

in these practices are; 1) More likely to have a stroke or TIA event and 2) Less likely to receive quality 

management of their condition following the event. 

The fact that there are practices who are CVD risk assessing patients and then not treating large proportions 

of patients with a score of more than 20% is concerning on ethical grounds - one should not identify a risk, 

or disease without the means or intention of treating.  This has only happened in a small number of patients 

(8), all of which are from Dr Masson KK Surgery, Ash Tree Surgery and Medic House.  These three practices 

should recall these patients as a matter of urgency to offer statins.   

A further 25 patients have been exception reported.  The reasons for these exception reports need further 

investigation. 

We are unable to tell the difference between practices with a zero score due to the absence of any risk 

assessments and those who are doing risk assessments but not finding anyone with a score of 20% or more.    

The England average is within the grey boxes for all of the indicators, so practices that we have named as 

outliers compared to Thurrock are also outliers compared to England averages. 

Below is a list of practices for whom the percentage of patients receiving interventions for hypertension are 

either in the bottom quartile for the Blood Pressure Indicator or below the median for the statin treatment 

indicator by the number of indicators for which this is the case.  Practices in these lists need to urgently 

review their management of patients with Hypertension.  

Practices scoring low on both indicators include Dr Suntharalingam, Neera Medical Centre, Chadwell 

Medical Centre, Pear Tree Surgery and Sai Medical Centre.  Additionally 14 practices fall below the 25
th
 

percentile (for BP) or the median (for new patients needing a review). 

Table 7 below shows the number of people across Thurrock who are not receiving each of the interventions.  

This information is broken down by practice in Appendix X. These patients (especially those from the 

practices mentioned above) should be identified and reviewed urgently to prevent avoidable further ill 

health. 

Page 113



52 

 

 

Table 7: Hypertensive patients not receiving interventions, 2014/15 

 

Exception reporting is low for the Blood Pressure indicator.  However we would expect a higher amount of 

variation for a bio-clinical marker than we would for a process indicator.  Hypertension patients who are 

failing to manage their BP could be doing so for a variety of reasons.

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception reported

536 3899 25 8

HYP006: The percentage of patients 

with hypertension in whom the last 

blood pressure reading (measured in 

the preceding 12 months) is 150/90 

mmHg or less

CVD-PP001: In those patients with a new 

diagnosis of hypertension aged 30 or over 

and who have not attained the age of 75, 

recorded between the preceding 1 April to 

31 March (excluding those with pre-

existing CHD, diabetes, stroke and/or TIA), 

who have a recorded CVD risk assessment 

score (using an assessment tool agreed 

with the NHS CB) of ≥20% in the preceding 

12 months: the percentage who are 

currently treated with statins

Page 114



53 

 

 

Figure 30: Clinical Management of Hypertension at practice level, 2014/15 

P
age 115



54 

 

 

1.4.3  CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF CHD 

We estimate that there are 122,217 patients with CHD in Thurrock, including 7,521 who are not yet 

diagnosed. 

Of those who are diagnosed the QOF tells us about the quality of their care and how well managed their 

condition is in general.  Specifically for CHD it looks at the control of patients’ Blood Pressure levels, and 

treatment with aspirin, API or ACT, and for those with a history of MI treatment with ACE-Inhibitors, as well 

as flu vaccinations.  The indicators are aimed at reducing the risk of patients suffering from a CVD event in 

the future. 

Figure 31 shows the amount of variation in quality of care between practices across Thurrock. A similar 

picture can be seen here as for Stroke and Hypertension, similar practices are appearing on the bottom tails 

(lower quartile).  The below lists practices for whom the percentage of patients with CHD receiving the 

intervention is in the bottom quartile by the number of indicators for which this is the case: 

Table 8: Practices in the bottom quartile for CHD indicators, 2014/15 

 

Dr Suntharalingham’s and Dr Mukhopadhyay’s practices score in the bottom quartile for all four of the 

indicators, the Aveley Medical Centre for three of the indicators and the others for one or two of the 

indicators.  Practices in this list need to urgently review their management of patients with CHD. 

It is concerning that there are 20 patients who have a history of MI, are not exception reported on medical 

grounds (such as because of another prescription) or compliance grounds and are not currently being 

prescribed a Blood Pressure lowering drug.  Three of the practices with low levels of treatment of MI 

patients with ACE or ARB (Blood Pressure lowering treatments) also have low numbers of patients with 

Blood pressure under control. 

It is very concerning that 75% of the practices in Thurrock had flu vaccination levels in their CHD population 

lower than the average in England.  The England average is within the grey boxes for all of the indicators, so 

practices that we have named as outliers compared to Thurrock are also outliers compared to England 

averages. 

Table 9 below shows the number of persons diagnosed with CHD who are not receiving an appropriate 

clinical intervention.  These patients (especially those from the practices mentioned above) should be 

identified and reviewed urgently to prevent avoidable further ill health. The figures below are broken down 

by practice in appendix X.

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for all 4 CHD 

indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 3 of the 4 

CHD

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 2 of the 4 

CHD

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 1 of the 4 

CHD

Dr Suntharalingam R PRACTAveley MC Chadwell MC  Dr Pattara/Dr Raja Surgery

Dr Mukhopadhay PK Practice Medic House Hassengate MC

Pear Tree Surgery The Grays Surgery

Balfour MC East Thurrock Road MC

Sai MC Thurrock HC

Ash Tree Surgery  St Clements HC

Dr Masson KK Surgery

Page 116



55 

 

 

 

Table 9: CHD patients not receiving interventions, 2014/15 

 

 

 

  

Exceptions
Not received intervention or 

exception reported
Exceptions

Not received intervention or 

exception reported
Exceptions

Not received intervention or 

exception reported
Exceptions

Not received intervention or 

exception reported
105 423 145 304 73 20 888 214

CHD002: The percentage of patients with coronary heart 

disease in whom the last blood pressure reading 

(measured in the preceding 12 months) is 150/90 mmHg 

or less

CHD005: The percentage of patients with coronary heart 

disease with a record in the preceding 12 months that 

aspirin, an alternative anti-platelet therapy, or an anti-

coagulant is being taken

CHD006: The percentage of patients with a history of 

myocardial infarction (on or after 1 April 2011) currently 

treated with an ACE-I (or ARB if ACE-I intolerant), aspirin 

or an alternative anti-platelet therapy

CHD007: The percentage of patients with coronary heart 

disease who have had influenza immunisation in the 

preceding 1 August to 31 March

P
age 117



56 

 

 

Figure 31: Clinical Management of CHD at practice level, 2014/15 

P
age 118



57 

 

 

1.4.4  CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF HEART FAILURE (HF) AND ATRIAL FIBRILLATION (AF) 

There are 1,103 patients diagnosed with HF and 2,096 with AF in Thurrock. 

Of those who are diagnosed the QOF tells us about the quality of their care and how well managed their condition is in general.  Specifically for AF it looks at 

Anticoagulation and anti-platelet therapy depending upon scores and for HF, having had the diagnosis appropriately confirmed and LVD treated with ACE, ARB and 

beta-blockers.  The indicators are aimed at reducing the risk of patients suffering from a CVD event in the future. 

All patients with AF and a CHAD 2 score (a tool that assesses their of their risk of a stroke) of more than one should be treated  anti-coagulation therapy unless 

exception reported.  The reality in Thurrock is that there is a variation between practices from 53% to 100%.  Similar variation (excluding one practice recording 0%) 

can be seen for anti-coagulant or anti-platelet therapy for CHADS2 equal to one. (Figure 32) 

This is extremely concerning and entirely unacceptable clinical practice.  In effect there are 163 patients in Thurrock with a diagnosis of Atrial Fibrillation who have been 

assessed using the CHADS2 score system to be at high risk of a stroke and in urgent need of treatment with anti-coagulation medication that are not receiving such 

treatment, nor have been exception reported for reasons of (for example) noncompliance. As a matter of upmost urgency these patients must be identified, called in 

for review and offered anti-coagulation medication.  They are currently at high and completely unnecessary increased risk of stroke. 

Similar levels of variation can also be seen for patients with HF. (  

P
age 119



58 

 

 

Figure 32)  

The England average is within the grey boxes for most of the indicators, so practices that we have named as outliers compared to Thurrock are also outliers compared 

to England averages. 

The below lists practices for whom the percentage of patients with AF or HF  receiving the intervention is in the bottom quartile by the number of indicators for which 

this is the case: 

Table 10: Practices in the bottom quartile for HF and AF indicators, 2014/15 

 

Table 11 shows the number of patients with AF or HF who are not receiving appropriate clinical interventions. These patients (especially those from the practices 

mentioned above) should be identified and reviewed urgently to prevent avoidable further ill health.  The figures below are broken down by practice in appendix X. 

 

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for both AF 

indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 1 AF 

indicator

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for all 3 HF 

indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 2 of the 3 

HF

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 1 of the 3 

HF

Thurrock HC Dr Headon OT PRACT Sai MC Neera MC Thurrock HC

Dr Masson KK SURG Balfour MC The Grays SURG

Medic House Dr Mukhopadhay PK PRACTSt Clements HC

St Clements HC Dr Suntharalingam R PRACT

Balfour MC Ash Tree SURG 

Aveley MC Acorns SURG

Prime Care MC Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG

Hassengate MC Dr Colburn SURG

Dr Mukhopadhay PK PRACT Dr Yasin SA PRACT

Acorns SURG Shehadeh MC

Dr Masson KK SURG

Pear Tree SURG

Derry Court Medical PRACT

Medic House

P
age 120



59 

 

 

Table 11: AF and HF patients not receiving interventions, 2014/15 

 

 

  

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

148 731 19 7 32 49 15 2 32 -548 

AF004: In those patients with 

atrial fibrillation whose latest 

record of a CHADS2 score is 

greater than 1, the percentage of 

patients who are currently 

treated with anti-coagulation 

therapy

AF005: In those patients with 

atrial fibrillation in whom there is 

a record of a CHADS2 score of 1, 

the percentage of patients who 

are currently treated with anti-

coagulation drug therapy or anti-

platelet therapy                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

HF002: The percentage of 

patients with a diagnosis of 

heart failure (diagnosed on 

or after 1 April 2006) which 

has been confirmed by an 

echocardiogram or by 

specialist assessment 3 

months before or 12 months 

after entering on to the 

register

HF003: In those patients 

with a current diagnosis of 

heart failure due to left 

ventricular systolic 

dysfunction, the 

percentage of patients who 

are currently treated with 

an ACE-I or ARB

HF004: In those patients 

with a current diagnosis of 

heart failure due to left 

ventricular systolic 

dysfunction who are 

currently treated with an 

ACE-I or ARB, the percentage 

of patients who are 

additionally currently treated 

with a beta-blocker licensed 

for heart failure

P
age 121



60 

 

 

Figure 32: Clinical Management of HF and AF at practice level, 2014/15 

P
age 122



61 

 

 

1.4.5  CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF RESPIRATORY CONDITIONS 

We estimate that there are 3,604 patients with COPD in Thurrock, including 642 who are not yet diagnosed.  

In addition there are 9,441 patients diagnosed with Asthma. 

Of those who are diagnosed the QOF tells us about the quality of their care and how well managed their 

condition is in general.  Specifically for COPD it looks at how diagnoses were confirmed, recording of FEV1, 

records of dyspnoea grade >3 and oxygen saturation and Flu immunisations, and for Asthma, records of 

reversibility, having a review and having a record of smoking status.   

The lists below show which practices are in the lowest quartile for each the COPD indicators by the number 

of indicators for which this is the case. Dr Suntharalingham appears on all of the lists, Chadwell MC and 

Chafford Hundred MC and Aveley MC on 3 lists each, and St Clement HC, Balfour MC, Medic House, Neera 

MC, Sai MC, and Dr Mukhopadhyay Practice all appear on two lists each.  These practices should be 

prioritised for support to improve the number of people for whom an intervention is received. 

Variation in the management of COPD is high, it is concerning that 8 practices have levels of COPD review 

including the MRC dyspnoea scale of less than 74%, three of these practices are below 45%.   

The England average is within the grey boxes for all of the indicators, so practices that we have named as 

outliers compared to Thurrock are also outliers compared to England averages. 

There are large numbers of people who are not receiving an intervention or being exception reported.  This 

equates to a failure of the local health system.  This needs to be reviewed across Thurrock urgently. 

Tble 13 below shows the number of patients who are not receiving a NICE recommended intervention for 

COPD.  A detailed practice level version of the table is shown in appendix X.  These patients (especially 

those from the practices mentioned above) should be identified and reviewed urgently to prevent avoidable 

further ill health. 

The lists below show which practices are in the lowest quartile for each the Asthma indicators by the 

number of indicators for which this is the case. The Sai and Balfour Medical Centres appear on all of the lists.  

Practices on these lists should be prioritised for support to improve quality of care. 

Table 15 below shows the number of patients who are not receiving a NICE recommended intervention for 

Asthma.  A detailed practice level version of the table is shown in appendix X.    In 2014/15, there were in 

total 2550 clinical interventions recommended by NICE that were not offered to patients with Asthma in 

Thurrock. These patients (especially those from the practices mentioned above) should be identified and 

reviewed urgently to prevent avoidable further ill health and unnecessary unplanned care admission. 

There are 2,295 patients in Thurrock who are diagnosed with Asthma but who have not received a review.  

The percentage of patients receiving a review is 60% or less in eight practices and below 50% in three. 

Page 123



62 

 

 

Table 12: Practices in the bottom quartile for COPD indicators, 2014/15 

 

Tble 13: COPD patients not receiving interventions, 2014/15 

 

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for all 4 COPD 

indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 3 of the 4 

COPD indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 2 of the 4 

COPD indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 1 of the 4 

COPD indicators

Dr Suntharalingam R PRACTChadwell MC St Clements HC The Sorrells SURG

Aveley MC Balfour MC  The Grays SURG

Chafford Hundred MC Medic House Ash Tree SURG 

Neera MC Prime Care MC

Sai MC Dr Yasin SA PRACT

 Dr Mukhopadhay PK PRACTDilip Sabnis MC

Chadwell MC  Acorns SURG

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

166 142 248 392 31 70 578 97 

COPD002: The percentage of 

patients with COPD (diagnosed 

on or after 1 April 2011) in 

whom the diagnosis has been 

confirmed by post 

bronchodilator spirometry 

between 3 months before and 

12 months after entering on to 

the register

COPD004: The percentage of 

patients with COPD with a 

record of FEV1 in the preceding 

12 months

COPD005: The percentage of 

patients with COPD and 

Medical Research Council 

dyspnoea grade ≥3 at any 

time in the preceding 12 

months, with a record of 

oxygen saturation value 

within the preceding 12 

months

COPD007: The percentage 

of patients with COPD who 

have had influenza 

immunisation in the 

preceding 1 August to 31 

March

P
age 124



63 

 

 

Table 14: Practices in the bottom quartile for Asthma indicators, 2014/15 

 

Table 15: Asthma patients not receiving interventions, 2014/15 

 

  

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for all 3 Asthma 

indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 2 of the 3 

Asthma indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 1 of the 3 

Asthma indicators

Sai MC Dr Mukhopadhay PK PRACTThe Rigg Milner MC 

Balfour MC Dr Suntharalingam R PRACTSt Clements HC

Purfleet Care Centre  Pear Tree SURG

Neera MC Aveley MC

Chadwell MC  Derry Court Medical PRACT

Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG

Chafford Hundred MC 

Dr Colburn SURG

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception reported

Exceptions
Not received intervention 

or exception reported

85 208 372 2295 4 47 

AST002: The percentage of patients aged 8 or 

over with asthma (diagnosed on or after 1 April 

2006), on the register, with measures of 

variability or reversibility recorded between 3 

months before or anytime after diagnosis

AST003: The percentage of patients with 

asthma, on the register, who have had an 

asthma review in the preceding 12 months that 

includes an assessment of asthma control using 

the 3 RCP questions

AST004: The percentage of patients with asthma 

aged 14 or over and who have not attained the age 

of 20, on the register, in whom there is a record of 

smoking status in the preceding 12 months

P
age 125



64 

 

 

Figure 33: Clinical Management of COPD and Asthma at practice level, 2014/15 

P
age 126



65 

 

 

  MANAGEMENT OF RESPIRATORY CONDITIONS BY NHS COMMUNITY SERVICES 

Data for the year 2014/15 indicates that The North East London Foundation Trust (NELFT) received 286 new 

referrals from Thurrock patients, and discharged 199 patients. The most common reasons for discharge 

were Death (60.8%), Episode of Care complete (17.09%) and Inappropriate Referral (10.05%). 

Variation in referrals to the service by GP is shown below, with referrals shown as a proportion of all patients 

with a MRC score of ≥3 in the preceding 12 months to enable comparison across practices. It is noted 

however that not all patients with COPD would need a new referral every year, so variation could be 

explained in part due to differing numbers of new COPD patients at each practice.  

Practice-level analysis shows that Dr Joseph did not refer any patients to the COPD clinic, and even Dr 

Shehadeh with a relatively large practice list size and number of eligible MRC patients only referred 4, which 

worked out at 2.26%; whilst Acorns and Dr Roy referred 57.14% and 46.15% of their patients with an eligible 

MRC score to the COPD service. The Thurrock mean was 17.51%. Dr Khan was excluded from this analysis 

as he appears to have referred 6 times the number of eligible patients to the service. 

Dr’s Patel, Colburn, Tresidder and Headon could not be included in this analysis as the denominator came 

from Systm One, which these practices are not recording on. 

 
Figure 34: Referrals to COPD clinic as a proportion of all those with an eligible MRC score in the preceding 12 months 

 

Source: NELFT Performance Team and Systm One 

Since April 2015, NELFT have also had responsibility for the Pulmonary Rehabilitation service in Thurrock. 

Between April-December 2015, there were 340 referrals to this service, and variation by practice is again 

shown below as a proportion of those with an MRC score of ≥3 in the preceding 12 months. It is noted that 

this denominator is a proxy for those eligible for the service, as patients must have an MRC score of over 3 

to access this service. Whilst the Thurrock proportion is 21.07%, practice referral rates ranged from 3.85% 

(Dr Bellworthy) to 116.67% (Dr Khan). It is noted that both Dr Khan and Primecare appear to have referred 

more patients to Pulmonary Rehabilitation than were eligible – this is consistent with Dr Khan’s referrals to 

Page 127



66 

 

 

the COPD clinic also. Dr’s Patel, Colburn, Tresidder and Headon could not be included in this analysis as the 

denominator came from Systm One, which these practices are not recording on. 

 

Figure 35: Referrals to Pulmonary Rehab as a proportion of all those with an eligible MRC score in the preceding 12 

months 

 

Source: NELFT Performance Team and Systm One 

Assuming that all patients with an MRC score ≥3 in the preceding 12 months would have been eligible for 

Pulmonary Rehab, it is estimated that there were 1,075 patients who were eligible for Pulmonary Rehab but 

not referred. 

An MRC score is a clinical measure to assess the seriousness of the COPD that an individual patient has.  It 

runs on a scale from 1 to 5 (five being the most serious)..There is a robust evidence base that proactive 

management of COPD within the community including the referral to Pulmonary Rehabilitation for those 

patients who have an MRC score of 3 or more is effective at reducing the likelihood to be admitted as an 

emergency to hospital for COPD, and that their quality of life and a range of clinical biomarkers associated 

with disease progression can be improved as a result of effective Pulmonary Rehabilitation. 

It is therefore extremely concerning that referral rates of patients with COPD with an MRC score of 3+ from 

GP practices in Thurrock are extremely low in many cases, and that the mean referral rate is only 20% of 

patients who could benefit. 

This requires urgent further investigation and action in order to increase referral rates. 

 

  

Page 128



67 

 

 

1.4.6  CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES 

We estimate that there are 10,413 patients with Diabetes in Thurrock, including 2,109 who are not yet 

diagnosed.  

Of those who are diagnosed the QOF tells us about the quality of their care and how well managed their 

condition is in general.  Specifically, for Diabetes it looks at Blood Pressure and cholesterol levels, treatment 

if nephropathy or micro-albuminuria, HBA1c levels, Foot examination with risk classification, referrals into 

structured education and flu vaccinations.   

Table 16 shows which practices are in the lowest quartile for Diabetes indicators by the number of indicators 

for which this is the case.   

The variation in the percentage of patients whose HbA1c is within “acceptable” ranges (<=75mmol/mol) is 

variable across the patch from 53% in Dr Suntharalingham’s practice to 90% in Hassengate Medical Centre.   

Referrals of newly diagnosed patients into education programmes that will give them the tools to manage 

their condition and remain as healthy as possible is low.  We need to review this across Thurrock. 

Table 17 lists all of the NICE recommended clinical interventions that a patient with diabetes should receive 

if they are receiving excellent clinical management of their condition within the community, and identifies 

the number of patients who are not receiving each NICE recommended intervention for Diabetes clinical 

management.  A detailed practice level version of the table is shown in appendix X.   

In total, there were 12,563 NICE recommended clinical interventions that were failed to be carried out by GP 

practices in 2015/16 in relation to patients with diabetes registered to their practices. If patients that were 

excepted reported are excluded because (for example they failed to attend the practice or refused the 

intervention), then GP practice and community health care staff failed to deliver 23% of all clinical 

interventions recommended by NICE for patients with diabetes.   This is extremely concerning and requires 

urgent review to prevent both avoidable further ill-health and unnecessary cost caused by emergency 

hospital admissions

Page 129



68 

 

 

Table 16: Practices in the bottom quartile for Diabetes indicators, 2014/15 

 

Table 17: Patients not receiving Diabetes interventions, 2014/15 

 

 

 

 

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for all 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 9 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 7 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 6 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 5 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 4 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 3 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 2 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Practices in the Bottom 

quartile for 1 of the 10 

Diabetes indicators

Dr Mukhopadhay PK PRACTr Suntharalingham Chadwell MC  Medic House Dr Masson KK SURG Balfour MC Neera MC Purfleet Care Centre  Aveley MC

Pear Tree SURG St Clements HC Dr Colburn SURG The Dell MC 

Thurrock HC Sai MC Dr Headon OT PRACT The Grays SURG

Chafford Hundred MC  Dr Yasin SA PRACT Ash Tree SURG 

Dilip Sabnis MC  Acorns SURG

East Thurrock Road MC

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention 

or exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention 

or exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention 

or exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention 

or exception 

reported

235 750 442 1,735 720 1,774 120 280 676 2,562 592 2,020

DM003: The percentage of 

patients with diabetes, on the 

register, in whom the last 

blood pressure reading 

(measured in the preceding 12 

months) is 140/80 mmHg or 

less

DM004: The percentage 

of patients with diabetes, 

on the register, whose 

last measured total 

cholesterol (measured 

within the preceding 12 

months) is 5 mmol/l or 

less

DM006: The percentage 

of patients with diabetes, 

on the register, with a 

diagnosis of 

nephropathy (clinical 

proteinuria) or micro-

albuminuria who are 

currently treated with an 

ACE-I (or ARBs)

DM008: The percentage of 

patients with diabetes, on 

the register, in whom the 

last IFCC-HbA1c is 64 

mmol/mol or less in the 

preceding 12 months

DM007: The percentage 

of patients with diabetes, 

on the register, in whom 

the last IFCC-HbA1c is 59 

mmol/mol or less in the 

preceding 12 months

DM002: The percentage of 

patients with diabetes, on the 

register, in whom the last blood 

pressure reading (measured in 

the preceding 12 months) is 

150/90 mmHg or less

P
age 130



69 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception reported

Exceptions

Not received 

intervention or 

exception 

reported

483 1,304 394 928 144 49 1,797 460

DM014: The percentage of patients 

newly diagnosed with diabetes, on the 

register, in the preceding 1 April to 31 

March who have a record of being 

referred to a structured education 

programme within 9 months after entry 

on to the diabetes register

DM018: The percentage of patients 

with diabetes, on the register, who 

have had influenza immunisation in 

the preceding 1 August to 31 March

DM009: The percentage of 

patients with diabetes, on 

the register, in whom the 

last IFCC-HbA1c is 75 

mmol/mol or less in the 

preceding 12 months

DM012: The percentage of patients with 

diabetes, on the register, with a record 

of a foot examination and risk 

classification: 1) low risk (normal 

sensation, palpable pulses), 2) 

increased risk (neuropathy or absent 

pulses), 3) high risk (neuropathy or 

absent pulses plus deformity or skin 

changes in previous ulcer) or 4) 

ulcerated foot within the preceding 12 

months

P
age 131



70 

 

 

Figure 36: Clinical Management of Diabetes at practice level, 2014/15 

P
age 132



71 

 

 

1.4.6.1 CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF DIABETES BY NHS COMMUNITY SERVICES 

Data for the year 2014/15 indicates that NELFT received 653 new referrals from Thurrock patients, and held 

1,874 active episodes. Of the 1,567 discharges, the most common reasons were No Contact from Patient 

(40.4%), Referral back to GP (29.36%) and Completion of Structured Education (10.85%). 

The figure below shows variation in the active referrals for episodes of care in 2014/15 as a proportion of 

those with Diabetes. It can be seen that whilst the Thurrock proportion is 22.90%, the variation ranges from 

2.04% in Dr Mukhopadhyay’s practice to 44.76% of Thurrock Health Centre. However some caution should 

be taken with this, as it is unknown whether each referral equates to one patient, so it could be that some 

patients have more than one episode of care within the year. 

 

Source: NELFT Performance team 

The NELFT structured education course offered to those newly diagnosed with type 2 diabetes is called 

SWEET (South West Essex Education and Training) Basics. This was previously run as the DESMOND course, 

but was redesigned in order to reduce costs and be more flexible with the contents and outcomes. NELFT 

have reported several benefits since the new SWEET Basics course has begun, including increased patients 

(414 in Jan-June 2016 for SWEET across Thurrock and Basildon and Brentwood, compared to 265 in Jan-

June 2015 for DESMOND), a larger HbA1c reduction (9.6% vs 10.7% for SWEET and DESMOND 

respectively), and a smoother referrals process into their other SWEET Diabetes courses (e.g. their Diabetes 

Advanced programmes), as well as reduced costs due to the programme being able to use free materials 

from Diabetes UK and customised handouts. 

  

0.00%
5.00%

10.00%
15.00%
20.00%
25.00%
30.00%
35.00%
40.00%
45.00%
50.00%

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 

Active Episodes for NELFT Diabetes Clinic 2014/15, as a proportion 
of all Diabetes patients 

% of all Diabetes QOF patients who have an active case Thurrock

Page 133



72 

 

 

1.4.7  CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF MSK CONDITIONS 

There are 111 patients on GP registers for Osteoporosis and a further 1131 for rheumatoid arthritis. 

For Osteoporosis there are two indicators included on the QOF.  The first is regarding the appropriate 

confirmation of diagnosis using a DEXA scan.  It appears that practices are either doing this well or not at 

all.  Most of the practices in Thurrock either score 100% or zero. 

The second indicator is regarding the treatment with an appropriate bone sparing agent.  Again it appears 

that those practices who are confirming diagnosis appropriately are generally doing this well (100%) and 

those who are not confirming are also either not diagnosing the condition at all or not treating it.  In either 

case the following practices should review their diagnosis and/or treatment protocols of patients between 

50 and 75 with a fragility fracture: 

 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 

 Dilip Sabnis MC  

 Acorns SURG 

 Thurrock HC 

 East Thurrock Road MC 

 Chadwell MC  

 Dr Suntharalingam R PRACT 

 Balfour MC 

 Ash Tree SURG 

 The Sorrells SURG 

 Sai MC 

 Dr Mukhopadhyay PK PRACT 

For patients diagnosed with rheumatoid arthritis there is only one indicator on the QOF, this is that they 

should have a face to face review every 12 months.  There is more variation in this indicator but it is skewed 

towards the upper end with 75% of our practices scoring 80% or over.  However, The Dell Medical Centre, 

Dr Suntharalingam’s practice, Pear Tree Surgery, Purfleet Care Centre, Dr Mukhopadhyay’s practice, and the 

Sai Medical Centre all scored below 70% (69%, 68%, 58%, 53%, 18%, and 0% respectively).  Of these only 

the Purfleet care centre had a high rate of exception reporting (41%), they excepted 7 out of 17 patients 

with Rheumatoid arthritis.  Between them these practices have 53 patients on their registers who have 

rheumatoid arthritis who did not receive a face to face review and who were not exception reported.  18 of 

those 53 were from Dr Mukhopadhyay’s practice. 

Good clinical management of MSK patients is particularly important in Thurrock as MSK conditions, 

particularly arthritis and osteoporosis have been identified as the most common underlying clinical diagnosis 

prior to entry into adult social care. 

 

 

 

Page 134



73 

 

 

Figure 37: Clinical Management of Osteoporosis at practice level, 2014/15 

 

P
age 135



74 

 

 

 CONCLUSIONS: OVERALL CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF LONG TERM 1.5 

CONDITIONS 

Below is a list of the worst performing practices overall.  We display the number of times each of these 

practices appears in the lowest quartile out of the 34 QOF indicators displayed above (excluding MSK 

conditions). 

Table 18: Practices appearing in bottom quartile across the most QOF indicators 2014/15 

 

Number of times appear in bottom 

quartile  (out of 34) 

Dr Mukhopadhyay PK PRACT 28 

Dr Suntharalingam R PRACT 24 

Chadwell MC 20 

Sai MC 18 

Balfour MC 16 

Aveley MC 15 

Neera MC 15 

Pear Tree SURG 14 

Medic House 13 

Dr Masson KK SURG 12 

St Clements HC 12 

Purfleet Care Centre 10 

 

These practices closely correlate to those who the CQC have found to be “poor” or “needs improvement”.  

We would suggest that these are the priority practices that need support to improve either: 

1) The quality of care they are offering patients 

2) Uptake of interventions by patients.

Page 136



75 

 

 

1.5.1  REVIEW OF MANAGEMENT OF RESPIRATORY AND DIABETES CARE ACROSS THURROCK 

Care of patients with respiratory conditions needs an urgent review.  There are too many patients who are 

not receiving appropriate interventions or being referred to community support, things which could prevent 

exacerbations and so unplanned care. 

 

1.5.2  IMPROVE REFERRALS TO COMMUNITY TEAMS 

Feedback from NELFT indicate that for Diabetes, improvements could be made to referral numbers from 

GPs, as well as better understanding of why some people who are referred don’t attend. The data we have 

shown demonstrates a large amount of variation in referral rates between practices. 

There is also variation between practice level referral rates for the COPD team. 

1.6 RECOMMENDATIONS: IMPROVING THE OVERALL CLINICAL MANAGEMENT OF 

LONG TERM CONDITIONS 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

Improve the clinical 

management of patients 

with Stroke/TIA, in order to 

reduce their risk of them 

experiencing further strokes  

 

- Ensure that all patients on 

stroke TIA registers have their 

blood pressure measured in the 

previous 12 months and 

controlled to 150/90mmHg or 

less.  

 

In 2014/15 there were 337 

patients on GP practice 

stroke/TIA registers with 

uncontrolled blood pressure. 

The new Healthcare PH Programme Managers should work with 

GP practices to assist them to identify patients who have not 

received the three clinical interventions detailed in the previous 

column, by producing and publishing SystmOne reports if 

necessary. 

- Ensure that all patients with a 

previous non-haemorrhagic 

stroke or history of TIA, have 

been prescribed an anti-

coagulate or anti-platelet agent, 

unless there is a clinical contra-

indication  

 

In 2014/15 there were 106 

patients on stroke/TIA register 

that should have been offered 

anti-coagulant or anti-platelet 

medication and were not. 

Practices should call all identified patients in for urgent review 

and offer the intervention or exception report them 

 

Out of 2502 patients on GP practice stroke registers, a total of 

586 clinical interventions recommended as best practice by NICE 

in order to manage their condition were failed to be provided by 

the GP practice or NHS Community provider even after patients 

who had been ‘exception reported’ were discounted.  This is 

extremely concerning as it suggests that such patients are being 

put a unnecessary risks of further strokes, with potentially 

catastrophic effects for them personally, and unnecessary 

financial pressure through secondary health care and adult social 

care costs that could be avoided. 

 

This warrants further urgent investigation and action. 

- Ensure that all patients on the 

GP practice stroke/TIA register 

have been offered and are 

encouraged to have an 

influenza vaccination 

 

- In 2014/15 there were 106 

patients on stroke/TIA register 

that should have been offered 

anti-coagulant or anti-platelet 

medication and were not. 

The following GP practices perform worst in delivering Stroke LTC 

management compared to their peers in Thurrock and support 

towards them should be prioritised: 

 

- Dr. Mukhopadhay 

- Aveley MC 

- Pear Tree Surgery 

- Chadwell MC 

- Sai MC 

- Neera MC 

- Dr. Yassin 

- St. Clements HC 

Page 137



76 

 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

- Acorns Surgery 

- Ash Tree Surgery 

- Dr. Masson 

-  

Improved clinical 

management of patients 

with Hypertension (high 

blood pressure) in order to 

prevent more serious 

Cardio-Vascular events. 

 

 

 

 

 

- Increase the percentage of 

patients diagnosed with 

hypertension that have their 

blood pressure controlled to 

150/90 mmHg. 

 

In 2014/15 there were 3899 

patients with Thurrock with a 

diagnosis of blood pressure 

above this level 

The new Healthcare PH Programme Managers should work with 

GP practices to assist them to identify patients with uncontrolled 

blood pressure by producing and publishing SystmOne  

 

 

Public Health should undertake a deep dive in the issue of 

Hypertension and assess clinical/ prescribing behaviour of GP 

practices against NICE Guidelines CG127, making 

recommendations to share best practice where appropriate. 

 

GP practices should urgently review all patients with uncontrolled 

hypertension. 

 

A metric on the management of hypertension should be included 

on the LTC GP practice scorecard to encourage sharing of best 

practice between local GP practices and clinicians 

Improve the clinical 

management of patients 

diagnosed with CHD in 

order to prevent further 

serious Cardio-Vascular 

events. 

- Ensure the maximum possible 

number of patients diagnosed 

with CHD their blood pressure 

controlled to a level at 

150/90mmHG or less.  In 

2014/15, 423 patients with CHD 

had uncontrolled blood 

pressure, nor had been 

execption reported. 

Implement all previous recommendations on all clinical 

management of patients with hypertension 

- Ensure that all patients with 

CHD have been offered and 

encouraged to take an anti-

coagulant or anti-platelet 

therapy in the previous 12 

months,.  In 2014/15, this did 

not occur in 304 patients 

 

- Ensure that all patients a history 

of Myocardial Infarction are 

treated with an ACE-1, ARB (if 

ACEC-I intolerant), aspirin or an 

alternative anti-platelet therapy.    

In 2014/15, this did not occur in 

2-patients 

The new Healthcare PH Programme Managers should work with 

GP practices to assist them to identify these cohorts of patients, if 

necessary by creating and publishing SystmOne reports. 

 

GP practices should urgently invite these cohorts of patients in 

for clinical review 

 

The following GP practices perform the most poorly in terms of 

their long term clinical management of patients with CHD.  Public 

Health should prioritise support for them: 

- Dr. Suntharalingham 

- Dr. Mukhopadhay 

- Aveley MC 

- Chadwell MC 

- Medic House 

- Pear Tree Surgery 

- Balfour MC 

- Ash Tree Surgery 

 

Improve the Clinical 

Management of patients 

diagnosed with Atrial 

Fibrillation in order to 

prevent more serious 

Cardio-Vascular Events, 

particularly strokes. 

- Ensure that all patients 

diagnosed with AF are regularly 

assessed for stroke risk using a 

CHAD2 score assessment tool 

Ensure that all patients diagnosed with AF are regularly assessed 

for stroke risk using a CHAD2 score assessment tool 

- Ensure that all patients with a 

CHAD2 score of 1 are treated 

with an anti-platelet or anti-

coagulation therapy, and that 

those with a CHAD2 score 

greater than one are treated 

with an anti-coagulation 

therapy.   

GP practices to urgent identify and review all patients with AF 

who require anti-coagulation or anti-platelet medication and 

have not been prescribed it, nor exception reported.   In 2014/15, 

this 738 patients in 2014/15 putting them at unnecessarily very 

high risk of a stroke and is wholly unacceptable clinical practice. 

 

Treatment with appropriate anti-coagulation of AF patients with a 

CHAD2 score>1 to be added to the LTC Management Scorecard 

and monitored closely through by the Thurrock Health and 

Wellbeing Board and CCG Clinical Executive/Board. 

 

Page 138



77 

 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

From 2014/15 QOF data, the following GP practices’ 

performance falls within the bottom quartile of performance in 

the clinical management of patients with AF across England, and 

may require immediate support to improve: 

 

- Dr. Mukhopadhay 

- Dr. Headon 

- Dr. Masson 

- Medic House 

- St. Clements Health Centre 

- Balfour MC 

- Aveley Medical Centre 

- Primecare MC 

- Hassengate MC 

- Acorns SURG 

 

Improved Clinical 

Management of Respiratory 

Conditions by Primary and 

Community Healthcare 

Services in order to prevent 

or delay disease 

progression and  avoid 

acute exacerbations  

- Improve the monitoring of 

disease progression of patients 

with COPD and asthma  such 

that appropriate clinical 

interventions can be provided 

when necessary 

- GP practices to review all patients with COPD at least once per 

annum and record an FEV1 score 

 

- GP practices to review all patients with asthma annually, 

including an assessment of asthma control using the 3 RCP 

questions.   In 2014/15, this intervention was not carried out for 

2295 patients with asthma. 

 

- GP practices and/or NELFT Community Respiratory Team to 

measure and record oxygen saturation value annually for all 

patients with an MRC score of 3 or greater. 

- Reduce the risk of influenza in 

patients with COPD 

- Increase influenza vaccination coverage uptake in this cohort of 

patients through proactive invitation by GP practices and wider 

communications and media work by Public Health. 

- Improve clinical management 

of COPD within the 

community by ensuring 

appropriate referral and 

management of those 

patients with more serious 

COPD progression to the 

NELFT Community 

Respiratory Team 

- Fewer than 20% of patients with COPD and an MRC score of 3+ 

are referred to the NELFT Community Respiratory Team., nor 

receive a referral to Pulmonary Rehabilitation.  Both of these 

interventions have been shown to reduce exacerbations of 

COPD and improve patient outcomes.  From April to December 

2015 1,075 patients with COPD who were eligible for Pulmonary 

Rehabilitation were not referred. This requires urgent further 

investigation to ascertain reasons for low referral rates and 

increase these. 

-  

- Promote ‘self-care’ in patients 

with COPD 

There is a strong evidence base that patients with respiratory 

disease who undertake structured education programmes in 

terms of ‘self-care’ have significantly better outcomes.   Public 

Health should work with our local CVS, Healthwatch and PPGs or 

more widely with the third sector to integrate referral of patients 

to existing community support groups into care clinical care 

pathways, and to assist such groups to develop patient education 

programmes. 

Improved Clinical 

Management of Diabetes 

by Primary and Community 

Healthcare Services in order 

to prevent or delay disease 

progression and  avoid 

acute exacerbations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ensure that all patients diagnosed 

with diabetes that are not 

exception reported, receive the 10 

clinical interventions 

recommended by NICE within 

Primary and/or community care. 

(see table 16) 

12,563 NICE recommended clinical interventions that were failed 

to be carried out by GP practices in 2015/16 in relation to 

patients with diabetes registered to their practices. If patients that 

were excepted reported are excluded because (for example they 

failed to attend the practice or refused the intervention), then GP 

practice and community health care staff failed to deliver 23% of 

all clinical interventions recommended by NICE for patients with 

diabetes.   This is extremely concerning and requires urgent 

review to prevent both avoidable further ill-health and 

unnecessary cost caused by emergency hospital admissions. 

 

Healthcare Public Health Programme Managers should assist GP 

practices to identify and call for review, patients with diabetes 

who are not receiving all recommended interventions, by 

producing and publishing SystmOne reports. 

Page 139



78 

 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

 

Variation between GP practices on the 10 clinical indicators 

relating to diabetes clinical management in Primary Care is so 

concerning that it is recommended at Public Health undertake a 

Diabetes ‘Deep Dive” to further investigate the reasons for the 

current situation and make more detailed recommendations for 

improvement. Deep Dive to be brought back to the Thurrock 

Health and Wellbeing Board and NHS CCG Clinical Executive 

Group/Board for further discussion once complete. 

Promote ‘self-care’ in patients 

with diabetes 

The NELFT structured education course offered to those newly 

diagnosed with type 2 diabetes is called SWEET (South West 

Essex Education and Training) Basics.  There is a strong evidence 

base in terms of better outcomes for patients with diabetes that 

undergo patient education and NELFT report, a larger HbA1c 

reduction in patients undergoing this course.  The Healthcare PH 

Programme Managers should work with NELFT, Healthwatch and 

GP practices to encourage further uptake of this course amongst 

patients. 

 

 

 

  

Page 140



79 

 

 

Section 2  A&E ATTENDANCES 

 INTRODUCTION 2.1 

A&E attendances both locally and nationally are increasing at an unsustainable rate, both financially (as it 

costs more to treat patients with less serious clinical conditions in A&E) than in other community settings, 

and operationally, as treating with minor illnesses in A&E divert staff resource away from those who are 

genuine emergencies. 

Figure 38shows the exponential growth in numbers of patients attending A&E at Basildon Hospital over the 

last six years. 

Figure 38: Growth in A&E Attendances at Basildon Hospital 

 

 

 INAPPROPRIATE A & E ATTENDANCES 2.2 

 

Whilst there are undoubtedly occasions where A&E is the most appropriate place for a patient to access 

care, this report contends that a significant number of A&E attendances are inappropriate and that A&E is 

often accessed by patients who have suffered neither an accident, nor have a medical emergency. We have 

classified two levels of inappropriate attendances.  The first are those who received no significant 

investigation or treatment.  We feel that the vast majority of these attendances did not require medical 

attention at all.  The second is those who received low level interventions and/or treatments. (as defined as 

a ‘category 1 investigation with cat 1-2 treatment’ or a ‘category 2 investigation with category 1 treatment’ 

within Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) data). Examples of a Category 1 investigation include blood tests or 

urinalysis, and a category 1-2 treatment; a dressing change or ***). Previous analyses has lead us to the 

conclusion that a significant amount of this activity could be seen and dealt with in a primary care setting if 

facilities and capacity were available. [Figure 39]. 

In 2014/15 there were 59,675 

A&E attendances for patients 

registered to Thurrock practices.  

The total cost of this was almost 

£6M. (Figure 39) 

Page 141



80 

 

 

Of the 59,675 attendances in 2014/15 24,424 (41%) fell into the first of these categories.  That is that they 

did not require medical attention at all. These A&E attendances cost a total of £1.6M (an average of £65.62 

per attendance).  [Figure 39] Almost 2.5% of these (608) used an ambulance to get to A&E. 

Of the 59,675 attendances in 2014/15 25,652 (42%) fell into the second of these categories.  That is that 

they could have been seen and treated elsewhere had facilities been available, these cost a total of £2.8M 

(an average of £111.22 per attendance). [Figure 39].  Incredibly, 27% of these (6,991) used an ambulance to 

get to A&E. 

Figure 39: A&E attendances and costs by category, 2014/15 

 

 

  

Page 142



81 

 

 

Figure 40 shows that the percentage of ambulance conveyances that are for inappropriate A&E attendances 

reduces with age.  Especially the percentage who do not require medical attention. 

  

Page 143



82 

 

 

Figure 40: A&E Attendances conveyed by ambulance by age group and category, 2014/15 

 

What is interesting is that use of ambulance to convey patients requiring either no investigation nor 

treatment, or the most minor type of investigation and treatment drops markedly as the patient age 

increases.   Almost 70% of babies/infants aged 0 to 5 conveyed by ambulance to A&E required either no 

investigation/treatment or the most minor types of investigation/treatment.  Conversely, only 2% of those 

aged 75+ conveyed by ambulance were assessed into these two categories, suggesting that older people 

are using ambulances in a much more responsible way than parents of babies and toddlers.   This in turn 

suggests that both better triage by ambulance service dispatchers for patients aged 0 to 5 and potentially 

stronger triage at the door of A&E that deflect patients away from A&E and prevent them using this setting 

to obtain treatment for non-emergency clinical issues is required.   With regard to inappropriate use by (the 

parents) of patients aged 0 to 5, better use of Health Visitors within the new 0 to 19 care pathway as an 

education resource for parents in terms of appropriate and inappropriate A&E usage may also be required.  

  

Page 144



83 

 

 

Figure 41 shows the rates of inappropriate attendances by GP practice (2014/15).  College health (previously 

known as Dr Suntharalingams practices and referred to as this throughout the report) had the highest total 

inappropriate attendance rate, this is closely followed by Medic House, Chadwell Medical Centre and Dilip 

Medical Centre.  Chafford Hundred Medical Centre has the lowest rate.  Levels of variation in the two 

definitions are high.  The remainder of this chapter looks at the possible causes for variation in inappropriate 

attendance through the use of statistical modelling techniques and also at falls as a cause of A&E 

attendances that could be avoided. 

  

Page 145



84 

 

 

Figure 41: Rate of inappropriate A&E attendances by practice, 2014/15 

 

We built two models for this section.  For the first the outcome variable was the number of A&E attendances 

for which no investigation and no significant treatment was given. i.e. most of the attendances didn’t really 

need medical attention at all. The second for those who had a category 1 investigation with a category 1 or 

2 treatment or a category 2 investigation with a category 1 treatment. i.e. low levels of medical attention 

were required and a large proportion of these could have been dealt with in a primary care setting if one 

were available at the time. 

Figure 42 shows all of the variables that were originally hypothesised as having an impact on inappropriate 

A&E use and (in orange) those that were included in the final model as analyses showed them to be having 

the largest impacts. 

Figure 42: Variables hypothesised to impact on inappropriate A&E attendances 

 

Page 146



85 

 

 

Note – we have no variables looking at opening times of GP practice. Work for the WEL area of London has 

suggested that this has an impact.  We did not have this data available but plan to re-run the models when 

we do to see if this is having an effect in our area. 

Final Models included: 

1. Population Size 

2. Distance (miles) of practice from nearest A & E department 

3. CCG of practice 

Table 19: Model 1: A&E attendances receiving no investigation and no significant treatment 

 

Table 20: Model 2:A & E attendances receiving low level investigations and/or treatments 

 

Model 1 explains 76% of the variation in attendances requiring no investigation and no significant 

treatment.  It suggests that for these attendances, for which a large proportion does not have a need for 

medical attention, convenience (in the way of closeness) is the largest factor. For every mile further away 

from A&E there are 6 fewer attendances of this type every 3 years.  In Thurrock the closest practice to an 

A&E department is 3.3 miles away and the furthest away is 13.4 miles away, If these practices were both of 

an average size we would expect a difference of 20 attendances of this type per year.   If we reduced the 

number of attendances in all practices in Thurrock to be in line with that of the furthest away from A&E 

(adjusting for practice list size) we would expect 884 fewer attendances of this type number costing £58,000. 

Converting this into an annual reduction, this could result in 294 fewer attendances per year with a cost 

saving of £19,000.  

Model 2 explains 72 % of the variation in attendances requiring category 1 investigation with a category 1 

or 2 treatment or a category 2 investigation with a category 1 treatment. i.e. low levels of medical attention 

were required.  Other than population size, the CCG that a practice belongs to is the main predictor of 

activity of this type. An average practice in Thurrock will have 2257 more attendances of this type over 3 

years compared to an average practice in Mid Essex.  

CCG is a proxy measure for services that are commissioned at a CCG level or common cultural or 

environmental factors that may affect practices in that area.  

Variable

Linear 

Regression 

Coefficient 95% CI Interpretation

Registered Population Size 0.06 (0.05, 0.06)

For each extra person registered at a practice the number of attendances in 

a 3 year period would be expected to rise by 0.056

Distance of practice from closest A&E department -6.18 (-8.60, -3.77)

For each additional mile a GP practice is located from A&E (proxy for 

distance patient has to travel) a reduction of 6 attendances is expected over 

a 3 year period

_cons -6.06 (-34.94, 22.83) In this model this is the average number of attendances if everything else 

Variable

Linear 

Regression 

Coefficient 95% CI Interpretation

Registered Population Size 0.03 (0.03, 0.04)

For each extra person registered at a practice the number of A&E 

attendances in a 3 year period would be expected to rise by 0.034

NHS Mid Essex CCG Lowest number of attendances so used as baseline

NHS Basildon and Brentwood CCG 748.01 (663.46, 832.56)

On average a practice in this CCG has around 748 more attendances in a 3 

year period compared to Mid Essex CCG

NHS Castlepoint and Rochford CCG 114.30 (19.80, 208.80)

On average a practice in this CCG has around 114 more attendances in a 3 

year period compared to Mid Essex CCG

NHS Southend CCG 162.36 (68.14, 256.58)

On average a practice in this CCG has around 162 more attendances in a 3 

year period compared to Mid Essex CCG

NHS Thurrock CCG 2257.24 (2,157.30, 2,357.17)

On average a practice in this CCG has around 2257 more attendances in a 3 

year period compared to Mid Essex CCG

_cons -449.00 (-536.16, -361.84)

In this model the constant is the average number of attendances over a 3 

year period for practices in Mid Essex CCG if everything else were 0.

Page 147



86 

 

 

It is an interesting finding that practices in the Mid Essex area have, on average, a much lower number of 

this type of attendance than Thurrock and Brentwood and Basildon CCG’s.  The authors are aware of extra-

ordinary efforts to deflect patients from A&E in the mid Essex area through the use of a robust triage 

system.  

Reducing the number of these attendances to be in line with those of Mid Essex CCG would lead to a 

reduction of 24,074 A & E attendances and a cost saving of £2,696,288.  

Given the impact of CCG in the model we should consider the use of more sophisticated hierarchical multi-

level modelling techniques to re-assess some of the other variables again.  Restrictions of time did not allow 

this for the current report. 

A further way of looking at the financial opportunity of A&E inappropriate attendance reduction would be 

to consider the excess cost of seeing and treating every patient who attended A&E from Thurrock who 

received no significant medical investigation nor treatment at an average cost of £65.62, and every patient 

seen and treated for a category 1 investigation and either category 1-2 treatment, at an average cost of 

£121.22, and comparing the total cost with that of treating them in a Primary Care setting (should future 

capacity be available), at an average cost of £31.50. Figure 43 demonstrates this. 

Figure 43 Financial Opportunity of Shifting Non emergency A&E attendances to Primary Care 

Category of A&E 

attendance 

Number of 

A&E 

Attendances 

from 

Thurrock 

patients 

(2014/15) 

Average 

cost of 

A&E 

attendance 

per patient  

Total cost of 

treatment in A&E 

Estimated cost of 

the same treatment 

in a Primary or 

Community Care 

setting at £31.50 

per patient 

NET Excess cost of 

treating patients in A&E 

compared to 

Primary/Community 

Care 

No investigation 

and no treatment 

24,409 £65.62 £1,601,718.58 £768,883.50 £832,835.08 

Cat 1 Investigation 

with Cat 1-2 

treatment 

7636 £121.22 £925,635.92 £240,534 £685,101.92 

TOTALS     £1,517,937.00 

 

Shifting treatment of patients attending A&E inappropriately to a Primary/Community Care setting would 

save £1.518M per annum net. 

 

 A&E ATTENDANCES DUE TO FALLS 2.3 

In 2014/15 there were 947 A&E attendances from patients over the age of 65 for: dislocations, fractures, 

joint injuries, sprains, contusions and abrasions, and head injuries (Total cost £120,704).  447 of who were 

brought in by ambulance.  179 of those having an A&E attendance were admitted to hospital and 202 were 

referred to a fracture clinic. 

Dislocations, fractures, joint injuries and sprains were the second most common reason for an A&E 

attendance in this cohort, forming 12.3% of all attendances (629 attendances),  also in the top ten was head 

injuries (3.5% of all attendances, 193 attendances). 

 

Page 148



87 

 

 

Figure 44: Top 10 A&E diagnoses to patients 65+ - proportion. 2014/15 

 

Figure 45: Top 10 A&E diagnoses to patients aged 65+ - number, 2014/15 

 

 

  

Page 149



88 

 

 

 

 KEY CONCLUSIONS  2.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 A&E attendances both locally and nationally are increasing at an unsustainable rate, both 

financially (as it costs more to treat patients with less serious clinical conditions in A&E) 

than in other community settings, and operationally, as treating with minor illnesses in 

A&E divert staff resource away from those who are genuine emergencies.  A&E 

attendances from Thurrock patients in 2014/15 cost approximately £6M 

 

 Potentially 83% of attendances at A&E by Thurrock patients could be deemed 

‘inappropriate’ in the sense that they were for conditions that required very minor 

investigation or treatment.  41% of all patients attending A&E in 2014-15 had conditions 

that were so minor that they required no investigation nor treatment, yet 27% of these 

patients called an ambulance to transport them to A&E. 

 

 Ambulances used to convey patients to A&E who were subsequently found to require 

neither investigation nor treatment were most likely to be used by parents of babies of 

young children aged 0 to 5.  Those aged 75+ that used ambulances to convey them to 

A&E were almost never found to need no investigation nor treatment. 

 

 Treating the 83% of A&E attendances in the above two categories in Community or 

Primary Care settings would deliver NET system saving of £1.518M per annum 

 

 Key variables likely to increase inappropriate A&E attendances were living nearer to A&E 

and not living in the Mid Essex CCG Area 

 

 Reducing inappropriate A&E attendances in our own population to rates experienced 

within the population of Mid Essex CCG would lead to a reduction of 24,074 A & E 

attendances and a cost saving of £2,696,288.   

 

Page 150



89 

 

 

 RECOMMENDATIONS – A&E ATTENDANCES 2.5 

 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

Reduction of A&E 

attendances from patients 

that do not require 

emergency acute care 

Divert patients triaged as requiring 

no investigation or treatment or 

minor investigation and treatment 

into more appropriate community 

and Primary Care settings 

- Investigate commissioning/provider strategy at Mid Essex 

CCG to ascertain why rates of A&E usage from this 

population is so significantly lower than other areas in the 

STP foot print 

- Significantly increase Primary / Community Care Capacity 

in Thurrock including better skills mix of staff with GP 

surgeries, improved diagnostics as set out in section *** of 

this report 

- Expedite building of the four Integrated Healthy Living 

Centres for Purfleet, Tilbury, Grays and Corringham 

- Improve front door triage at A&E at Basildon Hospital to 

assess and deflect patients with minor conditions from 

being able to accessing A&E services 

- Undertake further analyses of the interface between A&E 

and the Essex Ambulance Service with a view to 

understanding and recommending appropriate actions to 

prevent inappropriate A&E conveyances by ambulance. 

 

  

Page 151



90 

 

 

Section 3  EMERGENCY HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS  

 INTRODUCTION 3.1 

 

Chronic diseases are now the most common cause of death and disability in England. More than 15 million 

people have a long-term condition such as hypertension, depression, asthma, diabetes, coronary heart 

disease, chronic kidney disease, or other health problem or disability for which there is no cure.  Patients 

with chronic diseases tend to be heavy users of health care resources, accounting for at least 50 per cent of 

all general practitioner (GP) appointments, 64 per cent of outpatient appointments and 70 per cent of all 

inpatient bed days (Department of Health 2012a). Special analysis of ‘Social Care at the End of Life’ project 

data indicates that an estimated 18 per cent of people with long-term conditions are in receipt of state-

funded social care (T Georghiou, personal communication 2013), and a small proportion of those with the 

most disabling or complex conditions (fewer than 1 per cent of the total) receive NHS Continuing Care 

support and are currently eligible for personal health budgets (Department of Health 2013). 

We hypothesise that inadequate primary care and community health care quality and access is impacting 

negatively on secondary care activity and social care activity. In this section we explore which elements of 

primary care have the biggest impact on the secondary healthcare and social care system in order to 

identify those factors which we should prioritise for change.   We have done this by building a series of 

regression models. A multiple regression model is a statistical technique that allows us to identify the extent 

to which a series of possible variables (in this case in Primary Care) are impacting on a specific outcome (in 

this case an emergency hospital admission for a specific condition).  We have built for regression models 

using GP practice level data to predict 

1) Stroke non-elective (emergency) hospital admissions 

2) Inappropriate A&E use 

3) Respiratory non-elective (emergency) hospital admissions 

4) CHD and HF non-elective (emergency) hospital admissions 

One further model is planned for Diabetes, however we currently await updated data on the expected 

prevalence levels for this condition.  An update will be issued when this work has been completed. 

Some of the factors will be common to multiple models, as such, an excel tool which links the models 

together to look at the total impact of each factor will be produced following this report. This will enable 

scenario models to be applied which will allow us to estimate the impacts of change  

Detailed statistical methodology will be published within the excel tool. 

The variation in all the factors having the largest impact is then explored and evidence from the literature 

applied to see what we can do to reduce levels of hospital activity. 

Long Term Conditions – from 

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/delivering-better-services-for-people-

with-long-term-conditions.pdf  

Page 152

http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/delivering-better-services-for-people-with-long-term-conditions.pdf
http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/files/kf/field/field_publication_file/delivering-better-services-for-people-with-long-term-conditions.pdf


91 

 

 

 EMERGENCY ADMISSIONS FROM CONDITIONS AMENABLE TO HEALTHCARE 3.2 

Conditions Amenable to Healthcare, also known as Ambulatory Care Sensitive (ACS) Conditions are chronic 

conditions for which it is possible to prevent acute exacerbations and reduce the need for hospital 

admission through active management, such as vaccination; better self-management, disease management 

or case management; or lifestyle interventions.  Examples would include COPD, Diabetes and Heart Failure 

3.2.1  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING? 

In 2015/16 there were 3,869 admissions deemed as amenable to healthcare. This was a reduction from the 

numbers seen in the previous two years (4549 and 3949 in 2013/14 and 2014/15 respectively). When 

viewing these admissions by GP practice, there is considerable variation. g to their new practice. 

Figure 46 shows Admissions Amenable to Healthcare by GP practice, and it can be seen that GP practices 

such as Purfleet Care Centre, Dr Patel, Thurrock Health Centre and Chadwell Medical Centre have rates of 

admissions that are significantly above the Thurrock mean. Dr Mukhopadhyay has the lowest rate (1616.4 

per 100,000) – however it should be noted that his surgery closed prior to this year starting and this could 

simply be recording error or a delay in his patients transferring to their new practice. 

Figure 46: DSR of Emergency Admissions Amenable to Healthcare by GP 

 

Source: North East London CSU 

When viewing the categories of admission, it can be seen that the largest number (577) were due to 

respiratory conditions, followed by Diabetes Complications (550), Nephritis and UTIs (480) and Vaccine-

preventable (472). [The acronym OIS after each category corresponds to the indicator in the national CCG 

Outcomes Indicator Set, as some are measured under indicator 2.6 (chronic conditions), 2.8 (diabetes 

complications) and some under indicator 3.1 (acute conditions)] 

 

Figure 47: Number of admissions by condition group, 2015/16 

Page 153



92 

 

 

 

Source: North East London CSU 

When analysing the data by age, it showed that the majority of admissions (61.64%) were by those over the 

age of 65 years. Upon reviewing the proportion of admissions for each condition that were by those aged 

65+, it can be seen that whilst 85.11% of heart failure admissions, 79.55% of respiratory admissions and 

78.91% of Diabetes complications admissions were to those aged 65+, admissions for conditions such as 

Diabetes (34.59%) and Hypertension (41.46%) had lower proportions of those aged 65+, meaning that 

many of these admissions would have been to younger patients.  

Figure 48: Proportion of admission to those aged 65+, 2015/16 

 

Source: North East London CSU 

 

Page 154



93 

 

 

 PREVENTING RESPIRATORY NON-ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS 3.3 

Figure 49 shows all of the variables that were originally hypothesised as having an impact of Non-elective 

admissions for Respiratory conditions and (in orange) those that were included in the final model as 

analyses showed them to be having the largest impacts. 

Final Model included: 

1. Expected register sizes for COPD, and Asthma 

2. Availability of GP appointments 

3. % of patients on a Long Term Condition register recorded as currently smoking 

4. Which CCG a practice belongs to (this may be serving as a catch all measure for differences 

between commissioned community care services and/or other area differences) 

We chose to exclude variables looking at the age profile of practices due to these being accounted for by 

the expected prevalence measures.  This would have introduced co-variance in to the model.  However, GP 

practices were weighted within the model using the number of registered patients who are over the age of 

17. Other variables were excluded either because uni-variable analyses showed no associations or because 

they added little in terms of explaining levels of variations to the final model. 

The variables included in the final model account for 84% of the variation in the number of non-elective 

admissions for Respiratory conditions. 

Unfortunately we do not currently have access to the community care data for South Essex so these have 

not currently been modelled.  We intend to re-visit this model when the data becomes available. 

Figure 49: Hypothesised and Final (Orange) models for levels of Emergency Admissions for Respiratory Conditions 

 

  

Page 155



94 

 

 

Table 21 Outputs and Interpretations of Final Model for Respiratory Emergency Admissions 

 

  

Variable

Linear 

Regression 

Coefficient

95% CI Clinical Interpretation What this means in plain English

Estimated prevalent 

cases of COPD  in practice 

population

0.00 (0.00, 0.00)

For each additional COPD person 0.003 

additional respiratory emergency 

admissions would be expected over a 

3 year period. Or NNT to avoid 1 

admissions for COPD is 333.

For every 333 people in Thurrock with COPD 

(whether diagnosed or undiagnosed), we 

predicted on will be admitted to hospital 

because of their COPD, over a three year period.

Estimated prevalent 

cases of Asthma  in 

practice population

0.05 (0.01, 0.09)

For each additional Asthma person 

0.03 additional respiratory emergency 

admissions would be expected over a 

3 year period. Or NNT to avoid 1 

admissions for COPD is 33.

For every 33 people with asthma in Thurrock, 

(either diagnosed or undiagnosed), we preduct 

that one will be admitted to hospital as a result 

of their asthma within a three year period.

Availability of GP 

appointments – Last time 

you wanted to see or 

speak to a GP or nurse 

from your GP surgery, 

were you able to get an 

appointment to see or 

speak to someone? - Got 

an Appointment

-60.21
(-104.11, -

16.30)

There are 72 fewer admissions for 

each 0.011% increase in availability of 

appointments. Or to avoid 1 admission 

we need to incease availability by 

0.00014 percentage points

Increasing the availability of GP appointments 

locally will have a dramatic impact on emergency 

hospital admissions for COPD. For every 1% 

increase in GP or nurse appointments in 

Thurrock, we predict that there would be 6545 

fewer emergency hospital admissions for COPD 

over a threee year period

% practice population on 

a Long Term 

ConditionRegister who 

are recorded as current 

smoker

-55.16
(-160.65, 

50.34)

For each percentage point in the 

number of patients on a LTC register 

recorded as current smokers an 

additional 107 respiratory admissions 

are expected. Or to avoid 1 admission 

we need to reduce prevelance in LTC 

patients by 0.009 percentage points.

For each percentage point in the number of 

patients on a LTC register recorded as current 

smokers an additional 107 respiratory admissions 

are expected. Or to avoid 1 admission we need to 

reduce prevelance in LTC patients by 0.009 

percentage points.

NHS Mid Essex CCG Lowest number of admissions so used as baseline

NHS Basildon and 

Brentwood CCG
22.06 (8.51, 35.61)

On average a practice in this CCG has 

around 29 more admissions in a 3 year 

period compared to Thurrock CCG

On average a practice in this CCG has around 29 

more admissions in a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

NHS Castlepoint and 

Rochford CCG
29.25 (14.80, 43.70)

On average a practice in this CCG has 

around 30 more admissions in a 3 year 

period compared to Thurrock CCG

On average a practice in this CCG has around 30 

more admissions in a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

NHS Southend CCG 11.93 (-4.10, 27.97)

On average a practice in this CCG has 

around 24 more admissions in a 3 year 

period compared to Thurrock CCG

On average a practice in this CCG has around 24 

more admissions in a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

NHS Thurrock CCG 12.99 (-3.34, 29.31)

On average a practice in this CCG has 

around 16 more admissions in a 3 year 

period compared to Thurrock CCG

On average a practice in this CCG has around 16 

more admissions in a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

_cons 59.70 (17.38, 102.03)

In this model the constant is the 

average number of admissions over a 

3 year period for practices in Mid 

Essex CCG if everything else were 0.

In this model the constant is the average number 

of admissions over a 3 year period for practices in 

Mid Essex CCG if everything else were 0.

Page 156



95 

 

 

Table 21 tells us that to avoid 1 emergency admission for COPD in every 3 year period we can do 1 of the 

following:  

1) Prevent 333 people from developing COPD 

2) Prevent 33 people from developing Asthma 

3) Improve availability of GP appointments by 0.00014 percentage points  

4) Reduce the prevalence of smoking in Long Term Condition patients by 0.009 percentage points 

The average cost of a COPD admission to the NHS is £2,233 (NHS England Tariff costs, 2015/16).  

 

 PREVENTING STROKE NON-ELECTIVE (EMERGENCY) HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS 3.4 

Figure 50 shows all of the variables that were originally hypothesised as possibly having an impact of Non-

elective admissions for Stroke and (in orange) those that were included in the final model, as analyses 

showed them to be having the largest impacts. 

The Final Model included: 

1. Expected register sizes for AF and Hypertension  

2. Ratio of Observed : Expected cases for Hypertension as a measure of detection 

3. Deprivation as measured by IMD 

4. The number of patients with diagnosed AF and a CHADS score of >1 recorded as being on anti-

coagulation or anti-platelet medication 

5. The number of patients with diagnosed Hypertension whose last blood pressure measurement (12 

months) was < 150/90  

6. Which CCG a practice belongs to (this may be serving as a catch all measure for differences 

between commissioned community care services and/or other area differences) 

We chose to exclude variables looking at the age profile of practices due to these being accounted for by 

the expected prevalence measures.  This would have introduced co-linearity in to the model.  However, GP 

practices were weighted within the model using the number of registered patients who are over the age of 

50. Other variables were excluded either because uni-variable analyses showed no associations or because 

they added little in terms of explaining levels of variations to the final model. 

The variables included in the final model account for 90% of the variation in the number of non-elective 

admissions for Stroke.   

Figure 50: Hypothesised and Final (Orange) models for levels of Emergency Admissions for Stroke 

Page 157



96 

 

 

 

 

Table 22 Outputs and Interpretations of Final Model for Stroke Emergency Admissions 

Page 158



97 

 

 

 

 

Variable

Linear 

Regression 

Coefficient

95% Cis Clinical Interpretation What this means in plain English

Estimated prevalent cases of 

Hypertension in practice 

population

0.05 (0.03, 0.07)

For each additional Hypertensive 

person 0.05 additional strokes 

would be expected over a 3 year 

period. Or NNT to avoid 1 stroke 

is 20.

For every 20 patients in a GP pratice that have high blood pressure, 

we predict one will have a stroke in the next three years.  

Identifying a treating patients with high blood pressure is therefore 

a very effective way of preventing strokes.

Estimated prevalent cases of 

AF in practice population
0.53 (0.25, 0.81)

For each additional AF person 

0.53 additional strokes would be 

expected over a 3 year period. Or 

NNT to avoid 1 stroke is 2.

For every two patients with Atrial Fibrillation in a GP Practice 

population, we would expect one to have a stroke in the next three 

years. Identifying a treating patients with Atrial Fibrillation is 

therefore a very effective way of preventing strokes.

Ratio of observed to 

expected Hypertension 

cases

-64.95 (-84.07, -45.83)

For each percentage point 

increase in detection rates 64.95 

would be avoided over 3 years.  

Or to avoid 1 stroke detection 

rates of Hypertension need to 

increase by 0.015%

We estimate that there are 34,710 people in Thurrock with high 

blood pressure, but only 23,727 who have been diagnosed, placed 

on a GP practice "Hypertension Register" and are receiving 

treatment from their GP.  This means  that our Hypertension 

registers across all GP practices are only 68% complete, and 32% of 

people in Thurrock with high blood pressure don't know they have it 

and are not being treated.  For every additional 1% we make the 

Hypertension Registers complete (or find and treat an additional 347 

people with high blood pressure) we will prevent 65 strokes over a 

three year period

Deprivation measured by 

IMD
0.35 (0.11, 0.59)

For each unit increase in 

deprivation score we observe an 

additional 0.35 strokes over 3 

years.

Levels of deprivation are a very good proxy indicator for poor health.  

Deprivated populations are more likely to suffer from bad health 

and die significantly sooner than affluent populations.  The IMD 

(Index of Multiple Deprivation Score) derrived from 33 indicators set 

across seven domains that give an estimation levels of deprivation 

faced by a specific population. For every 2.86 increase we see in the 

IMD score of specific population, we preduct an additional stroke 

over 3 years.

NHS Mid Essex CCGLowest number of admissions so used as baseline

NHS Basildon and 

Brentwood CCG
10.98 (6.16, 15.79)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 11 more admissions in 

a 3 year period compared to Mid 

Essex CCG

On average a practice in this CCG has around 11 more emergency 

hospital admissions from stroke patients in a 3 year period 

compared to Mid Essex CCG

NHS Castlepoint and 

Rochford CCG
9.26 (3.96, 14.57)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 9 more admissions in 

a 3 year period compared to Mid 

Essex CCG

On average a practice in this CCG has around 9 more emergency 

hospital admissions of stroke patients in a 3 year period compared 

to Mid Essex CCG

NHS Southend CCG 10.72 (5.07, 16.36)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 11 more admissions in 

a 3 year period compared to Mid 

Essex CCG

On average a practice in this CCG has around 11 more emergency 

hospital admissions of stroke patients in a 3 year period compared 

to Mid Essex CCG

NHS Thurrock CCG 9.37 (3.42, 15.32)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 9 more admissions in 

a 3 year period compared to Mid 

Essex CCG

On average a practice in Thurrock has around 9 more emergency 

hospital admissions for Strokes in a 3 year period compared to Mid 

Essex CCG.  This means that in Thurrock there would be 297 fewer 

patients suffering a stroke and being admitted to hospital as a 

result, if we could reduce our prevelance of high blood pressure and 

Atrial Fibrillation and diagnose and treat patients with high blood 

pressure at the same levels as Mid Essex. 

AF005: In those patients 

with atrial fibrillation in 

whom there is a record of a 

CHADS2 score of 1, the 

percentage of patients who 

are currently treated with 

anti-coagulation drug 

therapy or anti-platelet 

therapy

-0.37 (-0.65, -0.09)

For every patient identified as 

CHADS>1 and treated with anti-

coagulation or anti-platelet 

medication a reduction of 0.37 

strokes over 3 years is expected.  

Or NNT to avoid 1 stroke is 3.

For every three patients with Atrial Fibrillation who have been 

assessed as having a high risk of stroke, that we treat with drugs that 

thin their blood, we would prevent one of them having a stroke in a 

three year period.

HYP006: The percentage of 

patients with hypertension 

in whom the last blood 

pressure reading (measured 

in the preceding 12 months) 

is 150/90 mmHg or less

-0.02 (-0.05, 0.00)

For each patient diagnosed with 

Hypertension whose BP is under 

150/90 an average reduction of 

0.02 strokes over 3 years would 

be expected.  Or NNT to avoid 1 

stroke is 5.

For every five patients with high blood pressure that we treat 

successfully such that their blood pressure reduces to 150/90mmHg 

or less, we will prevent one of them having a stroke in the next 

three years

_cons 30.53 (16.11, 44.96)

In this model the constant is the 

average number of admissions 

over a 3 year period for practices 

in Mid Essex CCG if everything 

else were 0.

In this model the constant is the average number of admissions over 

a 3 year period for practices in Mid Essex CCG if everything else were 

0.

Page 159



98 

 

 

 tells us that to avoid one emergency admission for a stroke in every 3 year period we can do ONE of the 

following: 

1) Prevent 20 people from developing high blood pressure 

2) Prevent two people from developing AF 

3) Detect and treat an additional 0.015% of the expected hypertensive population (for Thurrock this 

equates to detecting 0.015% of the additional expected 10,983 undiagnosed patients – i.e. two 

patients) 

4) Assess and treat an additional three patients with AF and a CHADS score of >1 

5) Support five patients with Hypertension to keep their Blood Pressure under 150/90 

The estimated cost of a stroke to the NHS is £3,644 (£235 for A&E attendance, £737 for ambulance, and 

£2,672 for the admission).  It has also previously been estimated by 2 of the authors that following a stroke 

a patient has a 15% probability of having a new or increased social care package costing around £18k per 

year.  Therefore, crudely, using an assumption that 15% of people in a care home die each year the saving 

to Social Care from avoiding 1 stroke is approximately £6,945 over the 3 years following the stroke.   

 

 PREVENTING CHD / HF NON-ELECTIVE (EMERGENCY) HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS 3.5 

Figure 50 shows all of the variables that were originally hypothesised as having an impact of Non-elective 

admissions for CHD and Heart Failure and (in orange) those that were included in the final model as 

analyses showed them to be having the largest impacts. 

Final Model included: 

1. Expected register sizes for HF, and Hypertension  

2. Satisfaction with the availability of GP appointments 

3. Deprivation as measured by IMD 

4. The number of patients with HF due to LVD with a record of ACE or ARB treatment 

5. Which CCG a practice belongs to (this may be serving as a catch all measure for differences 

between commissioned community care services and/or other area differences) 

We chose to exclude variables looking at the age profile of practices due to these being accounted for by 

the expected prevalence measures.  This would have introduced co-linearity in to the model.  However, GP 

practices were weighted within the model using the number of registered patients who are over the age of 

50. Other variables were excluded either because uni-variable analyses showed no associations or because 

they added little in terms of explaining levels of variations to the final model. 

The variables included in the final model account for 94% of the variation in the number of non-elective 

admissions for CHD and Heart Failure. 

 

  

Page 160



99 

 

 

Figure 51: Hypothesised and Final (Orange) models for levels of Emergency Admissions for CHD and Heart Failure 

 

  

Page 161



100 

 

 

Table 23 Outputs and Interpretations of Final Model for CHD HF Emergency Admissions 

  

Variable
Linear 

Regression 

Coefficient

95% CI Interpretation What this means in plain English

Estimated prevalent cases of 

CHD in practice population 0.63 (0.56, 0.71)

For each additional CHD  person 

0.63 additional CHD/HF 

emergency admissions would be 

expected over a 3 year period. Or 

NNT to avoid 2 admissions for 

CHD is approx 3.

For every three additional people (diagnosed and undiagnosed) 

who have Coronary Heart Disease within a practice population, we 

would expect just under two to have a hospital admission for either 

Heart Disease or Heart Failure over a three year period

Diagnosed Heart Failure 

Patients (number of) 1.84 (0.05, 3.63)

For each additional diagnosed HF 

person 1.84 additional CHD/HF 

emergency admissions would be 

expected over a 3 year period. Or 

NNT to avoid 2 admissions for 

CHD is approx 1.

For every additional diagnosis of Heart Failure that we make within 

a GP practice population, over a three year period we would expect 

just under two emergency hospital admissions for heart failure or 

coronary heart disease

Availability of GP 

appointments – Last time 

you wanted to see or speak 

to a GP or nurse from your 

GP surgery, were you able to 

get an appointment to see 

or speak to someone? - Got 

an Appointment -108.93 (-208.71, -9.14)

There are 109 fewer admissions 

for each 1% increase in 

availability of appointments. Or 

to avoid 2 admissions we need to 

increase availability by 0.018 

percentage points

For every 1% increase in availablility of timely access to a GP or 

nurse appointment (as measured by the GP patient survey), we 

would expect to avoid 109 emergency hospital admissions for heart 

failure of coronary heart disease over a three year period

NHS Thurrock CCG Lowest number of admissions so used as baseline

Thurrock GP practices have on average the lowest rate of CHD and HF 

emergency hospital admissions compared to practices in other south 

and Mid Essex localities

NHS Basildon and 

Brentwood CCG 14.77 (-24.07, 53.61)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 15 more admissions in 

a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

On average a GP practice in Basildon and Brentwood CCG has around 

15 more emergency hospital admissions from CHD or HF patients in a 

3 year period compared to Thurrock CCG

NHS Castlepoint and 

Rochford CCG 108.60 (66.40, 150.81)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 109 more admissions 

in a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

On average a GP practice in Castlepoint and Rochford CCG has 

around 109 more emergency hospital admissions from CHD or HF 

patients in a 3 year period compared to Thurrock CCG

NHS Mid Essex CCG 34.57 (-3.61, 72.76)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 35 more admissions in 

a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

On average a GP practice in Mid Essex CCG has around 35 more 

emergency hospital admissions from CHD or HF patients in a 3 year 

period compared to Thurrock CCG

NHS Southend CCG 119.23 (76.04, 162.43)

On average a practice in this CCG 

has around 119 more admissions 

in a 3 year period compared to 

Thurrock CCG

On average a GP practice in Southend-on-Sea CCG has around 119 

more emergency hospital admissions from CHD or HF patients in a 3 

year period compared to Thurrock CCG

Deprivation measured by 

IMD 2.03 (0.55, 3.50)

For each unit increase in 

deprivation score we observe an 

additional 2 admissions for 

CHD/HF over 3 years.

Levels of deprivation are a very good proxy indicator for poor health.  

Deprivated populations are more likely to suffer from bad health 

and die significantly sooner than affluent populations.  The IMD 

(Index of Multiple Deprivation Score) derrived from 33 indicators set 

across seven domains that give an estimation levels of deprivation 

faced by a specific population. For every 1 point increase we see in 

the IMD score of specific population, we preduct an additional 2 

emergency hospital admissions for CHD or HF over a three year 

period

HF003: In those patients 

with a current diagnosis of 

heart failure due to left 

ventricular systolic 

dysfunction, the percentage 

of patients who are 

currently treated with an 

ACE-I or ARB -0.21 (-2.11, 1.69)

For each patient diagnosed with 

HF with LVD recorded as treated 

with ACE or ARB an average 

reduction of 0.21 admissions over 

3 years would be expected.  Or 

NNT to avoid 2 admissions is 10.

For every 10 patients diagnosed with Heart Failure that we treat 

with classes of drug that help lower blood pressure known as an 

Angiotensin-converting-enzyme or ACE Inhibitors and Angiotensin II 

Receptor Blockers or ARBs,  we would expect to prevent to 

emergency hospital admissions as a result of Heart Failure

_cons -51.36 (-146.18, 43.47)

In this model the constant is the 

average number of admissions 

over a 3 year period for practices 

in Thurrock CCG if everything else 

were 0.

We have used rates of emergency admissions for Heart Failure and 

CHD in Thurrock as a baseline from which to compare other areas, as 

Thurrock's rates are the lowest.

Page 162



101 

 

 

Table 23 tells us that to avoid 2 emergency admissions for a CHD/HF event in every 3 year period we can 

do 1 of the following:  

1) Prevent 3 cases of CHD 

2) Prevent 1 case of HF 

3) Make improvements to availability of GP appointments as such that an improvement of 0.018 

percentage points can be observed on the survey. The current number of appointments with a GP 

(excluding locums) or nurse available per day is 5,581. A proposed mixed staffing model would 

increase this daily appointment number to 7,761, seeing an increase of 2,186 appointments. This is 

further detailed elsewhere in the report. 

4) Treat 10 patients who have HF with LVD with ACE or ARB 

The average cost of a CVD admission to the NHS around £4,614
iii
 (NICE 2010). Avoiding 2 admissions 

would then save £9 K.    

Unfortunately we cannot currently estimate savings for Social Care. Table 26 shows some of the possible 

mechanisms to achieve the above four outcomes and recommendations to achieve them. 

 

 PREVENTING DIABETES NON-ELECTIVE (EMERGENCY) HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS 3.6 

Unfortunately, at the time of writing, expected prevalence of Diabetes at GP practice level is not available.  

We plan to re-visit this model as soon as is possible. 

Early analyses have shown, however, that in addition to the expected number of patients with diabetes, 

many of the QOF indicators for quality of care, IMD score and satisfaction with availability of appointments 

will be important predictors of the number of admissions.   

Figure 52 shows the hypothesised model that we intend to work on at a later date. 

Figure 52 Hypothesised models for levels of Emergency Admissions for Diabetes 

 

 

Page 163



102 

 

 

 NON-ELECTIVE ADMISSIONS DUE TO FALLS 3.7 

In 2014/15 there were 772 non-elective admissions for causes we consider most likely to be falls related.   

These cost the CCG a total of £2,592,267. 

3.7.1  HIP FRACTURES DUE TO FALLS 

In 2014/15 there were 132 hip fractures
1
 , 95% of which we expect are due to a fall (125).  It is expected that 

around half of these would never return to their former level of independence and 20% would enter a care 

home.
2
  

The total NHS cost of treating a fracture is around £3000. Therefore to approximate cost to the NHS of 

treating 125 emergency hospital admissions due to falls per annum is £375,000 .  

The average cost per client per annum for Adult Social Care Residential Care package in Thurrock is 

£16,125. Assuming only 10% clients in Thurrock self-fund, the annual cost to Thurrock Adult Social Care 

budgets of Hip Fractures due to is approximately £363,000 per annum 

  

                                                      

1
 Fingertips 

2
 NICE 

Page 164



103 

 

 

 SUMMARY: PREVENTING EMERGENCY HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS 3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Conditions Amenable to Healthcare, also known as Ambulatory Care Sensitive (ACS) Conditions are 

chronic conditions for which it is possible to prevent acute exacerbations and reduce the need for 

hospital admission through active management, such as vaccination; better self-management, 

disease management or case management; or lifestyle interventions.  Examples would include 

COPD, Diabetes and Heart Failure. 

Failure to reduce the number of ASC admissions, particularly in those aged 65+ will result in a 

series of negative outcomes for the sustainability of our local Health and Social Care System: 

- Increased secondary care use – higher cost 

- An increased use of ambulance activity 

- A negative impact to workforce – could lead to increased staff sickness due to stress? Or 

higher turnover/increased reliance on agency staff could mean reduced continuity of care 

- Unnecessary delayed transfers of care 

- Impact on A&E – some patients who should be admitted earlier may face delays if more 

amenable admissions are bed-blocking… 

- A possible increase in ASC packages 

- Unnecessary deaths 

In 2015/16 there were 3,869 admissions deemed as amenable to healthcare, but there is significant 

variation between emergency hospital rates for ACSs between different GP practices.  Purfleet Care 

Centre, the Sai Medical Centre, Thurrock Health Centre, Chadwell Medical Centre, Dr. Devaraja and 

Partner and Dr. Sunthralingram’s practice all had hospital admission rates for ASCs significantly 

greater than the mean for Thurrock, even after differences in age structure between their practice 

populations were controlled for. 

When viewing the categories of admission for ACSs, it can be seen that the largest number were 

due to respiratory conditions, diabetes, Nephritis and UTIs and Vaccine-preventable conditions. 

Patients aged 65+ are most likely to be admitted to hospital for an ACS condition. 

We have built four multiple regression statistical models for Respiratory Conditions, Stroke, 

Hypertension and Coronary Heart Disease/Heart Failure, that identify the key variables that 

increase the likelihood of emergency hospital admissions for these conditions, and quantify the 

impact of each variable. 

Addressing these variables (the underlying causes that are most likely to lead to an emergency 

hospital admission for respiratory conditions, strokes, high blood pressure and CHD/HF will reduce 

unnecessary hospital admissions, improve public health and save money. 

 

Page 165



104 

 

 

 RECOMMENDATIONS: REDUCING EMERGENCY HOSPITAL 3.9 

ADMISSIONS 
Table 24 Recommendations to prevent COPD admissions 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency 

admission for 

COPD 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Prevent 333 people 

from developing 

COPD 

 

- Reduce smoking prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Develop and implement a new Tobacco Control Strategy for 

Thurrock, as set out in Objective E1 of the Thurrock Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy, 2016-2021 

Prevent 33 people 

from developing 

asthma 

 

- As above 

- Improve Air Quality in Thurrock 

- As above 

- Develop and implement a new Air Quality Improvement 

Strategy for Thurrock as set out in Objective B4 of the 

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 

Improve availability 

of appointments by 

0.00014 

percentage points 

- Reduce levels of under-doctoring in 

Thurrock 

- Increase the skill mix of staff within 

GP practices in order to make them 

more efficient 

- Implement new models of GP practice workforce within 

Thurrock as set out in ***, and drawing on current local 

innovative approaches of best practice such as the current 

model of Primary Care adopted by College Health. 

- Build four new Integrated Healthy Living Centres, as set out in 

the JSNA Needs Assessment 

Reduce the 

prevalence of 

smoking in patients 

with COPD by 

0.009 percentage 

points 

- Targeted intensive stop smoking 

professional support at those 

patients with COPD who wish to quit 

- Embed smoking cessation training within NELFT community 

Respiratory Team and ensure that they are commissioned to 

deliver outcomes against prevalence 

- Implement procurement of the new Integrated Healthy 

Lifestyles Provider which will be targeted to focus stop 

smoking support including e-cigarettes at patients newly 

diagnosed with LTCs who are most motivated to quit smoking. 

 

Table 25: Recommendations to prevent Stroke admissions 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency 

admission for 

stroke 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Prevent 20 people 

from becoming 

hypertensive 

 

- Reduce obesity prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Increase physical activity within the 

adult population 

- Reduce smoking prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Reduce the levels of sodium in the 

diets of the adult population 

- Reduce the percentage of adults 

who drink alcohol at harmful levels 

and identify and treat those who are 

alcohol dependent 

- Reduce levels of stress within the 

adult population 

- Implement a whole systems approach to obesity prevention in 

Thurrock. 

- Re-procure an integrated healthy lifestyles service 

- Commission a programme of smoking prevention in schools 

- Re-commission an integrated drug and alcohol treatment 

programme and improve referral pathways into it from other 

services 

- Commission an Alcohol Nurse Liaison Service at Basildon 

Hospital 

- Ensure strong referral pathways into the new IAPT ‘recovery 

college’ from a range of council front line staff 

- Strengthen programmes such as Local Area Coordination, 

Stronger Together and Living Well in Thurrock 

- Increase uptake of NHS Health Checks 

Prevent two people 

from developing 

AF 

As above As above 

Detect and treat an 

additional 0.015% 

of the expected 

hypertensive 

population 

- Embed the systematic checking of 

blood pressure into all front line 

services and the third sector 

- Increase knowledge of the dangers 

of high blood pressure within the 

population 

- Increase the uptake of NHS Health Checks 

- Commission an NHS Senior Health Checks Programme 

- Increase uptake of opportunistic blood pressure checks in 

Primary and Community Care  

- Embed blood pressure checking into the work of wider front 

line service staff e.g. housing, and within third sector 

community organisations 

Page 166



105 

 

 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency 

admission for 

stroke 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Assess and treat an 

additional three 

patients with AF 

and a CHADS 

score of >1 

- Systematic CHAD2 scoring and 

prescription of anti-coagulation 

medication at GP practice level 

where necessary 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Scorecard 

- Develop SystmOne reports to assist GP practices to identify 

patients requiring review. 

- Systematically monitor GP practices on performance against 

this measure 

Support five 

patients with 

Hypertension to 

keep their Blood 

Pressure under 

150/90 

- Improve access to Primary Care, 

and clinical management of 

Hypertension within it.   

- Implement a Hypertension Deep Dive / Prescribing Review to 

check compliance of GP practice prescribing behaviour and 

management of Hypertension to NICE Hypertension Clinical 

Guidance CG127 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Score card 

- Produce SystmOne Reports that assist GP practices to identify 

patients who require review 

- Encourage sharing of best clinical practice between high and 

low performing GP practices. 

 

Table 26: Recommendations to Prevent Stroke Emergency Admissions 

Outcome required 

to prevent one 

emergency CHD  

or Heart Failure 

Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Prevent one 

person from 

developing 

hypertension 

 

- Reduce obesity prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Increase physical activity within the 

adult population 

- Reduce smoking prevalence within 

the adult population 

- Reduce the levels of sodium in the 

diets of the adult population 

- Reduce the percentage of adults 

who drink alcohol at harmful levels 

and identify and treat those who are 

alcohol dependent 

- Reduce levels of stress within the 

adult population 

- Implement a whole systems approach to obesity prevention in 

Thurrock. 

- Re-procure an integrated healthy lifestyles service 

- Commission a programme of smoking prevention in schools 

- Re-commission an integrated drug and alcohol treatment 

programme and improve referral pathways into it from other 

services 

- Commission an Alcohol Nurse Liaison Service at Basildon 

Hospital 

- Ensure strong referral pathways into the new IAPT ‘recovery 

college’ from a range of council front line staff 

- Strengthen programmes such as Local Area Coordination, 

Stronger Together and Living Well in Thurrock 

- Increase uptake of NHS Health Checks 

Prevent two people 

from Heart Failure 

As above plus: 

- Reduce the prevalence of people 

with high cholesterol in the adult 

population 

- Reduce the prevalence of high 

blood pressure within the 

population 

As above 

- Implement Hypertension Casefinding and Clinical 

Management Recommendations as set out in table *** on 

page *** 

Improve availability 

of appointments so 

that 0.05% more 

people rate it as 

good or excellent 

- Reduce levels of under-doctoring in 

Thurrock 

- Increase the skill mix of staff within 

GP practices in order to make them 

more efficient 

- Implement new models of GP practice workforce within 

Thurrock as set out in ***, and drawing on current local 

innovative approaches of best practice such as the current 

model of Primary Care adopted by College Health. 

- Build four new Integrated Healthy Living Centres, as set out in 

the JSNA Needs Assment 

Treat 63 patients 

who have HF with 

LVD with ACE or 

ARB 

- Systematic review of all patients on 

GP Practice QOF Heart Failure 

Registers against current NICE 

Prescribing Guidelines for Heart 

Failure (CG108) 

- Undertake Deep Dive into Heart Failure Clinical Management 

and Prescribing practice within Primary Care and implement 

recommendations. 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Scorecard 

- Develop SystmOne reports to assist GP practices to identify 

patients requiring review. 

- Systematically monitor GP practices on performance against 

this measure 

-  

Page 167



106 

 

 

Support five 

patients with 

Hypertension to 

keep their Blood 

Pressure under 

150/90 

- Improve access to Primary Care, 

and clinical management of 

Hypertension within it.   

- Implement a Hypertension Deep Dive / Prescribing Review to 

check compliance of GP practice prescribing behaviour and 

management of Hypertension to NICE Hypertension Clinical 

Guidance CG127 

- Include this measure on the Primary Care LTC Management 

Score card 

- Produce SystmOne Reports that assist GP practices to identify 

patients who require review 

- Encourage sharing of best clinical practice between high and 

low performing GP practices. 

 

Table 27: Recommendations to prevent ACS admissions 

Outcome Required Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Further Reduce 

Unplanned 

(Emergency) 

Hospital 

Admissions for 

Ambulatory Care 

Sensitive (ACS) 

Conditions  

- Improve the quality of clinical 

management of ASC within GP 

practices and community health 

services 

- Urgent further investigation in (including clinical audit if 

necessary) is undertaken at the following GP practices 

locally, that have unplanned care admissions for ACSCs 

that are significantly greater than the Thurrock mean, to 

ascertain the causes and implement solutions to 

ameliorate these: 

- Purfleet Care Centre 

- Thurrock Health Centre 

- Chadwell Medical Centre 

- Dr. Devaraja 

 

- The new Public Healthcare Programme Managers work 

with local GP practices and the CCG’s Primary Care 

Development Team to undertake a deep dive at practice 

level, triangulating the ACSC admissions by group (Figure 

27), with the DSR admission rate for ACSCs. (Figure 26) to 

develop an action plan to address this at practice level.    

 

- The results of the above deep dive inform the Primary 

Care LTC Scorecard Indicators 

 

- The new Public Health Programme Managers work with 

local GP practices to encourage sharing of best practice 

with regard to the Clinical Management of ACSCs 

 

  

Page 168



107 

 

 

Section 4  DELAYED TRANSFERS OF CARE 

 INTRODUCTION 4.1 

A ‘delayed transfer of care’ occurs when an adult inpatient in hospital is ready to go home or move to a less 

acute stage of care but is prevented from doing so. Sometimes referred to in the media as ‘bed-blocking’, 

delayed transfers of care are a problem for the NHS as they reduce the number of beds available to other 

patients who need them, as well as causing unnecessarily long stays in hospital for patients.  

Delayed transfers of care are a significant concern to frontline staff. Once a patient is well enough to leave 

hospital, staff want to treat other patients with greater needs.  

There are also financial consequences. There is a wasted investment in unnecessary care for every day that 

a patient is kept in hospital longer than necessary. These patients don’t need intensive treatment or the 

same amount of equipment or medicine as before, but they still cost the hospital staff time and space that 

should be used for something else. Delayed transfers of care are consistently one of the top three concerns 

expressed by NHS finance directors.  

Understanding the cause of these delays both directly and indirectly can help unblock them and prevent 

them from happening in the future. 

 WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING? 4.2 

In 2015/16, there were 1,844 days of delayed transfers of care for Thurrock residents. Whilst this has 

fluctuated throughout the year, there has been a slight general increase since April 2015. The figure below 

depicts the number of days categorised into acute and non-acute care based on the care the patient was 

receiving (acute care generally being shorter term, often in response to an emergency or short term illness, 

and non-acute being non-emergency – such as an outpatients clinic) – whilst there are some months with a 

higher number of days due to acute, and others with a higher number of days due to non-acute, the total 

proportional split for the year is 53.52% acute and 46.48% non-acute. The total number of days per month 

ranged from 94 (June) to 261 (October). 

 

  

Page 169



108 

 

 

Figure 53: Monthly delayed days by care type, 2015/16 

 

Source: NHS England 

Of the 1,844 Delayed Days in Thurrock, 1,373 of these were the responsibility of the NHS (74.46%) – e.g. if a 

district nurse was required as part of the discharge package, but they were not in place upon the point of 

discharge, this would be the responsibility of the NHS. 419 were the responsibility of Social Care (22.72%) – 

e.g. awaiting a nursing home placement, and 52 (2.82%) the responsibility of both organisations. Whilst at 

the start of the year, almost all Delayed Days were due to the NHS, this proportion reduced throughout the 

year – this can be seen in the figure below. 

Figure 54: Delayed days by responsible organisation, 2015/16 

 

Source: NHS England 

 

Page 170



109 

 

 

Delayed transfers of care are measured as indicators within the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework, 

enabling benchmarking of Thurrock rates against the national average. In 2015/16, the average daily rates 

of delayed transfers of care were lower in Thurrock than England for the total rate and those delays due to 

social care or both social care and NHS. (Thurrock’s rate in total was 5.0 per 100,000 compared to the 

England average of 12.3 per 100,000, and for social care and both delays it was 1.2 per 100,000 compared 

to the England average of 4.8 per 100,000.) 

Figure 55: Daily Rate of delayed transfers of care, 2015/16 

 

Source: Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework 

When investigating the reasons behind the Delayed Days in Thurrock, the most common reason was that 

patients were awaiting further NHS non-acute care – this accounted for 614 (33.3%) of the total Delayed 

Days. The second most common reason was delays to due to completion of an assessment (410, 22.23%), 

with patient/family choice and availability of nursing or residential home placements the next most common 

reasons. 

Table 28: Delayed days and reason, 2015/16 

Reason for delay Number of Delayed Days Proportion of all Delayed Days 

Waiting further NHS non-acute care 614 33.30% 

Completion of assessment 410 22.23% 

Patient or family choice 213 11.55% 

Awaiting nursing home placement or availability 172 9.33% 

Awaiting residential home placement or availability 134 7.27% 

Public funding 119 6.45% 

Awaiting community equipment and adaptions 78 4.23% 

Disputes 69 3.74% 

Awaiting care package in own home 35 1.90% 

Housing - Patients not covered by NHS and Community Care Act 0 0.00% 

All Reasons 1,844 100.00% 

Source: NHS England 

Page 171



110 

 

 

 SUMMARY: DELAYED TRANSFERS OF CARE 4.3 

  
A ‘delayed transfer of care’ occurs when an adult inpatient in hospital is ready to go home or 

move to a less acute stage of care but is prevented from doing so. Sometimes referred to in 

the media as ‘bed-blocking’, delayed transfers of care are a problem for the NHS as they 

reduce the number of beds available to other patients who need them, as well as causing 

unnecessarily long stays in hospital for patients.  

Delayed transfers of care have both negative operational and financial consequences to our 

local Health and Social Care system. 

In 2015/16, there were 1,844 days of delayed transfers of care for Thurrock residents. Whilst 

this has fluctuated throughout the year, there has been a slight general increase since April 

2015 

Of the 1,844 Delayed Days in Thurrock, 1,373 (74.46%) of these were coded as the 

responsibility of the NHS and 419 (22.72%) were the responsibility of Social Care. 

The top four reasons coded by NHS England for local Delayed Transfer of Care incidents were 

“Delays in waiting for further NHS non-acute care”, “Delays in Completion of Assessments”, 

“Patient or family choice” and “Waits for nursing/residential care places”  

Thurrock Council is working closely with NHS Thurrock CCG on a range of measures to 

ameliorate the problems that are leading to Delayed Transfers of Care. However an STP 

system wide response is required which will include better pooling of NHS and Social Care 

resources. 

Page 172



111 

 

 

 RECOMMENDATIONS: DELAYED TRANSFERS OF CARE 4.4 

 

The most common reasons for Delayed Transfer of Care warrant further investigation, most particularly 

access to and capacity of NHS non acute care, increasing speed of assessment completion, and nursing and 

residential home placement capacity locally. 

 

Outcome Required Mechanisms to achieve the outcome Recommendations 

Reduce / Eliminate 

Delayed Transfers 

of Care Locally  

- Improve access to non-acute NHS 

care 

- The reasons behind coding of this category remain unclear, as 

local evidence suggests that there is currently an over-capacity 

of intermediate care beds in Thurrock.  As such, delays in 

accessing Continuing Health Care (CHC) may account for coding 

of DToCs of this sort.  Public Health should undertake further 

work with NHS Thurrock CCG and Basildon Hospital  to ascertain 

and address the factors that are driving this issue 

- Complete assessments in a more 

timely fashion 

 

- The reasons behind the coding of this category also remain 

unclear and again may relate to delays in assessment for CHC.  

This warrants further investigation by Public Health in 

conjunction with NHS Thurrock CCG. 

 

- NHS Thurrock CCG should continue to implement its ‘Discharge 

to Assessment” programme 

- Improve capacity of residential and 

nursing home placements locally 

- Current capacity of residential and nursing home provision is 

currently inadequate and remains a challenge that requires a 

‘system wide’ solution including STP funding.  Feasibility of the 

following possible solutions are being investigated and should be 

piloted 

 

- A rapid discharge service that would place social care resource in 

the hospital to begin planning discharge almost from the point 

of admission  

 

- The development of a comprehensive step down facility 

probably at Collins House site in Corringham. This would deliver 

capacity for discharge to assess and intermediate/rehab to 

enable people who are doctor fit to be discharged for ongoing 

support pre return to home. Thurrock Council has the ability to 

fund capital costs to enable the council to build the facility on the 

proviso of commitment from the NHS of additional revenue 

funding to support the care costs. 

 

- The economics of providing nursing care mean that very large 

homes (at least 80 beds) are required for providers to make a 

profit, yet in quality of care terms this size of home is very 

problematic. It is vital that the local Health and Social Care 

system collectively seeks to fix home care in a sustainable way, 

and develop alternatives such as the Collins House project (as 

this will free up some beds that are being used for step down 

care).  Our local system also needs to incentivise the 

development of small, probably specialist (dementia, autism etc.) 

residential and nursing care homes. 

 

 

 - Reduce demand for residential and 

nursing care home placements 

- The local Health and Social System (and STP must) redirect 

resource towards prevention  through initiatives described within 

this report in order to keep older people as healthy and 

independent for as long as possible.  It is not financially or 

operationally sustainable simply continue to increase the supply 

of nursing and residential care. 

Page 173



112 

 

 

Section 5  REFERRAL TO TREATMENT (RTT) CARE 

PATHWAYS (RTT) 

 INTRODUCTION 5.1 

A patient is placed on a ‘referral to treatment pathway’ by their GP when it is believed that they need non-

emergency secondary healthcare (provided by hospitals). This is also known as ‘elective’ healthcare.   The 

NHS constitution sets at a number of standards that patients should expect from an RTT.  These include that 

NHS Consultant led treatment should commence within a maximum of 18 weeks from GP referral for non-

urgent conditions; and a patient with suspected cancer should be seen within a maximum of two weeks by a 

cancer specialist. 

 WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING? 5.2 

Thurrock CCG-level data from 2015/16 showed that there were 8,808 RTT pathways completed which 

resulted in an inpatient or day case admission, and 31,642 RTT pathways completed that did not result in an 

admission (e.g. the patient may have accessed care in an outpatient setting). The two tables below show the 

numbers and proportions of pathways per treatment function – it can be seen for those admitted, the 

categories with the highest proportion of pathways were General Surgery (18.28%), Trauma & Orthopaedics 

(15.97%) and Ophthalmology (15.91%); whilst for those not admitted, the categories with the highest 

proportion of pathways were Other (19.02%), General Surgery (12.30%) and Ophthalmology (9.41%). It 

should be clarified that one pathway does not necessarily mean one patient – as one patient could be on 

more than one pathway. 

Table 29: RTT pathways for those admitted by treatment function, 2015/16 

Treatment Function Total number of pathways Proportion of all pathways (%) 

General Surgery 1610 18.28% 

Trauma & Orthopaedics 1407 15.97% 

Ophthalmology 1401 15.91% 

Other 852 9.67% 

Gynaecology 733 8.32% 

Gastroenterology 625 7.10% 

Urology 584 6.63% 

ENT 571 6.48% 

Cardiology 358 4.06% 

Plastic Surgery 350 3.97% 

Rheumatology 182 2.07% 

Cardiothoracic Surgery 68 0.77% 

Thoracic Medicine 27 0.31% 

Neurology 23 0.26% 

Neurosurgery 12 0.14% 

General Medicine 3 0.03% 

Dermatology 2 0.02% 

Oral Surgery 0 0.00% 

Geriatric Medicine 0 0.00% 

Total 8808 100.00% 

Source: NHS England 

  

Page 174



113 

 

 

Table 30: RTT pathways for those not admitted by treatment function, 2015/16 

Treatment Function Total number of pathways Proportion of all pathways (%) 

Other 6018 19.02% 

General Surgery 3893 12.30% 

Ophthalmology 2979 9.41% 

ENT 2708 8.56% 

Dermatology 2480 7.84% 

Gynaecology 2349 7.42% 

Trauma & Orthopaedics 2288 7.23% 

Cardiology 1581 5.00% 

Urology 1359 4.29% 

Neurology 1196 3.78% 

Gastroenterology 1134 3.58% 

Geriatric Medicine 1029 3.25% 

Rheumatology 902 2.85% 

Thoracic Medicine 826 2.61% 

General Medicine 500 1.58% 

Plastic Surgery 369 1.17% 

Neurosurgery 15 0.05% 

Cardiothoracic Surgery 15 0.05% 

Oral Surgery 1 0.00% 

Total 31642 100.00% 

Source: NHS England 

5.2.1  WAITING TIMES 

The average waiting time between referral and treatment differs per specialty for those admitted and not 

admitted. In Thurrock the average RTT waiting time across all treatment functions for those admitted was 

11.66 weeks and 6.86 weeks for those not admitted. The figure below depicts the average waiting times for 

each treatment function, and it can be seen that for those admitted, the Ophthalmology (16.10 weeks), ENT 

(14.75 weeks), Gynaecology (14.69 weeks) and Trauma & Orthopaedics (13.75 weeks) had the highest 

average waiting times across 2015/16; whilst Gastroenterology had the lowest (5.33 weeks).  [Average 

waiting times were not available for a number of treatment functions due to small numbers of pathways]. 

For those not admitted, the treatment functions with the largest average waiting times were 

Gastroenterology (10.86 weeks), Neurology (10.83 weeks), ENT (10.43 weeks) and Trauma & Orthopaedics 

(9.07 weeks). Geriatric Medicine and General Medicine had the lowest average waiting times, with 5.11 and 

5.05 weeks respectively.   

Figure 56: Average waiting times by function, 2015/16 

 

Source: NHS England 

Page 175



114 

 

 

 

As mentioned earlier in the document, the national standard is for the majority of pathways to be 

completed within 18 weeks of referral. Figure 57 below shows each treatment function by its proportion of 

pathways that were completed by the national standard for admitted patients, and it can be seen that whilst 

100% of rheumatology pathways were completed by the standard, functions such as Trauma & 

Orthopaedics (71.43%), Gynaecology (71.71%), Neurology (72.2%) and ENT (72.87%) all had low 

proportions of pathways completed by 18 weeks. Across all treatment functions, 80.89% of Thurrock 

pathways were completed in 18 weeks for admitted patients, compared to 84.61% nationally.  

Figure 57: Pathways completed within 18 weeks by treatment function – admitted patients 

 

Source: NHS England 

For those not admitted, there was a higher total proportion completed by the 18 week standard – 90.51% in 

Thurrock across all functions compared to 93.87% nationally. As with the above, Trauma & Orthopaedics 

(78.1%) and ENT (85.76%) were amongst the functions with the lowest proportions completed, with 

Gastroenterology (83.39%) also having a low proportion. 

Figure 58: Pathways completed within 18 weeks by treatment function – non-admitted patients 

 

Source: NHS England 

Page 176



115 

 

 

Whilst the above data shows the median waiting times and the proportion completed by 18 weeks for each 

function, this does not reflect those who waited the longest periods of time for treatment. For those 

admitted, whilst 95% of all pathways were completed by 30 weeks (with 50% completed by 11.66 weeks as 

shown above), this still meant that 5% - 440, took over 30 weeks to complete. The functions with the largest 

numbers of pathways affected were General Surgery (81), Trauma & Orthopaedics (70) and Ophthalmology 

(70), which is relative to the larger numbers of patients in each treatment function. The function likely to 

have the longest wait between referral and treatment is Trauma & Orthopaedics, with a number of 

pathways waiting longer than 35 weeks and a comparatively high average wait (13.75 weeks). This however 

could be expected if there are excess demands on those requiring emergency treatment which might take 

precedence. 

Table 31: RTT time for the longest-waiting 5% by treatment function - admissions, 2015/16 

Treatment Function RTT time for the longest-waiting 5% 

General Surgery 81 Pathways were completed beyond 29 weeks. 

Trauma & Orthopaedics 70 Pathways were completed beyond 35 weeks. 

Ophthalmology 70 Pathways were completed beyond 21 weeks. 

Other 43 Pathways were completed beyond 25 weeks. 

Gynaecology 37 Pathways were completed beyond 29 weeks. 

Gastroenterology 31 Pathways were completed beyond 22 weeks. 

Urology 29 Pathways were completed beyond 32 weeks. 

ENT 29 Pathways were completed beyond 33 weeks. 

Cardiology 18 Pathways were completed beyond 28 weeks. 

Total 440 Pathways were completed beyond 30 weeks. 

Source: NHS England 

For those not admitted, the longest-waiting 5% of patients (1582) waited over 24 weeks for completion of 

treatment. The largest numbers corresponded to the functions of Other (301), General Surgery (195) and 

Ophthalmology (149), which again have the largest numbers of patients. As above, the function likely to 

have the longest wait between referral and treatment is Trauma & Orthopaedics, with a number of 

pathways waiting longer than 33 weeks and a comparatively high average wait (9.07 weeks). This however 

could be expected if there are excess demands on those requiring admission or emergency treatment which 

might take precedence. 

Table 32: RTT time for the longest-waiting 5% by treatment function - non-admissions, 2015/16 

Treatment Function RTT time for the longest-waiting 5% 

Other 301 Pathways were completed beyond 19 weeks. 

General Surgery 195 Pathways were completed beyond 25 weeks. 

Ophthalmology 149 Pathways were completed beyond 17 weeks. 

ENT 135 Pathways were completed beyond 27 weeks. 

Dermatology 124 Pathways were completed beyond 23 weeks. 

Gynaecology 117 Pathways were completed beyond 21 weeks. 

Trauma & Orthopaedics 114 Pathways were completed beyond 33 weeks. 

Cardiology 79 Pathways were completed beyond 19 weeks. 

Urology 68 Pathways were completed beyond 25 weeks. 

Neurology 60 Pathways were completed beyond 25 weeks. 

Gastroenterology 57 Pathways were completed beyond 25 weeks. 

Geriatric Medicine 51 Pathways were completed beyond 10 weeks. 

Rheumatology 45 Pathways were completed beyond 20 weeks. 

Thoracic Medicine 41 Pathways were completed beyond 24 weeks. 

General Medicine 25 Pathways were completed beyond 24 weeks. 

Total 1582 Pathways were completed beyond 24 weeks. 

Source: NHS England 

Page 177



116 

 

 

One explanation for some delays to the pathways could result from the “ban” on consultant to consultant 

referrals.  For example, in a 12 month period, 350 patients were referred to Gastroenterology, only to be 

referred back to their GP, who then made another referral to either Gastroenterology or Gynaecology within 

60 days, let alone commencement of treatment. Apart from the delay in care, this also has an added impact 

on GP appointment and administration time. Further work could take place to investigate pathways where 

this might be an issue. 

 

 DIAGNOSTIC TESTS 5.3 

 

As RTT waiting times measure the patients’ full waiting time from GP Referral to Treatment, some part of 

which may include a diagnostic test, ensuring patients receive their diagnostic test within 6 weeks is vital to 

ensuring the delivery of the RTT waiting times standard of 18 weeks.  

In 2015/16, there were 61,584 diagnostic tests carried out for Thurrock patients across 15 key procedure 

types. The most common tests were Non-Obstetric Ultrasound and CT scans which accounted for 29.85% 

and 29.75% of the diagnostic activity respectively. A breakdown can be seen in the table below. 

Table 33: Diagnostic tests by test type, 2015/16 

Diagnostic Test Name Total 

Activity 

% Of All 

Activity 

Non-Obstetric Ultrasound 18381 29.85% 

CT 18321 29.75% 

MRI 9124 14.82% 

Audiology Assessments 4337 7.04% 

Echocardiography 3772 6.12% 

Colonoscopy 1543 2.51% 

Gastroscopy 1507 2.45% 

Dexa Scan 1312 2.13% 

Sleep Studies 1052 1.71% 

Cystoscopy 1033 1.68% 

Flexi Sigmoidoscopy 520 0.84% 

Peripheral Neurophys 357 0.58% 

Urodynamics 267 0.43% 

Barium Enema 56 0.09% 

Electrophysiology 2 0.00% 

Total 61584  

Source: NHS England 

The table above covers all tests, whether they were planned (i.e. patients who had a test booked and 

completed as part of a regular schedule), unscheduled (i.e. those occurring following an emergency 

admission or in A&E) or waiting list tests (i.e. those for patients on a waiting list for a test). Unscheduled 

activity accounted for 1.72% of all diagnostic activity, and below it can be seen that 38.00% of this was due 

to CT scans (402 tests), with the next two most common being Non-Obstetric Ultrasounds (269 tests) and 

Gastroscopies (128 tests). 

  

Page 178



117 

 

 

Table 34: Unscheduled diagnostic tests by test type, 2015/16 

Diagnostic Test Name Total Unscheduled 

Activity 

% Of All 

Unscheduled 

Activity 

CT 402 38.00% 

Non-Obstetric Ultrasound 269 25.43% 

Gastroscopy 128 12.10% 

Echocardiography 96 9.07% 

MRI 70 6.62% 

Flexi Sigmoidoscopy 56 5.29% 

Colonoscopy 16 1.51% 

Barium Enema 8 0.76% 

Cystoscopy 8 0.76% 

Dexa Scan 4 0.38% 

Sleep Studies 1 0.09% 

Audiology Assessments 0 0.00% 

Electrophysiology 0 0.00% 

Peripheral Neurophys 0 0.00% 

Urodynamics 0 0.00% 

Total 1058  

Source: NHS England 

In 2015/16, 1.5% of Thurrock’s diagnostic tests took place more than six weeks after the referral took place, 

which was below the England average of 3.5% and above the target figure of 1%. The figure below depicts 

the six week tests broken down by test type, and it can be seen that 8.8% of Peripheral Neurophysiology 

tests in Thurrock took place after 6 weeks, compared to 3.2% nationally. However relating this back to the 

activity data above, there was a relatively low number of tests in this category (357) and none were 

unscheduled, meaning the waiting time could not be attributed to a higher demand from emergency 

activity. Urodynamics, Colonoscopy and Gastroscopy were the next highest categories in Thurrock and high 

in England also. 

Figure 59: Diagnostic tests occurring 6+ weeks post-referral by test type, 2015/16 

 

Source: NHS England 

Page 179



118 

 

 

 WHAT ARE THE OPPORTUNITIES? 5.4 

Of the above test types, it is estimated that at least non-obstetric ultrasounds could take place in primary 

care if the appropriate resources were available. A limitation of the above data is that it is not clear where all 

of the tests happened – i.e. whether in a primary care or hospital setting. For this purpose, it is assumed that 

these occurred in an elective hospital setting, with an average cost of £1,646 per test. Excluding the 

unscheduled activity, there were 18,112 non-obstetric ultrasounds, meaning this could have cost as much as 

£29,812,352 in 2015/16. Comparatively speaking, the cost of undertaking these in primary care would be 

the cost of a machine (£18,000-£25,000 perhaps
iv
) and then an appointment cost (£36 per appointment). So 

doing these in primary care could have cost only £652,032 plus however many machines were purchased. 

 

 WHAT ARE THE POTENTIAL IMPACTS TO OTHER PARTS OF THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL 5.5 

CARE SYSTEM? 

 

From the level of data presented in this section, we are unable to clarify accurately the impact of that delays 

in diagnostics or RTT pathways are having on the overall sustainability either operationally or financially on 

our local Health and Social Care System.  However, these data do pose the following questions that warrant 

further investigation: 

- Do the specialities with highest RTT median waits end up with more A&E attendances 

(hypothesising that if people are not seen and treated, then they are more likely to have an 

exacerbation?) 

- Do the specialties with highest RTT median waits relate to any primary care quality or workforce 

issues? 

- Are delays to diagnostics and treatment causing unnecessary deterioration in patients’ clinical 

conditions, that in turn is placing unnecessary increased demand on Adult Social Care? 

- Any particular delays for diagnostic procedures impacting on the RTT delays. 

- Are patients being forced to access A&E for diagnostics because they were delayed in getting them 

as an elective procedure? 

- Given that the “Payment by Results” tariff system has now largely been abolished and secondary 

hospital care is being commissioned on block contract, could the system be made more efficient if 

the ban on “Consultant to Consultant” referrals imposed by CCGs was lifted? 

  

Page 180



119 

 

 

 SUMMARY – REFERRAL TO TREATMENT CARE PATHWAYS 5.6 

 

  
A patient is placed on a ‘referral to treatment pathway’ by their GP when it is believed that they need 

non-emergency hospital treatment. The NHS constitution sets at a number of waiting time standards for 

this kind of care.  These include that NHS Consultant led treatment should commence within a 

maximum of 18 weeks from GP referral for non-urgent conditions; a patient with suspected cancer 

should be seen within a maximum of two weeks by a cancer specialist; and no more than 1% of patients 

should wait more than six weeks for a diagnostic test. 

The most common RTT pathways in Thurrock that result in a Hospital Admission are for General 

Surgery; Trauma and Orthopaedics; and Ophthalmology. 

The average RTT waiting time across all treatment functions for those admitted was 11.66 weeks and 

6.86 weeks for those not admitted in 2015/16 but there is wide variation in waiting times between 

different pathways.  For those patients who are admitted to hospital, Ophthalmology, ENT, Gynaecology 

and Trauma/Orthopaedics have median waiting times above the Thurrock average. For patients not 

admitted to hospital, Gastroenterology, Neurology and ENT have the longest median waiting times. 

Thurrock performs poorly on the 18 week waiting time target compared to England on a number of 

care pathways.  For Trauma & Orthopaedics, Gynaecology, Neurology and ENT approximately only out 

of every 10 patients who are referred commence treatment within 18 weeks. 

Too many patients in Thurrock on RTT pathways are waiting too long for diagnostic tests. Significantly 

more than 1% of all patients requiring Peripheral-Neurophys, Urodynamics, Colonoscopy Garstroscopy 

and Flexi-Sigmoidoscopy waited more than six weeks to access these diagnostic procedures. 

There may be opportunities to increase cost efficiency in the system by moving some diagnostic tests 

into the community. 

Further investigation is required to ascertain the causes of delays in accessing diagnostics and within RTT 

pathways and what impacts these may be having on on other parts of the Health and Social Care 

system locally. 

 

Page 181



120 

 

 

 

 RECOMMENDATIONS – REFERRAL TO TREATMENT 5.7 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

Improvement in the 

efficiency of Referral to 

Treatment Elective Care 

Pathways to reduce 

unnecessary waiting times 

for patients 

- Increase understanding of 

patient flows from Primary Care 

referral, through diagnostics to 

treatment with priority given to 

the poorest performing care 

pathways as identified in tables 

31 and 33, and the highest 

volume diagnostic tests as 

identified in tables 34 and figure 

53 

- Public Health to work with NHS Thurrock CCG and 

Basildon Hospital to undertake a ‘Deep Dive’ on the 

efficiency and cost effectiveness of elective care and 

access to diagnostics. 

- Further analysis of BTUH workforce data to unpick 

whether that has an impact on the delayed transfers of 

care or the specific categories of diagnostic test/RTT 

pathways that have the longest waiting times 

-  

- Deeper triangulation of outpatient clinic data to 

primary care long term condition management data to 

understand if quality of primary care has any impact 

on outpatient activity through use of the Integrated 

Data Solution Software Package (as set out in the 

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021), 

once procured. 

 

- Investigate the feasibility and 

cost effectiveness of moving 

some diagnostic tests from 

secondary to 

community/primary care 

settings 

- Improve front door triage at A&E at Basildon Hospital to 

assess and deflect patients with minor conditions from 

being able to accessing A&E services 

- Undertake further analyses of the interface between A&E 

and the Essex Ambulance Service with a view to 

understanding and recommending appropriate actions to 

prevent inappropriate A&E conveyances by ambulance. 

Page 182



121 

 

 

Section 6  ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

 INTRODUCTION 6.1 

The adult social care system offers help, care and support to people with a wide range of needs arising from 

disability, illness or other life situations. It helps people to live as independently as possible, protects people 

from harm in vulnerable situations, balances risks with rights and offers essential help at times of crisis. 

Support is offered in people’s own homes, residential and nursing homes or other community settings. 

Unlike NHS care, most of these services involve an assessment of the individual’s ‘eligible’ needs and 

financial resources (means-testing).  

Local authorities have important statutory duties, but nationally, more than 90 per cent of actual support is 

provided by a diverse range of more than 19,000 independent organisations, ranging from big corporate 

chains to small family-run businesses, charities and social enterprises.  

The success story of longer lifespans means there are many more people with care and support needs 

arising from a mixture of physical health and mental health conditions including dementia and frailty in old 

age. However, like other parts of the health service, increasing demand and the complexity of that demand 

is placing strain on Adult Social Care services both nationally and locally. 

In this section we examine Adult Social Care provision in Thurrock and explore its relationship with other 

parts of the health service and wider community locally. 

 WHO IS USING ADULT SOCIAL CARE (ASC)? 6.2 

6.2.1   AGE OF CLIENTS ACCESSING ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

 

Figure 60 shows the number of ASC packages/services provided by age for community, residential, nursing, 

carers services and total number of services. 

There is a reasonably sharp decline in numbers of services in all categories for clients aged 18 through to 21 

drop off in number of packages/services provided from age 18 (168 packages down to 80 packages, 52.4% 

reduction).  The reasons for this are unclear although one possible explanation may be differences in criteria 

for awarding social care packages between the Council’s Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care 

functions. 

Total number of ASC packages provided start to rise steeply to clients aged from their late 60s and very 

steeply for clients aged in their late 70s, peaking for clients aged in their late 80s. 

Numbers of community care packages start to rise for clients aged in their late 60s onwards, and the rate of 

increase rises significantly for clients aged from 80 to 90. Residential care demand increases sharply for 

clients aged 80 plus. 

 

Page 183



122 

 

 

This graph would suggest that prevention and early intervention programmes to reduce the number of 

community packages needs to be targeted at the population in early 60s onwards, and those aiming to 

prevent entry into residential care need to be targeted at the population from their early 70s onwards. 

Figure 60: The Number of ASC Packages/Services Provided by Age Receipient in 2014-15 and 2015-16 

 

 

6.2.2  LOCATION OF CLIENTS ACCESSING ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

 

In order to explore the demand for ASC packages from different older people within Thurrock, spend of 

ASC package per ward was analysed.  The cost of a ASC package/service is a good proxy for the complexity 

of the package/service and hence the need or demand for ASC within different geographical communities. 

Figure 61 shows the total cost of ‘community’ ASC packages per ward for clients aged 75+.  Clients aged 

75+ were considered as the previous section identifies these as the cohort of the population using the 

greatest number of ASC packages.  It is also recognised that patients aged 75+ are more likely to be living 

with a number of long term health conditions which will be managed by other parts of the health and social 

care system locally.   

A Community ASC package in this context has been defined as a Homecare Package; Direct Payment; Day 

Care Package; or Supported Living Package. 

Residential and Nursing Home packages have been excluded from these analyses as they are provided in 

fixed buildings where clients are moved to, and so would skew the genuine need from within the original 

ward population.  Equipment was excluded, as costs were not recorded at client level by year. 

  

Page 184



123 

 

 

Figure 61 Total spend on ASC "Community" packages per ward for clients aged 75+ 

 

 

Figure 61 shows a very significant variation in spend on Community ASC packages (as defined above) 

between different ward populations in 2015-16.  However this variation is likely to be a product of a number 

of factors; the percentage of the ward population made up of those aged 75+, their need for ASC 

community services and their ability to self-fund. 

However, four wards; Grays Thurrock, Stifford Clays, Stanford East and Corringham and Chadwell St. Mary 

stand out as having significantly greater spend than other wards and hence overall the greatest level of total 

ward population based need.  In order to have the biggest impact on the population aged 75+, resources 

for future prevention and early intervention programmes should be focussed most on these four wards.  

In order to control for variation in population age structure between wards, Figure 62 shows the rate of 

spend on ASC Community packages (as defined above) per head of ward population aged 75+.  Rate of 

spend per head of ward population aged 75+ shows the complexity of the ASC need within each ward 

population aged 75+. 

 

  

Page 185



124 

 

 

Figure 62 Rate of ASC spend on "Community" care packages for clients aged 75+ per head of population aged 75+ by 

Ward (2015-16) 

 

Like Figure 61, there is very considerable variation in rate of spend on Community based (as defined 

previously) ASC packages per head of ward population aged 75+.  Three wards; Grays Thurrock, Stifford 

Clays and Grays Riverside have rates of spend per head of population aged 75+ significantly greater than 

the Thurrock mean.  As age structure between wards has been controlled for, this would suggest that the 

population aged 75+ in these three wards have significantly greater ASC needs than older people living in 

other areas of Thurrock.   The reasons for this are not clear and this warrants further investigation. 

Figure 63 shows the association between the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2015) indicator on Income 

Deprivation Affecting Older People. (IDAOP).  Income Deprivation is a relatively good proxy indicator for 

levels of morbidity within a community and is positively associated with poorer health. 

Figure 63 Association between spend on community based ASC packages per head of population aged 75+ and 

IMD(IDAOP, 2015) 

 

Page 186



125 

 

 

Figure 63 shows a positive correlation between IMD (2015) IDAOP and ASC Community spend per head of 

population aged 75+ at ward level.  Approximately 12.5% of the variation in spend per head of population 

aged 75+ between wards (a good proxy indicator of level of social care need within the general population 

of older people) can be explained by levels of income deprivation.  This is a relatively strong association for 

a single variable.   Whilst association between two variables does not necessarily demonstrate one causes 

another, a reasonable hypothesis could be that differences between morbidity levels in different populations 

is at least partly responsible for Adult Social Care need within different ward populations in Thurrock.  This in 

turn would suggest that there are Social Care Inequalities in addition to Health Inequalities between 

different wards in Thurrock. 

 ADULT SOCIAL CARE NEED IN OLDER PEOPLE AT GP PRACTICE POPULATION LEVEL 6.3 

 

Given the evidence presented in sections 1-3, it can be hypothesised that the clinical care provided by GP 

practices and NHS Community Services could in part impact on Adult Social Care demand in those patients 

aged 75+. 

In order to explore this further, mean ASC Community Spend per registered patient aged 75+ at GP 

practice population level was calculated.   Some care should be exercised in interpreting the results within 

this section as only approximately 50% of ASC clients in 2015-16 had their GP practice recorded in their 

record.   This has major implications for future plans set out within the Thurrock Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy (2016-2021) to procure a system to link ASC and NHS records at patient/client level, and needs to 

be urgently addressed if we are going to be in a position to best target prevention and early intervention 

programmes at those most likely to benefit, and understand how patients/clients flow through our health 

and social care system.   As such one key assumption in this section is that those clients without a record of 

a GP practice are distributed across all GP practices on the basis of their population age structures. 

*1 Community Spend, as in section 6.2.2 was defined as spend on Homecare Packages, Direct Payments, 

Day Care and Supported Living.  Residential and Nursing Care spend was deliberately excluded from this 

analysis, as a single GP practice is usually assigned to a specific nursing or residential home, and so 

including this spend in the analysis may skew the general ASC demand within different GP practice 

populations.  

*2. In addition, the following conditions were excluded from the analysis on the basis that clinical practice at 

Primary or Community Care level was unlikely to impact significantly on ASC need of these patients:  

Acquired Physical Injury, Acquired Brain Injury; Aspergers; Autism; Motor Neuron Disease; Other DID  

  

Page 187



126 

 

 

Figure 64 shows this analysis by GP practice population 

 

  

Page 188



127 

 

 

Figure 64 ASC community package *1 spend per registered patient aged 75+ (2015-16) 

 

Figure 64 shows a surprisingly wide variation in ASC Community Package *1 spend per head of practice 

population aged 75+.  There is almost a 20 fold difference in spend between the practice population with 

the highest and lowest rate of spend.   Four practice populations aged 75+; Santa Maria Medical Centre; Dr. 

Yasin; Chadwell Medical Centre; Prime Care Medical Centre have rates of spend per head registered 

practice population aged 75+ that are 224%; 210%; 197% and 193% greater than the Thurrock mean spend 

of £355 per head of population aged 75+.   This would suggest a genuinely significantly greater level of 

ASC community need within the older populations of these practices than others in Thurrock, although the 

reasons for this are unclear and warrant further investigation. 

Figure 65 shows the mean spend per ASC Community *1 package on patients aged 75+ receiving a 

community *1 ASC package.  Unlike figure A, figure B demonstrates variation in the complexity of packages 

being provided to clients registered to Thurrock Council ASC and receiving care packages funded by 

Thurrock Council, by GP practice population. 

  

Page 189



128 

 

 

Figure 65 Mean spend per ASC community package *1 on patients aged 75+, 2015-16 

 

There is considerably less variation in mean spend per client at GP practice population level (figure B) than 

compared to spend per head of population aged 75+ (figure A).  This suggests that GP practice populations 

of clients aged 75+ in receipt of ASC community packages *1 have a generally similar level of complexity.  

Four practice populations appear to be outliers; East Thurrock Road Medical Centre; Medic Housel Dr. 

Pattara/Dr. Raka and The Shehadeh Medical Centre.  Patients aged 75+ in receipt of ASC community *1 

packages registered to these practices appear to have more complex needs.  The reasons for this are 

unclear and this may warrant further investigation. 

6.3.1  ASSOCIATION BETWEEN UNDER DOCTORING AND ASC SPEND ON COMMUNITY *1 

PACKAGES FOR THOSE AGED 75+ 

 

Continuity of Care within a GP practice (i.e. being able to see the same doctor for each consultation) for 

older people with long term conditions has already been identified as the single biggest factor in preventing 

unnecessary hospital admissions in this age group. ***INSERT REFERENCE.  The issue of under-doctoring in 

Thurrock has already been discussed in section 1.1.2 of this report.  Under-doctoring presents a major issue 

for both high quality primary care and continuity of care.  Under-doctored practices have been shown to be 

more likely to employ locums making continuity of care less likely.  More fundamentally it is likely to be 

more difficult for an older person to obtain a timely appointment to see any GP in an under-doctored 

practice. 

Figure 66 shows the association between under-doctoring at GP practice population level in Thurrock and 

mean ASC Community Spend per patient aged 75+ registered to that practice (as a proxy of practice 

population ASC need). 

 

  

Page 190



129 

 

 

Figure 66 Association between ASC Community Spend *1 on patients aged 75+ and levels of under-doctoring at GP 

Practice Population level (2015-16) 

 

There is a clear positive association between levels of under-doctoring at GP practice level and mean ASC 

Community *1 spend per patient aged 75+ in the GP practice population. Almost 17% of the variation in 

ASC Community *1 spend per patient over 75 between different practice populations can be explained by 

levels of under-doctoring.  This is a relatively strong association for a single variable although it is important 

to remember that association does not necessarily imply that under-doctoring is causing increased rates of 

ASC spend. 

  

Page 191



130 

 

 

 WHAT TYPE OF CARE IS BEING USED? 6.4 

  

Figure 67 Number of New Package Starts by Primary 

Support Reason and Service Type, 2015-16 

   

 

   

Figure 69 % Breakdown of Service Type for each 

Primary Support Reason for new ASC Package Starts in 

2015-16     

   

 

Figure 67 shows the proportion of all ASC package service types for each Primary Support reason.  When 

comparing figure 69 to Figure 67 for three most common Primary Support Reason; Physical Support – 

Personal Care; Physical Support – Access and Mobility Only and Learning Disability Support, in 2015-16 the 

Figure 67 shows the Primary Support Reason 

recorded and service type for all new ASC Package 

starts in 2015-16.  The most common Primary 

Support Reason for a new ASC package/service start 

in 2015-16 was Physical Support – Personal Care 

Support, followed by Physical Support – Access and 

Mobility Only.   

The vast majority of services for both of these 

primary support reasons were provided within the 

community; 86.8% and 83.7% respectively (Figure 

69). 

The third most common reason for a new package 

start in 2015-16 was Learning Disability Support, but 

conversely Physical Support the majority of new 

package starts for LD were residential. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 68 % Breakdown of Service Type for each Primary 

Support Reason, for all ASC Packages Provided in 2015-16 

Page 192



131 

 

 

ratio of residential: community services was greater for new package starts than for all packages (which 

would include historical on-going packages).  This may suggest that the complexity of packages is 

increasing. 

Compared to Physical Support, a significantly greater percentage of support to people with Learning 

Disabilities is provided in a residential setting (57%) as opposed to a community setting.  This ratio has also 

increased when comparing new Learning Disability package starts in 2015/16 those that started before 

2015/16.  

 

 

 WHAT CLINICAL CONDITIONS ARE LEADING TO ADULT SOCIAL CARE NEED IN 6.5 

THURROCK? 

 

Whilst demand on ASC is a function of more than simply declining physical or mental health (for example 

breakdown of family carer ability may be the key underlying reason why a resident enters the care system), 

a level of physical or mental morbidity or decline or impairment is almost always one of the key underlying 

factors relating to need. 

Understanding the most common physical or mental health problems that precede ASC need is key to our 

future plans to work further ‘upstream’ to reduce ASC demand.   Thurrock Social Care staff have the ability 

to record the underlying health condition that led to a new Package or Service, by selecting from a list of 

discrete options from a drop down menu in LAS. 

Figure 70 shows the total number of ASC service packages in 2015-16 by underlying health condition, and 

figure Y shows the total cost of these packages by condition. 

Figure 70: Recorded Conditions Leading to an ASC Package/Service in 2015-16 

 

 

Page 193



132 

 

 

 

Figure 71 Total spend on ASC packages/services by recorded condition 

 

 

As both Figure 70 and Figure 71 show, there is extremely poor recording of the underlying health condition 

or impairment that has led to an ASC package or service being provided in 2015-16.  Indeed Figure 71 

shows that in the last financial year we spend £32.9M on ASC packages without a clear record the 

underlying physical or mental impairment or condition being recorded, and this included £8.56M for new 

package starts, (Figure 72) suggesting that the practice of not recording underlying health condition is 

current amongst our social care front line staff.    

Figure 72 Total spend on ASC packages/services by condition for packages commencing in 2015-16 

 

Source: LAS 

Page 194



133 

 

 

Furthermore, the next two most common categories in both numbers of services/packages and spend are 

“Other Long Term Physical” and “Other Long Term Neurological”, which provided further specific detail of 

the health conditions underlying the ASC package.    It is imperative moving forward that the Council 

ensures better recording of physical and mental health conditions underlying ASC package provision by 

front line Social Care Staff, if we are going to be able to target improvements in NHS clinical care pathways 

and long term conditions management for the conditions that are most likely to lead to future ASC 

demand. 

In order to try and further understand the health conditions that precede entry into the local ASC system, 

further analyses were done on the Other Long Term Physical and Other Long Term Neurological categories.   

Some social care staff ‘free text’ a description of the health of the client in these two categories.  Category 

analysis was undertaken on the free text ‘health details’ field and a description of any health condition 

coded.   The results of this analysis are shown in Figure 73 

Figure 73 Clinical Diagnoses (where recorded) of New ASC Package Starts for Clients Recorded in the Long Term 

Physical Disability Category (2015-16) 

 

 

It is important to note that Figure 73 counts diagnoses and not clients.  The majority of clients had more 

than one clinical condition free text recorded in their ‘health details’ field.  It is also worth noting that we 

cannot be sure what impact each clinical diagnosis had on the decision to provide an ASC package to the 

client.  For example a client may have Hypertension, Diabetes and Incontinence, but if the hypertension and 

diabetes are well controlled, the demand for care may have been a result purely of the incontinence. 

Remembering the above caveats, Muscular Skeletal Problems – Arthritis, Osteoporosis and MSK (other) if 

combined are by far the most common clinical diagnosis recorded in the Long Term Physical ‘Other’ 

category.  It is highly likely that these conditions are playing at least some part in entry into the ASC system 

for a significant number of clients.  This warrants further investigation particularly in terms of the quality of 

Page 195



134 

 

 

NHS services commissioned to treat MSK, and in terms of primary, secondary and tertiary MSK prevention 

initiatives. 

It is also worth noting a significant proportion of the diagnoses are for conditions that are largely 

preventable, and controllable with good clinical management. These include Hypertension, CHD, Diabetes, 

Chronic Kidney Disease, Falls, High Cholesterol, Atrial Fibrillation and COPD.  Improving the case finding and 

clinical management of these conditions and (in the medium term) investing in Primary Prevention initiatives 

such to assist people to improve lifestyle behaviour is likely to have a positive impact on reducing demand 

of ASC conditions. 

Figure 74 shows the same category analyses on the free text ‘health details’ field as in Figure A, but for 

clients with new ASC packages/services categorised as “Long Term Neurological”. 

Figure 74 Number and % of Clients Categorised as "Long Term Neurological" with a ASC Package Start in 2015-16 by 

existing recorded clinical conditions 

 

Cerebrovascular disease (excluding dementia) was the second most common clinical diagnosis recorded for 

this category.  Again, this clinical diagnosis refers to a group of health events that are largely preventable 

and respond well to good clinical management if diagnosed early.    This is further evidence that 

programmes to increase hypertension case finding, improve the management of hypertension and prevent 

strokes will reduce demand on ASC. 

 CLIENT ‘FLOW’ BETWEEN YEARS AND ACROSS SERVICE PACKAGES.  LINKING 6.6 

ACTIVITY TO COST. 

 

Understanding how clients enter and leave the ASC system locally, and how their needs increase or 

decrease whilst in it, is absolutely key if successful demand management programmes are to be developed.  

Similarly being able to link service package numbers and type (activity) to cost across the cohorts of people 

to whom the council provides ASC services and packages is vital. 

 

Page 196



135 

 

 

There is much more work that needs to be undertaken to generate a clear picture of the ‘client journey’ 

through our commissioned and provided ASC services.  The DPH has commenced this work by building a 

client flow modeller that links activity to cost for all ages, and clients aged 75+ for different service 

categories. 

There are too many iterations of output from the modeller to include all within this report, but an example is 

given below in Figure 75 

Figure 75: Output from Public Health Team ASC Service Package Flow Modeller 

 

 

Figure 75 above shows the total number of ASC packages being carried forward from pre 2014-15 through 

to 2016-17, the total being provided in 2014-15 and 2015-16 and the total new package starts and package 

ends in 2014-15 and 2015-16. It demonstrates that there were fewer total ASC packages starting, ending 

and being provided in 2015-16 compared to 2014-15. This can also be shown in Figure 76 from the 

modeller. 

  

Page 197



136 

 

 

Figure 76 Number of ASC Service Packages 2014 to 2016 for Clients of all ages 

 

Conversely, the mean cost of each service/package in 2015-16 was slightly greater than in 2014-15 across 

all Service Packages. (Figure 77) 

Figure 77 Mean cost per service package for all ASC Packages/Services from 2014-2016 for all ages of client 

 

 

As a result, this total ASC spend across all packages in 2015-16 increased compared to 2014-15, even though fewer 

packages/services were provided. ( 

Figure 78) 

Page 198



137 

 

 

 

Figure 78: Total spend on all ASC packages from 2014 to 2016 for all ages of client 

 

 

Similar patterns can be observed in Residential and Homecare Service Package Categories for clients aged 

75+.  In both cases, the total number of Homecare or Residential Care Packages falls from 2014-15 to 

2015-16, suggesting that either some of the prevention/early intervention work undertaken/commissioned 

by the ASC Teams, and/or diverting or rationing care is being effective in reducing the number of packages.  

However, the mean cost of each care package increases from 2014-15 to 2015-16 in both Homecare and 

Residential Care, suggesting that complexity of care packages is increasing.  The impact of this may be 

masked by additional efforts to procure more cost efficient services.   The overall impact in both service 

categories is an overall increase in spend. 

The ASC Client Flow Cost Modeller Can be Accessed Here  *** INSERT HYPERLINK 

 

 THE RAPID RESPONSE ASSESSMENT SERVICE 6.7 

 

The Rapid Response Assessment Service (RRAS) is an integrated joint health and social care team which 

provides rapid response and assessment for people in crisis and went live in April 2012. RRAS co-ordinates 

and redirects care to the appropriate intermediate provider or service. The RRAS was developed following 

the success of the Thurrock Rapid Response Duty pilot with the aim to respond to service users who needed 

to be seen within four days to prevent the situation reaching crisis and also respond when they are in crisis. 

The pilot identified the need for urgent social care support outside of the usual ways of working and 

dedicated health care input. The team does not hold a caseload and is therefore able to rapidly respond to 

crisis intervention calls.  

  

Page 199



138 

 

 

 

6.7.1  REFERRALS  

 

There were 3,462 referrals received to the RRAS in 2015/16, which is a 1.7% increase on the previous year. 

64% of these were female and 36% were male. 89% of all referrals received were for those over the age of 

65 years. The table below depicts the primary client group (where known on the system) for those referred 

in both 2014/15 and 2015/16, and it can be seen that the most common client group is frailty, followed by 

physical disability. 

 

Table 35: Primary Client Group for RRAS referrals, 2014/15 and 2015/16 

Primary Client Group 2014/15 2015/16 

Carer 15 7 

Dementia 136 93 

Dual Sensory Loss 0 2 

Frailty/Illness 1494 1802 

Hearing Impairment 13 28 

Learning Disability 31 23 

Mental Health 24 20 

Other Vulnerable People 21 17 

Physical Disability 267 296 

Substance Misuse 6 4 

Visual Impairment 7 6 

Unknown 1390 1164 

Total 3404 3462 

Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report 

 

The most predominant referral routes into the service were GP’s (19% - 658 referrals), 

Family/Friends/Neighbours (18% - 628 referrals) or Self referrals (16% - 539 referrals). Self-referrals saw a 

large increase between 2014/15 and 2015/16 – from 433 in 2014/15 to 539 in 2015/16. Large proportional 

increases can also be seen in referrals from Family/Friends/Neighbours – from 508 to 628, perhaps 

suggesting an increased awareness around the service. 

Table 36: Referral route for RRAS referrals, 2014/15 and 2015/16 

Referral Route 2014/15 2015/16 

Care Provider/agency 344 394 

Carer 13 38 

CST 197 162 

East of England Ambulance 92 98 

Family/Friend/Neighbour 508 628 

GP 652 658 

Internal (RRAS) 61 35 

NELFT 387 359 

Out Of Hours services 264 178 

Other 24 29 

Self 433 539 

SEPT 0 2 

Social Care 149 167 

Voluntary Organisations 4 2 

Unknown 276 173 

Total 3404 3462 

 Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report 

Page 200



139 

 

 

The primary reason for referral was for short term health conditions (51% - 1770 referrals). A further 19% 

(673) had long term health conditions. Again this was the same for last year (48% short term health 

conditions, 15% long term health conditions). There was a 34.5% reduction between 2014/15 and 2015/16 

in the number of referrals with an unknown reason, which is positive to see as it enables a better 

understanding of the reasons the service is being requested. 

 
Table 37: Referral reason for RRAS referrals, 2014/15 and 2015/16 

Referral Reason 2014/15 2015/16 

Carer Breakdown 37 28 

Dementia 50 14 

Discharge from Hospital 6 12 

End of Life 2 3 

Equipment/Adaptation 55 74 

Falls 24 14 

Long Term Conditions - Health 515 673 

Malnutrition 16 9 

Medication 47 47 

Mental Health 14 2 

Mobility 33 18 

Review 3 0 

Safeguarding 4 0 

Social Care Package 238 279 

Social/Welfare check 421 320 

Short Term Conditions - Health 1635 1770 

Unknown 304 199 

Total 3404 3462 

Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report 

 

46% of referrals in 2015/16 were repeat referrals in the year which is a 2% increase from last year.  

6.7.2  ASSESSMENTS 

 
There were 2,632 assessment visits in 2015/16, which is a 2.7% increase on the previous year. This equates 

to 76.02% of those referred having an assessment. 

3.0% of service users receiving an assessment resulted in an immediate admission to hospital; this is a 0.2% 

decrease from last year and is 4% under the target. Of those aged 65+ 2.3% had an immediate admission 

to hospital, which is a 0.6% decrease from last year.  

830 referrals in 15/16 did not go on to receive an assessment/visit; the reasons for these are listed in the 

table below. It can be seen that the majority of these were resolved by telephone or no visit was needed 

(505), and a large number were also redirected (226). The top three services that service users were 

redirected to were GPs (38), Locality Social Workers (34) and District Nurses (33). 

  

Page 201



140 

 

 

Table 38: Reasons that no assessment was carried out 

Reason for No Assessment Number of service users 

Admitted to hospital prior to visit 75 

Deceased 1 

Declined visit 5 

Inappropriate Referral 10 

No response 8 

Resolved by telephone/no visit needed 505 

Redirected 226 

Total 830 

Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report 

6.7.3  WHAT ARE THE OPPORTUNITIES? 

An evaluation of the RRAS was commissioned and completed in 2014. Recommendations centred on the 

following themes: 

1) Technical improvements to recording data 

2) Joint working and team dynamics 

3) Raising awareness 

4) Pathway development 

 

6.7.4  WHAT ARE THE POTENTIAL IMPACTS? 

Whilst it is not possible to track the subsequent outcome of each patient through the system, some 

population-level analyses can be undertaken to consider if the RRAS could be a contributor to the variation 

seen in other health and care services.  The figure below shows the 658 referrals received in 2015/16 by the 

RRAS at GP level, depicted as a rate per practice population aged 65+ (as the majority of the referrals were 

for patients in this age group). The range in referral activity is quite vast, with two practices referring no 

patients, and two practices having a referral rate of over 165 per 1,000 patients aged 65+. The Thurrock 

average is 27.69. A point of interest observed from the variation in referral activity is that the majority of 

practices in the Tilbury locality have low referral rates, whilst the majority of the South Ockendon practices 

have high referral rates. This variation could also be explained by differing levels of awareness of service 

criteria. 

  

Page 202



141 

 

 

Figure 79: Referral rate to RRAS by GP 

 

Source: Thurrock Council and HSCIC GP Population figures, April 2015 

Another point of interest is that many of the GPs with low referral rates to the RRAS also have some poorer 

levels of long term conditions management (see practice-level analysis in Appendix X) – examples include 

Dr Patel/Sai Medical Centre, Chadwell Medical Centre and Dr Suntharalingham. 

Subjective avoidance (in opinion of RRAS worker) 

RRAS workers are asked to record the services which – in their opinion, the intervention of RRAS had 

prevented the service user requiring in the future. Whilst the below data is subjective, it does give an 

indication on the perceived needs of the service users and can offer one potential way to quantify costs 

saved due to the service being in place. For both 2014/15 and 2015/16, the largest proportion of service 

users were viewed to have required home care if RRAS had not been in place (43.52% in 2014/15 and 

53.61% in 2015/16). Emergency Respite Care was the second most common category of package avoided, 

with 26.42% of service users in 2014/15 and 17.59% of those in 2015/16 estimated to have required this. 

For both years, less than 5% of all RRAS users would have required no package without RRAS – this equates 

to 126 service users in 2014/15 or 127 in 2015/16. 

  

Page 203



142 

 

 

Figure 80: Potentially-avoided social care services by type 

 

Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report 

Using the data gained from Adult Social Care package costs, the unit costs per social care package were 

quantified as: 

- Home care - £128.55 per week 

- OP residential care - £517.39 per week 

- OP nursing care - £606 per week 

[It should be noted that upon comparing these costs to data from the Personal Social Services Research 

Unit 2015
v
, Thurrock’s costs were much lower [PSSRU costs were £178, £595 and £621 per week 

respectively] 

Applying the numbers of service users estimated to avoid each service in 2015/16 would generate savings 

of £524,081 on the proviso that each service user classified would definitely have used the listed service. It 

should be noted that the true savings are likely to be higher, as reliable weekly estimates were not found for 

dementia residential care or emergency respite care due to the varying nature of the care required at 

different levels of need. 

Table 39: Costs of potentially-avoided social care packages 

Service Mean cost Frequency Number of service users Cost per week 

OP Nursing (private) £606 Week 259 £156,954 

OP Residential (private) £517.39 Week 359 £185,743 

Home Care £128.55 Week 1411 £181,384 

Total       £524,081 

Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report and the Unit Costs of Health and Social Care, 2015 

  

Page 204



143 

 

 

 SUMMARY: ADULT SOCIAL CARE 6.8 

 

 

  

Page 205



144 

 

 

SUMMARY: ADULT SOCIAL CARE (CONTINUED) 

  

Page 206



145 

 

 

 RECOMMENDATIONS: ADULT SOCIAL CARE 6.9 

Required Outcome 
Mechanisms to achieve 

the outcome 
Recommendations 

 

Reduce demand for new 

Community ASC packages 

- Ensure that the Living Well In 

Thurrock programme of 

prevention and early 

intervention is targeted at the 

most effective populations 

- Direct prevention and early intervention programmes at 

the population aged 60 plus 

- Prioritise additional prevention and early intervention 

programme activity in Grays Thurrock, Stifford Clays, 

Standford East and Corringham and Chadwell St. Mary 

wards to maximise impact 

- Increase understanding of the 

fundamental local drivers of 

ASC need in Thurrock 

- Undertake further analyses to ascertain why the older 

population of Grays Thurrock, Stifford Clays and Grays 

Riverside have a significantly greater need for ASC 

compared to older people living in other parts of the 

borough. 

 

- Undertake further analyses to ascertain why older people 

registered to Santa Maria Medical Centre, Dr. Yasin’s 

Practice, Chadwell St. Mary MC and Primecare Medical 

Centre appear to have a significantly greater need for ASC 

community care packages when compared to older 

people registered at other GP practices across the 

borough 

 

- Review the effectiveness of local MSK commissioned 

health services 

 

- Improve recording practice by front line ASC staff  on the 

LAS system wrt underlying reasons why a care package is 

initiated, clinical conditions of the clients involved and the 

GP practice that the client is registered to 

- Address under doctoring in GP 

Practices in Thurrock 

- Implement the recommendations as set out in sections 3.9 

7.9 

- Improve community capacity in 

order to assist older people to 

remain independent for longer 

- Implement (or continue to implement) the programmes 

set out in section 7.1, 7.3 and 7.8 

Reduce the demand for 

residential care 

- Increase the percentage of 

clients with Learning Disabilities 

supported within the 

Community 

- Implement the proposed programmes to support clients 

with LD within the community including Shared Lives; 

Medina Road Supported Living and Sheltered Housing 

Support 

- Consider further review of the current service model 

- Reduce the number of older 

people entering residential care 

- Implement the Depression Screening Programme as set 

out in the Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-

21 

 

- Target prevention and early intervention support at clients 

from their early 70s onwards 

 

- Implement the recommendations set out in sections 7.1, 

7.3 and 7.8 

  

Page 207



146 

 

 

Section 7  HOW CAN WE MITIGATE THESE IMPACTS? 

This final section considers the latest evidence base relating to interventions that reduce demand on the 

health and social care system and ameliorate some of the negative impacts discussed in the previous six 

sections. 

This final section discusses: 

- Self-care 

- Prevention  

- Primary Care 

- Social Care 

 SELF-CARE 7.1 

7.1.1  INTRODUCTION 

There is a large body of information to indicate that encouraging patients to self-care where possible 

increases a patient’s sense of empowerment and control over their health, and can lead to generally 

healthier behaviours that prevent future ill-health. This also results in a reduction in unnecessary use of 

health services, meaning the system can provide support to those that need it most. 

Research commissioned by the Patient Information Forum
vi
 looked at the benefits of providing patients with 

high quality information to support them in managing their health. Some of their key quantifiable findings 

included: 

 

• Making greater use of e-communication channels could deliver very substantial capacity savings in 

primary care - One analysis suggests that if 10% of GP attendances for minor ailments could be avoided 

through online self-care advice, annual savings would be around £830m. 

• Increasing the self-management of long-term conditions can yield significant returns on investment - The 

management of long-term conditions accounts for 70% of total health spending. Evidence from the Expert 

Patients Programme found that 50% of participants reported having subsequently made fewer GP visits, 

while 35% reported having reduced their medications. Overall, for an investment cost of £400 per attendee, 

the research estimated an average net saving of £1,800 per chronically ill patient per year. 

• Actively engaged patients incur lower costs - Evidence from the United States shows that more active 

participants in treatment decisions and self-management incur significant lower costs, overall and for 

different long-term conditions. More actively engaged patients are also less likely to experience a medical 

error or be readmitted within 30 days of discharge. A study for the Commonwealth Fund found the cost of 

health care to be 21% higher for the least engaged patients than for the most engaged. 

 

Page 208



147 

 

 

 COMMUNITY-CENTRED APPROACHES 

7.1.2  WHAT WORKS? 

Communities play a key role in improving health and wellbeing. One aspect where this is well-known to be 

the case is the benefit of good social relationships on mental health - evidence reviewed in a recent Public 

Health England report
vii

 found that communities ‘with strong social relationships are likely to remain alive 

longer than similar individuals with poor social relations’, with a 50% increase in odds of survival over an 

average follow-up of 7.5 years when integration in social networks, supportive social interactions and 

perceived social support were examined. Loneliness itself has a range of impacts on health, with lonely 

individuals more likely to undertake unhealthy lifestyle behaviours (e.g. poor diet which could potentially 

lead to obesity), have an increased risk of developing dementia or depression, and are less likely to maintain 

independence in later life.
viii

 

Community-centred approaches draw on community assets, are non-clinical and go beyond using a 

community as a setting for health improvement. The table below captures the range of potential 

outcomes experienced from these approaches: 

 

Table 40: Potential outcomes from community-centred approaches 

 

Source: Public Health England, 2015 

Page 209



148 

 

 

 

Evidence behind each of these is varied, although there are some reviews that show quantifiable cost 

benefits. Volunteering for example has been estimated to be worth around £13,500 per person per year in 

its effects to the wellbeing of each volunteer.
ix
 Social Return on Investment calculations have estimated a 

return on investment of £2.16 for every £1 invested in community development approaches
x
. 

Locating a range of services together in community hubs at the heart of a population enables support to be 

directed towards those most likely to benefit most. It is likely to reduce inequalities that may be experienced 

due to lack of access, and promote individuals to support each other, encouraging community resilience 

and empowerment. 

7.1.3  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK 

 COMMUNITY HUBS 

Community Hubs are run by the local community in partnership with a range of organisations including 

Thurrock Council. There are currently five Community Hubs in South Ockendon, Chadwell St Mary, Stifford 

Clays/Blackshots, Tilbury and Aveley, with work in progress to open one in Purfleet later in 2016. The 

priorities for each Hub are determined according to local need, meaning their activities are varied. Examples 

of hub activities include:    

 Support and advice for residents to self-serve for information, both via face-to-face and web-based 

support 

 Increasing volunteering opportunities 

 Hosting groups to encourage cohesion and reduce isolation such as craft groups 

 Hosting groups to improve health and wellbeing (e.g. fitness classes) 

 Facilitating meeting opportunities for residents with public sector staff (e.g. Local Area 

Coordinators) 

 Community gardens 

Current data on users of the hubs is limited at present; however investment has been made into a borough-

wide database for all hubs to record activity in order to better quantify their use and effectiveness. The most 

established hub is South Ockendon, and footfall figures have recorded an average of 10,311 visitors per 

month between April-June 2016, with this centre including a library service, Local Area Coordination, and a 

base for housing staff and Department for Work and Pension staff. Community feedback to date has been 

very positive with residents, ward councillors and professionals providing good comments back to the 

Stronger Together partnership who oversee the Hubs programme. One volunteer in Tilbury summed this 

up by saying ‘people come in full of concern, and leave after talking over a cup of tea empowered to face 

anything’. Analysis of the volunteers data indicates there is a mixed demographic across age, gender, 

disability and ethnicity reflected in the volunteer base. 

 LOCAL AREA COORDINATION 

Local Area Coordinators (LACs) are in place to support with building community capacity; developing and 

updating asset lists ( activities and clubs); identifying gaps, opportunities and trends in the community; 

encouraging the use of voluntary organisations; enhance knowledge of community responses to replace 

services including micro –enterprise; maintain visibility within the community, holding a presence/making 

presence known in the community (working in places which include community hub, GP surgeries, children 

centres, village halls, cafes/pubs, health centres, schools, voluntary organisation, faith groups, libraries). 

Page 210



149 

 

 

Currently there are nine Local Area Co-ordinators working with Thurrock, who each have an allocated area 

to co-ordinate as shown in the map below.  

Figure 81: Map of LAC areas, 2016 

 
Source: Thurrock Council 
 

Within Thurrock our Local Area Co-ordinators Service is supported by a partnership between: 

 

 Thurrock Council for Voluntary Service  

 Thurrock Health watch  

 Thurrock Council’s Adult Social Care, Housing & Public Health teams  

 Essex County Fire and Rescue Service  

 North East London Foundation Trust (provides community health services)  

 South Essex Partnership Foundation Trust (provide services for mental health problems)  

 Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group (work with the Council to commission services to promote 

health and well-being). 

 

Out of 1,066 initial contacts, 588 Thurrock residents were referred and introduced to the service in 2015. 

Some of those initial contacts may not have progressed to referrals where the LAC was unable to re-contact 

or arrange an outcomes service for the individual.  The Age Bands of the users is detailed in the table 

below. 

  

Page 211



150 

 

 

Age Ranges 
 
Table 41: LAC users by age band, 2015 

Age Bands Count of Persons 

0-18 years 2 

18-35 years 112 

36-55 years 182 

56-75 years 241 

76+ years 252 

        Source: Thurrock Council 

 

Geographically there is higher usage of the LACs within the Stanford le Hope, Corringham, Fobbing and 

Horndon on the Hill Locality with 18.97% and Aveley/Purfleet the lowest with 5.44%, as shown below in the 

table. There will also be a new Community Hub opening within Purfleet. 

 
Locality Usage 
 
Table 42: LAC usage by area, 2015 

Locality/Ward Persons 

Total 

Locality 

Usage (%) 

% of Locality who 

presented as a Older 

Person 

Stanford le Hope, Corringham, Fobbing and Horndon 

on the Hill 

108 18.37% 39% 

Blackshots, Little Thurrock, North Grays, Stifford Clays 82 13.95% 57% 

South Ockendon, Belhus Ward 75 12.76% 13% 

Chadwell St Mary/Orsett/Bulphan 68 11.56% 38% 

Tilbury 63 10.71% 29% 

West Thurrock, Chafford Hundred, North/South Stifford 54 9.18% 26% 

East Tilbury 53 9.01% 19% 

Grays Riverside 53 9.01% 32% 

Aveley/Purfleet 32 5.44% 44% 

Total 588 100%  

Source: Thurrock Council 

 

Within 2015 the main referral source into the LAC service was via Adult Social Care with 44%, followed by 

the Community (Inc. Family, Police, Friends and the Individual) (12%) then Housing (11%), Mental Health 

(10%) and Other HP/GP (9%) as the referral source, detailed in the chart below. 

 

  

Page 212



151 

 

 

Figure 82: Referrers into LAC service, 2015 

 
Source: Thurrock Council 

 

The main presenting issue for those being referred to LACs was Older Person
1
. This varied by age group – it 

can be seen that the most common issue for those aged 76+ was older person (87%) and same for 56-

75yrs (36%) whilst for those aged 56-75yrs the most common was mental health (36%) and same for 36-

55yrs (49%).  Learning Difficulties was the most common issue for age groups 18-35yrs (35%) and 0-18yrs 

(100%) detailed below in the chart.  

 

Figure 83: Main presenting issue for LACs by age group, 2015 

 
Source: Thurrock Council 
                                                                   

Page 213



152 

 

 

Older Person is the data recording term for a  person that has been referred/contacted the LAC Service due 

to Social Isolation, Day Care enquiries, Supporting others in their Community, wish to Volunteer and/or 

looking for local Clubs/Activities instead of funded Day Care over the age of 55yrs +. 

The LAC Service has two levels of support available, these are: 

 Level 1 Support is the provision of information and/or limited support, information and advice is 

given and no further support is needed at that time, connections made. 

 Level 2 Support is a longer term relationship supporting people (children and adults); who are 

vulnerable due to physical, intellectual, cognitive and/or sensory disability, mental health needs, age 

or frailty and require sustained assistance. 

Out of the 588 referrals, 431 persons received level 1 support and 157 received level 2. The type of support 

received is detailed in Table 43. 

Table 43: Level 1 and 2 support, 2015 

LAC Level and Service Required - 2015 

Level 1  431 

Information 207 

Advice 113 

Connections 100 

No Further Action 11 

Level 2 157 

Total of Level 1 / 2 588 

Source: Thurrock Council 
 

42 persons who received a LAC service went on to require a formal funded service, which is 7% of the 588 

persons supported. The types of service required are detailed in Table 44. 

 
Table 44: Type of formal funded service subsequently required, 2015 

Formal Funded Service Required - 2015 

Adult Social Care 12 

Adult Care 9 

Mental Health 8 

Housing 4 

Third Sector 4 

Children's Services 3 

GP 2 

Total Formal Funded Service 42 

           Source (Thurrock Council) 
 

The table below shows the onward referrals made by the LACs following intervention: 

 

  

Page 214



153 

 

 

Table 45: Onward referrals by LACs, 2015 

Onward referrals via LAC Support/Assistance, 2015 

Advice & Info given 401 

Individual connected with others in community 288 

Access other groups/clubs in community 273 

Referred to Public Health initiative (including 

experienced MECC conversation) 

156 

Family and carers supported 104 

Supported with daily entitlements/benefits 58 

Supported to access volunteer opportunities 47 

Supported to access paid employment 12 

Total 1339 

Source: Thurrock Council 
 

Age UK collated a map defining the relative risk of loneliness in older people based on demographic 

characteristics. This can be triangulated with the locations of our community hubs which are used by the 

LACs for community development/engagement and new referrals into the service. The locations can be 

seen in the map below.  

 
Figure 84: Relative risk of loneliness and Thurrock's community hub locations, 2016 

 
Source: Age UK / Thurrock Council 
 

The locality of Blackshots, Little Thurrock, North Grays and Stifford Clays has 57% of referrals for Older 

Person which is near to the Stifford Clays hub. Aveley/Purfleet has 44% of referrals with a community hub 

located at Aveley. Purfleet are opening an additional community hub, so this will capture Older Persons 

within Purfleet if they feel socially isolated.  

 

Page 215



154 

 

 

Stanford le Hope, Corringham, Fobbing and Horndon on the Hill had 39% of referrals for older person, 

although there is no community hub within this locality. Compared to the Age UK Heat Map the risk of 

loneliness is lower within this area, therefore there may be a need to investigate further and local 

interpretation to establish if a need for a Community Hub is required within this locality. 

 

LAC Locality % of older person within each locality 

Blackshots, Little Thurrock, North Grays, Stifford Clays 57% 

Aveley/Purfleet 44% 

Stanford le Hope, Corringham, Fobbing and Horndon on the 

Hill 

39% 

Chadwell St Mary/Orsett/Bulphan 38% 

Grays Riverside 32% 

Tilbury 29% 

West Thurrock, Chafford Hundred, North/South Stifford 26% 

East Tilbury 19% 

South Ockendon, Belhus Ward 13% 

Source: Thurrock Council 

 

 MICRO ENTERPRISES 

With the support of the Transformation Challenge Award, there is a scheme underway to enable 25 

Thurrock-based micro enterprises to develop in 2016/17. These will be linked to hubs and will diversify the 

market for people looking to use personal budgets to meet health, care and support needs. The pilot 

programme in South Ockendon [‘Living Well at Home’] will look to develop specific support to supplement 

domiciliary care where traditional service models are failing to provide the community and individual need 

amongst vulnerable residents. It is envisaged that a neighbourhood scheme, linked to the hub and 

combining volunteer help with opportunities to commission care through local micro-enterprise, will help 

test new ways of working for the future. 

 LINKS WITH HEALTH AND SOCIAL PRESCRIBING 

The four future Integrated Healthy Living Centres will develop alongside the Community Hubs programme 

ensuring there is a synergy to how they work locally. Basildon Hospital has worked through Community 

Hubs to help avoid unnecessary use of A&E via dissemination of relevant information. Health Watch are also 

working through hubs to engage residents face to face on issues around health and social care, which has 

partly influenced the new focus of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  There will also be future work 

undertaken with regard to launching social prescribing in Thurrock. Social prescribing provides a way of 

linking patients' in primary care and their carers with non-medical sources of support within the community. 

It is tailor-made for voluntary and community sector (VCS)-led interventions and can result in:  

 better social and clinical outcomes for people with long-term conditions and their carers  

 more cost-efficient and effective use of NHS and social care resources  

 a wider, more diverse and responsive local provider base.  

 

Page 216



155 

 

 

It is the intention for small social prescribing pilots to take place in the areas of Aveley/Purfleet and Tilbury. 

Scoping work is still underway but it is expected that these will commence within the next few months. 

 THIRD SECTOR LONG TERM CONDITION GROUPS 

There are a number of third sector organisations in place dedicated to supporting those with diagnosed 

long term conditions to effectively manage their condition, as well as promote awareness amongst the 

wider community. An example is Diabetes UK – current examples of campaigns they are running include: 

foot care, 15 procedures, access to structured education and know your risk. Their work is further 

strengthened by the future inclusion of two new indicators on Diabetes in the NHS Improvement and 

Assessment Framework 2016/17: improving access to structured education, and improving treatment 

targets. Work is underway to quantify usage of this group, e.g. how many people accessing their support 

groups/ support line, feedback following attendance at Living with Diabetes days etc. 

7.1.4  WHAT COULD WE IMPROVE? 

 
 More opportunities for structured, supported volunteer involvement 

 Increasing range of activities delivered from hubs 

 The Local Area Co-ordinators have acknowledged a need to improving their recording of personal 

data, when visiting residents and they are currently in the process of transferring over to Thurrock 

Councils Liquid Logic Programme. Further recommendations from Public Health to include more 

robust data collection and quality processes to aid future understanding of LAC impact. 

 Further recommendations have been made in the LAC Final Report 2014 

 Understanding of patient usage of third sector groups such as Diabetes UK, Stroke Association and 

Breathe Easy  

 

7.1.5  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

 

 COMMUNITY HUBS 

Although quantifiable data across all hubs is limited, it is expected that the Hubs programme will have had 

the following outcomes: 

 Increased employment/employability 

Hubs are helping volunteers and the unemployed secure paid work. Two part time jobs have been created 

to date in the hubs themselves, with one additional full time post about to be advertised. A total of 23 

individuals have gained employment in 2015/16 due to the hubs of which 16 were long-term unemployed 

and a further 7 community hub volunteers. Based on the original CBA analysis and supporting formulas for 

engagement, retention, impact and deadweight, as well as the unit cost/assumptions derived from the 

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) Cost Benefit Analysis Framework, the total annual fiscal benefit 

from these individuals entering employment is £52,815 or £78,738 annual public value benefit
xi
. 

There is also the impact that the hubs will have had on employable skills – for example, there is a thorough 

volunteers training programme that all new volunteers must undertake, as well as job searching skills etc. 

111 volunteers were trained and supported into roles at hubs in 2015/16. Exit interviews from those who left 

their posts show a strong correlation between the personal skills and development experienced through 

Page 217

http://lacnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/Thurrock-141119-LAC-Final-Report-PDF.pdf


156 

 

 

volunteering, and their ability to take paid employment. The value of volunteers supporting the community 

hubs programme is estimated at £151,448. This is based on a formulaic approach using the hourly rate 

contained in the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings, ONS and apportioned to the caring, leisure and 

other service occupations industry. Each volunteer is very modestly considered to have completed at least 

3x hours per week to support community hubs in 2015/16 over a 40 week period in 2015/16.  

 Reduction in visits to the Civic Offices and uptake of ‘My Account’ through hubs 

Shaped by local need, all hubs have a core offer: support and advice for citizens to self-serve for 

information and make on-line applications to services with signposting from trained volunteers. In addition, 

hubs support the channel shift of enquiries from direct to Council into hubs, helping people both face to 

face and through web based support. The development of micro-enterprises will further develop local 

support networks in the coming months.  

 Reductions on number of visits to Grays to visit Job Centre Plus advisor  

In South Ockendon, a very positive partnership has developed with DWP. A piece of work funded through 

“Our Place” in 2014 explored the barriers to work experienced by the long term unemployed, especially 

aged 50+. This enabled a positive dialogue to develop with DWP and has resulted in DWP having a regular 

base at the Hub – meeting clients, enabling them to ‘sign on’ locally and explore appropriate job 

opportunities. Since November 2015, DWP has released staff from the Grays Job Centre to meet claimants 

at South Ockendon, saving individuals around £4.50 in public transport costs per visit. The caseload started 

at 77 and now stands at 92 clients.  

Work is in process to explore a similar relationship with DWP at Tilbury Community Hub where similar 

barriers to employment exist, though with a more vibrant and local job market developing with the 

expansion of Tilbury Docks. Thurrock Council is leading a project match funded by ESF and ERDF to develop 

a full Community Led Local Development strategy over the summer, and intend to make a full application 

following this stage of the bidding process.  

 Increased connectivity and reduced loneliness 

Timebanking has been established alongside hubs, and over 11,000 exchanges were supported in 2015/16. 

Many time bankers choose to donate their time to a wider community benefit so that people can benefit at 

short notice before ‘earning’ credits. In addition, the wide range of community activities run from each hub 

offer a range of opportunities to increase community connectivity. 

It is envisaged that the support that the hubs programme has provided to residents will also have improved 

knowledge of available health services, thereby potentially avoiding inappropriate primary care and 

secondary care visits, and promoting opportunities for self-care. 

Work is underway to perform an external evaluation and provide more robust data before the end of the 

financial year.  

 

 LOCAL AREA COORDINATION 

254 Thurrock residents were referred to the LAC service via Adult Social Care, with 21 people being referred 

back to a fully funded Adult Social Care package. If it is assumed that the remaining 233 people could 

Page 218



157 

 

 

perhaps have required assistance from Adult Social Care at a later stage, then the LAC referral has at least 

delayed or prevented the Adult Social Care costs at this present time. 

 

Thurrock Council LAC Final Report 2014 states the financial benefits and potential cost savings of the LAC 

Service: 

 
Table 46: Potential unit costs preventable by LAC intervention 

Cost Unit of prevention cost Rationale 

£36 Per GP appointment Earlier intervention from a LAC could result in a reduction in future GP 

visits if potential health conditions are managed at an earlier stage. 

£1779 Episode of inpatient care Earlier intervention from a LAC could result in a reduction of an episode 

of being admitted to hospital, by supporting the management of their 

medication and their health. 

£956 Annual cost of depression Poor mental health has been reported as a key presenting issue in 106 

cases of those referred to LAC. Assuming that intervention from a LAC 

has assisted to improve mental health, this could contribute to reducing 

future costs associated with conditions such as depression. 

£445 MH overnight stay in hospital Early Intervention from a LAC could result in a reduction of potential 

admissions to hospitals if condition is supported at an earlier stage. 

£162 MH community provision (per 

contact) 

Need for mental health professionals could reduce in future, by people 

attending regular support groups within the community. 

£510 Adult Social Care assessment By referring to the LACS at the first stage, this could potentially save the 

initial ASC assessment, for alternative solutions within the community. 

£65 Day Care provision By referring to the LACS at the first stage, this could potentially save 

Day Care services, for alternative solutions within the community. 

£10.50 Volunteering per hour 

contribution 

By referring to the LACS, people have been supported into volunteering 

within their communities, to give help to others in need and improve 

health and wellbeing. 

£1,962 Annual cost of alcohol to NHS Early Intervention from a LAC could result in a reduction of alcohol 

services/rehabilitation, if supported to reduce and/or stop alcohol intake 

and improve their health 

£7,744 & £8,831 Income Support claimant 

entering work & ESA claimant 

entering work 

LACs can support people to get back into work and assist with the 

process to encourage this. 

£3,568 Average response to fire Early intervention from a LAC to support people to make their homes 

safer, so potential saving to the fire service and less risk to the person 

due to their environment and lifestyle being a high fire risk. 

Source: Thurrock Council LAC Final Report 2014, Thurrock Council LAC Data 2015 and Baqir et al 

(2011):http://jpubhealth.oxfordjournals.org/content/33/4/551.long#T2) 

 

Page 219

http://jpubhealth.oxfordjournals.org/content/33/4/551.long#T2


158 

 

 

 SOCIAL PRESCRIBING  

Social prescribing provides a way of linking patients' in primary care and their carers with non-medical 

sources of support within the community. It is tailor-made for voluntary and community sector (VCS)-led 

interventions and can result in:  

 better social and clinical outcomes for people with long-term conditions and their carers  

 more cost-efficient and effective use of NHS and social care resources  

 a wider, more diverse and responsive local provider base.  

Results from a pilot intervention in Rotherham
xii
 found that social prescribing resulted in a reduction in 

patients’ use of hospital resources:  

 Inpatient admissions reduced by as much as 21%  

 Accident and Emergency attendances reduced by as much as 20% 

 Outpatient appointments reduced by as much as 21% 

The pilot also found that patients who were referred to the Social Prescribing Pilot experienced 

improvements in their well-being and made progress towards better self-management of their condition. 

Analysis of well-being outcome data showed that, after 3-4 months, 83% of these patients had experienced 

positive change in at least one outcome area. 

The pilot also quantified some outcomes, with an estimated return on investment of an additional £0.16-

0.26 per £1 spent for volunteering alone, and at five years, a potential total return on investment of £3.38 

per £1 spent. 

 

 THE ROLE OF PHARMACISTS IN PROMOTING SELF-CARE 7.2 

7.2.1  WHAT WORKS? 

There is a large body of evidence to suggest that pharmacists play a large role in relieving pressure in 

primary care already. This is particularly the case for women, older people and those with a long term 

condition as these have been identified as the most frequent pharmacy users
xiii

.  All pharmacy contractors 

are required to provide Essential Services; these include: 

 Dispensing and actions associated with dispensing including repeatable dispensing  

 Disposal of unwanted medicines  

 Promotion of healthy lifestyles, including public health campaigns  

 Prescription-linked interventions  

 Signposting  

 Support for self-care  

 

Some pharmacy contractors also provide Advanced Services; these include: 

 Medicine Use Reviews and Prescription Interventions (MURs).  

 New Medicines Services (NMS).  

Page 220



159 

 

 

 Appliance Use Reviews (AUR) – No services provided in Thurrock, but services can be accessed 

outside the borough and via the internet.  

 Stoma Appliance Customisation Services (SAC)  

Other services currently delivered through Thurrock’s pharmacies include: 

 Substance misuse [Needle Exchange / Supervised Consumption]  

 Sexual Health [Chlamydia testing and treatment / Emergency hormonal contraception  Condom 

distribution (C-card) scheme]  

 Stop smoking services  

The below focuses on Medicines Use Reviews and Minor Ailments Services. 

 MEDICINES USE REVIEWS  

An MUR is an advanced service which involves the pharmacist reviewing the patient’s use of their 

medication, ensuring they understand how their medicines should be used and why they have been 

prescribed, identifying any problems and then, where necessary, providing feedback to the GP. This 

generally happens once a year. Three national target groups for (MURs were introduced in October 2011; a 

fourth target group was agreed in September 2014 (Cardiovascular risk) and was implemented from 1st 

January 2015. The national target groups are: 

1. patients taking high risk medicines; 

2. patients recently discharged from hospital who had changes made to their medicines while they 

were in hospital. Ideally patients discharged from hospital will receive an MUR within four weeks of 

discharge but in certain circumstances the MUR can take place within eight weeks of discharge; 

3. patients with respiratory disease; and 

4. patients at risk of or diagnosed with cardiovascular disease and regularly being prescribed at least 

four medicines. 

From 1st April 2015 community pharmacies must carry out at least 70% of their MURs within any given 

financial year on patients in one or more of the above target groups. 

 

7.2.2  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK? 

 

 MEDICINES USE REVIEWS 

In March 2016, there were 31 pharmacies in Thurrock which had completed at least one MUR. For that 

month, 1061 MURs were completed in 31 Thurrock pharmacies – giving an average of 34.2 MURs 

completed per pharmacy. This is slightly higher than the Essex LPC area average of 32.3. As each pharmacy 

is only able to complete a maximum of 400 MURs per year, this would indicate that 12 months at 34.2 

MURs per month would result in 411 per year. Data from additional months is required to ascertain whether 

Thurrock is regularly completing high numbers of MURs or whether this was just a month with an 

exceptionally high volume.  

 

Page 221



160 

 

 

 WHAT COULD WE IMPROVE? 

The Thurrock Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (2014) recommended that whilst Thurrock appeared to 

have a generally good coverage of pharmacies with suitable opening hours, there was capacity within the 

existing offer to target more patients who would benefit from MURs and Prescription Interventions. 

However as highlighted above, more current data is required to corroborate this. The PNA also highlighted 

that the out of hours service offer may need to adapt with the future population changes and the changes 

towards an extended hours service in primary care. 

7.2.3  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

 MEDICINES USE REVIEWS 

Presuming that at least 70% of the MURs that are being delivered are to those target groups, it is assumed 

that this intervention will: 

 improve patients’ understanding of their medicines; 

 highlight problematic side effects and propose solutions where appropriate; 

 improve adherence; and 

 reduce medicines wastage, usually by encouraging the patient only to order the medicines they 

require. 

As Thurrock has a large number of patients that would greatly benefit from an MUR, it is key that this is still 

encouraged. Further research suggests that care home patients would benefit even more from an MUR as 

they take an average of 7-8 different medications
xiv

 - it would be of interest to calculate the impact this 

could have for Thurrock residents if promoted locally.  

 

 PRIMARY PREVENTION OF LONG TERM CONDITIONS 7.3 

7.3.1  INTRODUCTION  

This section of the report will include information on potential opportunities to strengthen primary 

prevention of disease in Thurrock. Prevention approaches can be adopted by a number of organisations – 

e.g. social care, public health, housing, CCG etc, and although the future benefits might not be immediately 

felt by the organisation investing up-front (e.g. a public health team funds NHS Health Checks which might 

result in better disease detection, meaning the savings would be first made from potential reduced hospital 

activity for example), there are still large benefits to be had for patients.  The Thurrock Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy 2016-2021 is focussed on prevention and early intervention, containing 5 goals which together aim 

to “add years to life and life to years”. 

 

7.3.2  WHAT WORKS? 

 

There is a large body of evidence to indicate that poor housing can impact on health conditions such as: 

 Respiratory problems – this is particularly linked to residents living in cold homes and houses with 

mould, although is also associated with general overcrowding.  

Page 222



161 

 

 

 Circulatory problems – cold homes are linked to an increased risk of hypertension and 

cardiovascular disease.  

 Mental Health – increased exposure to noise due to poor home insulation can result in increased 

stress and anxiety levels, and also lead to an increased risk of ischemic heart disease. Stress can also 

be exacerbated by feeling of overcrowding or fuel poverty. Depression and feelings of isolation 

could also develop as people feel they cannot escape their situation. 

 Falls and accidents – poor quality housing leads to an increased number of falls.  

 Mortality rates – The Marmot Review Team (2011) found that residents who live in the coldest 

homes have a 20% greater risk of Excess Winter Deaths than those in the warmest homes, simply 

due to their houses being colder. It is also known that mortality rates increase during extreme hot 

weather; and although there is not conclusive evidence to link housing quality to this, it should be 

ensured that houses are adequately ventilated to reduce this risk. 

The National Housing Federation has produced a number of briefings looking at how housing associations 

can work effectively with health authorities to address unmet health needs. One briefing (Tackling health 

inequality through housing, 2014) outlined a number of housing interventions that have a ‘major’ impact on 

health: 

 Targeted work with homeless individuals with complex and multiple needs 

 Providing refuge and support for victims of domestic violence and specialist work with troubled 

families 

 Supporting people to access other public services, training or employment 

 Encouraging healthy lifestyle choices in partnership with public health and the voluntary sector 

 Providing advice and information, help with personal budgeting, financial capability and support to 

deal with personal debt 

 Providing specialist accommodation and tailored support to help people with mental health needs 

make progress towards recovery and live more independently 

 Providing specialist support and adapted accommodation for people with long-term conditions. 

 

7.3.3  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK 

 

“Well Homes” is a project that is supporting residents in private sector housing and looks at a more holistic 

response to the full range of home based hazards. Through targeted partnership working to the most 

vulnerable residents, it tackles health inequalities caused by poor quality housing conditions and improves 

access to a wider variety of services, including local health services. The service was re-procured by Public 

Health in August 2015 and a two year contract offered to Family Mosaic. 

The service objectives are to: 

Improve housing conditions in the homes of people who are most vulnerable/susceptible/at risk to poor 

health as a result of the home, identified as: 

 Older people aged 65 years and over 

 People with respiratory conditions 

 People with cardiovascular conditions 

 People with mental health conditions 

Page 223



162 

 

 

 People on a low income 

- Make homes safer and healthier by: 

 removing housing hazards that may cause falls or accidents 

 reducing excess cold and helping people achieve warmer homes 

- Help residents self-care and protect and improve their own health by: 

 ensuring they are registered with primary care services (GP and Dentist) 

 promoting the uptake of immunisation and screening appointments (including pneumococcal 

jabs, annual flu jabs, appropriate age-related screening programmes) 

 engaging residents, where appropriate, with preventative health and lifestyle services that can 

improve quality of life (Including NHS Health Checks, help to stop smoking, debt advice, LACs, 

weight management and physical activity programmes) 

- Improve the self-reported health and well-being of those accessing the service. 

The service was designed in line with best practice principles outlined above to enable a more holistic 

assessment to be undertaken which would provide a range of advisory services and encourage access to 

others, as well as addressing the home hazard(s) identified. 

 

 WELL HOMES SERVICE ACTIVITY 

 

The following data is for the period 01/08/2015 – 27/04/2016. 

During the above time period, the service has undertaken 241 assessments. Analysis of the age categories 

of the clients reached indicates that only 86 of them were over the age of 65 years, which is 35.7%. 151 of 

the 241 assessments were for clients on benefits, which served as a proxy measure for low income and 

equates to 63% of assessments completed. No robust information was captured on prevalence of long term 

condition to enable analysis on whether these target groups were reached. 

Geographical reach of the programme was varied across the borough. Public Health had provided 9 Lower 

Super Output Areas for the provider to particularly target (these would contain about 9% of the Thurrock 

population), and analysis showed that nearly 20% of assessments completed were within the target areas. 

The geographical variation is surmised to be due to a number of factors including the difficulties with cold-

calling, personal choice whether to accept support, knowledge of the scheme and wider promotion. The 

figure below shows the geographical variation by ward: 

 
  

Page 224



163 

 

 

Figure 85: Well Homes Assessments by ward 

 
Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report 
 

Activity data indicates that the 241 assessments resulted in a total of 593 onward referrals to other services – 

whilst services delivered by Thurrock Council (e.g. social services, homelessness etc) had the highest number 

of referrals, services by Thurrock Lifestyle Solutions (e.g. gardening), Energy services and Fire services also 

received high numbers of referrals. The Well Homes service has begun to work very closely on a pilot 

initiative with the Essex Fire and Rescue Service so it is expected that this number will increase. There were 

43 referrals on to health and lifestyle services, which is 7.3% of all referrals. The table below shows onward 

referral activity by organisation: 

 

Table 47: Onward referrals from Well Homes 

Onward referrals Number Percentage 

 Thurrock Council Services 175 29.51% 

 Energy Services 101 17.03% 

 Thurrock Lifestyle Solutions Services  98 16.53% 

 Essex Fire and Rescue Services 61 10.29% 

 Private Housing Service (Well Homes offers: gas check, quick fix grants, etc)  60 10.12% 

 Health and Lifestyle Services 43 7.25% 

 Private Housing Service (Private Rented Property Inspection Requests) 30 5.06% 

 Home Improvement Agency 20 3.37% 

 Other (e.g. Education and Employment Services, Local Area Coordinator, Debt Services) 5 0.84% 

Total 593 100.00% 

Source: Thurrock Council Performance Report 
 

115 surveys were undertaken with participants after 28 days of receiving the assessment. Of these, 98 (85%) 

said they felt safer in their home as a result of the intervention, and 82 (74%) felt that their health was good 

or very good compared to before the intervention. 

Page 225



164 

 

 

 

7.3.4  WHAT COULD WE IMPROVE? 

Work is underway to better identify those in the most vulnerable groups – it is hoped that by establishing 

clear referral pathways between health and social care services and Well Homes that the service will be able 

to support those who will benefit most. 

Promotional work and engagement have been positive to date; however analysis of postcode-level data on 

referral uptake showed varied activity across the borough which did not necessarily correlate with need. 

Further targeted work could help address this. 

 

7.3.5  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

Using the methodology from the Building Research Establishment’s Housing Health Costs Calculator
xv

, it is 

estimated that undertaking those 241 assessments resulted in savings to the NHS of £418,314 and to the 

NHS and wider society of £1,010,281. These savings are based on reducing harm outcomes such as falls, 

hospital admissions for respiratory conditions exacerbated by mould etc following mitigation of Housing 

Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) hazards. The model uses data from the English House Condition 

Survey to illustrate the effects of various scenarios and repair options. It allows all the hazards measured in 

the Survey to be compared, and identifies repair solutions which provide direct benefit to the NHS through 

reduced injury rates and treatment costs. 

The service is aiming to complete 400 assessments by the end of August 2016. If it achieves this, taking an 

average saving per assessment to the NHS of £1,735.74 and to NHS + wider society of £4,192.04 could 

result in total savings from one year’s activity to be £694,297.10 and £1,676,815 to the NHS and NHS + 

wider society respectively. The cost invested into the service in 2015/16 was £45,000, thereby generating a 

return on investment of £14.43 for every £1 spent for NHS benefits [(£694,297.10-£45,000)/£45,000], and 

£36.26 for every £1 spent for NHS + wider society benefits [(£1,676,815-£45,000)/£45,000]. It should be 

noted that this ROI does not include all costs spent on rectifying housing hazards as this funding came from 

a mix of the Council’s Private Housing Service and various government grants. 

 CANCER SCREENING 7.4 

7.4.1  WHAT WORKS? 

Research conducted by Cancer Research UK states that Cancers that are diagnosed at an early stage, before 

they have had the chance to get too big or spread, is more likely to be treated with success (see table 

below) 

 
Table 48: Type of cancer and prognosis 

Cancer 

Type 
Early diagnosis can improve survival 

Bowel 
More than 9 in 10 bowel cancer patients will survive the disease for more than 5 years if 

diagnosed at the earliest stage 

Page 226



165 

 

 

Breast 

More than 90% of women diagnosed with breast cancer at the earliest stage survive their 

disease for at least 5 years compared to around 15% for women diagnosed with the most 

advanced stage of disease 

Ovarian 

More than 90% of women diagnosed with the earliest stage ovarian cancer survive their 

disease for at least 5 years compared to around 5% for women diagnosed with the most 

advanced stage of disease 

Lung 
Around 70% of lung cancer patients will survive for at least a year if diagnosed at the earliest 

stage compared to around 14% for people diagnosed with the most advanced stage of disease 

Source: Cancer Research UK 

When Cancer is diagnosed at an early stage, it can have a significant result on survival rates, as detailed 

below.  

Figure 86: One year survival rate by stage and cancer type, 2012 

 

Source: Cancer Research UK 

Cancer costs the health system less money to treat if it is detected at an earlier stage and referred at first 

signs via the national two week wait programme. The table below indicates the costs by stage for four types 

of cancer. 

Table 49: Treatment costs by stage and type of cancer 

Cancer Stage Colon 

Cancer 

Rectal Cancer Non-small cell 

Lung Cancer 

Ovarian Cancer 

Stage 1 £3,373 £4,449 £7,952 £5,328 

Stage 2 £7,809 £6,944 £8,349 £10,217 

Stage 3 £9,220 £8,302 £8,733 £11,207 

Stage 4 £12,519 £11,815 £13,078 £15,081 

Additional Costs for Stage 3 if not 

diagnosed at Stage 1 

£5,847 £3,853 £781 £5,879 

Additional Costs for Stage 4 if not 

diagnosed at Stage 1 

£9,146 £7,366 £5,126 £9,753 

Page 227



166 

 

 

Source: Incisive Health – Saving lives, averting costs, prepared for Cancer Research UK 

Average recurrence treatment costs are also lower if diagnosed and treated at an earlier stage: 

Table 50: Recurrent treatment costs by stage and type of cancer 

Cancer Stage Colon Cancer Rectal Cancer  Non-small cell 

Lung Cancer 

Ovarian 

Cancer 

Stage 1 Recurrence £376 £354 £8,457 £1,504 

Stage 2 Recurrence £2,003 £1,890 £10,346 £8,623 

Stage 3 Recurrence £4,757 £4,490 £12,251 £12,276 

Stage 4 Recurrence n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Additional Costs for Stage 3 

if not diagnosed at Stage 1 

£4,381 £4,136 £3,794 £10,772 

 Source: Incisive Health – Saving lives, averting costs, prepared for Cancer Research UK 

7.4.2  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK 

 OVERALL GP PERFORMANCE 

Thurrock GPs have variable Screening rates, Two Week Wait Referrals and a Cancer diagnosis first being 

diagnosed within an Emergency Admission setting via Accident and Emergency between practices. 

Thurrock’s lower performing practices could learn from higher performing practices to improve lower 

outcomes. 

Table 4 states statistical significance from the Thurrock average of practices for each of the Cancer 

measures. 

Table 51: Practice-level performance against five cancer measures 

GP Code GP Surgery Name 

Cancer Screening Uptake % 

Two Week 

Wait Referral 

Route 

Emergency 

Admissions with a 

first time diagnosis 

of Cancer 

Breast  

(Female, 

50-70) 

Cervical 

(Females, 25-

64) 

Bowel 

(Persons, 

60-69) 

F81010 Aveley Medical Centre Low Low Low High Average 

F81082 The Rigg Milner Medical Centre High Average High High Average 

F81219 The Dell Medical Centre High High Average Low Average 

F81192 Dr Headon OT Practice High Average High Low Average 

F81623 Prime Care Medical Centre Average Average Average Low Average 

F81641 Dr Masson KK Surgery High Average Average Average Average 

F81197 Sancta Maria Centre Low High Average Average Average 

F81177 Neera Medical Centre Average Low Average Low Average 

Page 228



167 

 

 

F81697 The Sorrells Surgery Average High Average Low Average 

F81110 Dr Suntharalingam R Practice Low Low Low Low Average 

F81644 Ash Tree Surgery High High High Average Average 

F81691 East Tilbury Health Centre High High Average Average Average 

F81155 Balfour Medical Centre Average Low Average Low Average 

F81137 Dr Colburn Surgery High High High Average Average 

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre Low Average Low High Average 

F81134 Pear Tree Surgery Average Average Average High Average 

F81632 Dr Yasin SA Practice Low Average Low Low Average 

F81088 Southend Road Surgery High Low Average Average Average 

F81206 Shehadeh Medical Centre Average Average Low High Average 

F81698 Dilip Sabnis Medical Centre Average Average Low High Average 

F81084 Chadwell Medical Centre Average Low Average Average Average 

F81113 
Chafford Hundred Medical 

Centre 
Low High Average High Average 

F81742 Acorns Surgery Low Average Low Average Average 

F81218 The Grays Surgery Average Low Average Average Average 

Y02807 Thurrock Health Centre Low Low Low Average Low 

F81211 
East Thurrock Road Medical 

Centre 
High High Average Low Low 

F81198 Dr Pattara/Dr Raja Surgery High High High Low Average 

F81669 Derry Court Medical Practice Low Average Low High Average 

F81153 Hassengate Medical Centre High High High Low Average 

F81708 Sai Medical Centre Low Low Low Low Average 

F81652 Medic House Average Low Low Average Average 

Y00999 St Clements Health Centre Low Average Low High Average 

F81719 Dr Mukhopadhyay PK Practice Average Low Average Average Average 

Source: National GP Practice Profiles  

 CANCER DEEP DIVE JSNA 

A Cancer Deep Dive JSNA was completed in November 2015, which contained extensive details of all 

Thurrock’s GPs performance and made recommendations relating to: 

 Cancer Prevention: Smoking 

 Cancer Screening 

Page 229



168 

 

 

 Early Identification and Referral of People with Suspected Cancer 

 Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment 

 Cancer Survival 

 

The full document can be accessed here: Cancer Deep Dive JSNA 

 

 HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 2016-2021 

The Thurrock 2016-2021 Health and Wellbeing Strategy contains an objective dedicated to preventing and 

treating cancer better (E4). The Outcomes Framework measuring progress against the Strategy contains 

indicators relating to smoking prevalence, emergency diagnoses of cancer, cancers diagnosed at stages 1 or 

2, bowel screening, 62 day pathway and 1 year survivorship after breast cancer which should emphasise the 

need to reduce variation amongst practices and improve cancer care across Thurrock. Action plans are in 

place to drive this forward. 

What could we improve?  

 
The full list of recommendations from the Cancer Deep Dive can be viewed here: Cancer Deep Dive 
JSNA 

 COMMISSIONING FOR VALUE 

The CfV pack for Cancer was issued this year (2016) in May and gives an overview of costs and potential 

opportunities if Thurrock were to improve their outcomes in line with their most similar CCG’s. The data 

indicates that: 

- If Thurrock were to improve the proportion of women who have had breast cancer screening in the 

last three years in line with the best most similar CCG (Swindon), this could result in up to 1,440 

more women screened 

- If Thurrock were to improve the proportion screened for bowel cancer in the last 30 months in line 

with the best most similar CCG (Greater Huddersfield), this could result in up to 699 more people 

screened 

- If Thurrock were to improve the proportion of women screened for cervical cancer in line with the 

best most similar CCG (Greater Huddersfield), this could result in up to 1,723 more women 

screened 

 

7.4.3  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

 SOCIAL CARE 

Screening for Cancers at an earlier stage and diagnosing and treating cancers earlier on, would be expected 

to have a positive impact on our Social Care system due to patients having a reduced reliance on 

Domiciliary Care. However this is unable to be quantified at present due to limitations with the available 

data. The models below show for each type of cancer, the number of patients currently treated at stages 1 

or 2 and 3 or 4, their associated treatment costs and the likelihood of their surviving after one year. They 

Page 230

https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/jsna-cancer-201511-v01.pdf
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/jsna-cancer-201511-v01.pdf
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/jsna-cancer-201511-v01.pdf


169 

 

 

then hypothesise the impact to costs and survival rates if the proportion treated at stages 1 or 2 is increased 

– i.e. intervening at an earlier stage. 

Page 231



170 

 

 

 HEALTH CARE     

106

Number of Patients 54 52 Number of Patients

Cost of Treatment at 

Stage 1/2 (Including 

Recurrence)

£9,260.96 £18,418.71

Cost of Treatment at 

Stage 3/4 (Including 

Recurrence)

Total Treatment Costs for 

Early Diagnosis 

Treatments

£500,647.41 £1,457,315.12 £956,667.71

Total Treatment Costs for 

Late Diagnosis 

Treatments

One-year survival index 

(%) 2013
100% £475,653.54 82.0%

One-year survival index 

(%) 2013

Number of 1 yr Survivors 54 43 Number of 1 yr Survivors

Opportunity if 100% of 

Patients were Diagnosed at 

Stages 1/12

Breast Cancer 

New Diagnosis

Total Costs of Treating All 

Stages of Cancers in Thurrock

% of Breast Cancer 

diagnosed at Early 

Stage (Stage 1/2)

% of Breast Cancer 

diagnosed at Late 

Stage (Stage 3/4)

51% 49%

SHIFT EARLY DIAGNOSES RATE IN LINE WITH EAST OF ENGLAND

EOE early DIAGNOSIS

Thurrock early Diagnosis 

increase Rate

Additional 1 year 

survivors

Additional patients 

diagnosed early

Savings if we shift early 

diagonosis rate in line 

with EOE

1

6

£58,243.29

6%

57%

5.00

Number of Patients 3 2 Number of Patients

Cost of Treatment at 

Stage 1/2 (Including 

Recurrence)

£12,836.00 £25,420.00

Cost of Treatment at 

Stage 3/4 (Including 

Recurrence)

Total Treatment Costs for 

Early Diagnosis 

Treatments

£32,731.80 £95,010.80 £62,279.00

Total Treatment Costs for 

Late Diagnosis 

Treatments

One-year survival index 

(%) 2013
92% £30,830.80 55%

One-year survival index 

(%) 2013

Number of 1yr Survivors 2 1 Number of 1yr Survivors

Additional patients 

diagnosed early

Additional 1 year 

survivors
0.11

0.30

Savings if we inproved 

early diagonosis rate in 

line with EOE

£3,775.20

Cervical Cancer 

New Diagnosis

SHIFT EARLY DIAGNOSES RATE IN LINE WITH EAST OF ENGLAND

EOE early DIAGNOSIS 57%

Thurrock early Diagnosis 

increase Rate
6%

% of Cervical Cancer 

diagnosed at Late 

Stage (Stage 3/4)

% of Cervical Cancer 

diagnosed at Early 

Stage (Stage 1/2)

49%51%

Total Cost for Treating all 

Stages of Cervical Cancer in 

Thurrock

Opportunity if 100% of 

Patients were Diagnosed at 

Stages 1/12

48

Number of Patients 24 24 Number of Patients

Cost of Treatment at 

Stage 1/2 (Including 

Recurrence)

£9,260.96 £18,418.71

Cost of Treatment at 

Stage 3/4 (Including 

Recurrence)

Total Treatment Costs for 

Early Diagnosis 

Treatments

£226,708.26 £659,916.28 £433,208.02

Total Treatment Costs for 

Late Diagnosis 

Treatments

One-year survival index 

(%) 2013
97% £215,390.28 68%

One-year survival index 

(%) 2013

Number of 1yr Survivors 24 16 Number of 1yr Survivors

Additional 1 year 

survivors

Additional patients 

diagnosed early

EOE early DIAGNOSIS

Thurrock early Diagnosis 

increase Rate

Savings if we inproved 

early diagonosis rate in 

line with EOE

£26,374.32

6%

57%

1

3

Bowel Cancer 

New Diagnosis

Opportunity if 100% of 

Patients were Diagnosed at 

Stages 1/12

Total Cost for all Stages of 

Bowel Cancer

SHIFT EARLY DIAGNOSES RATE IN LINE WITH EAST OF ENGLAND

% of Bowel Cancer 

diagnosed at Early 

Stage (Stage 1/2)

% of Bowel Cancer 

diagnosed at Late 

Stage (Stage 3/4)

51% 49%

Model 1; 
Breast Cancer 

Model 3; 
Bowel Cancer 

Model 2; 
Cervical Cancer 

P
age 232



171 

 

 

 BREAST CANCER
3 

Model 1 quantifies the current cost to Thurrock health system for Breast Cancer treatment and shows the 

opportunity available if we could increase early diagnosis in line with the East of England.  

The findings show that if we had 106 new patients with a diagnosis of Breast Cancer (HSCIC Data) this is 

currently costing Thurrock £1,457,315.12 in treatment costs (all Cancer Stages). Thurrock does have an 

opportunity to save an additional £475,653.54 if all patients were diagnosed at Stages 1/2. However more 

realistically if we improved the Early Diagnosis rate by 6%, to be in line with the East of England, by 

increased Screening Rates (resulting in six new patients) we could save £58,243.29 in Cancer treatment costs 

and one additional One Year Survivor patient. 

 CERVICAL CANCER
1 

Model 2 quantifies the current cost to Thurrock for Cervical Cancer treatment and shows the opportunity 

available if we could increase early diagnosis in line with the East of England.  

The findings show that if we had five new patients with a diagnosis of Cervical Cancer (HSCIC Data) this is 

currently costing Thurrock £95,010.80 in treatment costs (all Cancer Stages). Thurrock does have an 

opportunity to save an additional £30,830.80 if all patients were diagnosed at Stages 1/2. However more 

realistically if we improved the Early Diagnosis rate by 6%, to be in line with the East of England, by 

increased Screening Rates (resulting in 0.3 new patients) we could save £3,775.20 in Cancer treatment costs. 

 BOWEL CANCER
1 

Model 3 quantifies the current cost to Thurrock for Bowel Cancer treatment and shows the opportunity 

available if we could increase early diagnosis in line with the East of England.  

The findings show that if we had five new patients with a diagnosis of Bowel Cancer (HSCIC Data) this is 

currently costing Thurrock £659,916.28 in treatment costs (all Cancer Stages). Thurrock does have an 

opportunity to save an additional £218,390.28 if all Patients were diagnosed at Stages 1/2. However more 

realistically if we improved the Early Diagnosis rate by 6%, to be in line with the East of England, by 

increased Screening Rates (resulting in three new patients) we could save £26,374.32 in Cancer treatment 

costs and one additional One Year Survivor patient. 

                                                      

3
  

 Late diagnoses are those patients that were diagnosed at any point other than stage 1 or 2 

 Costs for treatment are assumed to be equal to the average of those in table 2 

 Costs for recurrence are assumed to be the average of those in table 3 (we have excluded lung 

cancer due to the higher recurrence rate) 

 Source: New Diagnosis Incidences for Breast, Cervical and Bowel Cancers - HSCIC Data (2011 - 

2013) 

 Source: Cervical One Year Survival assumed to be in line with All Cancers One Year Survival – 

ONS (2013) 

 Source: Stage 1-2 diagnoses rates from Early Diagnosis experimental statistics and covers all 

cancers (PHE - Public Health Profiles) 

 

Page 233



172 

 

 

 CANCER PROJECTIONS 

The projections stated in the tables below have been used in the models (section Cancer Health Care) to 

estimate savings over five years if we were to shift detection rates from Stage 3/4 to Stage 1/2 by 6%, in line 

with the East of England detection rates. 

 
Table 52: Breast cancer - five year projections 

Breast Cancer Projections of new 

cases 

6% Shift from Late to 

Early Diagnosis 

Additional 1yr 

Survivors 

Reduction in Treatment 

Costs 

2011/13 106 6 1 £58,243.29 

2017 108 6 1 £59,342.22 

2018 111 7 1 £60,990.61 

2019 115 7 1 £63,188.47 

2020 117 7 1 £64,287.40 

2021 120 7 1 £65,935.80 

Total Count of Five Year 

Projections 

572 34 6 £314,293.98 

Source: ONS 2014-based Subnational population projections 

Table 53: Cervical cancer - five year projections 

Cervical Cancer Projections of new 

cases 

6% Shift from Late to 

Early Diagnosis 

Additional 1yr 

Survivors 

Reduction in Treatment 

Costs 

2011/13 5.00 0.30 0.11 £3,775.20 

2017 5.25 0.32 0.12 £3,936.96 

2018 5.30 0.32 0.12 £4,001.71 

2019 5.37 0.32 0.12 £4,054.56 

2020 5.43 0.33 0.12 £4,099.87 

2021 5.47 0.33 0.12 £4,130.07 

Total Count of Five Year 

Projections 

27 1.62 0.6 £20,386.08 

Source: ONS 2014-based Subnational population projections 

Table 54: Bowel cancer - five year projections 

Bowel Cancer Projections of new 

cases 

6% Shift from Late to 

Early Diagnosis 

Additional 1yr 

Survivors 

Reduction in Treatment 

Costs 

2011/13 48 3 1 £26,374.32 

2017 49 3 1 £26,923.79 

2018 49 3 1 £26,923.79 

2019 49 3 1 £26,923.79 

2020 50 3 1 £27,473.25 

2021 51 3 1 £28,022.72 

Total Count of Five Year 

Projections 

247 15 4 £135,717.86 

Source: ONS 2014-based Subnational population projections 

 

 OBESITY PREVENTION 7.5 

7.5.1  WHAT WORKS? 

Work is in progress to develop a whole systems obesity evidence base and accompanying needs 

assessment, which will better inform the Thurrock approach to obesity prevention. 

Page 234



173 

 

 

 THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT AND THE ROLE OF PLANNING 

 

The built environment can provide the opportunities, support and choices or barriers to being physically 

active. Evidence cited by the Faculty of Public Health (2013) shows that people are more likely to be 

physically active when they live in neighbourhoods with better resources for exercise, such as parks and 

walking or jogging trails; with less litter, vandalism and graffiti; and with street patterns that present fewer 

pedestrian obstacles. Neighbourhood design also impacts on obesity levels; with the probability of obesity 

being lower in residents living in areas where there is land-use mix (i.e. the area has a mix of residential, 

commercial, office and institutional uses). Access to green space has significant benefits for health and 

wellbeing. Natural England (2012) wrote that “[the] ability to access green settings has been demonstrated 

to encourage contact with nature and participation in physical activity, both of which encourage the 

adoption of other healthy lifestyle choices such as social engagement and consumption of healthy foods.” 

The association is particularly strong in children. Evidence was also cited that green space has positive 

impacts on mental health, was associated with increased life expectancy in older people and reduces stress 

levels. However research is relatively under-developed associating the amount of green space in an area 

and physical activity. 

 

The Kings Fund concluded that effective spatial planning can impact on health in a number of ways. The 

table below depicts the strength of evidence associated with specific types of spatial planning: 

 

Table 55: The evidence relating planning and effects on aspects of health 

  Heart 

disease 

Respiratory 

disease 

Obesity Mental 

Health 

Increased mortality, 

morbidity 

Excess winter deaths ++ ++   ++ ++ 

Physical activity ++   ++ ++ ++ 

Excess heat ++ ++     ++ 

Air pollution ++ ++     ++ 

Safe community + + + ++ + 

Traffic accidents         ++ 

Noise Pollution +     +   

Flooding       + ++ 

Access to food     +     

Access to health 

services 

      +   

Unemployment       +   

++ Strong evidence + Anecdotal evidence 

Source: The Kings Fund, cited by Bains (2010) 

 

Good planning can have sustained and meaningful improvements to individuals’ health and wellbeing and 

can have a positive impact on some of the wider determinants of health. Incorporating public health 

Page 235



174 

 

 

engagement into the planning process would ensure that key health and wellbeing priorities are prioritised 

with a clear focus on creating healthy communities, improving access to health care services and reducing 

inequalities. Utilisation of robust techniques such as Health Impact Assessments will identify the potential 

health consequences of a future proposal on the population, explore how to maximise the positive health 

benefits and minimise potential adverse effects on health and inequalities. 

 

 WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK? 

 
Further work is underway to better understand the most effective ways to prevent and treat obesity – 

production of a comprehensive evidence review and a separate Whole Systems Obesity Needs Assessment 

will provide this. With regard to work with preventing obesity in children, the recently published Childhood 

Obesity – a Plan for Action document has driven the production of a local action plan to address this. 

 JOINT WORKING WITH PLANNING AND HEALTH 

It is recognised that planning at all levels, can play a crucial role in creating environments that enhance 

people’s health and well-being.  To create these environments colleagues from planning, housing, 

regeneration and health need to work collaboratively.  In response to this need, Thurrock Council hosted 

the first South Essex Health, Well-being and Planning Summit, which took place in September 2016, with 

leaders from across south Essex coming together to discuss how departments can work closer together for 

better health outcomes. Topics covered were wide ranging and included planning effectively for healthy 

weight environments, meeting the needs of an aging population and making sure that health facilities and 

services are located in the right place.  

The South Essex Health, Well-being and Planning Summit was the first step achieving what will hopefully be 

the first of many meaningful discussions about health, well-being and planning issues in South Essex. The 

next steps on how we can take place making for health and well-being forward are now being developed; 

looking to create the conditions for developing a borough whose environment encourages and promotes 

people who live and work in the area to be physically active, to socialise and meet, and to maintain 

independence and have a good quality of life. 

The below depicts the shared vision from the day: 

  

Page 236

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/546588/Childhood_obesity_2016__2__acc.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/546588/Childhood_obesity_2016__2__acc.pdf


175 

 

 

Figure 87: Visual minutes, Planning and Health summit 2016 

 
Source: More Than Minutes, 2016 

7.5.2  WHAT COULD WE IMPROVE? 

- Potential for further work in schools? Actions with younger people in terms of preventing? 

- Behaviour change? 

- MECC? 

- Is recording of obesity for QOF accurate? Or is there potential to increase recording so we truly 

understand the problem. 

7.5.3  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

 

It is well-evidenced that obesity is both a risk factor for development of certain long term conditions, and a 

contributing factor itself to disease complications and higher service use/cost. For example, an obese 

woman is 13 times more likely to develop type 2 diabetes than a healthy weight woman
xvi. The four figures 

below depict the modelled projected increase in numbers of stroke, CHD, Diabetes and Hypertension 

patients (estimated based on no major changes to service provision and population growth) up to 2026, 

split by those estimated to be obese and non-obese. It can be seen for all four conditions, the steeper 

increase in patient numbers is in those who are obese. 

STROKE 

The modelling work estimates that stroke patients are likely to increase by 736 (26.12%) between 2016 and 

2026 from 2,812 to 3,548. In 2016, 1,092 stroke patients were estimated to also be obese, which is 39% of 

all stroke patients. By 2026, 1,620 of the expected 3,548 stroke patients could be obese, which is 46%.  

 

  

Page 237



176 

 

 

Figure 88: Estimated number of obese and non-obese stroke patients, 2014-2026 

 

Source: ONS 2014 Population Projections, NHS Comparators, Foresight Report 2007 and Norfolk County 

Council 

 

CHD 

The modelling work estimates that CHD patients are likely to increase by 1,847 (27.6%) between 2016 and 

2026 from 6,687 to 8,534. In 2016, 2,885 CHD patients were estimated to also be obese, which is 43% of all 

CHD patients. By 2026, 4,315 of the expected 8,534 CHD patients could be obese, which is 51%.  

 

Figure 89: Estimated number of obese and non-obese CHD patients, 2014-2026 

 

Source: ONS 2014 Population Projections, NHS Comparators, Foresight Report 2007 and Norfolk County 

Council 

 

Page 238



177 

 

 

DIABETES 

The modelling work estimates that Diabetes patients are likely to increase by 3,012 (35.88%) between 2016 

and 2026 from 8,396 to 11,408. In 2016, 6,797 Diabetes patients were estimated to also be obese, which is 

81% of all Diabetes patients. By 2026, 9,721 of the expected 11,408 Diabetes patients could be obese, which 

is 85%.  

 

Figure 90: Estimated number of obese and non-obese Diabetes patients, 2014-2026 

 

Source: ONS 2014 Population Projections, NHS Comparators, Foresight Report 2007 and Norfolk County 

Council 

HYPERTENSION 

The modelling work estimates that hypertension patients are likely to increase by 9,928 (25.06%) between 

2016 and 2026 from 39,612 to 49,540. In 2016, 22,171 hypertension patients were estimated to also be 

obese, which is 56% of all hypertension patients. By 2026, 31,050 of the expected 49,540 hypertension 

patients could be obese, which is 63%.  

 

  

Page 239



178 

 

 

Figure 91: Estimated number of obese and non-obese hypertensive patients, 2014-2026 

 

Source: ONS 2014 Population Projections, NHS Comparators, Foresight Report 2007 and Norfolk County 

Council 

Using the information in the chart above this would mean that in 2021 there would be an additional 4,771 

cases of Hypertension and that 3,694 of those are related to an increase in Obesity prevalence.  

 

Source: ONS 2014 Population Projections, NHS Comparators, Foresight Report 2007 and Norfolk County 

Council 

Our Emergency admission models suggest that for every additional hypertensive patient an average 

practice will have an additional 0.05 stroke admissions over a three year period.  This would mean that in 

2021 we would expect an additional 6 stroke non-elective admissions per year as a result of rising levels of 

obesity.  This would have an associated cost of  and £1,386 to ASC per year of life lived post stroke 

The impact of increased numbers of patients with long term conditions who are also obese will increase the 

health and social care costs, with obese patients estimated to have approximately 30% higher medical costs 

than non-obese patients
xvii

. Research by Public Health England (2016)
xviii

 also found that severely obese 

people are over 3 times more likely to require social care than those of a normal weight, with examples of 

requirements including housing adaptations, carers or provision of appropriate transport and facilities. The 

2016 2021

Difference 

between 

2016 and 

2021

% 

increase

Underlying 

increase*

Number of additional 

cases due to obesity 

(Difference - Underlying 

increase)

Hypertension plus obesity 22,171 26,468 4,297 19.38% 603 3,694

Hypertension without obesity 17,441 17,915 474 2.72% 474

* applies % increase of no obesity across board

Stroke 

admissions

Number due to natural 

increase in hypertension cases 

(population change) 2

Number due to obesity 6

Page 240



179 

 

 

same research also cited that obesity reduces life expectancy by an average of 3 years, and severe obesity 

could reduce life expectancy by an average of 8-10 years. 

Using the above assumption that obese patients with a long term condition will have 30% higher medical 

costs than non-obese LTC patients, applying this to the projected change in obese LTC patients in Thurrock 

would mean: 

Table 56: Estimated additional treatment costs due to obesity in 2021  

Condition Average treatment cost 

per person 

Average treatment cost 

per obese person 

Additional number of 

obese patients between 

2016 and 2021 

Additional projected 

health costs between 

2016 and 2021 due to 

obesity as a co-

morbidity 

Stroke £23,315 (acute & rehab 

care) 

£30,309.50 (acute & 

rehab care) 

240 £1,678,680 (acute & 

rehab care) 

CHD £4,956 (Coronary Artery 

Bypass Graft) 

£427 (Cardiac Rehab 

episode) 

£20 (ACE inhibitors per 

year) 

£6,442.80 (Coronary 

Artery Bypass Graft) 

£555.10 (Cardiac Rehab 

episode) 

£26 (ACE inhibitors per 

year) 

664 £987,235.20 (Coronary 

Artery Bypass Graft) 

£85,058.40 (Cardiac 

Rehab episode) 

£3,984 (ACE inhibitors 

per year) 

Diabetes £1,800-£2,500 per year 

(inpatient only) 

£2,340-£3,250 per year 

(inpatient only) 

1,404 £758,160-£1,053,000 

per year (inpatient only) 

Hypertension £69 per year £89.70 per year 4,297 £88,947.90 per year 

Source: Stroke Association, British Heart Foundation, Diabetes UK, Public Health England and Norfolk 

County Council methodology 

 HEALTH CHECKS 7.6 

 

The NHS Health Check is a national risk assessment, awareness and management programme for those 

aged 40 to 74 living in England who do not have an existing vascular condition, and who are not currently 

being treated for certain risk factors. It is aimed at preventing heart disease, stroke, diabetes and kidney 

disease. The check which should be offered every five years, systematically targets the top seven causes of 

premature mortality. It incorporates current NICE-recommended public health and clinical guidance, 

ensuring it has a robust evidence base for the individual interventions included, i.e. smoking cessation or 

blood pressure management. As such, the NHS Health Check programme offers the English health and care 

system an outstanding opportunity to reduce the growing burden of non-communicable disease related to 

behavioural and physiological risk factors.  

7.6.1  WHAT WORKS? 

  

Evidence indicates the effectiveness of case-finding for prevention in defined populations especially where 

the benefit of intervention is clear cut such as for hypertension. However, whilst such programmes can be 

beneficial for individuals, the potential impact on the total burden of disease in the population is often 

minimal. Information taken from the national evaluation of the NHS Health Check programme
xix

 looked at 

attendees and non-attendees of Health Checks over the period 2009-2013, and found that whilst take up 

was slow to begin with, this had increased, and the programme had been successful at reaching many of 

those at somewhat higher than average risk. The findings showed that NHS Health Check attendance was 

associated with significant decreases in blood pressure, BMI and total cholesterol which persisted after 

Page 241



180 

 

 

matching. There was no significant change in smoking rates. This evidence indicates that appropriate 

targeting of the NHS Health Check program in Thurrock could result in improved lifestyle behaviours, and a 

reduction in future long term conditions. 

7.6.2  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK? 

Health Checks are delivered in Thurrock by GPs and by Vitality via an outreach service. There are also 

discussions in process to pilot delivery of Health Checks in pharmacies.  

Work is underway to undertake a separate Health Equity Audit of the NHS Health Check programme 

delivered in 2015-16 to better understand service delivery and identify opportunities for improvement. The 

audit will particularly focus on targeting Health Checks appropriately and understanding barriers for checks, 

as well as aim to get a broader understanding of the outcomes achieved. 

In 2015/16, Thurrock invited 7,703 individuals to a Health Check out of an eligible population of 38,138, 

equating to an invite percentage of 20.2%. As the eligible population is calculated for a five year period, it is 

expected that approximately 20% of this figure would be invited each year. Of the 7,703, 4,364 attended, 

equating to an uptake percentage of 56.65%, which is significantly above the national average. Comparison 

of these results to the national average can be seen below. 

Figure 92: Invites and Uptake of NHS Health Check in Thurrock and England, 2015/16 

 

Source: Public Health England 

 

The program is designed for up to 20% of the eligible population to receive a Health Check each year. The 

last three years of data show that Thurrock has had significantly higher proportions of their eligible 

population receiving Health Checks than the national average, with 13.73%, 12.74% and 11.44% receiving 

Health Checks in 2013/14, 2014/15 and 2015/16 respectively. This can be seen in the figure below. 

 

  

Page 242



181 

 

 

Figure 93: Eligible population receiving an NHS Health Check, Thurrock and England 

 

Source: Public Health England 

GP-level analysis of invites and uptake will be presented as part of the separate NHS Health Check Health 

Equity Audit (due for completion by December 2016). 

7.6.3  WHAT COULD WE IMPROVE? 

- GP uptake is varied – work should be undertaken with GPs with lower uptake, particularly those also 

in areas of high deprivation or ill health 

- Improve uptake/follow on through services – reduced information is known about the effectiveness 

of Thurrock’s checks on outcomes in future years. 

- Further work will come from the findings from the HEA 

7.6.4  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

Inputting Thurrock’s NHS Health Check data into the national Health Check Ready Reckoner model enabled 

generation of some modelled outcomes. Using Thurrock’s most recent population information, including 

figures on ineligible population, it is estimated that of the 4,364 attendees: 

Table 57: Estimated outcomes from Thurrock's 2015/16 Health Checks 

Characteristic Outcome 

1,048 would have been obese 285 additional people complete a weight loss program due to the NHS Health Check 

1,885 people would have been at high 

risk of diabetes 

66 new diagnoses of diabetes – 40 due to the NHS Health Check 

1,155 people would have had a single 

high blood pressure reading 

490 people are prescribed anti-hypertensive drugs (118 due to NHS Health Check) 

 137 new diagnoses of CKD – 74 due to the NHS Health Check 

2,896 people would have been inactive 2,230 people would have undertaken a brief exercise intervention (1,405 due to the NHS 

Health Check), of which 70 people would have increased their levels of physical activity. 

1,136 people would have smoked 216 people would have been referred to smoking cessation (110 due to the NHS Health 

Check), resulting in 6 people quitting smoking. 

Source: NHS Health Check Ready Reckoner tool, 2015 population estimates and Thurrock Council Public Health team 

Page 243



182 

 

 

One way of measuring cost effectiveness of an intervention is to use the calculation of QALYs (Quality 

Adjusted Life Years) which estimate the quality and length of life gained as a result of an intervention. [One 

QALY is equal to 1 year of life in perfect health.] Generally, it is considered that interventions costing the 

NHS less than £20,000 per QALY gained are cost effective. Those costing between £20,000 and £30,000 per 

QALY gained may also be deemed cost effective, if certain conditions are satisfied. 

The tool estimates that the NHS Health Check program resulted in lifetime gains of 518 QALYs at a cost of 

£1,768 per QALY with an uptake rate of 56%. 

If the uptake percentage was increased by 10% to 66%, the following outcomes might be seen: 

Table 58: Estimated outcomes from Thurrock's 2015/16 Health Checks with an increased uptake 

Characteristic Outcome 

1,163 would have been obese 316 additional people complete a weight loss program due to the NHS Health Check 

2,092 people would have been at high 

risk of diabetes 

73 new diagnoses of diabetes – 44 due to the NHS Health Check 

1,282 people would have had a single 

high blood pressure reading 

544 people are prescribed anti-hypertensive drugs (130 due to NHS Health Check) 

 152 new diagnoses of CKD – 82 due to the NHS Health Check 

3,215 people would have been inactive 2,476 people would have undertaken a brief exercise intervention (1,560 due to the NHS 

Health Check), of which 78 people would have increased their levels of physical activity. 

1,261 people would have smoked 240 people would have been referred to smoking cessation (122 due to the NHS Health 

Check), resulting in 6 people quitting smoking. 

Source: NHS Health Check Ready Reckoner tool, 2015 population estimates and Thurrock Council Public 

Health team 

The tool estimates that the NHS Health Check program would have resulted in lifetime gains of 575 QALYs 

at a cost of £1,768 per QALY if it had had an uptake rate of 66% - resulting in 57 more QALYs due to the 

increased uptake. If each of these has a cost of £1,768, this would result in a total cost of £100,776.  

 

 NATIONAL DIABETES PREVENTION PROGRAMME 7.7 

7.7.1  WHAT WORKS? 

Lifestyle is a major factor in the onset of type II diabetes; diet, physical activity and obesity. The new 

evidence based national diabetes prevention programme is currently being rolled out as a pilot.  In this 

programme those who are at high risk of developing type II diabetes are referred for intensive lifestyle 

change support.   

 

7.7.2  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK? 

 
Thurrock is part of the Wave 1 list of sites delivering this program in partnership with Essex and Southend. 

The diagram below depicts the entry process onto the program: 

  

Page 244



183 

 

 

Figure 94: Entry pathway onto Diabetes Prevention Program 

 

Source: NHS England 

7.7.3  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

A Ready Reckoner tool was developed by the University of Sheffield in order to estimate likely benefits from 

implementing the National Diabetes Prevention Program in each CCG area. Assuming that 500 patients are 

referred, with a cost of £270 each and with a standard intervention effect, below are some of the key 

estimated impacts: 

- 160 patients will receive the intervention (32% of referred population) 

- There will be a cumulative reduction of 6.6 Diabetes cases by 2020/2021 

- The total intervention cost will be £43,200; and the savings to the NHS will outweigh the cost by 

year 12 [see table below for breakdown of expected savings over time] 

 

Table 59: Expected savings to health and social care from Diabetes Prevention Program 

 

Page 245



184 

 

 

Source: Diabetes Prevention Program Ready Reckoner, 2016 

 

- Savings to the NHS will come from a number of areas, including reduced Diabetes treatment costs, 

reduced cardiovascular costs, osteoarthritis savings and reduced numbers of strokes. This can be 

seen in the figure below. 

Figure 95: Expected NHS savings from Diabetes Prevention Program 

 

Source: Diabetes Prevention Program Ready Reckoner, 2016 

- When compared to the expected England outputs per 1,000 patients, Thurrock has very similar 

expected outcomes, with both areas estimating 41.5 per 1,000 fewer Diabetes cases by 2020/21. 

There is also a comparable level of savings to the NHS with the national average – in 5 years, 

Thurrock should see savings of £124,879 per 1,000 patients, compared to the national expected 

savings of £120,083 per 1,000 patients. 

Projections of future numbers of Diabetes patients show that the number of patients who are also obese is 

likely to increase if nothing is done – further demonstrating the importance to ensure this program is fully 

endorsed and supported to help prevent future cases of Diabetes. This can be seen in the Obesity 

Prevention section of the document. 

 FALLS PREVENTION 7.8 

7.8.1  WHAT WORKS? 

In 2013 Kings Fund Published a paper using the Torbay linked health and social care data set
xx

.  They found 

the following based on 421 falls: 

Page 246



185 

 

 

 On average, the cost of hospital, community and social care services for each patient who fell were 

almost four times as much in the 12 months after admission for a fall as the costs of the admission 

itself. 

 Over the 12 months that followed admission for falls, costs were 70 % higher than in the 12 months 

before the fall. 

 Comparing the 12 months before and after a fall, the most dramatic increase was in community 

care costs (160%), compare to a 37% increase in social care costs and a 35% increase in acute 

hospital care costs. 

 While falls patients in this study accounted for slightly more than 1 % of Torbay’s over-65 

population, in the 12 months that followed a fall, spending on their care accounted for 4 % of the 

whole local adult social care budget.  

Figure 96: Falls costs by category and time 

 

 

The “core event” costs in Torbay are estimated at £2,850 per fall. 

The NICE recommended pathway can be found here: 

https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/falls-in-older-people 

 

7.8.2  WHAT IMPACTS COULD THAT HAVE ON THE HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SYSTEM? 

Applying the findings from Torbay to the Thurrock Population, assuming that:  

1) All of the above hospital activity is due to falls.   

Page 247

https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/falls-in-older-people


186 

 

 

2) A conservative 60% of the above hospital activity is due to falls 

Table 60: Potential cost savings from falls prevention in Thurrock 

 

We believe that we are spending between £4M and £7M per year due to falls. (This only includes the costs 

of Social Care, Community Health Care and Acute Hospital Care.  Ambulance services are not included. 

7.8.3  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK 

In Thurrock we are piloting a falls prevention scheme which includes an increased pharmacist capacity and a 

geriatrician to oversee the programme.  We expect this service to start imminently and will evaluate robustly 

as to the impacts. We have secured funding of £152 K to pilot this scheme. 

Returns on investment are expected to be between £1.88 and £3.79 for every £1 we spend. 

 

  

12 

months 

before 

core 

event

Core 

Event

12 

months 

after 

core 

event

Difference 

(after-

before)

Cost per 

fall

Total Cost of falls 

(1,540 per year)

Total Cost of falls 

(924 per year)

Social Care Costs £2,375 £3,325 £950 £950 £1,463,184.80 £877,910.88

Total £4,750 £7,315,000 £4,389,000

Applied to Local Information

£219,255.96

£3,291,833.16

£237 £365,426.60

Acute Hospital Costs £1,900 £2,850 £2,613 £713 £3,563 £5,486,388.60

Per Fall

Community Costs £1,663 £4,038 £237

Page 248



187 

 

 

 IMPROVING ACCESS TO PRIMARY CARE 7.9 

 

7.9.1  WHAT WORKS? 

GP and Nursing levels in Thurrock are a particular problem.  The figure below shows the number of 

additional GPs and Nurses that would be required, by locality simply to align Thurrock with the England 

average. 

Figure 97: Patients per WTE GP and nurse per Thurrock locality and England 

 

Source: HSCIC 

Figure 98: Current and Additional GPs required to meet England average 

 

Source: HSCIC 

Page 249



188 

 

 

Figure 99: Current and Additional nurses required to meet England average 

 

Source: HSCIC 

 

This is not feasible. To attract 53 GPs and 8 nurses into Thurrock, an area with huge health needs, under-

doctoring and so close to city jobs with more attractive salaries would be difficult.  We need to tackle this in 

two ways: 

1. Make it more attractive to young, newly qualified GP’s to come and work here. 

2. Free up GP time so that they can spend time solving clinical issues, and caring for their patients 

rather than dealing with every day bureaucratic processes. 

Plans are already under-way to tackle 1, these are discussed below (what is currently happening in 

Thurrock). 

In October 2015 the Primary Care Foundation and NHS alliance published “Making Time in General Practice 
xxi

. This report looks at a number of ways that we can free up GP time, leaving them with more time to do 

the job that they were trained to do and perhaps go some of the way to bridging the gap between the 

number of GPs that are required and what we can provide.  Solutions can be split into two broad 

categories: 

1) Introducing alternative staff (clinical and/or administrative) to take over some of the work load 

2) Introducing an environment to reduce the bureaucratic burden on GPs.  This includes information 

systems, communications, referrals pathways etc...  

 

Page 250



189 

 

 

There is much work to be done nationally on both of these but here we concentrate on what is in Primary 

care and the CCGs gift to achieve. 

 PHYSIOTHERAPY 

Physiotherapists working in a primary care setting have been shown to: 

- Reduce referrals to secondary care orthopaedics 

- Reduce unrequired diagnostic investigations such as x-rays 

- Reduce referral processes and therefore waiting times if physiotherapists are not based solely in 

community or secondary care settings 

- Increase the number of patients able to self-manage effectively 

- Improve health outcomes (for patients who have self-referred, likely due to reduced waiting times 

and the sense of empowerment over their own care 

Information from the Chartered Society of Physiotherapists indicates that physiotherapists are experts in 

rehabilitation and reablement, and can reverse the deterioration in ability. Physiotherapy builds resilience for 

the long term by supporting self-management and training families, carers and care professionals to deliver 

care safely and effectively and facilitate reintegration into the community.  

 

7.9.2  WHAT IS CURRENTLY HAPPENING IN THURROCK 

There are four Integrated healthy living centres being built/planned in Thurrock - one in each locality.  It is 

felt that these will have an impact in multiple ways: 

1) They will attract GPs into the area 

2) They will make it easier to fully integrate services so that the centres can be a 1 stop shop for 

patients/residents 

3) They will enable easier diagnoses and treatment of conditions as there will be on-site diagnostic 

equipment 

4) There will be space to run clinics such as smoking cessation or Long Term Condition management 

In these healthy living centres we are recommending the staffing structures for primary care as discussed in 

the “making time in general practice paper”.  We have modelled what amount of work could be conducted 

by other professionals, and re-calculated how many GPs and nurses we would then need to operate 

excellent primary care facilities.  These models are discussed below. 

 AVAILABILITY OF APPOINTMENTS 

 
Within Thurrock’s GP Practices, the perceived ability to get a GP appointment varies, with The Sorrells 

Surgery providing 91% of patients with appointments and College Health providing 37%. The Thurrock 

average is 68% of patients being able to get an appointment. This indicator was factored into the stroke, 

CHD and COPD models as a hypothesised factor impacting on admissions, and it was shown to have the 

strongest impact in the CHD model, which found that increasing perceived availabilty of getting an 

appointment by 0.05 percentage points could prevent 24 CHD admissions in a three year period. 

  

Page 251



190 

 

 

Figure 100: Availability of appointment, practice-level 

 

Source: GP Patient Survey 

 

 AWARENESS OF OUT OF HOURS SERVICE 

There is also variation in the proportion of patients who are aware of the out of hours service. The Dell 

Medical Centre has a value of 81% and Purfleet Care Centre has 32%. The Thurrock average is 60% of 

patients stating they are aware of the out of hours service. This indicator was factored into the A&E model 

as a hypothesised factor impacting on inappropriate A&E use; however it did not show as having a 

significant impact. 

Figure 101: Awareness of Out of Hours service, practice-level 

 

Source: GP Patient Survey 

Page 252



191 

 

 

 

7.9.3  WHAT COULD WE IMPROVE? 

 STAFFING ALTERNATIVES 

Figure 102 shows the administrative (red) and clinical (blue) staff that could surround GPs in primary care to 

reduce the number of required GPs and maximise GP time spent on clinical issues.  The remit of each of 

these roles is explored individually in the appendices. 

It is important to note here that the staff considered not only reduce the caseload of a GP but also add 

value and aim to target some of the needs of the population identified in Appendix A 

Figure 102 Primary Care Staff Mix Model to maximise GP time spent on clinical issues 

 A brief description of these jobs is available in appendix 2. 

7.9.4  WHAT IMPACTS COULD WE HAVE 

 A BETTER SKILL MIX IN PRIMARY CARE 

Using assumptions
4
 from the “making time in general practice” report we have calculated the expected staff 

mix that would be required to offer enough appointments for our populations currently and in 2021.  It has 

                                                      

4 Assumptions: 

1) In Tilbury and Purfleet it is assumed that the ratio of patients: GPs under the current model should 

be 1300:1 – this is to reverse the inverse care law (Tilbury Integrated healthy living centre needs 

assessment, 2015). For the other localities the England average is assumed. 

2) The recommended ratio of 4000:1 is assumed for nurses 

Page 253



192 

 

 

been assumed that average levels of GP’s and Nurses (England) would be adequate under the current 

model (unless stated in otherwise in the assumptions list), and that an equivalent number of appointments 

would be required by other staff that will reduce demand on GPs in the mixed staffing models.  These are 

illustrated in tables 61 to 64. It can be seen that the mixed staffing model drastically reduces both the 

demand on GPs but also the number of GP’s required to effectively manage the four localities.  This model 

would result in an extra 2,186 appointments for patients, per day, compared to what we are currently able 

to provide, this would increase to an additional 2928 by 2021. 

  

                                                                                                                                                                     

3) In a full time day a GP, Practice pharmacist, nurse practitioner, wellbeing worker and 

physiotherapist can spend around 410.4 minutes per day seeing patients. 

4) Appointment lengths for GPs, practice pharmacists and nurse practitioners are 10 minutes each 

5) Appointments for wellbeing workers are 30 minutes in length 

6) Appointments for physiotherapists are 15 minutes in length 

7) A practice pharmacist can deal with 5.5% of a GPs caseload 

8) A Nurse practitioner can deal with 6.5% of a GPs caseload 

9) A Well-being worker can deal with 4% of a GPs caseload 

10) A Physiotherapist can deal with 20% of a GPs caseload 

11) A Physician assistant can deal with 40 appointments per day 

12) A GP assistant for 3 hours per week per 5000 patients would free up 40 minutes of GP time per day 

13) Each communication with a receptionist would last 3 minutes and they would have 410.4 minutes 

per day to communicate with patients. 

14) GP registered populations will increase in the same pattern as the Local Authority estimated 

population projections. (source: GP registered populations, April 2016 & 2014-based ONS 

Subnational Population Projections) 

 

 

Page 254



193 

 

 

Table 61: Impact of current and proposed staffing models - Tilbury locality 

 

Note: for Tilbury assumption of WTE GPs required under current model has been adjusted to 1300 patients 

per WTE to account for the additional need due to deprivation. 

Table 62: Impact of current and proposed staffing models - South Ockendon locality 

 

FTE Staff 

Total Number 

of 

Appointments 

per day FTE Staff

Total Number 

of 

Appointments 

per day

CURRENT MODEL

Current Number of FTE GP's (excluding Locums) 19 780

Current number of FTE Nurses 13 534

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1313

CURRENT MODEL INCREASED TO REQUIRED RATIOS

Total number of FTE GP's required (See assumptions for Ratios) 27 1104 30 1244

Total number of FTE Nurses required 13 519 14 585

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1623 1828

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 309 515

MIXED STAFFING MODEL

receptionist 3 4

practice pharmacist 1 61 2 68

nurse practitioner 2 72 2 81

Wellbeing worker 3 44 4 50

Physio-therapist 8 221 9 249

physician assistant 1 40 1 40

GP assistant 1 4 1 4

GPs 16 662 20 802

Plus Nurses already in Post 13 534 13 534

Plus additional Nurses N/A N/A 1 51

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1637 1879

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 324 565

Tilbury

2015 2021

FTE Staff 

Total Number 

of 

Appointments 

per day FTE Staff

Total Number 

of 

Appointments 

per day

CURRENT MODEL

Current Number of FTE GP's (excluding Locums) 18 739

Current number of FTE Nurses 9 369

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1108

CURRENT MODEL INCREASED TO REQUIRED RATIOS

Total number of FTE GP's required (See assumptions for Ratios) 28 1137 30 1215

Total number of FTE Nurses required 13 535 14 571

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1672 1787

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 564 679

MIXED STAFFING MODEL

receptionist 3 4

practice pharmacist 2 63 2 67

nurse practitioner 2 74 2 79

Wellbeing worker 3 45 4 49

Physio-therapist 8 227 9 243

physician assistant 1 40 1 40

GP assistant 1 4 1 4

GPs 17 684 19 762

Plus Nurses already in Post 9 369 9 369

Plus additional Nurses 4 165 5 202

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1672 1815

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 564 707

South Ockenden

2015 2021

Page 255



194 

 

 

Note: for South Ockendon assumption of WTE GPs required under current model has been adjusted to 

1300 patients per WTE to account for the additional need due to deprivation. 

Table 63: Impact of current and proposed staffing models - Grays locality 

 

Table 64: Impact of current and proposed staffing models - Corringham locality 

 

FTE Staff 

Total Number 

of 

Appointments 

per day FTE Staff

Total Number 

of 

Appointment

s per day

CURRENT MODEL

Current Number of FTE GP's (excluding Locums) 31 1272

Current number of FTE Nurses 24 985

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 2257

CURRENT MODEL INCREASED TO REQUIRED RATIOS

Total number of FTE GP's required (See assumptions for Ratios) 54 2203 57 2349

Total number of FTE Nurses required 26 1052 27 1122

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 3255 3471

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 998 1214

MIXED STAFFING MODEL

receptionist 6 7

practice pharmacist 3 121 3 129

nurse practitioner 3 143 4 153

Wellbeing worker 6 88 7 94

Physio-therapist 16 441 17 470

physician assistant 1 40 1 40

GP assistant 1 4 1 4

GPs 33 1366 37 1512

Plus Nurses already in Post 24 985 24 985

Plus additional Nurses 2 68 3 137

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 3255 3524

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 998 1267

Grays

2015 2021

FTE Staff 

Total Number 

of 

Appointments 

per day FTE Staff

Total Number 

of 

Appointments 

per day

CURRENT MODEL

Current Number of FTE GP's (excluding Locums) 15 616

Current number of FTE Nurses 7 287

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 903

CURRENT MODEL INCREASED TO REQUIRED RATIOS

Total number of FTE GP's required (See assumptions for Ratios) 20 814 21 862

Total number of FTE Nurses required 9 389 10 412

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1203 1275

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 300 372

MIXED STAFFING MODEL

receptionist 2 3

practice pharmacist 1 45 1 47

nurse practitioner 1 53 1 56

Wellbeing worker 2 33 3 34

Physio-therapist 6 163 6 172

physician assistant 1 40 1 40

GP assistant 0 4 0 4

GPs 12 477 13 525

Plus Nurses already in Post 7 287 7 287

Plus additional Nurses 2 102 3 125

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS PER DAY 1203 1292

ADDITIONAL APPOINTMENTS (compared to current) 300 389

Corringham

2015 2021

Page 256



195 

 

 

 MORE FOCUSED, PRO-ACTIVE PRIMARY CARE STAFF 

Some of the additional 2,186 appointments per day could be used pro-actively to support the prevention 

agenda of the Health and Well-being strategy in Thurrock.  This could include the running of Long Term 

Condition clinics to ensure patients are able to better manage their conditions, partaking in disease 

detection programmes (such as the diabetes prevention programme and the hypertension detection 

programme), offering lifestyle advice to patients who need it.  All of these things would impact on the health 

of the population and contribute toward reducing activity in secondary and social care. 

 EXPECTED REDUCTION IN HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE ACTIVITY 

A conservative assumption that the new staffing model mix model would impact only as much as increasing 

the availability of appointments, assuming that the measure (in the practice survey) were to increase linearly 

with the increase in provision of appointments (that is an increase of 40% in 2016 and 50% by 2021) we 

could expect a decrease of 201 respiratory non elective admissions and 341 CHD/HF non-elective 

admissions in a year if everything else remained as was in 2014/15, the cost would be around £448,833 for 

respiratory non elective admissions (average tariff cost of £2,233 as per 2015/16 costs) and around 

£1,388,814 for CHD/HF non-elective admissions (average admission cost of £4,614 as per NICE 2010). 

A reduction in the number of events for these conditions would also be expected to have an additional 

reduction/delay in the requirement of social care packages yielding savings. It is not currently possible to 

quantify this but we expect to re-visit in the near future. 

 IMPACT TO GP TIME (INCLUDING SELF-REFERRALS TO PHYSIOTHERAPY) 

The Making Time in General Practice report (2015) presents some assumptions about different staff 

scenarios and how they can impact on GP time. The output from the staffing model that indicates that there 

could be up to 902 physiotherapy appointments per day now, or 1,134 appointments by 2021, which could 

be used to address these MSK conditions and free up GP time. Using an assumption that a physiotherapist 

in primary care could deal with 20% of a GP’s MSK caseload, and that they are seeing all 6,812 patients with 

hip osteoarthritis and 11,622 patients with knee osteoarthritis, this could mean the physiotherapists could 

take up to 1,362 hip and 2,324 knee patients. 

Enabling a patient to self-refer to a physiotherapist has been estimated to save the NHS £33 per patient, 

with further potential savings from a reduction in prescribing rates. If all 1,362 hip patients and 2,324 knee 

patients self-referred, this could result in savings of up to £44,959.20 in hip osteoarthritis and £76,705.20 in 

knee osteoarthritis.  

 

 THE ROLE OF PREVENTATIVE PHYSIOTHERAPY IN PREVENTING FALLS 

As mentioned above, physiotherapy has been shown to prevent falls in older people. An economic model
xxii

 

developed by the Chartered Society of Physiotherapy estimates that if everyone aged 65+ at risk of falling in 

the UK was referred to physiotherapy, 160,000 falls would be prevented, saving the NHS £250 million a 

year. 

Applying some of their assumptions to Thurrock: 

- The current level of physiotherapy investment is generating savings of £26,712 compared to no 

service provision 

Page 257



196 

 

 

- Investment in an optimal amount of preventative physiotherapy particularly targeted towards the 

high risk groups could save up to £432,442 per year in prevented hospital admissions and long-

term care costs – this accounts for the cost of the physiotherapists within the figure. 

- This could give a return on investment of between £3.86 (conservative estimate) - £8.67 for every 

£1 spent. 

 IMPACT TO A&E ACTIVITY 

 

Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust employed an advanced physiotherapy practitioner in 2010 for people 

attending A&E with musculoskeletal injuries to provide holistic assessment and treatment for all aspects of 

their condition. The role includes ordering and interpreting investigations such as X-rays and blood tests 

and onward referral for further physiotherapy if required. Evaluation of outcomes showed the following 

benefits: 

- Increased service efficiency/reduced waiting times 

- Better quality of care 

- A reduced requirement for more expensive medical staff has resulted in cost savings of £32 per 

patient - a 60% reduction.  

- Better knowledge sharing between staff members 

 

Other expected benefits of physiotherapy to A&E activity include prevention of unnecessary 

readmissions and a reduction in delayed discharges. 

 IMPROVING DIGITAL SERVICES IN HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 7.10 

7.10.1  WHAT WORKS? 

Summary Care Records – from http://systems.hscic.gov.uk/scr/pharmacy/cppilot.pdf  

The Summary Care Record (SCR) is a copy of key information from a patient’s GP record and as a minimum, 

contains medication, allergies and adverse reactions. It provides authorised care professionals with faster, 

more secure access to essential patient information. Rollout of the SCR has now commenced to all 

pharmacies, and is expected to be complete by Autumn 2017.  

Findings from the pilot ‘proof of concept’ phase showed the following benefits: 

Effectiveness: 

Reducing onward referrals to other NHS care settings such as A&E, Out-of-Hours GP, NHS 111, and GP 

practices: 

 In 92% of encounters where SCR was accessed, the pharmacist avoided the need to signpost the 

patient to other NHS care settings. 

 56% of these encounters would have been signposted to the GP practice, 22% to GP out of 

hours/NHS 111, and 1% to A&E. 

 90% of pharmacists agree that using SCR allows them to resolve a patient’s issues without 

signposting them to other services. 

Page 258

http://systems.hscic.gov.uk/scr/pharmacy/cppilot.pdf


197 

 

 

Reducing the need to contact the GP practice: 

 85% of respondents to the questionnaire either agree or strongly agree that SCR reduces the need 

to contact the patient’s GP practice to gather more clinical information to treat them appropriately. 

 92% of respondents agree or strongly agree that the SCR enables them to treat patients more 

effectively on those occasions when GP practices are closed. 

Safety: 

Identifying prescribing errors and reducing potential harm: 

 In 18% of encounters where SCR was accessed, the risk of a prescribing error was avoided. The 

majority of these cases had potential for moderate or major harm to the patient. 

 In 87% of encounters where SCR was accessed, it provided information which would otherwise 

have been unknown. 

 85% of respondents agree or strongly agree that having access to SCR has contributed towards 

improving patient safety. 

 73% of respondents agree that using the SCR has helped them avoid medication related errors. 

Patient experience 

Reducing patient waiting time: 

 The benefits audit results captured whether the pharmacist believed accessing SCR saved the 

patient waiting time for their issue to be resolved. 122 encounters were reported. Of these, 100 

encounters indicated that overall waiting time was reduced. 

 Having access to SCR enabled the pharmacist to meet the patient’s needs in 96% of the encounters 

reported. 

 92% of respondents agree or strongly agree that using the SCR has improved the service they 

provide to patients 

 

7.10.2  WHAT IS HAPPENING IN THURROCK? 

 

The Digital Maturity Assessment measured the extent to which healthcare services in England are supported 

by the effective use of digital technology. It aimed to identify key strengths and gaps in healthcare 

providers’ provision of digital services at the point of care and offer an initial view of the current ‘baseline’ 

position across the country. Thurrock CCG achieved an overall compliance score of 90.58%, with practice 

scores varying from 82.5% (Dilip Sabnis) - 97.05% (Dr Devaraja). This will have informed the actions taken by 

the Local Digital Roadmap (further information below). 

It is now a contractual requirement for GP practices to offer and promote to patients: online booking of 

appointments, ordering of repeat prescriptions and access to summary information (as a minimum) in their 

patient record, subject to the necessary GP systems and software being made available to practices by NHS 

England. The Patient Online Management Information (POMI) dataset records whether practices offer the 

functionality for online booking of appointments, and the number of patients enabled to do so – i.e. those 

who have been supported to register. The figure below shows the proportion of patients at each practice 

who were enabled as of June 2016 to electronically book or cancel a GP appointment. It can be seen that 

Page 259

https://www.england.nhs.uk/digitaltechnology/info-revolution/maturity-index/


198 

 

 

the Thurrock average of 9.98% is below the national average of 15.3%. There is a large amount of variation 

between practices in Thurrock, with the most successful practice (Dr Amanda Davies/Pear Tree) enabling 

35% of their patients to use online booking services, whilst the two least successful practices (Dr Headon 

and Acorns) enabling just 0.04% and 0.06% of their patients – equating to just 4 and 2 patients respectively. 

Figure 103: Patients able to electronically book/cancel appointments per practice, June 2016 

 

Source: POMI 

It is envisaged that if the number of patients who can electronically book or cancel appointments can be 

increased, this can have a positive impact on use of practice receptionist time, freeing them up to undertake 

more complex tasks as identified in the mixed staffing model. 

 THE LOCAL DIGITAL ROADMAP 

Below are the Universal Capabilities being worked on for all areas. At this stage, Thurrock is still working to 

embed approaches across the whole CCG level, and will later look to address variation with specific 

practices. 

A. Professionals across care settings can access GP-held information on GP-prescribed medications, 

patient allergies and adverse reactions.  Most providers in this area use the same system (Systm 

One), with BTUH and the Minor Injuries Unit having access to this. For the non-Systm One 

practices, there is functionality to see the Summary Care Record via their portal. 

B. Clinicians in U&EC settings can access key GP-held information for those patients previously 

identified by GPs as most likely to present (in U&EC).  MIU ask all patients if they are happy to share 

their records so the U&EC providers do get access to records for patients registered at the 28 

Systm One practices). 

C. Patients can access their GP record. Data from NHS Digital indicates that this is increasing in 

Thurrock, and work is in process with the national team to increase numbers of patients who can 

do this.  

D. GPs can refer electronically to secondary care. The e-referral system is currently not working well 

for either primary or secondary care and it has been recognised that further work is needed to stop 

the number of e-referrals from continuing to decrease.  

Page 260



199 

 

 

E. GPs receive timely electronic discharge summaries from secondary care. There is a draft target for 

the acute trusts of December 2016 for this to be in place; however this may slip.  

F. Social care receive timely electronic Assessment, Discharge and Withdrawal Notices from acute 

care. Work is in process with the relevant Council colleagues. 

G. Clinicians in unscheduled care settings can access child protection information with social care 

professionals notified accordingly. Work is in process with the relevant Council colleagues. 

H. Professionals across care settings made aware of end-of-life preference information. This should be 

included within the SCR and Community nursing teams at the MDTs should have this information. 

I. GPs and community pharmacists can utilise electronic prescriptions. More information is required to 

ascertain how Thurrock is doing against this, as anecdotally it appears to have begun but there is 

no further information available at the moment. 

J. Patients can book appointments and order repeat prescriptions from their GP practice. Data on this 

is shown above. Numbers registered to view their clinical record are increasing, and there is work 

underway to promote this within the Patient Participation Groups across the CCG. 

 

It is hoped that the next phase of the work will look to identify specific practices to benefit from further 

digital intervention, and there is the possibility of future investment in patient check in systems and digital 

health clinics as recommended for the future Integrated Healthy Living Centres. These, along with the joint 

Council and CCG project to procure an Integrated Data Solution to unite sources of health and social care 

data, should support better use of information and ultimately benefit patient care.  

More information is also required on the summary care record uptake amongst Thurrock pharmacies. 

 QUICKHEART INFORMATION PORTAL 

The Council have also invested in an Information, Advice and Guidance portal known as QuickHeart which 

aims to bring together accessible information on different aspects of health and social care in one place for 

the public. The portal aims to: 

 Provide self-help information, signposting to more appropriate websites, where appropriate 

 Signpost to community and voluntary resources, where appropriate, to maintain independence 

 Clarify social care support in terms of what we can provide should eligibility be met and how this is 

paid for 

In future this will also incorporate the resource allocation system (RAS) tool to help screen eligibility and an 

indicative budget, although this is still under development. 

Usage statistics of the Quickheart pages indicate there are roughly around 1,500 page views per month 

currently across all page categories. The figure below shows some periods of particularly high activity over 

the last 21 months, with a peak of 4913 views in February 2015; however these may have been associated 

with periods of upgrades. 

 

 

  

Page 261



200 

 

 

Figure 104: Page views of Quickheart portal, January 2015-September 2016 

 

Source: Thurrock Council 

 

When looking at page views categorised by the types of pages accessed, the most popular content appears 

to be Living at home, with 2,471 views. This includes information on how to look after yourself and maintain 

independence. This should be taken positively in line with the shift towards improving digital access in social 

care and promotion of self-care approaches. 

Figure 105: Page views of Quickheart portal by category, January 2015-September 2016 

 

Source: Thurrock Council 

Page 262



201 

 

 

 

It is recommended that the opportunity be explored to extend this system to enable more front line 

ASC/Housing/hospital staff to access to it.  It should also align to the CVS directory of third sector services 

which is being worked on independently.   

 IMPROVING QUALITY OF PRIMARY CARE 7.11 

7.11.1  IMPROVE DETECTION RATES OF DISEASES 

A Public Health priority, that is also part of our new Health and Wellbeing strategy is to improve the 

detection of Long Term Conditions across Thurrock. Plans are underway to start with Hypertension; 

Our colleagues in the CCG have identified a large number of patients who have had a blood pressure 

reading of 150/100mmHg or greater who have not had any further follow-up.  We are investigating ways of 

re-calling these patients, possibly using weekend HUBs in primary care. 

Additionally we are currently looking at ways in which we can use pharmacists to help us detect some of 

these patients. 

7.11.2  PRODUCE A LONG TERM CONDITIONS /MANAGEMENT SCORECARD 

Produce a Long Term Conditions scorecard which tells practices, at a glance, where they should be aiming 

to make improvements to the number of people receiving interventions that will keep them healthy.  This 

scorecard should concentrate on both aspects reported here: 

1) Levels of the population receiving the intervention (i.e. including those who have been exception 

reported where appropriate) 

2) Levels who are not receiving an intervention or exception reported. 

The scorecard should not be restricted to QOF indicators and should seek to concentrate on identifying 

areas of need that will make a difference to the clinical outcomes of patients. Including referrals into 

community teams. 

7.11.3  SUPPORT FOR PRACTICES NEEDING HELP AS A RESULT OF THE ABOVE 

The Public Health team will provide support to practices or projects of particular need to help improve the 

number of people receiving appropriate interventions across Thurrock.  We will also help practices to 

identify individual patients who are not receiving interventions or being exception reported where needed. 

The 12 practices identified as needing support across all conditions will be the first priority for this support. 

7.11.4  LEARN FROM BEST PRACTICE 

We should also look to learn from practices that show a best model, in particular those who have shown 

recent improvements .  [ see case study below] 

 

 

 

A Case Study 

Since the publication of the QOF data used in this report Dr Suntharalingams practice has been taken 

over by College Health.  College Health have a bank of specialist nurses and they prioritise use of these 

nurses where there are most needed based on data.  Anecdotal evidence suggests that since this has 

been happening figures have been much improved.  The Authors plan to confirm this when more up to 

date data is available.  If this is confirmed to be the case we will make appropriate recommendations to 

other poor-performing practices. 

 

Page 263



202 

 

 

7.11.5  WHAT WORKS - SATISFACTION WITH GP PRACTICES 

The connection that a patient feels with his or her GP/health professional can significantly improve their 

health through participation with their care, support with their treatment, and self-managing their condition. 

A good relationship can also help improve a patient’s emotional wellbeing and mental health. However this 

may not always be the sole responsibility of a GP to maintain this – there is some evidence on other 

approaches such as nurse-led care which have contributed to improving patient satisfaction. A practice in 

Sandwell
xxiii

 acted on poor patient satisfaction results by 1) extending their opening hours to enable more 

patients to access appointments at convenient times, 2) redesigning their provision of service to meet the 

increased demand for appointments at the start of a week, 3) expanding the number of different types of 

health services that could be accessed from the one place, becoming an Integrated Care Organisation, and 

4) increasing the skillset of their staff to enable them each to offer a wider range of support. Following this, 

the practice found that: 

 Patient satisfaction was high – Rowley Healthcare was ranked third in England in the 2008 GP 

Patient Survey 

 Relationships with patients were excellent because staff are accommodating and happy to listen; 

 Preventative interventions were successful because patients were willing and able to talk about 

lifestyle issues; 

 Unnecessary visits to acute care and surgery were avoided by having services delivered in nearby 

GP surgeries; 

 Staff were free to develop specialisms and widen their expertise; 

 More services were offered closer to home by several GP practices pooling resources in a 

community interest company. 

 

7.11.6  WHAT WORKS - UNDIAGNOSED DISEASE PREVALENCE 

 
Detection of undiagnosed cases of disease should ultimately lead to reduced future costs and better patient 

outcomes. There are a number of preventative programs already described such as the NHS Health Check 

and the Diabetes Prevention Program which are designed to detect undiagnosed cases of disease. There is 

research to indicate that case-finding for LTCs in existing community clinics might be effective – research by 

Halpin et al (2013)
xxiv

 undertook spirometry for all patients in their non-COPD community clinics who were 

current or ex-smokers, and found that 1 in 5 of them had undiagnosed COPD. A meta-analysis (Haroon et 

al, 2015
xxv

 ) looking at general effective case-finding strategies for COPD reviewed studies that used 

screening questionnaires, handheld flow meters, and direct invitation for diagnostic spirometry, and 

concluded that the use of screening questionnaires may reduce the number of diagnostic assessments 

needed to diagnose COPD. They also found that the targeting of specific sub-groups such as 

current/historic smokers with a history of respiratory symptoms may be more efficient. However they 

identified a gap in research regarding evidence of effectiveness or cost-effectiveness for recommending any 

particular approach to case finding in primary care.  

 

Page 264



203 

 

 

7.11.7  WHAT IMPACTS COULD WE HAVE TO INCREASE DETECTION OF UNDIAGNOSED 

CASES? 

 

- Re COPD article above, do NELFT screen their current smokers in their Diabetes clinic for COPD as 

well? If not, could they do this? Might pick up some undiagnosed COPD patients there…. 

- Do Vitality do screening questionnaires for their quitting smokers to look at whether they might 

have undiagnosed COPD? How about other PH services who come across smokers – Addaction for 

example?  

 

In Thurrock we have committed to identify 5000 undiagnosed Hypertensive patients over the next 3 years, 

thereby reducing the ratio of observed (diagnosed): expected patients. The stroke prevention model in 

section 3.3 found that each unit increase in this ratio reduces number of strokes by 65 every 3 years 

(assuming everything else remains constant).  An increase of 5000 patients means that the observed: 

expected ratio of hypertensive patients changes from  36% to 78%, which is a difference of 42% - therefore 

applying a reduction of 65 strokes to 42 percentage points would result in 2730 fewer strokes over the three 

year period, or 910 per year across Thurrock. 

HYPERTENSION RISK ALGORITHM 

 

A risk algorithm has been developed by researchers at the University of Birmingham which measures such 

as clinic BP, age, gender and history of CVD to help GPs decide if someone with relatively normal clinic 

blood pressure readings might still be at risk of hypertension and should undergo ambulatory blood 

pressure monitoring (ABPM).  

 

It is called the Predicting Out-of-Office Blood Pressure (PROOF-BP) risk algorithm, and is estimated by the 

researchers to identify around 10-15% with masked hypertension – this was quantified to be an additional 

14,623 additional cases of hypertension for every 100,000 people with clinic blood pressure of 

130/80mmHg or above. It would also cut out 18,578 unnecessary ABPM investigations, compared with the 

current NICE approach. 

 

The authors calculated that the algorithm would be cost effective ‘compared to the conventional blood 

pressure diagnostic options in primary care’ and would lead to reduced death and disability.
xxvi

 

 

BLOOD PRESSURE CONTROL IN PEOPLE WITH HYPERTENSION 

 

In Thurrock, it is estimated that 19,300 hypertensive patients have effective blood pressure control to 150/90 

mmHg. If the CCG could treat another 865 patients (in order to increase the total in line with the rates from 

the GP practice on the 75
th
 percentile), this could result in a number of events avoided. The table below 

summarises these, and estimates that improving blood pressure control to this level could reduce in the 

avoidance of 18 cases of heart failure, 8 heart attacks and 6 deaths. PHE estimate that the annual cost of 

controlling blood pressure of an average person with hypertension is approximately £69. 

Page 265



204 

 

 

Table 65: Opportunities and savings from blood pressure control in hypertensive patients 

Disease event Events avoided 

(opportunity) 

Opportunities avoided 

over: 

One-year savings from 

events avoided - NHS 

One-year savings from 

events avoided - social 

care 

Heart attack: 1 in 100 8 5 years £69,800 - 

Heart failure: 1 in 48 18 5 years £24,800 - 

Deaths: 1 in 125 6 5 years - - 

Source: Public Health England CVD Prevention Opportunities, 2016 

These estimates are calculated slightly differently to the modelled estimates presented earlier in the report 

which found that one admission for stroke could be prevented by the effective blood pressure control of 

five hypertensive patients over a three year period. 

BLOOD PRESSURE CONTROL IN PEOPLE WITH CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE 

 

In Thurrock, it is estimated that 3,900  hypertensive patients with Diabetes have effective blood pressure 

control to 140/80 mmHg and 1,480 hypertensive patients with Stroke have effective blood pressure control 

to 150/90 mmHg. If the CCG could treat another 388 hypertensive Diabetes patients and another 110 

hypertensive Stroke patients (in order to increase the total in line with the rates from the GP practice on the 

75
th
 percentile), this could result in a number of events avoided. The table below summarises these, and 

estimates that improving blood pressure control to this level could reduce in the avoidance of 6 strokes to 

Diabetes patients and 4 strokes to previous Stroke patients, 9 cases of heart failure, 1 heart attack and 7 

cases of CKD. PHE estimate that the annual cost of controlling blood pressure of an average person with 

hypertension is approximately £69. 

 

Table 66: Opportunities and savings from blood pressure control in patients with CVD 

Condition Disease event Events avoided 

(opportunity) 

Opportunities avoided 

over: 

One-year savings 

from events 

avoided - NHS 

One-year savings 

from events 

avoided - social 

care 

Diabetes Stroke: 1 in 59 6 9 years £65,667 £23,791 

Heart attack: 1 in 204 1 9 years £8,727 - 

Chronic kidney disease: 1 in 51 7 4 years £1,761 - 

Heart failure: 1 in 42 9 4 years £12,406 - 

Previous 

stroke 

Recurrent stroke: 1 

in 27 

4 4 years £43,778 - 

Source: Public Health England CVD Prevention Opportunities, 2016 

CHOLESTEROL CONTROL IN PEOPLE WITH CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE 

In Thurrock, it is estimated that 5,700 patients with Diabetes and 3,140 patients with CHD have effective 

cholesterol control to less than 5mmol. If the CCG could treat another 493 Diabetes patients and another 

241 CHD patients (in order to increase the total in line with the rates from the GP practice on the 75
th
 

percentile), this could result in a number of events avoided. The table below summarises these, and 

estimates that improving cholesterol control to this level could reduce in the avoidance of 2 strokes to 

Diabetes patients and 1 stroke to CHD patients, and 6 heart attacks. PHE estimate that the annual cost of 

controlling cholesterol of an average person with hypertension is approximately £69. 

 

Page 266



205 

 

 

Table 67: Events avoided and costs saved from cholesterol control in hypertensive patients 

Condition Disease 

event 

Events avoided 

(opportunity) 

Opportunities avoided 

over: 

One-year 

savings from 

events 

avoided - 

NHS 

One-year 

savings from 

events avoided 

- social care 

Diabetes Stroke: 1 in 

233 

2 5 years £21,889 £7,930 

CHD Stroke: 1 in 

125 

1 5 years £10,944 £3,965 

Heart attack: 1 in 39 6 5 years £52,363 - 

Source: Public Health England CVD Prevention Opportunities, 2016 

 

 SOCIAL CARE 7.12 

 

7.12.1  EVIDENCE BASE – WHAT WORKS IN REDUCING DEMAND ON ADULT SOCIAL 

CARE? 

 

The following programmes/interventions have been shown in published studies to be effective in reducing 

demand on ASC services. 

 

Falls Prevention 

There is strong evidence that an integrated falls prevention programme that includes postural stability 

programmes, eye checks, home safety checks and medication review can reduce the likelihood of falls in 

older people either at risk of falling or who have already fallen by between 10% to 30% and delay/reduce 

demand on ASC services. 

 

Stroke Prevention Programmes 

There is strong evidence that programmes that prevent strokes by identifying and clinically managing 

people with high blood pressure in the community are highly cost effective in reducing demand on Adult 

Social Care services.   These are discussed in more detail in section 1.4 

 

Atrial Fibrillation Case Finding and Clinical Management 

There is strong evidence that programmes that identify and clinically manage patients with AF who have a 

high stroke risk, are both highly cost effective and reduce demand on ASC.  These are discussed in more 

detail in section 1.4. 

Page 267



206 

 

 

 

Integrated Continence Services 

Incontinence is a major reason for the breakdown of the relationship between the carer and the person they 

are caring for. This can lead to admissions into residential or nursing home care.
(14)(15) 

Studies in the US have shown that urinary infection increased the likelihood of care home referrals two-fold 

and faecal incontinence almost five-fold and 50% of care home residents with faecal incontinence have 

overflow from constipation which is a treatable condition. 

Case studies from Nottingham and Oxford, were recently mentioned by the Department of Health.
(11) 

 

Oxfordshire County Council worked in partnership with the Institute of Public Care on a study of the 

pathways of older people who had entered a care home. The aim of the research was to identify the critical 

characteristics, circumstances and events which led to a care home admission in order to provide 

appropriate services to prevent or delay such an admission.
(12)

  An analysis of 115 admissions of people in 

2008-9 was carried out to identify common characteristics. This was followed up with interviews of people 

who had entered a care home, their carers and care managers, to explore more fully the circumstances and 

experiences prior to entering a home. The study found that certain conditions and experiences were 

particularly prevalent - these included incontinence, dementia, falls and depression. Most people had been 

receiving social care support prior to entering the care home as well as informal care. However, despite 

common features, individual situations were both varied and complex.  

 

Depression Screening 

There is reasonably strong evidence that depression is associated with residential care admission and that it 

is poorly recognised and undertreated in older people. There is also evidence that it can be well treated in 

older people. If this treatment can reduce the risk of residential home admission, managing depression 

would be a very cost effective intervention across the system. 

 

Strengthening Community Capacity and Sign Posting 

The LGA (ref ***) site the significance and effectiveness in terms of ASC demand management, of Councils 

that have developed a new contract with citizens and communities that means individuals take more 

responsibility for their own care and families and communities are supported to help those individuals to be 

as independent as possible. In the future, citizens will have a duty to contribute as well as a right to receive 

support.  

Approaches that proactively help and encouraging people to live healthier lifestyles, thus reducing or 

delaying the need for formal social care services are suggested to be an effective way to reduce both 

demand on traditional services and dependency.  To deliver this new model of care, there needs to be a 

fundamental shift in the expectations of individuals, communities and service providers if the most is to be 

made of diminishing resources while securing public wellbeing.  

 

Page 268



207 

 

 

Thurrock’s Stronger Together and Local Area Coordination Programmes are two examples of this approach 

in action. 

 

Interface Geriatricians 

‘Interface Geriatricians’ work across both community and secondary health care settings to provide an 

interface of care between both settings. This includes Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA) on AMU 

after assessment by a general physician, and then following discharge a comprehensive medical 

assessment, general medical review including psychiatric assessment, investigation into geriatric syndromes 

and medication review.  Interface Geriatricians are also responsible for liaison with the GPs post discharge 

and follow-up home assessment where appropriate.  There is strong evidence from systematic review and 

meta-analysis of 28 control trials considering 9961 subjects that this model of care results in a greater 

likelihood that patients will remain living at home.
(17)(18)

 

 

Carers Services:  

Evidence suggests that day care, home care and (often) residential respite care are cost effective in reducing 

residential care needs.  

 

Re-ablement:  

The evidence around the benefits of re-ablement is growing but is not of the most robust nature. There is 

however increasing evidence that re-ablement focusing on all who might benefit can be delivered at 

moderate cost and can markedly reduce on-going homecare costs to social care for at least two years.  It is 

less clear how it impacts on health costs but Tinetti et al suggests some promise As Lewin suggests (2011), it 

should be the “gateway” to services for the majority who might benefit 

Multi-disciplinary Teams (MDT):  

There is limited evidence around the impact of MDTs on ASC demand.  However one study suggests 

potential reductions in residential care admissions from the approach. There is a need to consider cost and 

net gain. 

 

Social Workers in A&E 

A Canadian study demonstrated that 5 per cent of admissions could have been avoided if seen by a social 

worker in A&E (Boyack and Bucknam 1991).
(4) 

 A French study found that a similar proportion of admissions 

was potentially preventable by a social work intervention (Monsuez et al 1993).
(5) 

 A study of a US 

emergency department demonstrated that having social workers available 24 hours a day can be 

economically beneficial (Gordon 2001).
(6) 

 There were greater advantages in larger departments in terms of 

fewer return visits, prevention of admissions for social reasons only, and savings in terms of other staff time. 

The applicability of this study to the UK is limited by the differences in costing health care in the two 

Page 269



208 

 

 

systems. Overall, there seems to be uncertainty about the effectiveness of social workers based in the 

emergency department in terms of reducing inappropriate admissions among older people  although this 

may be because of a lack of supporting community resource (McLeod et al 2003).
(7)

 

 

Assistive Technology:  

Telehealth: Few studies that were identified considered the impact of Telehealth on social care demand per 

se, however the WSD RCT reported a non-significant 27% lower cost of social care in the Telehealth group 

compared to the control group.
(23) 

Telecare: Limited robust evidence on the impact of Telecare on social care demand was identified. A 2007 

systematic review found a lack of robust evidence on the efficacy of Telecare interventions such as home 

safety and security alert systems.
(24)

 The British Psychological Society’s 2007 guideline on Dementia
(25)

 stated 

that initial findings support the use of AT in aiding people with dementia to stay in the community longer, 

thereby delaying moves to higher dependency care, but also found that further research is needed before 

any firm conclusions can be drawn. 

An evaluation of telecare provision in Essex in 2009-10 reported that, across 240 randomly selected telecare 

users, for every £1 spent on telecare £3.82 was saved in traditional care, based on social worker report of 

the next best care scenario. For those users where telecare was a direct replacement for traditional care, 

every £1 spent on telecare saved £12.60 in traditional care.
(26) 

 

7.12.2  LIVING WELL 

 

Domiciliary care in Thurrock is currently being provided in-house by Thurrock Care @Home as well as by 

two other providers. There have been historic issues with the way domiciliary care has been provided in 

Thurrock, which has led to the decision to redesign the service. In line with the wider Transforming Adult 

Social Care agenda, which aims to support people to live well and independently at home, Adult Social Care 

in partnership with the community, the voluntary sector, health and housing, have decided to implement a 

pilot redesigned offer of support to 75 people living in specific areas of South Ockendon who receive some 

form of care and support, mainly domiciliary support, meals on wheels and equipment. This model of care 

delivery is proposed in order to support each person to have their needs met through a combination of 

approaches. The vision is to have a local response that will be consistent and will connect the person to their 

local community. The pilot has not yet started, but the project will be fully evaluated in order to inform the 

redesign of adult social care delivery in Thurrock. 

 

Care Home provision  

Thurrock has the following provision available (as of May 2016): 

 13 Older People’s Residential Homes, 4 of which are nursing/dementia. There were 593 beds as of 

May 2016. 

 20 Working Aged Adults Residential Homes, including 2 transition flats. 

 30 Working Aged Adults Supported Living 

Page 270



209 

 

 

 2 Extra Care Housing schemes (Elizabeth Gardens and Piggs Corner) 

 Day Care at Bell House, Carers Centre, Kynoch Court and Thurrock Lifestyle Solutions (Grays, South 

Ockendon, Stanford and Chadwell St. Mary) 

 

7.12.3  FUTURE SINGLE POINT OF ACCESS TO SERVICES 

 

Thurrock Council, NELFT and SEPT are working in partnership to launch a new Single Point of Access to 

services that will facilitate access to professional advice and care coordination across disciplines. This new 

joint venture will incorporate Thurrock Council’s Social Care services, RRAS and SEPT’s services for older 

adults. It is intended that this service will result in one single access point that is via email, app, phone, 

thereby improving customer experience, reducing demand in the longer term and resulting in an improved 

out of hours offer. This is expected to launch in February 2017. 

  

 

 

  

Page 271



210 

 

 

Section 8  APPENDIX 1: DEMOGRAPHY OF THURROCK 

8.1.1  POPULATION 

 

Whilst the boundaries of Thurrock Local Authority and Thurrock CCG are co-terminus, there are slightly 

different population estimates used, as the CCG population can be determined by GP practice populations, 

which also contain patients from neighbouring areas. 

 

Local Authority Population 

 

In 2015 the total population of Thurrock was 165,184 (ONS mid-year estimates 2015) of which 81,349 

(49.2%) were male and 83,835 (50.8%) female. The population age structure mirrors that of the CCG 

registered population shown below. Further information on the Local Authority population can be found in 

the Demographics and Population Change JSNA (published 2015). 

 

CCG GP Registered Population 

 

Data from April 2016 shows that the practice registers for all 32 GP practices in Thurrock CCG have a 

combined population of 171,486 patients (source: HSCIC GP Population data, April 2016). 49.6% are male 

and 50.4% are female. When looking at the age breakdown of this population, it can be seen there are 

some differences compared to the national population – Thurrock has a larger proportion of children aged 

0-19 and fewer adults over 65+ than the national average. 

 

Figure 106: Thurrock Registered Population by age/sex, April 2016 

Page 272

https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/jsna-demographics-population-v02.pdf


211 

 

 

 

Source: HSCIC GP Registered Population, April 2016 

 

8.1.2  ETHNICITY 

 

Census data tell us that 81.6% of Thurrock residents were White British in 2011, with 7.8% classifying 

themselves as Black, 3.8% as Asian and 4.3% as White Other. This distribution is not uniform across the 

borough; it can be seen from the figure below that areas to the south of the borough have higher 

concentrations of those from a BME group than areas in the north and east. 

 

Figure 107: Proportion from a BME group by ward, 2011 

Page 273



212 

 

 

 

Source: ONS and Local Health 

 

8.1.3  POPULATION GROWTH 

 

 ONS POPULATION PROJECTIONS 

 

Figure 108: Predicted population growth, 2014-2039 

 

Page 274



213 

 

 

Source: Office for National Statistics Sub-National Population Projections, 2014-based 

 

The population of Thurrock is set to increase to 207,700 by 2039. However the increase is not uniformly 

distributed across the age bands – the number of older people (65+) in particular is set to increase from 

22,300 in 2014 to 39,000 in 2039 which is a 74.9% increase. 

 

Figure 109: Population change by age group, 2014-2039 

 

Source: Office for National Statistics Sub-National Population Projections, 2014-based 

 FACTORS UNDERPINNING POPULATION CHANGE 

 

Analysis of the population change data between 2014 and 2015 indicates that approximately two thirds was 

due to natural change (i.e. the number of births minus the number of deaths), and the other third due to 

internal and international migration. The majority of new migrants have been families with children, with 

fewer older people migrating into the borough. Thurrock has a higher birth rate than the national average 

(68.7 per 1,000 women aged 15-44 years compared to the national rate of 62.4 per 1,000) which has 

contributed to the high amount of natural change. 

 

 REGENERATION PROGRAMMES 

 

Thurrock has an ambitious regeneration agenda, focussing large-scale developments within growth ‘hub’ 

areas: 

 

Page 275



214 

 

 

Purfleet 

The Purfleet Centre development will totally transform Purfleet creating a new town centre which will 

provide up to 2,500 new homes, local shops, new school and health care facilities, open access to the River 

Thames, and an exciting Film, Television and Media development creating up to 2,000 new jobs. The 

regeneration of Purfleet was kick-started in 2010 by the High House Production Park (HHPP) development, 

which is now home to the Royal Opera House Production Workshop, Backstage Centre (National Academy 

Creative and Cultural), Artists’ Studios and Royal Opera House Costume Store and production facility.  

 

Lakeside  

The ambition for Lakeside is to expand the existing shopping centre to become a regional town centre, 

which will include major investment in improved transport infrastructure, new leisure and commercial 

facilities and an extension to the current shopping facilities. Outline planning permission has already been 

granted for a multi-million pound retail and leisure expansion at Lakeside, which will ultimately create up to 

9,000 new jobs. 

 

Grays 

The regeneration of Grays is being achieved through some key projects to create a revitalised town centre 

which is a high quality destination for people to live, work, learn, shop and socialise. The £48m South Essex 

College Thurrock campus generated a 50% increase in enrolment and will in time accommodate 3,000 

students.  The redevelopment of the Magistrates Court into high quality small business units will provide 

much needed office space for small and medium sized businesses (SMEs) and will complement current 

business support activities being provided by the Council and other partners, such as NWES. Work with 

Network Rail and c2c to develop an underpass is progressing well. This will create opportunities for new 

retail and housing growth in the town centre, providing up to 4,500 new homes and 1,600 new jobs. 

 

Tilbury 

The vision for Tilbury, endorsed by Cabinet in July 2013, defines the ambition to create a place of 

opportunity and growth built upon its strong community spirit, rich employment and tourism history 

(through the Port of Tilbury and cruise terminal), strong transport links, outstanding education facilities and 

affordable housing.  The logistics academy established by the Port of Tilbury is successfully delivering 

training programmes to support unemployed residents to gain new skills, improve their employability and, 

in many cases, gain employment at the port. Expansion of the port, new business accommodation at the 

Riverside Business Centre and efforts to assist the local community into sustainable employment through, 

the provision of a job shop, will support the creation of up to 1,000 new homes and 3,800 new jobs. 

 

London Gateway 

Page 276



215 

 

 

DP World has invested £1.5m in London Gateway, a new deep water port and logistics park development, 

which is the largest project of its kind in Britain. The Local Development Order, created for the logistics park, 

was acknowledged at the Royal Town Planning Institute’s Awards for Planning Excellence awards ceremony 

where the Council won the ‘Outstanding Planning to Deliver Growth and Employment’ award in June 2014. 

Once the port is fully operational a total of 2,000 jobs will be created at the port and a further 10,000 jobs 

will be created in the logistics park, which will be one of the biggest in Europe once complete. The Council is 

continuing to look at routes to secure greater local employment at the port. 

 

Thames Enterprise Park 

The ambition for Thames Enterprise Park, formerly the Petroplus oil refinery, is to re-develop approximately 

400 acres of land to create a cluster of energy related industries co-located with supply chain companies 

and research & development firms, and has the potential to create up to 2,000 new jobs. South Essex 

College and the University of Northampton recently signed a partnership agreement that will bring 

specialised further and higher education courses to Thurrock, designed to prepare local people for the high 

technology jobs that will be created at Thames Enterprise Park. 

  

Page 277



216 

 

 

1. STAFFING MIX MODEL 

The Primary Care Receptionist 

In this model the receptionist(s) is key to success. They need to be highly trained individuals who can make 

a judgement on the best clinician/professional that a patient needs to see. And they need to get this right 

most of the time to avoid duplicating appointments. 

The GP Assistant / Clinical Personal Assistant 

This is a band 4 administrative worker trained to support GPs by processing letters coming into the practice.  

They use a clearly defined and agreed workflow, to carry out delegated work where it is safe to do so, 

leaving GPs to deal only with letters requiring medical input or oversight.  Other actions can involve entering 

read codes and other data onto the GP system; booking a follow up appointment with a patient; booking 

follow-up blood tests with patients; or following DNA processes for patients who missed appointments.  The 

GP or other clinicians then have no need to see these letters. 

 

A pilot scheme in Brighton and Hove estimated that this role required around 3 hours of administrative 

work per 5,000 registered patients and saved each GP in a practice 40 minutes of time per day.  Translated 

into GP appointments for Tilbury, with 16 required GPs this would free up 66 10 minute appointment slots. 

The role is heavily dependent on well-defined processes and workflow, requires training for administrative 

staff, and a lead GP to provide governance and audit.  

 

The added value of this role is that communications at the practice can be dealt with in a more timely and 

organised manner. Patients requiring follow-up will be contacted more swiftly, patient records should be 

more up to date when a health professional does see a patient, and a reduction in the number of times a 

patient has to make contact with or see anyone at the practice. 

The Primary Care Pharmacist 

While GPs are in short supply, nationally there is an over-supply of pharmacists. The RCGP and RPS describe 

pharmacists as a “hidden army”
xxvii

 

 

The “Making Time in General Practice” report suggests that around 5.5% of GP appointments nationally 

could be taken care of by a pharmacist or self-care.  A pharmacist is able to diagnose and treat minor 

ailments (see information above on minor ailments scheme).
xxviii

 

 

This role is not necessarily about including a pharmacy on site, as we can see (above) there are already a 

number of pharmacies in Tilbury, it is about making use of a pharmacists clinical skills to help patients and 

the over-stretched GP workforce. 

 

Page 278



217 

 

 

“Having a pharmacist a part of the team could make a huge difference both to patients and clinical 

colleagues. Practice pharmacists can consult with and treat patients directly, relieving GPs of casework and 

enabling them to focus their skills where they are most needed, for example on diagnosing and treating 

patients with complex conditions. As part of the multidisciplinary team, practice pharmacists can advise 

other professionals about medicines, resolve problems with prescriptions and reduce prescribing errors. 

They can work with GPs to resolve day-to-day medicine issues and with practice teams to provide advice on 

medicines to care homes, as well as visiting patients in their own homes when needed.” 

In the modelling work below we consider the role only in terms of reducing a GPs workload in way of a 

minor ailments clinic, however with further additional capacity the role could also help to improve the 

quality of care: 

Medicines Reconciliation 

Medication Review (polypharmacy / QOF etc.) 

Prescription management (average GP 200 repeat prescriptions per week) 

Prescription safety / concordance 

Chronic disease management (respiratory, cardiovascular and diabetes clinics) 

We recommend that the use of practice pharmacists is considered separately in a wider context.  An 

additional pharmacist could be employed using savings generated from the staffing changes. 

The Nurse Practitioner 

The role of the Nurse Practitioner is already well documented and understood.  The “Making Time in 

General Practice” report suggests that 6.5% of GP appointments nationally could be seen by a nurse 

practitioner.  The impact that this would have on GP requirements in Tilbury is modelled below. 

The role would also mean that those patients with more complex clinical needs, who need to see a GP, will 

get to do so in a much more timely manner. 

Wellbeing worker 

These members of the team act as a care navigator, peer coach, health trainer or befriender.  This role 

could be handled expanding the current Thurrock Local Area Coordinator role. 

 

The “Making Time in General Practice” report suggests that 4% of GP appointments nationally could be 

handled by a wellbeing worker. Because a wellbeing worker would be considerably cheaper than a GP to 

handle these “non-clinical” issues it would be possible for them to spend more time with patients on these 

issues. 

Physio-therapist 

MSK patients make up to 30% of a GPs caseload 
xxix

. There is a complex referral pathway from this point, 

typically with a GP referring to a consultant who then either refers to physiotherapist or decides to perform 

surgery. 

Page 279



218 

 

 

 

At Windermere Health Centre, in the Lake District, a physiotherapist joined the practice team to assess, 

diagnose and triage MSK patients. During the first three months, 168 GP appointments were freed up and 

the translation of orthopaedic referral to operation rate increased to 99%. Additionally, the number of 

steroid injections delivered in the centre rose because the physiotherapist could also do this, generating 

income for the practice. 

 

In Betsi Cadwaladr, north Wales, two physiotherapists worked across four practices and in the first six 

months, saw 1525 patients who would normally have seen the GP. Only 23 of these patients required any 

input from the GP and there was a 12% reduction in secondary care referrals. In addition to freeing up GP 

time, the reduction in referrals for MSK activity in Tilbury would equate to around 4100 per year. Fewer 

patients would also have a need to travel to see consultants at the hospital. 

 

Two systematic reviews of physiotherapy showed that patient costs were lower for primary care clinics than 

conventional outpatient clinics (Hensher, 1998; Roberts and Stevens, 1997). Overall cost per patient was also 

lower for primary care clinics than conventional outpatient clinics, but savings were partially offset by 

increased demand in primary care.  

 

 

Physician Assistant 

There is much debate about this role in GP practice, it is not a well-researched or defined role and training 

schemes / courses vary in their emphasis. Drenan et al  (2014) published a review of the research around 

the role along with an observational study comparing 6 practices which employed PAs to 6 that did not.  

Evidence showed that the role is acceptable to patients and that they tended to see patients with same day 

booked appointments, and worked at the younger end of the population compared to GPs. 

No difference was found in rates at which patients returned to surgery within 14 days between patients 

seeing a GP or a PA.  The PA tended to spend longer with a patient but the cost per consultation was £6.22 

lower.
xxx

 

Caveats: 

Little thought given to regulation or prescribing rights of role 

Some evidence that higher level of supervision needed 

No research comparing  PA and nurse practitioner (possible overlap) 

Short supply so finding may be as difficult as finding a GP, however new places on courses in 2015 

announced.  

Registration issues? 

Page 280



219 

 

 

The “making time in general practice report” suggests that a PA could see around 40 patients per day. 

Paramedic 

A newer role is the practice-attached paramedic or emergency care practitioner. This role is now being 

tested in a number of the Multispecialty Community Provider vanguards, including Kent and Derbyshire. 

In Whitstable, Kent, a paramedic team is now based in a GP practice. They have their own vehicle with on-

board diagnostics and access to electronic patient records. When patients call the surgeries at 8am 

requesting home visits, GPs screen the calls and refer the most urgent to the paramedics who can make a 

visit quickly. The less urgent wait until a GP can visit later in the day. In the first five weeks of the pilot in 

sprint 2015, paramedics were able to see, treat and complete two thirds of patients referred to them. The 

volume of 999 calls was down 10% over the period. 

There is currently not enough evidence to consider this in our calculations but we could re-visit this at a 

later date.

Page 281



220 

 

 

2. NUMBER OF PATIENTS NOT RECEIVING INTERVENTIONS BY PRACTICE 

Practice 
Code 

Practice Name 

HYP006: The percentage of 
patients with hypertension in 
whom the last blood pressure 

reading (measured in the 
preceding 12 months) is 150/90 

mmHg or less 

CVD-PP001: In those patients with 
a new diagnosis of hypertension 

aged 30 or over and who have not 
attained the age of 75, recorded 
between the preceding 1 April to 
31 March (excluding those with 

pre-existing CHD, diabetes, stroke 
and/or TIA), who have a recorded 
CVD risk assessment score (using 
an assessment tool agreed with 

the NHS CB) of ≥20% in the 
preceding 12 months: the 

percentage who are currently 
treated with statins 

AF004: In those patients with atrial 
fibrillation whose latest record of a 

CHADS2 score is greater than 1, 
the percentage of patients who are 

currently treated with anti-
coagulation therapy 

AF005: In those patients with atrial 
fibrillation in whom there is a 

record of a CHADS2 score of 1, the 
percentage of patients who are 

currently treated with anti-
coagulation drug therapy or anti-

platelet therapy                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception 
reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 41  301  1  0  4  17  3  13  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  14  132  0  0  4  14  0  10  

F81084 Chadwell MC  17  182  0  0  4  11  1  7  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 10  55  0  0  1  0  0  -1  

F81110 Dr Suntharalingam R PRACT 12  120  0  0  0  5  0  5  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  24  227  2  0  3  12  0  9  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 18  290  4  0  6  12  0  6  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 16  181  2  0  7  14  0  7  

F81153 Hassengate MC 22  162  1  0  17  12  5  -5  

F81155 Balfour MC 23  242  0  0  12  7  1  -5  

F81177 Neera MC 15  146  1  0  3  4  0  1  

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 82  176  4  0  33  15  4  -18  

P
age 282



221 

 

 

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 2  49  1  0  2  2  0  0  

F81198 Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG 11  55  0  0  3  2  1  -1  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 15  198  1  0  9  12  0  3  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 14  61  0  0  3  3  0  0  

F81218 The Grays SURG 8  45  0  0  0  1  0  1  

F81219 The Dell MC  9  85  0  0  2  5  0  3  

F81623 Prime Care MC 2  46  0  0  1  1  1  0  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 5  136  0  0  0  4  0  4  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 21  99  1  1  8  0  0  -8  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  2  66  1  4  1  0  0  -1  

F81652 Medic House 14  75  4  3  7  0  0  -7  

F81669 Derry Court Medical PRACT 20  55  0  0  2  2  0  0  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 3  57  1  0  3  0  0  -3  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 6  87  0  0  3  3  0  0  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  12  56  0  0  0  0  0  0  

F81708 Sai MC 4  50  0  0  0  3  0  3  

F81719 Dr Mukhopadhyay PK PRACT 15  211  0  0  0  1  1  1  

F81742 Acorns SURG 12  30  0  0  0  0  0  0  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  25  97  0  0  2  0  0  -2  

Y00999 St Clements HC 15  48  1  0  4  0  0  -4  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 27  79  0  0  4  1  2  -3  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 283



222 

 

 

 

Practice Code Practice Name 

HF002: The percentage of patients 
with a diagnosis of heart failure 

(diagnosed on or after 1 April 
2006) which has been confirmed 

by an echocardiogram or by 
specialist assessment 3 months 

before or 12 months after 
entering on to the register 

HF003: In those patients with a 
current diagnosis of heart failure 

due to left ventricular systolic 
dysfunction, the percentage of 

patients who are currently treated 
with an ACE-I or ARB 

HF004: In those patients with a 
current diagnosis of heart failure 

due to left ventricular systolic 
dysfunction who are currently 

treated with an ACE-I or ARB, the 
percentage of patients who are 

additionally currently treated with 
a beta-blocker licensed for heart 

failure 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 0  5  1  5  1  1  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  0  2  2  2  1  0  

F81084 Chadwell MC  0  3  1  3  0  0  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 2  0  0  -2  0  0  

F81110 
Dr Suntharalingam R 
PRACT 

1  8  0  7  0  1  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  0  0  0  0  5  2  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 0  7  0  7  1  1  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 0  4  2  4  1  1  

F81153 Hassengate MC 1  3  0  2  1  0  

F81155 Balfour MC 3  0  1  -3  2  1  

F81177 Neera MC 1  8  1  7  1  0  

P
age 284



223 

 

 

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 2  2  0  0  2  0  

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 1  0  0  -1  0  1  

F81198 Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG 0  0  4  0  2  0  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 4  4  0  0  5  0  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 0  0  1  0  1  0  

F81218 The Grays SURG 1  0  0  -1  0  0  

F81219 The Dell MC  0  0  0  0  0  0  

F81623 Prime Care MC 0  0  0  0  0  0  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 0  0  1  0  0  0  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 0  1  0  1  5  0  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  4  0  0  -4  0  0  

F81652 Medic House 0  0  0  0  1  0  

F81669 
Derry Court Medical 
PRACT 

0  0  0  0  2  0  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 1  0  1  -1  1  0  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 0  0  0  0  0  0  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  2  0  0  -2  0  0  

F81708 Sai MC 0  2  0  2  0  0  

F81719 
Dr Mukhopadhyay PK 
PRACT 

1  0  0  -1  0  1  

F81742 Acorns SURG 1  0  0  -1  0  0  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  1  0  0  -1  0  0  

Y00999 St Clements HC 3  0  0  -3  0  0  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 3  0  0  -3  0  0  

 

 

P
age 285



224 

 

 

Practice Code Practice Name 

CHD002: The percentage of 
patients with coronary heart 

disease in whom the last blood 
pressure reading (measured in 

the preceding 12 months) is 
150/90 mmHg or less 

CHD005: The percentage of 
patients with coronary heart 
disease with a record in the 
preceding 12 months that 

aspirin, an alternative anti-
platelet therapy, or an anti-

coagulant is being taken 

CHD006: The percentage of 
patients with a history of 

myocardial infarction (on or after 
1 April 2011) currently treated 
with an ACE-I (or ARB if ACE-I 

intolerant), aspirin or an 
alternative anti-platelet therapy 

CHD007: The percentage of 
patients with coronary heart 

disease who have had influenza 
immunisation in the preceding 1 

August to 31 March 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 12  49  29  37  9  0  118  0  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  7  15  7  8  4  0  32  6  

F81084 Chadwell MC  11  44  6  33  4  0  24  50  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 1  5  3  4  0  0  8  1  

F81110 
Dr Suntharalingam R 
PRACT 

4  29  0  25  0  0  23  20  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  3  10  4  7  1  0  55  0  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 3  47  0  44  0  4  39  31  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 4  12  1  8  5  0  44  2  

F81153 Hassengate MC 7  17  15  10  20  0  49  3  

F81155 Balfour MC 2  27  2  25  2  0  19  33  

F81177 Neera MC 0  14  0  14  0  0  9  6  

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 14  22  9  8  12  2  74  0  

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 0  2  0  2  0  0  5  1  

P
age 286



225 

 

 

F81198 
Dr Pattara/Dr Raja 
SURG 

0  2  20  2  1  0  17  0  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 3  16  2  13  0  2  43  6  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 2  5  8  3  3  2  48  0  

F81218 The Grays SURG 0  6  0  6  1  1  12  0  

F81219 The Dell MC  0  3  1  3  0  0  12  4  

F81623 Prime Care MC 1  3  3  2  0  0  15  0  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 0  12  0  12  0  0  28  1  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 2  20  0  18  3  4  32  28  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  0  5  11  5  1  0  7  1  

F81652 Medic House 8  10  8  2  0  0  24  1  

F81669 
Derry Court Medical 
PRACT 

1  5  1  4  0  0  17  0  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 1  3  4  2  2  0  18  0  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 2  3  1  1  1  0  9  5  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  4  4  1  0  0  0  23  0  

F81708 Sai MC 1  5  2  4  0  3  4  4  

F81719 
Dr Mukhopadhyay PK 
PRACT 

6  20  6  14  2  2  18  6  

F81742 Acorns SURG 1  0  0  -1  0  0  6  0  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  2  4  0  2  2  0  15  4  

Y00999 St Clements HC 2  1  0  -1  0  0  18  0  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 1  3  1  2  0  0  23  1  

 

 

P
age 287



226 

 

 

Practice Code Practice Name 

STIA003: The percentage of 
patients with a history of stroke 

or TIA in whom the last blood 
pressure reading (measured in 

the preceding 12 months) is 
150/90 mmHg or less 

STIA007: The percentage of 
patients with a stroke shown to 

be non-haemorrhagic, or a 
history of TIA, who have a record 
in the preceding 12 months that 
an anti-platelet agent, or an anti-

coagulant is being taken 

STIA008: The percentage of 
patients with a stroke or TIA 
(diagnosed on or after 1 April 
2014) who have a record of a 

referral for further investigation 
between 3 months before or 1 

month after the date of the latest 
recorded stroke or the first TIA 

STIA009: The percentage of 
patients with stroke or TIA who 

have had influenza immunisation 
in the preceding 1 August to 31 

March 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

Exception
s 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 7  9  8  1  0  0  23  0  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  6  49  1  43  4  1  80  3  

F81084 Chadwell MC  1  12  7  11  3  2  29  6  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 0  9  0  9  0  0  6  1  

F81110 
Dr Suntharalingam R 
PRACT 

6  13  5  7  2  0  28  1  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  19  31  13  12  0  3  53  15  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 2  5  1  3  0  0  9  1  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 6  24  8  18  3  1  36  10  

F81153 Hassengate MC 3  12  0  9  2  0  25  0  

F81155 Balfour MC 13  19  14  6  2  1  38  4  

F81177 Neera MC 6  26  3  20  0  2  30  3  

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 3  20  9  17  7  1  25  3  

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 5  25  2  20  2  0  43  0  

P
age 288



227 

 

 

F81198 
Dr Pattara/Dr Raja 
SURG 

9  37  5  28  0  2  49  54  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 2  2  2  0  4  1  9  11  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 3  21  4  18  2  7  6  19  

F81218 The Grays SURG 1  23  0  22  1  2  4  27  

F81219 The Dell MC  5  12  2  7  1  0  24  3  

F81623 Prime Care MC 4  31  5  27  0  0  44  1  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 3  25  0  22  1  0  25  16  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 6  21  13  15  5  4  45  11  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  4  22  2  18  2  1  35  5  

F81652 Medic House 3  15  4  12  1  0  46  3  

F81669 
Derry Court Medical 
PRACT 

2  4  3  2  0  1  3  2  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 13  9  13  -4  1  0  25  0  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 4  17  1  13  1  0  13  6  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  0  9  0  9  0  0  11  0  

F81708 Sai MC 2  2  1  0  1  0  3  0  

F81719 
Dr Mukhopadhyay PK 
PRACT 

3  1  2  -2  1  0  1  8  

F81742 Acorns SURG 4  6  3  2  1  0  37  0  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  7  10  7  3  5  3  18  0  

Y00999 St Clements HC 0  1  0  1  0  0  1  0  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 2  1  1  -1  0  0  2  0  

 

P
age 289



228 

 

 

Practice Code Practice Name 

AST002: The percentage of 
patients aged 8 or over with 

asthma (diagnosed on or after 1 
April 2006), on the register, with 

measures of variability or 
reversibility recorded between 3 
months before or anytime after 

diagnosis 

AST003: The percentage of 
patients with asthma, on the 

register, who have had an asthma 
review in the preceding 12 months 

that includes an assessment of 
asthma control using the 3 RCP 

questions 

AST004: The percentage of 
patients with asthma aged 14 or 
over and who have not attained 
the age of 20, on the register, in 

whom there is a record of smoking 
status in the preceding 12 months 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 19  8  164  -11  0  0  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  2  12  8  10  0  1  

F81084 Chadwell MC  4  7  9  3  2  2  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 2  1  4  -1  0  0  

F81110 
Dr Suntharalingam R 
PRACT 

7  15  8  8  0  1  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  1  25  4  24  0  13  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 2  9  5  7  0  1  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 1  8  4  7  0  3  

F81153 Hassengate MC 5  12  11  7  0  6  

F81155 Balfour MC 2  9  27  7  0  3  

F81177 Neera MC 5  4  2  -1  0  1  

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 3  20  9  17  0  3  

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 0  0  0  0  0  0  

P
age 290



229 

 

 

F81198 Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG 0  0  0  0  0  2  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 1  4  8  3  0  2  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 3  3  8  0  0  2  

F81218 The Grays SURG 1  0  1  -1  0  0  

F81219 The Dell MC  0  2  3  2  1  1  

F81623 Prime Care MC 0  1  3  1  0  0  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 1  0  2  -1  0  0  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 1  0  2  -1  0  0  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  1  0  4  -1  0  0  

F81652 Medic House 0  2  25  2  0  0  

F81669 
Derry Court Medical 
PRACT 

2  2  10  0  0  2  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 1  6  2  5  0  0  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 0  2  1  2  0  0  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  2  2  5  0  0  1  

F81708 Sai MC 0  4  0  4  0  2  

F81719 
Dr Mukhopadhyay PK 
PRACT 

5  10  18  5  1  0  

F81742 Acorns SURG 1  1  2  0  0  0  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  6  18  10  12  0  0  

Y00999 St Clements HC 3  9  6  6  0  0  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 4  12  7  8  0  1  

 

P
age 291



230 

 

 

Practice Code Practice Name 

COPD002: The percentage of 
patients with COPD (diagnosed on 
or after 1 April 2011) in whom the 
diagnosis has been confirmed by 
post bronchodilator spirometry 

between 3 months before and 12 
months after entering on to the 

register 

COPD003: The percentage of 
patients with COPD who have had 

a review, undertaken by a 
healthcare professional, including 
an assessment of breathlessness 

using the Medical Research Council 
dyspnoea scale in the preceding 12 

months 

COPD004: The percentage of 
patients with COPD with a record 

of FEV1 in the preceding 12 
months 

COPD005: The percentage of 
patients with COPD and Medical 

Research Council dyspnoea grade 
≥3 at any time in the preceding 12 
months, with a record of oxygen 

saturation value within the 
preceding 12 months 

COPD007: The percentage of 
patients with COPD who have had 

influenza immunisation in the 
preceding 1 August to 31 March 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 

Not received 
intervention or 

exception 
reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 42  6  57  -36  51  41  7  6  67  1  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  10  5  18  -5  15  7  2  0  19  1  

F81084 Chadwell MC  8  11  19  3  14  9  4  11  18  13  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 4  0  4  -4  6  0  0  1  4  1  

F81110 
Dr Suntharalingam R 
PRACT 

2  20  3  18  6  38  0  5  11  11  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  5  0  15  -5  31  7  2  3  27  3  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 8  7  5  -1  10  65  1  1  33  21  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 1  5  3  4  2  11  0  3  13  2  

F81153 Hassengate MC 0  6  5  6  3  7  1  0  32  4  

F81155 Balfour MC 8  7  14  -1  14  12  0  2  20  13  

F81177 Neera MC 4  10  3  6  3  11  2  0  6  4  

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 4  2  15  -2  12  22  0  5  62  0  

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 2  1  0  -1  6  2  0  0  8  1  

P
age 292



231 

 

 

F81198 Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG 0  1  1  1  2  1  0  2  4  0  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 6  9  10  3  6  31  2  2  42  3  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 7  5  6  -2  9  16  1  3  18  1  

F81218 The Grays SURG 2  1  5  -1  9  1  0  0  8  0  

F81219 The Dell MC  5  6  8  1  9  5  0  2  12  2  

F81623 Prime Care MC 3  1  3  -2  19  1  2  0  6  0  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 0  4  3  4  4  7  2  4  28  0  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 4  4  7  0  11  5  1  2  9  5  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  3  2  6  -1  8  5  0  1  3  0  

F81652 Medic House 9  1  10  -8  10  4  2  0  16  0  

F81669 
Derry Court Medical 
PRACT 

0  1  4  1  0  4  0  2  17  2  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 4  1  3  -3  3  0  0  0  9  0  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 2  5  1  3  0  0  0  1  4  1  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  7  0  4  -7  4  4  0  1  20  0  

F81708 Sai MC 1  6  1  5  1  21  0  2  1  6  

F81719 
Dr Mukhopadhyay PK 
PRACT 

1  9  5  8  6  42  1  9  14  2  

F81742 Acorns SURG 4  0  2  -4  1  0  0  0  10  0  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  2  4  1  2  2  7  1  1  9  0  

Y00999 St Clements HC 5  0  2  -5  1  2  0  1  15  0  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 3  2  5  -1  6  4  0  0  13  0  

 

P
age 293



232 

 

 

Practice Code Practice Name 

DM002: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, in whom the last blood 
pressure reading (measured in the 

preceding 12 months) is 150/90 
mmHg or less 

DM003: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, in whom the last blood 
pressure reading (measured in the 

preceding 12 months) is 140/80 
mmHg or less 

DM004: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 
register, whose last measured 

total cholesterol (measured within 
the preceding 12 months) is 5 

mmol/l or less 

DM006: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, with a diagnosis of 
nephropathy (clinical proteinuria) 

or micro-albuminuria who are 
currently treated with an ACE-I (or 

ARBs) 

DM007: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, in whom the last IFCC-
HbA1c is 59 mmol/mol or less in 

the preceding 12 months 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 15  70  28  164  51  221  2  31  93  155  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  5  25  7  64  15  58  3  4  12  107  

F81084 Chadwell MC  31  53  59  107  51  56  11  52  59  88  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 2  6  5  28  5  31  2  5  3  41  

F81110 
Dr Suntharalingam R 
PRACT 

3  38  7  61  6  54  1  13  5  91  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  15  45  24  117  35  97  1  7  34  188  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 5  76  17  122  23  112  1  18  19  172  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 5  27  10  80  19  105  1  8  8  127  

F81153 Hassengate MC 7  25  19  59  76  92  11  18  34  160  

F81155 Balfour MC 10  50  20  129  19  86  1  27  20  111  

F81177 Neera MC 4  29  6  48  3  56  1  15  3  78  

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 29  15  44  59  133  77  11  0  102  80  

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 3  6  5  23  11  19  1  1  24  19  

P
age 294



233 

 

 

F81198 Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG 2  6  4  20  14  14  9  0  6  31  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 8  37  15  65  16  63  4  10  17  147  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 4  6  13  14  47  39  9  1  54  61  

F81218 The Grays SURG 4  10  6  24  6  20  0  1  2  32  

F81219 The Dell MC  2  14  3  28  7  39  4  0  8  72  

F81623 Prime Care MC 2  6  5  14  7  13  2  1  5  26  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 5  24  6  34  8  47  1  0  8  72  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 2  35  4  70  12  67  0  6  6  72  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  2  5  3  15  8  20  2  2  7  32  

F81652 Medic House 7  18  9  40  9  57  0  5  7  79  

F81669 
Derry Court Medical 
PRACT 

6  7  15  32  16  30  0  1  14  46  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 3  5  7  27  18  51  3  7  12  61  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 2  12  4  41  6  38  0  0  8  61  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  6  12  9  29  23  18  10  0  9  53  

F81708 Sai MC 1  13  6  21  7  26  0  1  6  35  

F81719 
Dr Mukhopadhyay PK 
PRACT 

9  34  13  60  13  40  2  15  23  51  

F81742 Acorns SURG 3  2  6  5  5  13  10  0  8  21  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  7  25  15  62  14  55  2  31  15  73  

Y00999 St Clements HC 8  6  19  18  9  19  1  0  11  50  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 18  8  29  55  28  41  14  0  34  70  

 

P
age 295



234 

 

 

Practice Code Practice Name 

DM008: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, in whom the last IFCC-
HbA1c is 64 mmol/mol or less in 

the preceding 12 months 

DM009: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, in whom the last IFCC-
HbA1c is 75 mmol/mol or less in 

the preceding 12 months 

DM012: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, with a record of a foot 
examination and risk classification: 

1) low risk (normal sensation, 
palpable pulses), 2) increased risk 
(neuropathy or absent pulses), 3) 
high risk (neuropathy or absent 

pulses plus deformity or skin 
changes in previous ulcer) or 4) 

ulcerated foot within the 
preceding 12 months 

DM014: The percentage of 
patients newly diagnosed with 
diabetes, on the register, in the 

preceding 1 April to 31 March who 
have a record of being referred to 

a structured education 
programme within 9 months after 
entry on to the diabetes register 

DM018: The percentage of 
patients with diabetes, on the 

register, who have had influenza 
immunisation in the preceding 1 

August to 31 March 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

Exceptions 
Not received 

intervention or 
exception reported 

F81010 Aveley MC 89  107  79  55  55  19  26  0  211  4  

F81082 The Rigg Milner MC  8  83  6  51  1  28  6  0  60  5  

F81084 Chadwell MC  54  70  47  49  63  62  2  16  60  56  

F81088 Southend Road SURG 1  30  1  19  4  13  5  1  21  7  

F81110 
Dr Suntharalingam R 
PRACT 

5  84  5  70  5  42  0  6  31  21  

F81113 Chafford Hundred MC  32  145  27  96  30  55  10  0  164  59  

F81134 Pear Tree SURG 15  140  9  97  16  108  1  2  68  47  

F81137 Dr Colburn SURG 7  98  7  51  9  43  0  1  80  9  

F81153 Hassengate MC 30  101  25  43  8  30  4  0  124  16  

F81155 Balfour MC 15  90  11  61  7  66  7  1  54  68  

F81177 Neera MC 3  65  3  49  5  24  5  0  21  25  

F81192 Dr Headon OT PRACT 74  63  53  37  22  18  0  1  126  0  

F81197 Santa Maria Centre 20  12  16  8  1  10  2  0  20  5  

P
age 296



235 

 

 

F81198 Dr Pattara/Dr Raja SURG 6  25  4  16  4  7  1  0  17  0  

F81206 Shehadeh MC 14  120  11  79  13  85  11  0  77  15  

F81211 East Thurrock Road MC 50  48  37  26  28  18  3  0  92  3  

F81218 The Grays SURG 2  26  2  20  1  9  1  1  28  0  

F81219 The Dell MC  8  60  7  25  6  44  4  0  26  12  

F81623 Prime Care MC 5  21  5  12  5  4  1  0  28  0  

F81632 Dr Yasin SA PRACT 6  59  4  33  6  12  8  0  43  2  

F81641 Dr Masson KK SURG 6  63  4  49  4  39  18  0  38  50  

F81644 Ash Tree SURG  7  24  6  17  5  5  4  0  23  0  

F81652 Medic House 6  61  6  50  8  12  1  0  51  2  

F81669 
Derry Court Medical 
PRACT 

14  37  12  28  10  3  0  0  43  1  

F81691 East Tilbury HC 12  38  12  17  12  2  6  1  45  0  

F81697 The Sorrells SURG 7  46  6  31  0  18  1  2  15  6  

F81698 Dilip Sabnis MC  8  47  7  27  7  5  3  0  37  0  

F81708 Sai MC 5  30  2  22  6  27  3  3  7  10  

F81719 
Dr Mukhopadhyay PK 
PRACT 

22  44  17  37  14  65  0  7  26  25  

F81742 Acorns SURG 8  17  7  11  2  0  4  0  25  0  

Y00033 Purfleet Care Centre  13  59  12  42  6  50  1  5  34  8  

Y00999 St Clements HC 9  45  6  30  14  0  2  0  37  0  

Y02807 Thurrock HC 31  62  27  46  17  5  4  2  65  4  

 

 

 

  

P
age 297



236 

 

 

Section 9  REFERENCES 

                                                      

i
 Arthritis UK MSK Calculator: https://www.arthritisresearchuk.org/arthritis-information/data-and-statistics/musculoskeletal-calculator/analysis.aspx/?Region-

0=E06000034&ConditionType=3,4&ChartType=2  
ii
 M J Harisson, M Dusheiko, M Sutton, H, Gravelle, T Doran, M Roland; Effect of a national primary care pay for performance scheme on emergency hospital admissions 

for ambulatory care sensitive conditions: controlled longitudinal study, BMJ 2014; 349:g6423 
iii
 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph25/resources/costing-report-67331053 

iv
 Using Ultrasound in Primary Carehttp://www.gponline.com/using-ultrasound-primary-care/article/876835  

v
 http://www.pssru.ac.uk/project-pages/unit-costs/2015/#sections 

vi
 http://www.selfcareforum.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/PiF-Case-for-Information-Exec-Summ-FINAL-May13.pdf  

vii
 Public Health England (2015) A guide to community centred approaches for health and wellbeing 

viii
 http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/threat-to-health/  

ix
 Cabinet Office (2011) 

x
 nef consulting. Catalysts for community action and investment: A Social Return on Investment analysis of community development work, based on a common 

outcomes framework. Executive Summary. Community Development Foundation, 2010. 
xi
 TCA report 2015-16 

xii
 Rotherham Social Prescribing Pilot Evaluation: http://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/social-economic-impact-rotherham.pdf  

xiii
 Thurrock Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2014: https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/pharmaceutical_needs_201411.pdf  

xiv
 http://www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/CPA-Rapid-Review-Community-Pharmacy-Medication-Reviews.pdf  

xv
 Housing Costs Calculator: https://www.housinghealthcosts.org/ 

xvi
 Social Care and Obesity: http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Social+care+and+obesity+-+a+discussion+paper+-+file+1/3fc07c39-27b4-4534-a81b-

93aa6b8426af  
xvii

 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00712.x/full  
xviii

 Making the Case for Tackling Obesity: 

http://www.noo.org.uk/securefiles/160920_1556//Making%20the%20case%20for%20tackling%20obesity%20reference%20sheet-0308116.pdf  
xix

 National Evaluation of the NHS Health Check 2016: http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/commissioners_and_providers/evidence/,  
xx

 Kings fund paper 
xxi

 Primary Care Foundation and NHS Alliance, Making Time in General Practice, October 2015 
xxii

 Chartered Society of Physiotherapy: http://www.csp.org.uk/professional-union/practice/your-business/evidence-base/cost-falls  

P
age 298

https://www.arthritisresearchuk.org/arthritis-information/data-and-statistics/musculoskeletal-calculator/analysis.aspx/?Region-0=E06000034&ConditionType=3,4&ChartType=2
https://www.arthritisresearchuk.org/arthritis-information/data-and-statistics/musculoskeletal-calculator/analysis.aspx/?Region-0=E06000034&ConditionType=3,4&ChartType=2
http://www.gponline.com/using-ultrasound-primary-care/article/876835
http://www.pssru.ac.uk/project-pages/unit-costs/2015/#sections
http://www.selfcareforum.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/PiF-Case-for-Information-Exec-Summ-FINAL-May13.pdf
http://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/threat-to-health/
http://www4.shu.ac.uk/research/cresr/sites/shu.ac.uk/files/social-economic-impact-rotherham.pdf
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/assets/documents/pharmaceutical_needs_201411.pdf
http://www.cpa.org.uk/information/reviews/CPA-Rapid-Review-Community-Pharmacy-Medication-Reviews.pdf
https://www.housinghealthcosts.org/
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Social+care+and+obesity+-+a+discussion+paper+-+file+1/3fc07c39-27b4-4534-a81b-93aa6b8426af
http://www.local.gov.uk/documents/10180/11463/Social+care+and+obesity+-+a+discussion+paper+-+file+1/3fc07c39-27b4-4534-a81b-93aa6b8426af
http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00712.x/full
http://www.noo.org.uk/securefiles/160920_1556/Making%20the%20case%20for%20tackling%20obesity%20reference%20sheet-0308116.pdf
http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/commissioners_and_providers/evidence/
http://www.csp.org.uk/professional-union/practice/your-business/evidence-base/cost-falls


237 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

xxiii
 Improving Patient Satisfaction in Sandwell PCT: https://www.nursingtimes.net/improving-patient-satisfaction-with-general-practice-through-nurse-led-

care/5002367.article  
xxiv

 http://thorax.bmj.com/content/68/Suppl_3/A203.2  
xxv

 http://www.nature.com/articles/npjpcrm201556  
xxvi SAPC 2016, abstract 1C.3 
xxvii

 www.rcgp.org.uk/news/2015/march/pharmacists-set-to-work-in-gp-surgeries.aspx 
xxviii

 Primary Care Foundation and NHS Alliance, Making Time in General Practice, October 2015 
xxix

 http://www.gponline.com/viewpoint-physiotherapists-help-relieve-pressure-primary-

care/article/1367428?utm_source=Member+services&utm_campaign=1c2e3f5a52-

Physiotherapy_News_20_August_8_12_2015&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_2054000848-1c2e3f5a52-334099565 
xxx

 Drenan VM et al. Investigating the contribution of physician assistants to primary care England: a mixed-methods study. Health Services Delivery Research, 

Southampton(UK): NIHR Journals Library, 2014, May. 

P
age 299

https://www.nursingtimes.net/improving-patient-satisfaction-with-general-practice-through-nurse-led-care/5002367.article
https://www.nursingtimes.net/improving-patient-satisfaction-with-general-practice-through-nurse-led-care/5002367.article
http://thorax.bmj.com/content/68/Suppl_3/A203.2
http://www.nature.com/articles/npjpcrm201556
http://www.gponline.com/viewpoint-physiotherapists-help-relieve-pressure-primary-care/article/1367428?utm_source=Member+services&utm_campaign=1c2e3f5a52-Physiotherapy_News_20_August_8_12_2015&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_2054000848-1c2e3f5a52-334099565
http://www.gponline.com/viewpoint-physiotherapists-help-relieve-pressure-primary-care/article/1367428?utm_source=Member+services&utm_campaign=1c2e3f5a52-Physiotherapy_News_20_August_8_12_2015&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_2054000848-1c2e3f5a52-334099565
http://www.gponline.com/viewpoint-physiotherapists-help-relieve-pressure-primary-care/article/1367428?utm_source=Member+services&utm_campaign=1c2e3f5a52-Physiotherapy_News_20_August_8_12_2015&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_2054000848-1c2e3f5a52-334099565


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Last Updated: August 2016

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme

2016/17 

Dates of Meetings: 9 June 2016, 15 September 2016, 10 November 2016, 17 January 2017, 15 March 2017

Topic Lead Officer Requested by Officer/Member

9 June 2016

Items raised by HealthWatch Kim James Members

PET CT Scanner NHS England Members

Public Health Grant Ian Wake – Tim Elwell-Sutton Members

Thurrock Cancer Joint Strategy 
Assessment Needs

Ian Wake - Funmi Worrell Members

Success Regime Andy Vowles, Project Director for ESR Members

Domiciliary Care Roger Harris / Catherine Wilson / 
Michelle Taylor

Members

15 September 2016

Items raised by HealthWatch Kim James Members

Learning Disability Health Checks Mandy Ansell Members

Adult Social Care (ASC) Complaints and 
Representations Annual Report 2015/16

Anas Matin Officers

Procurement of Healthy Lifestyles 
Service

Stefanie Seff / Tim Elwell-Sutton Officers

Re-Procurement of the Integrated Adults 
Substance Misuse Treatment Service

Stefanie Seff / Tim Elwell-Sutton Officers

P
age 301

A
genda Item

 11



Primary Care Balance Scorecard Ian Wake Members

Carers Support, Information and Advice 
Service

Catherine Wilson Officers

PET CT Scanner NHS England Officers

NEP and SEPT Merger Andy Brogan (Deputy CEO)
Nigel Leonard (Executive Director 
Corporate Governance)

Officers

10 November 2016

Council Spending Review Update Sean Clark Members

Items raised by HealthWatch Kim James Members

Cancer Deep Dive Funmi Worrell Members

Success Regime Wendy Smith Members

Domiciliary Care – New service model 
and proposed procurement

Roger Harris / Catherine Wilson / 
Michelle Taylor

Members

2016 Annual Public Health Report Ian Wake Members

17 January 2017

Items raised by HealthWatch Kim James Members

Thurrock Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy

Ceri Armstrong Members

Integrated Healthy Living Centres Ian Wake Members

Community Alarm Les Billingham Officers

Fees and Charges 2017/18 Laura Last Officers

15 March 2017

Shaping the Council 
Budget Update - Change to the Fees 
and Charges

Sean Clark Members

P
age 302



Items raised by HealthWatch Kim James Members

P
age 303



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	6 Update on Mid and South Essex Success Regime
	7 Council Spending Review Update
	Appendix 1 - 2017-18 Previously Agreed Savings Tracker
	Appendix 2 - Council Spending Review Governance Structure
	Appendix 3 - Service Review Board

	8 Cancer Deep Dive (Health Needs Assessment) in Thurrock
	Appendix 1 - Cancer Action Implementation Plan

	9 Domiciliary Care - New Service Model and Proposed Procurement
	10 Annual Report of The Director of Public Health 2016
	Appendix 1 - Annual Public Health Report 2016

	11 Work Programme



